



Editors: Enguo Chen Hiran C. Fernando Kazuhiro Yasufuku LUISELLA RIGHI



www.amegroups.com

AME Medical Book 1A042

INTERVENTIONAL PULMONOLOGY

HONORARY EDITORS: VIRGINIA R. LITLE CHRISTOPH F. DIETRICH **EDITORS: ENGUO CHEN**



AME Medical Book 1A042

INTERVENTIONAL PULMONOLOGY

HONORARY EDITORS: VIRGINIA R. LITLE CHRISTOPH F. DIETRICH EDITORS: ENGUO CHEN HIRAN C. FERNANDO KAZUHIRO YASUFUKU LUISELLA RIGHI



AME Publishing Company

Room C 16F, Kings Wing Plaza 1, NO. 3 on Kwan Street, Shatin, NT, Hong Kong

Information on this title: www.amegroups.com For more information, contact books@amegroups.com Copyright © AME Publishing Company. All rights reserved.

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of AME Publishing Company.

First published in 2019 Printed in China by AME Publishing Company

Editors: Enguo Chen, Hiran C. Fernando, Kazuhiro Yasufuku, Luisella Righi

Interventional Pulmonology

ISBN 978-988-78920-2-1 AME Publishing Company, Hong Kong

AME Publishing Company has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication, and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

The advice and opinions expressed in this book are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views or practices of the publisher. No representation is made by the publisher about the suitability of the information contained in this book, and there is no consent, endorsement or recommendation provided by the publisher, express or implied, with regard to its contents.

Interventional Pulmonology (FIRST EDITION)

HONORARY EDITORS

Virginia R. Litle

Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA

Christoph F. Dietrich

Medical Department, Caritas-Krankenhaus Bad Mergentheim, Academic Teaching Hospital of the University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany; Sino-German Research Center of Ultrasound in Medicine, The First Affliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou 450000, China

EDITORS

Enguo Chen

Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, China

Hiran C. Fernando

Inova Schar Cancer Institute, Inova Fairfax Medical Campus, Falls Church, VA, USA

Kazuhiro Yasufuku

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network; University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

Luisella Righi

Pathology Unit, Department of Oncology, University of Turin, San Luigi Hospital, Orbassano, Italy

AUTHORS

Abbas E. Abbas

Department of Thoracic Medicine and Surgery, Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Adnan M. Al-Ayoubi

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Icahn School of Medicine, Mount Sinai Health System, New York, NY, USA

A. Christine Argento

Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Interventional Pulmonology, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

Sixto Arias

University of Miami, Interventional Pulmonology, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Interventional Pulmonology, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

L

Nathan S. S. Atkinson

Department of Ultrasound, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China

Adil Ayub

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Icahn School of Medicine, Mount Sinai Health System, New York, NY, USA

Jenny Louise Bacon

Cardiothoracic Medicine, St George's Hospital, London, UK

Faiz Y. Bhora

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Icahn School of Medicine, Mount Sinai Health System, New York, NY, USA

Elena Bolzacchini

Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Massimo Bongiovanni

Service of Clinical Pathology, Institute of Pathology, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

Martina Bonifazi

Department of Biomedical Sciences and Public Health, Università Politecnica delle Marche, Pulmonary Diseases Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, Azienda Ospedali Riuniti, Ancona, Italy

Barbara Canneto

Department of Thoracic Surgery, University Hospital, Verona, Italy

II

Maria Cattoni

Center for Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Ospedale di Circolo, Varese, Italy

Kwang Chin

Department of Radiology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, University of Melbourne, East Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

Liliana Chiorean

Department of Medical Imaging, des Cévennes Clinic, Annonay, France

Arun Chockalingam

Russell H. Morgan Department of Radiology and Radiological Science, Division of Vascular and Interventional Radiology, The Johns Hopkins Hospital, Sheikh Zayed Tower, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA

Fu-Tsai Chung

Department of Thoracic Medicine, Saint Paul's Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; College of Medicine Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; Department of Thoracic Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China

Daniel B. Costa

Department of Medicine, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Xin-Wu Cui

Medical Department, Caritas-Krankenhaus Bad Mergentheim, Academic Teaching Hospital of the University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany; Department of Medical Ultrasound, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430074, China

Katarzyna Czarnecka-Kujawa

Division of Respirology, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network; University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

David M. DiBardino

Division of Pulmonary, Allergy and Critical Care Medicine, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons, New York, NY, USA

Christoph F. Dietrich

Medical Department, Caritas-Krankenhaus Bad Mergentheim, Academic Teaching Hospital of the University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany; Sino-German Research Center of Ultrasound in Medicine, The First Af liated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou 450000, China

Lorenzo Dominioni

Center for Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Ospedale di Circolo, Varese, Italy

Yi Dong

Translational Gastroenterology Unit, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust, Oxford, UK

Giovanni Falezza

Department of Thoracic Surgery, University Hospital, Verona, Italy

Hiran C. Fernando

Inova Schar Cancer Institute, Inova Fairfax Medical Campus, Falls Church, VA, USA

Giorgio Ferraroli

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Humanitas Research Hospital, Milan, Italy

Erik Folch

Division of Thoracic Surgery and Interventional Pulmonology, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Francesca Franzi

Department of Pathology, Ospedale di Circolo, Varese, Italy

Stefano Gasparini

Department of Biomedical Sciences and Public Health, Università Politecnica delle Marche, Pulmonary Diseases Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, Azienda Ospedali Riuniti, Ancona, Italy

Gaia Gatti

Pathology Unit, Department of Oncology, University of Turin, San Luigi Hospital, Orbassano, Italy Kelvin Hong

Russell H. Morgan Department of Radiology and Radiological Science, Division of Vascular and Interventional Radiology, The Johns Hopkins Hospital, Sheikh Zayed Tower, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA

Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Rudolf Horn

Alice Giaquinto

Stefania Gobba

Notfallstation, Kantonsspital Glarus, Glarus, Switzerland

Maurizio Valentino Infante

Department of Thoracic Surgery, University Hospital, Verona, Italy

Christian Jenssen

Department of Internal Medicine, Krankenhaus Märkisch Oderland Strausberg, Wriezen, Germany

Danai Khemasuwan

Interventional Pulmonary Medicine, Intermountain Healthcare, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

Elif Küpeli

Pulmonary Diseases Department, School of Medicine, Başkent University, Bahcelievler 06490, Ankara, Turkey

Stefano La Rosa

Service of Clinical Pathology, Institute of Pathology, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

Eddie W. F. Lau

Centre for Molecular Imaging, Department of Radiology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, University of Melbourne, East Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

Wai-Kit Lee

Department of Medical Imaging, St. Vincent's Hospital, University of Melbourne, Fitzroy, Victoria, Australia

Veronica Leoni

Department of Medicine and Surgery, Respiratory Diseases, University of Insubria, Varese-Como, Italy

Deacon J. Lile

Department of Surgery, Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Chun-Yu Lin

Department of Thoracic Medicine, Saint Paul's Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; Department of General Medicine & Geriatrics, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; College of Medicine Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China

Virginia R. Litle

Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA

Brendan Patrick Madden

Cardiothoracic Medicine, St George's Hospital, London, UK

Francesca Montarolo

Pathology Unit, Department of Oncology, University of Turin, San Luigi Hospital, Orbassano, Italy

Ryan F. Moore

Department of Surgery, Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Susanne Morf

Intensivmedizin Kantonsspital Graubünden, Chur, Switzerland

Juan A. Muñoz-Largacha

Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA

Elisa Nardecchia

Center for Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Ospedale di Circolo, Varese, Italy

Antonio Passaro

Medical Oncology, Istituto Europeo di Oncologia (IEO), Milan, Italy

Caroline Marie Patterson

Cardiothoracic Medicine, St George's Hospital, London, UK

IV

Edward M. Pickering Section of Interventional Pulmonology, Division Pulmonary/Critical Care Medicine, University Maryland, Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

Patrizia Pignatti Allergy and Immunology Unit, Istituti Clinici Scienti ci Maugeri, IRCCS, Pavia, Italy

Graziella Pinotti Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Luisella Righi Pathology Unit, Department of Oncology, University of Turin, San Luigi Hospital, Orbassano, Italy

Ashutosh Sachdeva

Section of Interventional Pulmonology, Division Pulmonary/Critical Care Medicine, University Maryland, Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

Oliver Sedlaczek

Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany

Roy W. Semaan

Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Fausto Sessa

Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy

Samira Shojaee

Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA 23219, USA

Antonio Spanevello

Department of Medicine and Surgery, Respiratory Diseases, University of Insubria, Varese-Como, Italy; Respiratory Medicine Unit, Istituti Clinici Scienti ci Maugeri, IRCCS, Pavia, Italy

Cover Image Illustrator

Kang Fu, Shanghai, China

Karin Steinke

Department of Medical Imaging, Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, University of Queensland, Herston, Queensland, Australia

Matteo B. Suter Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Alessandro Tuzi Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Ilaria Vallini Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Paul A. VanderLaan

Department of Pathology, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Dina Visca

Respiratory Medicine Unit, Istituti Clinici Scienti ci Maugeri, IRCCS, Pavia, Italy

Jeffrey Wright Baptist Memorial Hospital, Memphis, TN, USA

Lonny B. Yarmus

Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Kazuhiro Yasufuku

Division of Thoracic Surgery, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network; University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

Executive Typesetting Editor Li Wang, AME Publishing Company

Foreword

We are pleased to announce that the "AME Research Time Medical Book Series" launched by AME Publishing Company has been published as scheduled.

Finishing my medical degree after 4 years and 3 months of study, I decided to leave the path toward becoming a doctor only after 3 months of training. After that, I had been muddling through days and nights until I started engaging in medical academic publishing. Even 10 years after graduation, I had not totally lost the affection for being a doctor. Occasionally, that subconscious feeling would inadvertently arise from the bottom of my heart.

In April 2011, Mr. Tiantian Li, the founder of DXY.cn, and I had a business trip to Philadelphia, where we visited the Mütter Museum. As part of The College of Physicians of Philadelphia, the museum was founded in 1858 and has now become an exhibition hall of various diseases, injuries, deformities, as well as ancient medical instruments and the development of biology. It displays more than 20,000 pieces of items including pictures of wounded bodies at sites of battle, remains of conjoined twins, skeletons of dwarfs, and colons with pathological changes. They even exhibited several exclusive collections such as a soap-like female body and the skull of a two-headed child. This museum is widely known as "BIRTHPLACE OF AMERICAN MEDICINE". Entering an auditorium, we were told by the guide that the inauguration ceremony of the Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania would take place there every year. I asked Mr. Li, "If it was at this auditorium that you had the inauguration ceremony, would you give up being a doctor?" "No," he answered.

In May 2013, we attended a meeting of the British Medical Journal (BMJ) and afterwards a gala dinner was held to present awards to a number of outstanding medical teams. The event was hosted annually by the Editor-in-Chief of the BMJ and a famous BBC host. Surprisingly, during the award presentation, the speeches made by the BMJ never mentioned any high impact papers the teams had published in any prestigious journals over the past years. Instead, they laid emphasis on the contributions they had made on improving medical services in certain fields, alleviating the suffering of patients, and reducing the medical expenses.

Many friends of mine wondered what AME means.

AME is an acronym of "Academic Made Easy, Excellent and Enthusiastic". On September 3, 2014, I posted three pictures to social media feeds and asked my friends to select their favourite version of the AME promotional leaflet. Unexpectedly, we obtained a perfect translation of "AME" from Dr. Yaxing Shen, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Zhongshan Hospital, Shanghai, who wrote: enjoy a grander sight by devoting to academia (in Chinese, it was adapted from the verse of a famous Chinese poem).

AME is a young company with a pure dream. While having a clear focus on research, we have been adhering to the core value of "Patients come first". On April 24, 2014, we developed a public account on WeChat (a popular Chinese social media platform) and named it "Research Time". With a passion for clinical work, scientific research and the stories of science, "Research Time" disseminates cutting-edge breakthroughs in scientific research, provides moment-to-moment coverage of academic activities and shares little-known behind-the-scene stories. With global vision, together we keep abreast of the advances in clinical research; together we meet and join our hands at the Research Time. We are committed to continue developing the AME platform to aid in the continual forward development and dissemination of medical science.

It is said that how one tastes wine indicates one's personality. We would say how one reads gives a better insight to it. The "AME Research Time Medical Books Series" brings together clinical work, scientific research and humanism. Like making a fine dinner, we hope to cook the most delicate cuisine with all the great tastes and aromas that everyone will enjoy.

Stephen Wang Founder & CEO, AME Publishing Company

Preface

We are excited to bring you the first edition of *Interventional Pulmonology*. This extensive compilation of diagnostic and therapeutic interventions for pulmonary malignancies and airway challenges will appeal to thoracic surgeons and interventional pulmonologists globally. With continued advances in molecular testing and minimally invasive therapeutic and diagnostic approaches for lung cancer, a detailed resource is needed for proper management of patients with these often challenging problems. General thoracic surgeons in both academic and community settings need to know how to take an evidence-based approach to management of these problems.

Lee and colleagues summarize the accuracy and indications for current imaging modalities for evaluating the new patient with suspected lung cancer as well as the management options for those not deemed to be surgical candidates for confirmed lung cancer. The role of magnetic resonance imaging beyond evaluation of chest wall invasion or superior sulcus tumors surprises us as a modality more sensitive-albeit more costly- than PET-CT for detection of advanced disease. Lin and Chung then offer ablative and stent options for palliating patients with central airway tumors and updates us on the state of drug-eluting and biodegradable airway stents, while Semaan and Yarmus outline a safe approach to rigid bronchoscopy and stent placement.

Extensive content is provided by global experts on the current state of endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) for mediastinal staging. Folch and colleagues provide a thorough review of options for mediastinal staging from EBUS to standard transbronchial aspiration with inclusion of the molecular tests necessary to expeditiously evaluate your patient with suspected lung cancer and guide your therapeutic algorithm. Righi and colleagues provide lovely immunohistochemical images of rapid on site evaluation (ROSE) samples form EBUS but remind us of the standardization challenges of the molecular testing from these aspirates, and medical oncologists Tuzi *et al.* outline the role of these tests for the recurrent or metastatic cases. Both Canneto and colleagues and Kupeli provide guidelines for safe implementation of a new EBUS program, while Leoni *et al.* review the controversies of bronchodilators in the high risk COPD patients undergoing EBUS. Czarnecka-Kujawa and Yasufuku remind us that in the era of EBUS there is still a role for mediastinoscopy and thoracic surgeons need to be comfortable performing the more invasive and riskier procedure.

In addition to EBUS thoracic surgeons should be familiar with navigational bronchoscopic approaches for diagnosis and therapy and Arias *et al.* remind us that these procedures are complementary for "one-stop shopping" for the lung nodule patient. Transthoracic biopsies have not been replaced by the bronchoscopic approaches and experienced surgeons or interventional radiologists should be able to offer with a minimal bleeding or pneumothorax rate. DiBardino *et al.* provide detailed tables of these complications rates from their literature review in the "TTNA biopsy of the lung" chapter.

We have provided a thorough summary of state-of-the-art staging and management options of our patients with confirmed or suspected lung cancer as provided by world experts. We hope you will enjoy this compilation and use it take to care for your patients safely and efficiently!



Virginia R. Litle

Virginia R. Litle , MD, FACS Division of Thoracic Surgery, Boston University, Boston, MA, USA

Preface

Endoscopic procedures, ultrasound imaging or more generally speaking interventional pulmonology allows modern diagnostic and therapeutic interventions in neoplastic and inflammatory mediastinal and lung diseases. The mentioned methods have gained importance over the last decades including conventional transcutaneous ultrasound (TUS), endoscopic ultrasound (EUS), and endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) including specific techniques, e.g., elastography and contrast enhanced ultrasound.

Tumour-staging and mediastinal lymph node staging affect the management of patients with both operable and inoperable lung cancer (e.g., surgery *vs.* combined chemoradiation therapy). Tissue sampling is often indicated for accurate nodal staging. Mediastinal nodes can be sampled from the airways (endobronchial ultrasound combined with transbronchial needle aspiration [EBUS-TBNA]) or the esophagus (endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration [EUS-FNA]). EBUS and EUS have a complementary diagnostic yield and in combination virtually all mediastinal lymph nodes can be biopsied. Additionally endoscopic ultrasound has been accepted assessing the typical findings in patients suspected of sarcoidosis.

Recent international lung cancer staging guidelines clearly state that endosonography should be the initial tissue sampling test over surgical staging. The European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine (EFSUMB) has been publishing guidelines on interventional ultrasound which are featured as well in this book.

The book is helpful for the experts and also for doctors that will start using these methods. Congratulation to the authors based on their long standing clinical and research expertise in this.



Christoph F Dietrich

Christoph F Dietrich, MD Med. Klinik 2, Caritas-Krankenhaus, Uhlandstr. 7, D-97980 Bad Mergentheim, Germany Pulmonary diseases are among the leading causes of death worldwide. Lung infections, lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease together accounted for a huge death worldwide (1). In order to improve the status, new diagnostic and therapeutic techniques are required. Interventional pulmonology (IP) was born out of this circumstance and it is exactly the field which offers advanced, minimally invasive diagnosis and treatment options for pulmonary disease and thoracic abnormalities.

IP is a broad term encompassing all nonsurgical procedures relating to lung and mediastinum. It has advanced at an incredible rate over the last decade. The rapid development and complexity of new technologies require that IP physicians constantly maintain and update their skills (2). With this goal in mind and with an aim to share research findings and clinical solutions, this new book, *Interventional Pulmonology*, has gathered about 80 world-renowned experts to share the state-of-the-art research findings on IP.

The book opens with the training program of IP in USA as the demand for IP fellowship trained physicians has been increasing. Then Dr. Wai-Kit Lee and his colleagues give an overview of modern diagnostic and therapeutic interventional radiology in lung cancer, while Dr. Fu-Tsai Chung and Dr. Chun-Yu Lin present a general review on interventional bronchoscopy in diagnosis and management.

It is well known that IP diagnostic capabilities including endobronchial ultrasound, flexible bronchoscopy, rigid bronchoscopy, autofluorescence bronchoscopy, electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy and pleuroscopy. Therefore, in the second section of the book, it mainly focuses on the interventional diagnostic technique. In the third section, it primarily reviews some interventional therapy techniques, such as airway stent placement, endobronchial laser photoresection, spray cryotherapy and thoracoscopy.

IP is a new and constantly evolving field that requires the physicians to perform the latest, most innovative procedures with the highest level of skill to best meet patients' needs. We hope that this book could be such a helpful literature for the IP physicians.

References

- 1. Available online: https://www.erswhitebook.org/chapters/the-burden-of-lung-disease/
- 2. Moore AJ, Mercer RM, Musani AI. Advances in Interventional Pulmonology. Clin Chest Med 2018;39:271-280.



Enguo Chen

Enguo Chen, MD, PhD Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, China In 2009 the *Journal of Thoracic Disease* (*JTD*) was established, and in a relatively short-time has become a significant resource for physicians worldwide who treat thoracic diseases. The journal was first indexed in PubMed in 2011, then, in the Scientific Citation Index in 2013 and subsequently received an impact factor in 2014. There have been tremendous advances and dissemination of new technologies among thoracic surgeons around the world over the last two decades. Similarly, the field of interventional pulmonology (IP) has also been evolving. New technologies to facilitate diagnosis and therapy of benign and malignant thoracic diseases have been introduced into practice along with an expansion of IP training programs. It is not unusual to have IP and thoracic surgeons as part of the same team in many centers.

Not surprisingly $\mathcal{J}TD$ has published several articles that are relevant to interventional pulmonologists and thoracic surgeons using these advanced bronchoscopic techniques. These articles are also useful to physicians who see patients with lung nodules in helping them to decide between different diagnostic modalities that may be available to them and where to refer patients to. AME has collected 19 of the most noteworthy articles published in $\mathcal{J}TD$, and presents them in this new textbook "Interventional Pulmonology". Leading clinicians from around the world describe diagnostic approaches such as CT imaging, bronchoscopy, endobronchial ultrasound and navigation bronchoscopy. The limitations of transbronchial and transthoracic biopsy of lung nodules is discussed in the section on diagnostic techniques. There are discussions on the technique of EBUS, its value for molecular testing as well as a comparison of EBUS to mediastinoscopy which was previously the gold standard for lymph node staging.

The last section of papers describes interventional therapeutic techniques. There are discussions on the use of rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stenting for central airway obstruction, a nice overview of different airway stents and their indications for use. Lastly there is a discussion of the technique and results of spray cryotherapy for airway disease. I am hopeful that clinicians managing airway disease and lung cancer, will find this textbook to be a useful resource to keep on hand in their offices.



Hiran C. Fernando

Hiran C. Fernando, MD, MBBS, FRCS Inova Schar Cancer Institute, Inova Fairfax Medical Campus, Falls Church, VA, USA

Preface

Since the first successful removal of an airway foreign body performed by Gustav Killian on March 30, 1897 using an esophagoscope, bronchoscopy has evolved significantly. Chevalier Jackson led the development of the current rigid bronchoscope in early twentieth century. The development of the flexible bronchoscopy by Shigeto Ikeda opened up further advancements in the field of bronchoscopy. In the past decade, the emergence of new technologies including endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) and navigational bronchoscopy have expanded the role of bronchoscopy and interventional pulmonology in the management of thoracic oncology.

In this new book entitled "Interventional Pulmonology", various diagnostic and therapeutic procedures performed by thoracic surgeons, interventional pulmonologists and bronchoscopists are reviewed with contributions from the experts in the field. The different technical aspects of new technologies as well as old technologies are reviewed in detail. For diagnostic procedures, EBUS-TBNA has emerged as the new standard for assessment of the mediastinum and the hilum. Bronchoscopists are now challenged to not only get tissue diagnosis but also to obtain sufficient amount of tissue for various molecular analysis. EBUS may have replaced the Gold standard of invasive mediastinal staging "Mediastinoscopy", but mediastinoscopy still has a role. Traditional transbronchial needle aspiration has its role in interventional pulmonology. The gold standard for biopsy of peripheral lung nodules is still transthoracic needle aspiration. However, new technologies including navigational bronchoscopy is an alternative approach though limitations exist.

Rigid bronchoscopy continues to be a key therapeutic procedure for interventional pulmonologists. Central airway obstruction is managed by the traditional rigid bronchoscope similar to that used by Killian. However, improvements have been made both in the devices available as well as the technique. Stenting and ablative devices, both hot and cold, are also available for use during an intervention. In the near future, these ablative devices will be applied to transbronchial therapeutics for peripheral lung tumors.

It is an exciting time for interventional pulmonology with emergence of new technology for diagnostics and therapeutics. This book will serve as a guide for many bronchoscopists interested in the field. Again, I congratulate the editors and the authors on the completion of this excellent book.



Kazuhiro Yasufuku

Kazuhiro Yasufuku, MD, PhD, FCCP

Deputy Head, Division of Surgical Oncology; Director of Endoscopy, University Health Network; Director, Interventional Thoracic Surgery Program; Associate Professor of Surgery, University of Toronto; Division of Thoracic Surgery, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network, Canada In the era of precision medicine and personalized therapy, interventional pulmonology has become an essential diagnostic, therapeutic and follow-up tool in lung cancer patient management and the improvement of more and more effective and safe techniques will allow even more precise approaches, particularly in case of advanced tumor stages that preclude surgical solutions. Furthermore, the multidisciplinary management of lung cancer disease has brought different lung specialists face to face to reach together the best approach for staging, diagnostic and therapeutic purposes, valuating chorally the most accurate and minimally invasive technique for patient care and benefit. Along this path, the use of conventional or EBUS-TBNA has grown up, maximizing both effective staging in early diseases and diagnostic yield for mediastinal advances stages. On the other hand, transthoracic FNA or percutaneous biopsy can lead to a more precise diagnosis in peripheral parenchymal lesions being also useful for ablation of peripheral localizations in the control of oligo-metastatic tumor spread.

The great improvement of biomarker-driven personalized therapies in non small cell lung cancer has risen the need of tumor profiling looking for specific markers predictive of response to therapies, spurring requests by medical oncologists of biopsies and re-biopsies for molecular profiling assessment also along patient's treatment history. In this scenario tumor tissue has reached a fundamental role in diagnosis and therapy of advanced patients. In these cases, since the obtained diagnostic cytological or bioptical specimens are often the only available material is of utmost importance to plan tissue analyses that will guide the most adequate personalized patient treatment. All the immunohistochemical and molecular biomarkers could be tested in these small samples with efficient results, comparable to surgical tissues, to warrant adequate and precise tumor profiling reports.

Finally, interventional pulmonology could be useful also for therapeutic purposes in endobronchial obstructive lesions or tracheal stenosis. In this field, tacking advantage of endobronchial stents in conjunction with other endoscopic therapy, such as the modern cryoprobe, different situations can be solved, including ablation of benign and malignant neoplasms, ablation of granulation tissue, treatment of infections, nerve ablation for chronic pain, bronchoscopic biopsies and even cosmetic surgery.

In this book, a valuable collection of studies is put together to highlight major issues about interventional pulmonology, to make aware the reader throughout all relevant aspects of this fascinating discipline.

Luisella Righi, MD Associate Professor of Pathology, Department of Oncology, University of Turin, San Luigi Hospital, Orbassano, Turin, Italy

Table of Contents

Interventional Pulmonology

- 1 Modern diagnostic and therapeutic interventional radiology in lung cancer Wai-Kit Lee, Eddie W. F. Lau, Kwang Chin, Oliver Sedlaczek, Karin Steinke
- 16 Central airway tumors: interventional bronchoscopy in diagnosis and management *Chun-Yu Lin, Fu-Tsai Chung*

Interventional Diagnostic Technique

- 25 Lung cancer diagnosis and staging in the minimally invasive age with increasing demands for tissue analysis Erik Folch, Daniel B. Costa, Jeffrey Wright, Paul A. VanderLaan
- 37 Ideal conditions to perform EBUS-TBNA Barbara Canneto, Giorgio Ferraroli, Giovanni Falezza, Maurizio Valentino Infante
- 41 Is bronchodilator the correct treatment for COPD subjects before EBUS? Veronica Leoni, Patrizia Pignatti, Dina Visca, Antonio Spanevello
- 45 Conventional transbronchial needle aspiration in community practice *Elif Kiipeli*
- 55 Navigational transbronchial needle aspiration, percutaneous needle aspiration and its future Sixto Arias, Lonny Yarmus, A. Christine Argento
- 67 Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA)—from morphology to molecular testing Luisella Righi, Francesca Franzi, Francesca Montarolo, Gaia Gatti, Massimo Bongiovanni, Fausto Sessa, Stefano La Rosa
- 77 Biopsy and re-biopsy in lung cancer: the oncologist requests and the role of endobronchial ultrasounds transbronchial needle aspiration Alessandro Tuzi, Elena Bolzacchini, Matteo B. Suter, Alice Giaquinto, Antonio Passaro, Stefania Gobba, Ilaria Vallini, Graziella Pinotti
- 82 Endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration for mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: variability of results and perspectives *Elisa Nardecchia, Maria Cattoni, Lorenzo Dominioni*
- 89 The role of endobronchial ultrasound versus mediastinoscopy for non-small cell lung cancer Katarzyna Czarnecka-Kujawa, Kazubiro Yasufuku
- 104 Transthoracic needle aspiration: the past, present and future Arun Chockalingam, Kelvin Hong

XII

- **112** Transthoracic needle biopsy of the lung David M. DiBardino, Lonny B. Yarmus, Roy W. Semaan
- 125 Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions, comments on the European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology guidelines on interventional ultrasound Christoph F. Dietrich, Rudolf Horn, Susanne Morf, Liliana Chiorean, Yi Dong, Xin-Wu Cui, Nathan S. S. Atkinson, Christian Jenssen
- 143 Navigation bronchoscopy for diagnosis and small nodule location Juan A. Muñoz-Largacha, Virginia R. Litle, Hiran C. Fernando

Interventional Therapy Technique

- 149 Indications and interventional options for non-resectable tracheal stenosis Jenny Louise Bacon, Caroline Marie Patterson, Brendan Patrick Madden
- 163 Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stents in the management of central airway obstruction *Roy Semaan, Lonny Yarmus*
- 174 Stents for airway strictures: selection and results Adil Ayub, Adnan M. Al-Ayoubi, Faiz Y. Bhora
- 180 Current status of spray cryotherapy for airway disease Ryan F. Moore, Deacon J. Lile, Abbas E. Abbas

Modern diagnostic and therapeutic interventional radiology in lung cancer

Wai-Kit Lee¹, Eddie W. F. Lau², Kwang Chin³, Oliver Sedlaczek⁴, Karin Steinke⁵

¹Department of Medical Imaging, St. Vincent's Hospital, University of Melbourne, Fitzroy, Victoria, Australia; ²Centre for Molecular Imaging, Department of Radiology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, University of Melbourne, East Melbourne, Victoria, Australia; ³Department of Radiology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, University of Melbourne, East Melbourne, Victoria, Australia; ⁴Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany; ⁵Department of Medical Imaging, Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, University of Queensland, Herston, Queensland, Australia

Correspondence to: Wai-Kit Lee. Department of Medical Imaging, St. Vincent's Hospital, University of Melbourne, 41 Victoria Parade, Fitzroy, Victoria 3065, Australia. Email: leewk33@hotmail.com.

Abstract: Imaging has an important role in the multidisciplinary management of primary lung cancer. This article reviews the current state-of-the-art imaging modalities used for the evaluation, staging and posttreatment follow-up and surveillance of lung cancers, and image-guided percutaneous techniques for biopsy to confirm the diagnosis and for local therapy in non-surgical candidates.

Keywords: Lung neoplasms; computed tomography (CT); positron emission tomography (PET)/CT; magnetic resonance (MR); biopsy; ablation

Submitted Jun 27, 2013. Accepted for publication Jul 16, 2013. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.07.27 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.07.27

Introduction

Imaging has an important role in the multidisciplinary management of primary lung cancer, and is necessary to establish the diagnosis; localise, characterise and stage the tumour; map relevant nodal, vascular and bronchial anatomy for treatment planning; and for surveillance of treatment efficacy and development of metachronous tumours. Image-guided treatment of primary lung cancers can be performed in select cases. This article reviews the imaging modalities currently used for the evaluation of lung cancers, and discusses image-guided percutaneous interventional techniques for histopathologic diagnosis and local tumour treatment. Lung cancer screening is beyond the scope of this article.

Imaging modalities

Computed tomography (CT) is the imaging modality of choice for the initial evaluation of suspected or proven lung cancers. Positron emission tomography (PET)/CT is the

most accurate imaging modality for the staging of primary lung cancers. Magnetic resonance (MR) imaging is useful for evaluation of superior sulcus (Pancoast) tumours and suspected malignant invasion of the chest wall, mediastinum or spine. The current recommended imaging required for lung cancer staging is CT scan of the thorax and PET/CT from skull base to mid-thigh (1).

Computed tomography

Advanced CT scanners permit a high-resolution, comprehensive evaluation of the entire chest in a single breath-hold lasting several seconds with an improved radiation dose profile to generate an isotropic dataset that allows detailed anatomical assessment as well as functional assessment of lung cancers. Radiation dose reduction is achieved by utilising automatic tube current modulation and iterative reconstruction techniques, which enable a CT examination to be performed either at a reduced dose with a similar image quality or at the same dose with improved image quality (2,3). Improved detection of small lung tumours is achieved by rapid acquisition and new visualisation techniques. Rapid acquisition reduces respiratory and cardiac motion artefacts that allow more accurate depiction of lung nodules, especially in the lung bases and in the para-cardiac lung. New visualisation techniques, such as maximum intensity projection, volume rendering, stereographic display and computer-aided detection, enhance lung cancer detection and enable the reader to differentiate small lung nodules from vessels (4). Isotropic dataset acquisition permits easy multiplanar reconstructions, including high-resolution angiograms and three-dimensional reconstruction of vascular and bronchial anatomy, for surgical or percutaneous interventional planning.

Staging

Despite recent advances in CT technology, lung cancer staging with CT remains suboptimal but is routinely performed because it remains excellent for local staging of T1 and T2 tumours, is able to delineate T3 and T4 tumours, guides selection of the most appropriate lymph nodes and the invasive technique for nodal sampling, and allows triage of patients to non-surgical therapy when unequivocal distant metastases are present. Limitations of CT for staging include accurate detection of early mediastinal and chest wall invasion, mediastinal staging and detection of small extrathoracic metastases. With regards to local tumour extent, differentiation between absent, minimal and gross T3 and T4 disease is of critical clinical significance as it determines whether the tumour is completely resectable and the surgical approach (5). The utility of thin-section CT has not significantly improved the detection of malignant invasion of the parietal pleura. One study of 90 patients using a 4-detector CT showed sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of 42%, 100% and 83%, respectively, for the detection of chest wall invasion (6). Another small study using a 4-detector CT showed the use of multiplanar reconstructions can improve the sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of CT to 86%, 96% and 95%, respectively, for the detection of chest wall invasion (7). With regards to malignant nodal involvement, a recent meta-analysis showed a pooled sensitivity and specificity of 55% and 81%, respectively, for the detection of malignant mediastinal lymph nodes when a widely accepted definition of normalsized lymph nodes of a short-axis diameter of ≤ 1 cm on a transverse CT scan image is used to differentiate benign from malignant lymph nodes (8). These results

Lee et al. Imaging and intervention in lung cancer

accurate detection of nodal metastases because metastases to normal-sized lymph nodes are missed and enlarged lymph nodes can be reactive or hyperplastic in aetiology. Recent studies suggest that evaluation of nodal morphology and CT enhancement pattern can improve the accuracy of CT for the detection of nodal metastases in lung cancer (9,10). With regards to distant metastases, CT is inferior to PET/ CT for detection of extrapulmonary metastases with an accuracy of 88% compared to 97% with PET/CT (11). To our knowledge, there has been no study that examined the accuracy of CT for lung cancer staging using CT scanners with more than 16-detector rows.

Post-treatment evaluation and surveillance

There is currently no consensus on the optimal followup and surveillance programme for patients with proven lung cancers. CT has been recommended for the routine evaluation and surveillance of patients who have undergone therapy with curative-intent for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), but routine imaging surveillance is not recommended in asymptomatic patients with advanced lung cancer who are not undergoing therapy (12-14). CT evaluation of response to treatment is usually dependent on morphologic changes in tumour and nodes. However, morphology is not a good indicator of early response to treatment and a positive response can be manifested as a delayed reduction in size or paradoxical increase in size (15). CT can be effective for post-treatment surveillance with one study showing CT detected 93% of new lung cancers and 61% of recurrences in a cohort of over 1,000 patients after resection of early-stage NSCLC (16).

New developments

Recent advances in CT technology have allowed investigation of novel methods for the evaluation of lung cancers including nodule volumetry, nodule perfusion analysis, dual-energy applications and computer-aided detection. Quantitative analysis of lung nodules by assessment of a nodule's volume can be performed using semi-automated or automated segmentation tools that allow assessment of nodule stability or progression over time. The rate of growth of a nodule is a predictor of the likelihood of malignancy, and volumetric analysis can be used to predict tumour response to treatment (17). CT perfusion analysis of nodules may allow better characterisation of the nodule in order to determine the likelihood of malignancy as well as earlier determination of treatment response compared to morphologic change in size (18,19). The likelihood of malignancy is considered low when contrast uptake is below 30 Hounsfield units (HU) (20). Dual-energy CT is a technique that allows differentiation of iodine from other materials, such as soft tissue and bone, due to iodine's stronger photoelectric absorption (21). This method allows visualisation of the degree and pattern of enhancement within a mass following contrast-enhanced CT. One study showed that the degree of enhancement within a pulmonary nodule can be used to differentiate benign from malignant tumours with a sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of 92%, 70% and 82%, respectively (22). In another study, moderate correlation was found between the maximum iodine attenuation and SUVmax in thoracic nodes in patients with NSCLC, but poor correlation in those patients with small cell lung cancer (23). The authors suggest that moderate correlation in NSCLC could be explained by moderate specificity of PET for determination of malignant nodes, and the difference in correlation seen with NSCLC compared to SCLC due to differing tumour biology such as angiogenic ability.

Positron emission tomography

Solitary pulmonary nodule

PET with F-18 deoxyglucose (FDG) is a useful technique for the characterisation of pulmonary nodules to distinguish between benign and malignant lesions. Two meta-analyses showed the sensitivity and specificity of FDG-PET for the diagnosis of malignant pulmonary nodules were about 96% and 80%, respectively (24,25). The significance of a PET-positive result is dependent on the clinical context and the prevalence of granulomatous and infectious disease, which are recognised causes of false positive PET results. False negative results can occur in small (<10 mm) nodules due to partial volume effect or the effect of respiratory blurring, or in some subtypes of lung malignancy with a low intrinsic FDG avidity, such as adenocarcinoma in situ. On a practical level, a PET-positive study often implies that biopsy or intervention is warranted to obtain pathological confirmation (26), while a PET-negative study may allow conservative approach and avoidance of unnecessary invasive procedures (27). There is evidence that the use of FDG-PET is cost-effective in the management of solitary pulmonary nodules (28,29).

Staging

PET is the most accurate imaging modality for the assessment of nodal and distant metastases from lung cancer, which is vital for treatment planning. PET has been found to be more accurate than CT in the staging of mediastinal nodal disease in many clinicopathological studies, including two meta-analyses that showed the sensitivity and specificity of PET was 79-85% and 90-91%, respectively, compared to 60-61% and 77-79% for CT (30,31). The accuracy of nodal assessment is further increased with PET/CT, which has an excellent negative predictive value of 91% in the mediastinal assessment of early-stage disease (32,33). Despite the high accuracy of PET/CT in nodal staging, there remains a significant false positive rate that is more common with larger (>1 cm) nodes, which is often due to reactive or granulomatous nodal disease (34). With the increased availability of minimally invasive mediastinal nodal sampling procedures, such as endobronchial ultrasound and endoscopic ultrasound, it is imperative to obtain pathological confirmation of PET-positive nodes before denying surgery to patients with potentially curable disease (35,36). PET is the imaging modality of choice in the assessment for distant metastases of lung cancer due to its whole body imaging capability and high tumor-tobackground contrast which allows superior detection of both osseous and soft tissue metastases (37-39). There is a significant incidence of unrecognised distant metastatic disease when staging with conventional CT and bone scintigraphy. One study showed distant metastases were only identified with PET in 7.5%, 18% and 24% of stage I, stage II and stage III disease, respectively (40). Up to 20% of patients who are thought to be operable when staged with conventional imaging are found to be inoperable following PET and, therefore, PET is considered essential prior to curative treatment to avoid unnecessary futile surgical intervention (41,42). PET/CT has been shown to be superior to stand-alone PET or CT in the detection of distant disease mainly due to the ability of PET/CT to obtain anatomical correlation to reduce false positive PET interpretation of physiologic uptake in normal structures (43). A recent meta-analysis showed PET/CT was significantly superior to PET, MR imaging and bone scintigraphy for the detection of bony metastases with a pooled PET/CT sensitivity and specificity of 92% and 98%, respectively (44). Given the high background FDG uptake in the brain, FDG-PET is not the optimal imaging modality for the exclusion of cerebral metastases, which should be

evaluated by MR imaging when clinically indicated (45). The availability of both functional and structural information on PET/CT also facilitates the selection of stage critical lesions for biopsy to allow pathological confirmation. The use of PET and PET/CT is cost-effective in the staging of NSCLC (46-48) with a recent randomised clinical trial showing cost savings of 899 Euro per patient and 4,495 Euro per avoided thoracotomy (49). There is also a strong correlation between PET-stage and survival in both surgical and radical radiotherapy candidates which suggests that PET provides prognostically significant information (50,51).

Radiotherapy planning

FDG-PET and PET/CT have been found to have a critical role in patient selection and target volume definition in patients with locoregionally advanced NSCLC considered for curative or radical radiotherapy. Radical radiotherapy is given with curative intent to non-surgical patients with gross locoregional tumour that can be encompassed by high-dose radiation in the absence of distant disease (52). A number of prospective studies investigating the utility of PET in the staging of potential candidates for radical radiotherapy found 25-30% of the patients were unsuitable for radical treatment owing to the presence of more advanced disease that was not shown on conventional imaging (53-55). PET-assisted radiotherapy treatment volume contouring has been found to be more accurate and significantly different from conventional treatment volumes, and a change in radiation volume was found in more than 30% of the patients (53,56,57). Survival benefit has also been shown with PET/ CT-assisted radical radiotherapy. In one study, the 4-year survival of stage IIIA patients managed with PET/CTassisted radical radiotherapy was 32%, which is superior to outcome with CT-assisted radical radiotherapy (58).

Post-treatment evaluation

A prospective study of 73 patients comparing FDG-PET with CT for the assessment of response following radical radiotherapy and chemoradiation of NSCLC showed significantly more complete responders on PET (34 patients) than CT (10 patients). PET response was more predictive of survival duration than CT response, and was the only prognostic factor associated with survival duration on multifactor analysis (59). A more recent paper also reported a high metabolic tumour volume post definitive treatment for NSCLC was an independent poor prognostic factor (60).

FDG-PET has also been found to provide prognostically significant response assessment in NSCLC patients undergoing induction chemotherapy. In a prospective study involving 31 patients with stage III unresectable disease, complete response on PET was more accurate than response on CT, and PET showed superior correlation with longer time to progression and overall survival (61). The ability of FDG-PET to provide superior prognostic information has also been reported in the setting of induction chemotherapy prior to surgical resection or chemoradiation, and there may be a role of PET in treatment selection and planning (62,63).

Magnetic resonance imaging

Modern MR techniques have overcome the principal problem of magnetic field inhomogeneities due to the numerous air-soft tissue interfaces when imaging the lung as well as artefacts associated with cardiac and respiratory movement to produce diagnostic images. The utility of MR for the diagnosis, staging, radiotherapy planning and posttreatment evaluation in lung tumours is under-utilised and has been investigated at only a few centres. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value of MR for the detection of lung carcinoma and noncalcified lesions greater than 5 mm are close to 100% (64). Therefore, MR can potentially be used for lung cancer screening, but to our knowledge, there are no prospective trials investigating the utility of MR for this purpose (65,66). MR imaging with diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) can be used to predict benignity of pulmonary lesions. One prospective study of 66 patients showed DWI had a sensitivity, specificity and positive predictive value of 95%, 73% and 87%, respectively, for the diagnosis of a malignant lesion (67).

In current clinical practice, MR imaging is primarily used for the assessment of suspected chest wall or mediastinal invasion by lung cancer due to the superior soft tissue contrast resolution of MR. Comparative studies between MR and FDG-PET/CT have shown the two techniques to be equivalent for staging NSCLC (68-70). The strength of MR is in the detection of cerebral and hepatic metastases, while PET/CT is better at nodal staging. A recent prospective study showed MR imaging with DWI was superior to PET/CT for the detection and nodal assessment of NSCLC (71). MR also allows differentiation of viable tumour from necrotic tumour and atelectasis, and is helpful in radiotherapy planning (72). Posttreatment tumour response has been investigated using MR



Figure 1 A 71-year-old man with Stage III NSCLC in the right upper lobe. A. Axial T2-weighted MR image shows a heterogeneous T2 hyperintense mass with surrounding atelectasis; B, C. Axial ADC diffusion images before (B) and 24 hours after (C) starting chemotherapy show reduced ADC signal intensity in tumour following treatment.

techniques such as magnetization transfer, blood-oxygenlevel dependent MR, and perfusion and diffusion imaging. Dynamic contrast-enhanced perfusion allows assessment of tumour angiogenesis, which has the potential to predict chemotherapy response in NSCLC patients, but its use is unproven for monitoring of anti-angiogenic therapy (73). MR perfusion can also be used for prediction of postoperative lung function (74). With regards to DWI, the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) measures the magnitude of diffusion of water molecules within tissue. Cell swelling or shrinkage is reflected in changes in ADC values. In general, an initial decrease in tumour ADC measurement performed within 30 days of treatment (Figure 1), and an increase in tumour ADC measurement 30 days following treatment were found to be predictive of a positive outcome, and our own unpublished data support similar findings (75,76).

Image-guided percutaneous interventions

Image-guided percutaneous biopsy can be performed for confirmation of diagnosis and treatment planning. In nonsurgical candidates, image-guided percutaneous therapy can be performed with curative-intent or for palliation, and these techniques include cryoablation, radiofrequency ablation and microwave ablation.

Percutaneous biopsy

Percutaneous needle core biopsy is a minimally invasive procedure that can be used to confirm the diagnosis of lung malignancy. The most common complications are pneumothorax and bleeding. A higher risk of pneumothorax has been reported to occur with biopsy of smaller lesions and deeper lesions. Biopsy of lesions less than 2 cm in size is associated with an 11 times greater risk of pneumothorax than lesions greater than 4 cm, and this may be explained by the prolonged procedure time required to successfully biopsy smaller lesions (77). This study also showed that the risk of a pneumothorax is negligible for lesions abutting the pleura because the needle does not need to cross aerated lung, but there is a seven-fold increase in the rate of pneumothorax for biopsy of lesions less than 2 cm from pleura and a four-fold rate for lesions greater than 2 cm (77). Hence, the authors advocated a longer oblique needle path for biopsy of sub-pleural nodules to minimise pneumothorax risk, but a different study suggested that a smaller needle-to-pleura angle increases the risk of a pneumothorax (78). Other potential factors for the higher risk of a pneumothorax when lesions less than 2 cm from the pleura are biopsied include multiple punctures and difficulty anchoring a heavy hub cutting needle. A higher risk of pneumothorax following biopsy in patients with obstructive pulmonary disease has been reported in some studies (78,79), but other studies did not find this association (77,80,81). Factors that were not associated with an increased risk of pneumothorax include biopsy of cavitary lesions, biopsy needle size and patient positioning following biopsy (77). Bleeding is the second most common complication of percutaneous lung biopsy, and the two main predisposing factors were lesion size and distance of lesion from the pleural surface. A six-fold increase in bleeding was

shown for lesions less than 2 cm in size compared to those greater than 4 cm in size, and lesions greater than 2 cm from the pleura have a ten-fold bleeding risk compared to those abutting the pleural surface (77,82). The presence of a pleural effusion on the side of the biopsy was associated with a decreased risk of bleeding and was found to be an independent risk factor for bleeding following biopsy (77).

Cryoablation

Cryoablation is a percutaneous minimally invasive technique used for the treatment of lung tumours in nonsurgical candidates. Cryoablation causes coagulative necrosis of tumour cells and its vasculature. During cryoablation, a 2-to-3-cm rim of normal tissue surrounding the lesion should be ablated to achieve a margin of safety. The cryoablation probe is introduced into the tumour and cooled to -40 °C for about 10 minutes, then thawed for 8 minutes and then cooled once again for a further 10 minutes. Ice formation around the probe disrupts cell membrane function and enzymes, and creates a relative hypertonic extracellular environment causing intracellular dehydration by osmosis. The rapid return of water into the cell during the thawing process causes cell lysis. Direct damage to small (<3 mm) vessel walls and vessel stasis supplying the tumour may also play a role in tumour destruction (83). There is limited long-term outcome data for lung tumours treated with cryoablation. A Japanese series of 20 patients with 35 treated lesions followed for a median of 28 months showed a local recurrence rate of 20% (84). Another study investigated patients with stage I NSCLC who were unsuitable for standard surgical resection, and showed a 3-year survival rate of 77%, 88% and 87% when treated with cryoablation, radiofrequency ablation (RFA) or sublobar resection, respectively (85). Although cryoablation is comparable to other ablative techniques for the management of non-surgical candidates with lung cancer, longer term follow-up data are required to determine its role in the management of lung cancers.

Radiofrequency ablation

RFA is a technique that involves the placement of an electrode into tissue to cause focal destruction with thermal energy, which is generated by friction secondary to oscillating tissue ions that occur when an alternating electric current in the frequency of 460-500 kHz (radio waves) is applied. Heating tissue to 50 °C for at least 5 minutes causes

cells to undergo coagulative necrosis. Therapeutic RFA aims to heat tissues to 60-100 °C, which leads to near instant cell death through protein denaturation (86). Pulmonary lesions are ideal for RFA because air in lung parenchyma surrounding the lesion provides thermal insulation to allow concentration of the applied radiofrequency (RF) energy within the lesion. Non-surgical candidates or patients who refuse surgery are potential candidates for RFA and the decision to treat with RFA should ideally be made in consultation with the interdisciplinary pulmonary tumour board. The most suitable lesions for RFA are less than 3 cm in size, and patients with stage I NSCLC are ideal candidates. Reported long-term survival rates after RFA of stage I NSCLC at 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 years are 78%, 57%, 36%, 27% and 27%, respectively (87). RFA in combination with conventional radiotherapy has been used to treat inoperable lung tumours because hypoxic cells in the centre of tumour respond poorly to radiotherapy alone. A study showed cumulative survival rates of 50% and 39% at 2 and 5 years, respectively, following combined RFA and conventional radiotherapy for stage I NSCLC (88), and dual therapy achieved better local tumour control and patient survival compared to radiotherapy alone (89). Furthermore, RFA can be used to treat small slow growing pulmonary metastases (90) and to palliate patients with larger tumours that cause chest pain, dyspnoea, cough or haemoptysis (87). RFA of larger tumours often requires multiple overlapping ablations to ensure satisfactory tumour coverage, and recurrence rates tend to be higher in larger tumours than with smaller tumours (87,89).

Microwave ablation

Microwave ablation (MWA) represents the most recent addition to the growing armamentarium of minimally invasive thermal ablation therapies for the nonsurgical treatment of lung malignancies (91). Microwaves are electromagnetic waves with a frequency range that extends from 300 MHz to 300 GHz. However, microwave generators for clinical use operate at frequencies of 915 MHz or 2.45 GHz (92). Microwaves agitate water molecules, which are small electric dipoles, in the target tissue, and they spin between 2 and 5 billion times per second in an attempt to follow the rapidly alternating electric field (92,93). This leads to heat generation through friction. Conduction and convection allow further tissue heating beyond the directly agitated water molecules (94). Temperatures thus generated, usually in excess of 100 °C,



Figure 2 A 70-year-old man with cardiomyopathy and new solitary melanoma metastasis to the right lower lobe. A. Prone axial CT image shows a lobulated 1.6 cm tumour; B. The feed point of the microwave antenna is positioned within the centre of the tumour; C, D. At 5 minutes following the start of ablation (C), there is ground glass opacity forming mainly on the far edge of the tumour, and at 10 minutes (D), a 3-10 mm circumferential rim of ground glass opacity has formed around the tumour; E. At 3 hours following ablation, there is marked (>1 cm) circumferential ground glass opacity around the tumour; F. Axial FDG-PET/CT image 6 months following MWA shows complete lack of FDG uptake at the site of tumour, indicating eradication of tumour. New cardiac-related pleural effusion is present.

lead to almost instantaneous irreversible cell damage. The centrifugally growing coagulation necrosis around the active tip of the microwave antenna is spherically shaped. It should ideally encompass the target tumour and a circumferentially surrounding safety margin (*Figure 2*). This safety margin, ideally at least 6 mm in thickness, is necessary to destroy tumour cell nests and satellite foci in the immediate periphery of the tumour not perceivable on cross-sectional imaging. A smaller safety margin carries a higher risk for local recurrence (95).

Advantages of MWA over RFA

There are several advantages of microwave over RF energy. RF heating requires an electrical conduction path and is, therefore, less effective in areas of low electrical conductivity and high baseline impedance, such as lung parenchyma. This results in heating of the target tissue only immediately adjacent to the RF electrode (96,97). Microwaves are capable of propagating through many types of tissue and effectively heating them, even those with low electrical conductivity, high impedance or low thermal conductivity (98). Unlike RF and laser, microwaves can penetrate through the charred or desiccated tissues that build up around all hyperthermic ablation applicators which results in limited power delivery for non-microwave energy systems (99). Multiple microwave antennae can be simultaneously powered to maximise the ablation volume when placed in close proximity to each other, or when widely spaced, to simultaneously ablate several tumours, such as multiple pulmonary metastases (95). Larger and more homogeneous ablation volumes can be achieved with MWA because the rapid heating with MWA results in less susceptibility to heat sink effect (92). Further advantages of MWA over RFA include no requirement for grounding pads which avoids potential pad site burns, and implanted cardiac devices are less prone to malfunction (100,101).

Detailed histopathological assessment of microwave ablated lesions has confirmed the concentric layered ablation zones post RFA described by Clasen et al. (102). The central inner necrosis is surrounded by an intermediate zone of equally irreversibly destroyed tissue corresponding to the safety margin strived for. The outer zone of ground glass opacity encompasses a haemorrhagic ring, which in turn is surrounded by oedema and a lymphocytic infiltrate (103). In these outermost layers, there was only partial thermal cell destruction seen with RFA (102). Vital histochemical nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide staining of resected lung tumours which have undergone intraoperative MWA immediately prior to resection confirmed cellular death (because of a lack of mitochondrial enzymatic activity) in a much larger ablation zone (104). No viable cells could be detected within five of the six ablation zones; uniform cellular death was shown to extend through sharp well-demarcated transition zones separating viable and nonviable ablated cells (104).

Patient selection and method

Patients selected for MWA are usually deemed medically inoperable. Exclusion criteria for MWA include uncontrolled primary tumour, radiologic evidence of lymph node metastases, extrathoracic spread, infiltration of the chest wall, mediastinal structures, main bronchi or main pulmonary arteries, sepsis and irreversible coagulopathy (94,105). Patients who have undergone prior surgery (including pneumonectomy), chemotherapy or radiotherapy are usually not excluded. Some patients may have resectable tumours, but have declined surgery. The patient is positioned in the CT scanner that allows the shortest and safest access route to the tumour. Crossing of fissures should be avoided whenever possible. The skin is prepped and draped as usual, and local anaesthetic is infiltrated along the needle tract. A short cut into the skin allows for a smooth passage of the antenna. Under visual guidance, preferably CT fluoroscopy, the antenna is advanced in a stepwise manner into the tumour. Calcified pleural plaques and cartilage should be avoided because the fragile microwave antenna is at risk of fracture if forced through rigid tissue (106). Conscious sedation or general anaesthesia can be used with no difference in complications and outcome between the two modalities (107). Single ablation duration depends on tumour size, location and power capacity of the generator, but usually does not exceed 20 minutes. It is advisable to perform a limited CT scan during the ablation cycle to identify any displacement of the antenna from its original position or early complications. Only a few centres routinely administer prophylactic antibiotics for the procedure (108). Immediate post-procedural recovery includes continuous monitoring for pulse and oxygen saturation, and blood pressure measurements taken every 15-20 minutes. Other observations are performed as per the hospital's policy. A baseline chest radiograph is performed 3 to 4 hours following the ablation. In most centres, patients are hospitalised after the procedure and discharged the following day provided no complications have occurred. In principle, the procedure can be performed on an outpatient basis, but it is recommended to observe them overnight because of the potential for delayed complications.

Complications

Complications resulting from ablation procedures should be classified in accordance with the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) (109). The complication rate from MWA varies and can be expected to be higher in patients who have poor underlying pulmonary reserve. Pneumothorax is the most common immediate complication with a reported incidence of up to 43% (110), but less than one-third of these patients require a chest tube (105,110,111). Post-ablation syndrome, defined as a constellation of productive cough with or without minor haemoptysis, residual soreness in the treated area, and fever occurring several days after ablation, is reported in 2% of cases (105). Small pleural effusions not requiring thoracentesis occur in around a quarter of ablations. Cavitary changes are reported in up to 43% of ablated



Figure 3 A 72-year-old man with incomplete response to external beam radiation to left lower lobe NSCLC, who presented for salvage MWA. He had an intractable cough throughout the procedure. A. Prone axial CT image showed a 5.5 cm mass before MWA; B. Prone axial CT during the procedure showed a small pneumothorax and surgical emphysema developing around the antenna entry site; C. Prone axial CT at the end of the procedure shows the pneumothorax has remained similar in size, but had increased surgical emphysema.

tumours, 14% of which display air-fluid levels that usually involute spontaneously (105). Infective complications (abscess, pneumonia) are rare (105,110). Chest wall emphysema occurs in approximately 20% of cases (unpublished author's experience) and is usually concurrent with a pneumothorax (*Figure 3*). Ablated tumours abutting the visceral pleura result in pleural thickening in over onethird of cases (105), and prolonged pleural retractions occur in a small proportion of these cases. Up to 15% of patients require hospitalisation after MWA primarily due to pneumothoraces (105).

There is scarce comparable long-term outcome data for the effectiveness of MWA in lung cancer owing to the relatively recent addition of MWA to the armamentarium of minimally invasive hyperthermal treatment modalities; different MWA protocols that use different ablation systems operating at different frequencies with different shaft cooling mechanisms, different antennae size and different active tip lengths; and heterogeneous patient population treated, including treatment-naïve primary lung cancer, locally recurrent primary lung cancer following prior therapy, synchronous or metachronous lung cancers, and pulmonary metastases. Two recent publications using the same MWA device and with similar protocols showed promising short to mid-term results. In a homogeneous patient population of early stage NSCLC, the local control rate was 88% and 75% at a median follow-up of 6 months and 1 year, respectively (110,111).

Post-treatment evaluation

CT is the imaging modality of choice for follow-up despite additional radiation exposure. A common post-ablation surveillance protocol is to perform a CT study the day following ablation to assess for complications, and this study can be used as a reference for comparison with subsequent studies, which are performed at 3, 6 and 12 months during the first year, and at 6-monthly intervals thereafter (110). A thin (<5 mm) symmetric circumferential rim of peripheral enhancement is seen up to 6 months following ablation and is considered a sign of benign reactive enhancement. Irregular focal soft-tissue enhancement of >15 HU is, however, considered to be a sign of residual or recurrent disease (105). The initial size of the ablation zone is supposed to be much larger than the treated tumour as it encompasses the surrounding safety margin. Continuous shrinkage thereafter should occur and this usually leaves a small focus of atelectasis (Figure 4) or scar. FDG-PET imaging is considered to be more sensitive for detecting early tumour recurrence. The specificity, however, is low in the early post-ablation period. Performing FDG-PET scans sooner than 6 months following ablation should be



Figure 4 A 75-year-old ex-smoker with prior RFA of biopsy-proven left upper lobe NSCLC. FDG-PET 3 months following RFA was equivocal for residual tumour and repeat treatment with CT-guided MWA was performed. A. Axial CT image shows a 3 cm left upper lobe mass; B. Axial CT shows microwave antenna is positioned within the centre of the mass; C. Axial CT 24 hours following MWA shows ablation site encompasses target lesion. There is a focal pleural effusion with small cavity, and surrounding atelectasis and ground glass opacity changes; D, E. Axial CT (D) and axial fused FDG-PET/CT (E) 6 months following ablation show resolution of the ground glass opacity and shrinking of the ablation volume, but a residual broad-based pleural contact remain. FDG-PET/CT shows lack of FDG-avidity of the ablated lesion but mild sub-pleural FDG uptake, likely inflammatory; F, G. Axial CT 12 months (F) and 24 months (G) following ablation show further gradual shrinking of the ablation volume and narrowing of the pleural contact.

discouraged to ensure a low false-positive rate (112,113). In addition to the FDG-uptake values, the pattern of FDG uptake is also indicative of ablation success or failure (113). Modified response evaluation criteria in solid tumours (RECIST) criteria, which incorporate both the CT and FDG-PET appearances of the lesion following ablation, are considered the most appropriate tool for follow-up assessment (114).

Conclusions

The current challenge for imaging is to exploit the advantages

of each imaging modality and integrate them into a clinically useful algorithm. At present, CT and PET/CT are recommended for lung cancer staging, and MR imaging is used for evaluation of suspected T3 and T4 disease. A few recent studies suggest that MR is equivalent to FDG-PET/CT for staging NSCLC. New developments in CT, PET/CT and MR have the potential to provide improved anatomical and functional assessment of lung cancers that result in more individualized and targeted therapy. Cryoablation, RFA and MWA are promising powerful percutaneous techniques for curative-intent therapy or localised palliation of lung cancer, but available short-

Interventional Pulmonology

to mid-term data suggest MWA to be superior to RFA. However, more mid- and long-term data are required to assess for survival and cancer-free outcome following such therapies.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ravenel JG, Mohammed TL, Movsas B, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® noninvasive clinical staging of broncho-genic carcinoma. J Thorac Imaging 2010;25:W107-11.
- Willemink MJ, Leiner T, de Jong PA, et al. Iterative reconstruction techniques for computed tomography part 2: initial results in dose reduction and image quality. Eur Radiol 2013;23:1632-42.
- Vardhanabhuti V, Loader RJ, Mitchell GR, et al. Image quality assessment of standard- and low-dose chest CT using fil-tered back projection, adaptive statistical iterative reconstruction, and novel model-based iterative reconstruction algo-rithms. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2013;200:545-52.
- Walsh SL, Nair A, Hansell DM. Post-processing applications in thoracic computed tomography. Clin Radiol 2013;68:433-48.
- Stoelben E, Ludwig C. Chest wall resection for lung cancer: indications and techniques. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2009;35:450-6.
- Bandi V, Lunn W, Ernst A, et al. Ultrasound vs. CT in detecting chest wall invasion by tumor: a prospective study. Chest 2008;133:881-6.
- Higashino T, Ohno Y, Takenaka D, et al. Thin-section multiplanar reformats from multidetector-row CT data: utility for assessment of regional tumor extent in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Eur J Radiol 2005;56:48-55.
- Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.

- 9. Volterrani L, Mazzei MA, Banchi B, et al. MSCT multicriteria: a novel approach in assessment of mediastinal lymph node metastases in non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J
- Radiol 2011;79:459-66.
 10. Takahashi Y, Takashima S, Hakucho T, et al. Diagnosis of regional node metastases in lung cancer with computer-aided 3D measurement of the volume and CT-attenuation values of lymph nodes. Acad Radiol 2013;20:740-5.
- 11. De Wever W, Vankan Y, Stroobants S, et al. Detection of extrapulmonary lesions with integrated PET/CT in the staging of lung cancer. Eur Respir J 2007;29:995-1002.
- Pfister DG, Johnson DH, Azzoli CG, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology treatment of unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer guideline: update 2003. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:330-53.
- Crinò L, Weder W, van Meerbeeck J, et al. Early stage and locally advanced (non-metastatic) non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2010;21 Suppl 5:v103-15.
- Colt HG, Murgu SD, Korst RJ, et al. Follow-up and surveillance of the patient with lung cancer after curativeintent therapy: diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e437S-54S.
- Junker K, Thomas M, Schulmann K, et al. Tumour regression in non-small-cell lung cancer following neoadjuvant ther-apy. Histological assessment. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1997;123:469-77.
- Lou F, Huang J, Sima CS, et al. Patterns of recurrence and second primary lung cancer in early-stage lung cancer survi-vors followed with routine computed tomography surveillance. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013;145:75-81; discussion 81-2.
- Revel MP, Merlin A, Peyrard S, et al. Software volumetric evaluation of doubling times for differentiating benign versus malignant pulmonary nodules. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2006;187:135-42.
- Fraioli F, Anzidei M, Zaccagna F, et al. Wholetumor perfusion CT in patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma treated with conventional and antiangiogenetic chemotherapy: initial experience. Radiology 2011;259:574-82.
- Tacelli N, Santangelo T, Scherpereel A, et al. Perfusion CT allows prediction of therapy response in non-small cell lung cancer treated with conventional and anti-angiogenic chemotherapy. Eur Radiol 2013;23:2127-36.
- 20. Yi CA, Lee KS, Kim EA, et al. Solitary pulmonary

nodules: dynamic enhanced multi-detector row CT study and comparison with vascular endothelial growth factor and microvessel density. Radiology 2004;233:191-9.

- Johnson TR, Krauss B, Sedlmair M, et al. Material differentiation by dual energy CT: initial experience. Eur Radiol 2007;17:1510-7.
- 22. Chae EJ, Song JW, Seo JB, et al. Clinical utility of dualenergy CT in the evaluation of solitary pulmonary nodules: initial experience. Radiology 2008;249:671-81.
- 23. Schmid-Bindert G, Henzler T, Chu TQ, et al. Functional imaging of lung cancer using dual energy CT: how does iodine related attenuation correlate with standardized uptake value of 18FDG-PET-CT? Eur Radiol 2012;22:93-103.
- Gould MK, Maclean CC, Kuschner WG, et al. Accuracy of positron emission tomography for diagnosis of pulmonary nodules and mass lesions: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2001;285:914-24.
- 25. Hellwig D, Ukena D, Paulsen F, et al. Meta-analysis of the efficacy of positron emission tomography with F-18fluorodeoxyglucose in lung tumors. Basis for discussion of the German Consensus Conference on PET in Oncology 2000. Pneumologie 2001;55:367-77.
- Gould MK, Sanders GD, Barnett PG, et al. Costeffectiveness of alternative management strategies for patients with solitary pulmonary nodules. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:724-35.
- Hashimoto Y, Tsujikawa T, Kondo C, et al. Accuracy of PET for diagnosis of solid pulmonary lesions with 18F-FDG uptake below the standardized uptake value of 2.5. J Nucl Med 2006;47:426-31.
- Keith CJ, Miles KA, Griffiths MR, et al. Solitary pulmonary nodules: accuracy and cost-effectiveness of sodium iodide FDG-PET using Australian data. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2002;29:1016-23.
- 29. Lejeune C, Al Zahouri K, Woronoff-Lemsi MC, et al. Use of a decision analysis model to assess the medicoeconomic implications of FDG PET imaging in diagnosing a solitary pulmonary nodule. Eur J Health Econ 2005;6:203-14.
- Dwamena BA, Sonnad SS, Angobaldo JO, et al. Metastases from non-small cell lung cancer: mediastinal staging in the 1990s--meta-analytic comparison of PET and CT. Radiology 1999;213:530-6.
- 31. Gould MK, Kuschner WG, Rydzak CE, et al. Test performance of positron emission tomography and computed tomography for mediastinal staging in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003;139:879-92.
- 32. Shim SS, Lee KS, Kim BT, et al. Non-small cell lung

cancer: prospective comparison of integrated FDG PET/ CT and CT alone for preoperative staging. Radiology 2005;236:1011-9.

- Yang W, Fu Z, Yu J, et al. Value of PET/CT versus enhanced CT for locoregional lymph nodes in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2008;61:35-43.
- 34. Al-Sarraf N, Gately K, Lucey J, et al. Lymph node staging by means of positron emission tomography is less accurate in non-small cell lung cancer patients with enlarged lymph nodes: analysis of 1,145 lymph nodes. Lung Cancer 2008;60:62-8.
- 35. Eloubeidi MA, Cerfolio RJ, Chen VK, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of mediastinal lymph node in patients with suspected lung cancer after positron emission tomography and computed tomography scans. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;79:263-8.
- 36. Herth FJ, Ernst A, Eberhardt R, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration of lymph nodes in the radiologically normal mediastinum. Eur Respir J 2006;28:910-4.
- Pieterman RM, van Putten JW, Meuzelaar JJ, et al. Preoperative staging of non-small-cell lung cancer with positron-emission tomography. N Engl J Med 2000;343:254-61.
- Yun M, Kim W, Alnafisi N, et al. 18F-FDG PET in characterizing adrenal lesions detected on CT or MRI. J Nucl Med 2001;42:1795-9.
- Cheran SK, Herndon JE 2nd, Patz EF Jr. Comparison of whole-body FDG-PET to bone scan for detection of bone metastases in patients with a new diagnosis of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2004;44:317-25.
- 40. MacManus MP, Hicks RJ, Matthews JP, et al. High rate of detection of unsuspected distant metastases by pet in apparent stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: implications for radical radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001;50:287-93.
- 41. van Tinteren H, Hoekstra OS, Smit EF, et al. Effectiveness of positron emission tomography in the preoperative assessment of patients with suspected non-small-cell lung cancer: the PLUS multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 2002;359:1388-93.
- 42. Fischer B, Lassen U, Mortensen J, et al. Preoperative staging of lung cancer with combined PET-CT. N Engl J Med 2009;361:32-9.
- Lardinois D, Weder W, Hany TF, et al. Staging of nonsmall-cell lung cancer with integrated positron-emission tomography and computed tomography. N Engl J Med 2003;348:2500-7.

Interventional Pulmonology

- 44. Qu X, Huang X, Yan W, et al. A meta-analysis of 18FDG-PET-CT, 18FDG-PET, MRI and bone scintigraphy for diagnosis of bone metastases in patients with lung cancer. Eur J Radiol 2012;81:1007-15.
- 45. Ettinger DS, Akerley W, Bepler G, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2010;8:740-801.
- 46. Dietlein M, Weber K, Gandjour A, et al. Cost-effectiveness of FDG-PET for the management of potentially operable non-small cell lung cancer: priority for a PET-based strategy after nodal-negative CT results. Eur J Nucl Med 2000;27:1598-609.
- Farjah F, Flum DR, Ramsey SD, et al. Multi-modality mediastinal staging for lung cancer among medicare beneficiaries. J Thorac Oncol 2009;4:355-63.
- Schreyögg J, Weller J, Stargardt T, et al. Cost-effectiveness of hybrid PET/CT for staging of non-small cell lung cancer. J Nucl Med 2010;51:1668-75.
- Søgaard R, Fischer BM, Mortensen J, et al. Preoperative staging of lung cancer with PET/CT: cost-effectiveness evaluation alongside a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2011;38:802-9.
- Dunagan D, Chin R Jr, McCain T, et al. Staging by positron emission tomography predicts survival in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2001;119:333-9.
- 51. MacManus MR, Hicks R, Fisher R, et al. FDG-PETdetected extracranial metastasis in patients with non-small cell lung cancer undergoing staging for surgery or radical radiotherapy—survival correlates with metastatic disease burden. Acta Oncol 2003;42:48-54.
- 52. De Ruysscher D, Nestle U, Jeraj R, et al. PET scans in radiotherapy planning of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2012;75:141-5.
- 53. Mac Manus MP, Hicks RJ, Ball DL, et al. F-18 fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography staging in radical radiotherapy candidates with nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: powerful correlation with survival and high impact on treatment. Cancer 2001;92:886-95.
- Eschmann SM, Friedel G, Paulsen F, et al. FDG PET for staging of advanced non-small cell lung cancer prior to neoadjuvant radio-chemotherapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2002;29:804-8.
- 55. Kolodziejczyk M, Kepka L, Dziuk M, et al. Impact of [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose PET-CT staging on treatment planning in radiotherapy incorporating elective nodal irradiation for non-small-cell lung cancer: a prospective study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:1008-14.
- Deniaud-Alexandre E, Touboul E, Lerouge D, et al. Impact of computed tomography and 18F-deoxyglucose

coincidence detection emission tomography image fusion for optimization of conformal radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005;63:1432-41.

- 57. Pommier P, Touboul E, Chabaud S, et al. Impact of (18) F-FDG PET on treatment strategy and 3D radiotherapy planning in non-small cell lung cancer: A prospective multicenter study. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010;195:350-5.
- 58. Mac Manus MP, Everitt S, Bayne M, et al. The use of fused PET/CT images for patient selection and radical radiotherapy target volume definition in patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer: results of a prospective study with mature survival data. Radiother Oncol 2013;106:292-8.
- 59. Mac Manus MP, Hicks RJ, Matthews JP, et al. Positron emission tomography is superior to computed tomography scanning for response-assessment after radical radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1285-92.
- 60. Lee P, Bazan JG, Lavori PW, et al. Metabolic tumor volume is an independent prognostic factor in patients treated definitively for non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2012;13:52-8.
- Decoster L, Schallier D, Everaert H, et al. Complete metabolic tumour response, assessed by 18-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (18FDG-PET), after induction chemotherapy predicts a favourable outcome in patients with locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Lung Cancer 2008;62:55-61.
- 62. Pöttgen C, Levegrün S, Theegarten D, et al. Value of 18F-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose-positron emission tomography/computed tomography in non-small-cell lung cancer for prediction of pathologic response and times to relapse after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. Clin Cancer Res 2006;12:97-106.
- 63. Eschmann SM, Friedel G, Paulsen F, et al. 18F-FDG PET for assessment of therapy response and preoperative re-evaluation after neoadjuvant radio-chemotherapy in stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2007;34:463-71.
- 64. Biederer J, Hintze C, Fabel M. MRI of pulmonary nodules: technique and diagnostic value. Cancer Imaging 2008;8:125-30.
- National Lung Screening Trial Research Team, Aberle DR, Adams AM, et al. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med 2011;365:395-409.
- 66. Wu NY, Cheng HC, Ko JS, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging for lung cancer detection: experience in a

Lee et al. Imaging and intervention in lung cancer

population of more than 10,000 healthy individuals. BMC Cancer 2011;11:242.

- Gümüştaş S, Inan N, Akansel G, et al. Differentiation of malignant and benign lung lesions with diffusion-weighted MR imaging. Radiol Oncol 2012;46:106-13.
- Yi CA, Shin KM, Lee KS, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer staging: efficacy comparison of integrated PET/CT versus 3.0-T whole-body MR imaging. Radiology 2008;248:632-42.
- 69. Ohno Y, Koyama H, Onishi Y, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer: whole-body MR examination for M-stage assessment--utility for whole-body diffusion-weighted imaging compared with integrated FDG PET/CT. Radiology 2008;248:643-54.
- 70. Sommer G, Wiese M, Winter L, et al. Preoperative staging of non-small-cell lung cancer: comparison of wholebody diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging and 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography/ computed tomography. Eur Radiol 2012;22:2859-67.
- Usuda K, Zhao XT, Sagawa M, et al. Diffusion-weighted imaging is superior to positron emission tomography in the detection and nodal assessment of lung cancers. Ann Thorac Surg 2011;91:1689-95.
- Yang RM, Li L, Wei XH, et al. Differentiation of central lung cancer from atelectasis: comparison of diffusionweighted MRI with PET/CT. PLoS One 2013;8:e60279.
- 73. Ohno Y, Nogami M, Higashino T, et al. Prognostic value of dynamic MR imaging for non-small-cell lung cancer patients after chemoradiotherapy. J Magn Reson Imaging 2005;21:775-83.
- Iwasawa T, Saito K, Ogawa N, et al. Prediction of postoperative pulmonary function using perfusion magnetic resonance imaging of the lung. J Magn Reson Imaging 2002;15:685-92.
- 75. Koh DM, Scurr E, Collins D, et al. Predicting response of colorectal hepatic metastasis: value of pretreatment apparent diffusion coefficients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2007;188:1001-8.
- 76. Sedlaczek O. Alteration of MR-DWI/ADC before and 24 hours after induction of chemotherapy in patients with NSCLC. Presented at 3rd World Congress of Thoracic Imaging, Seoul, 2013.
- 77. Yeow KM, Su IH, Pan KT, et al. Risk factors of pneumothorax and bleeding: multivariate analysis of 660 CT-guided coaxial cutting needle lung biopsies. Chest 2004;126:748-54.
- 78. Saji H, Nakamura H, Tsuchida T, et al. The incidence and the risk of pneumothorax and chest tube placement after percutaneous CT-guided lung biopsy: the angle

of the needle trajectory is a novel predictor. Chest 2002;121:1521-6.

- García-Río F, Pino JM, Casadevall J, et al. Use of spirometry to predict risk of pneumothorax in CT-guided needle biopsy of the lung. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1996;20:20-3.
- Anderson CL, Crespo JC, Lie TH. Risk of pneumothorax not increased by obstructive lung disease in percutaneous needle biopsy. Chest 1994;105:1705-8.
- 81. Moore EH. Technical aspects of needle aspiration lung biopsy: a personal perspective. Radiology 1998;208:303-18.
- Fish GD, Stanley JH, Miller KS, et al. Postbiopsy pneumothorax: estimating the risk by chest radiography and pulmonary function tests. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1988;150:71-4.
- 83. Hoffmann NE, Bischof JC. The cryobiology of cryosurgical injury. Urology 2002;60:40-9.
- Kawamura M, Izumi Y, Tsukada N, et al. Percutaneous cryoablation of small pulmonary malignant tumors under computed tomographic guidance with local anesthesia for nonsurgical candidates. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006;131:1007-13.
- Zemlyak A, Moore WH, Bilfinger TV. Comparison of survival after sublobar resections and ablative therapies for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. J Am Coll Surg 2010;211:68-72.
- Gazelle GS, Goldberg SN, Solbiati L, et al. Tumor ablation with radio-frequency energy. Radiology 2000;217:633-46.
- Simon CJ, Dupuy DE, DiPetrillo TA, et al. Pulmonary radiofrequency ablation: long-term safety and efficacy in 153 patients. Radiology 2007;243:268-75.
- Dupuy DE, DiPetrillo T, Gandhi S, et al. Radiofrequency ablation followed by conventional radiotherapy for medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Chest 2006;129:738-45.
- Grieco CA, Simon CJ, Mayo-Smith WW, et al. Percutaneous image-guided thermal ablation and radiation therapy: outcomes of combined treatment for 41 patients with inoperable stage I/II non-small-cell lung cancer. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2006;17:1117-24.
- Steinke K, Glenn D, King J, et al. Percutaneous imagingguided radiofrequency ablation in patients with colorectal pulmonary metastases: 1-year follow-up. Ann Surg Oncol 2004;11:207-12.
- Wasser EJ, Dupuy DE. Microwave ablation in the treatment of primary lung tumors. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2008;29:384-94.

Interventional Pulmonology

- Simon CJ, Dupuy DE, Mayo-Smith WW. Microwave ablation: principles and applications. Radiographics 2005;25 Suppl 1:S69-83.
- Carrafiello G, Laganà D, Mangini M, et al. Microwave tumors ablation: principles, clinical applications and review of preliminary experiences. Int J Surg 2008;6 Suppl 1:S65-9.
- 94. Vogl TJ, Naguib NN, Gruber-Rouh T, et al. Microwave ablation therapy: clinical utility in treatment of pulmonary metastases. Radiology 2011;261:643-51.
- Haemmerich D, Lee FT Jr. Multiple applicator approaches for radiofrequency and microwave ablation. Int J Hyperthermia 2005;21:93-106.
- Schramm W, Yang D, Haemmerich D. Contribution of direct heating, thermal conduction and perfusion during radiofrequency and microwave ablation. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2006;1:5013-6.
- 97. Brace CL. Radiofrequency and microwave ablation of the liver, lung, kidney, and bone: what are the differences? Curr Probl Diagn Radiol 2009;38:135-43.
- Lubner MG, Brace CL, Hinshaw JL, et al. Microwave tumor ablation: mechanism of action, clinical results, and devices. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2010;21:S192-203.
- Skinner MG, Iizuka MN, Kolios MC, et al. A theoretical comparison of energy sources--microwave, ultrasound and laser--for interstitial thermal therapy. Phys Med Biol 1998;43:3535-47.
- 100. Steinke K, Gananadha S, King J, et al. Dispersive pad site burns with modern radiofrequency ablation equipment. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2003;13:366-71.
- 101. Skonieczki BD, Wells C, Wasser EJ, et al. Radiofrequency and microwave tumor ablation in patients with implanted cardiac devices: is it safe? Eur J Radiol 2011;79:343-6.
- 102. Clasen S, Krober SM, Kosan B, et al. Pathomorphologic evaluation of pulmonary radiofrequency ablation: proof of cell death is characterized by DNA fragmentation and apoptotic bodies. Cancer 2008;113:3121-9.
- 103. Crocetti L, Bozzi E, Faviana P, et al. Thermal ablation of lung tissue: in vivo experimental comparison of microwave and radiofrequency. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2010;33:818-27.
- 104. Wolf FJ, Aswad B, Ng T, et al. Intraoperative microwave

Cite this article as: Lee WK, Lau EW, Chin K, Sedlaczek O, Steinke K. Modern diagnostic and therapeutic interventional radiology in lung cancer. J Thorac Dis 2013;5(S5):S511-S523. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.07.27

ablation of pulmonary malignancies with tumor permittivity feedback control: ablation and resection study in 10 consecutive patients. Radiology 2012;262:353-60.

- 105. Wolf FJ, Grand DJ, Machan JT, et al. Microwave ablation of lung malignancies: effectiveness, CT findings, and safety in 50 patients. Radiology 2008;247:871-9.
- 106. Danaher LA, Steinke K. Hot tips on hot tips: technical problems with percutaneous insertion of a microwave antenna through rigid tissue. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2013;57:57-60.
- 107. Hoffmann RT, Jakobs TF, Lubienski A, et al. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of pulmonary tumors--is there a difference between treatment under general anaesthesia and under conscious sedation? Eur J Radiol 2006;59:168-74.
- 108. Carrafiello G, Mangini M, Fontana F, et al. Complications of microwave and radiofrequency lung ablation: personal experience and review of the literature. Radiol Med 2012;117:201-13.
- 109. Retrieved May 20, 2013. Available online: http://evs.nci. nih.gov/ftp1/CTCAE/About.html
- 110. Little MW, Chung D, Boardman P, et al. Microwave ablation of pulmonary malignancies using a novel highenergy antenna system. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2013;36:460-5.
- 111.Liu H, Steinke K. High-powered percutaneous microwave ablation of stage I medically inoperable non-small cell lung cancer: a preliminary study. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2013. [Epub ahead of print].
- 112. Yoo DC, Dupuy DE, Hillman SL, et al. Radiofrequency ablation of medically inoperable stage IA non-small cell lung cancer: are early posttreatment PET findings predictive of treatment outcome? AJR Am J Roentgenol 2011;197:334-40.
- 113. Singnurkar A, Solomon SB, Gönen M, et al. 18F-FDG PET/CT for the prediction and detection of local recurrence after radiofrequency ablation of malignant lung lesions. J Nucl Med 2010;51:1833-40.
- 114. Herrera LJ, Fernando HC, Perry Y, et al. Radiofrequency ablation of pulmonary malignant tumors in nonsurgical candidates. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;125:929-37.

Central airway tumors: interventional bronchoscopy in diagnosis and management

Chun-Yu Lin^{1,2,3}, Fu-Tsai Chung^{1,3,4}

¹Department of Thoracic Medicine, Saint Paul's Hospital, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; ²Department of General Medicine & Geriatrics, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; ³College of Medicine Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China; ⁴Department of Thoracic Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Taoyuan, Taiwan, China

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: CY Lin, FT Chung; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: None; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Dr. Fu-Tsai Chung. Department of Thoracic Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou. 5, Fusing St., Gueishan Township, Taoyuan, County 333, Taiwan, China. Email: vikingchung@yahoo.com.tw.

Abstract: The diagnosis of central airway tumors is usually challenging because of the vague presentations. Advances in visualization technology in bronchoscopy aid in early detection of bronchial lesion. Cryotechnology has great impact on endobronchial lesion sampling and provides better diagnostic yield. Airway tumor involvements result in significant alteration in life quality and lead to poor life expectancy. Timely and efficiently use of ablation techniques by heat or cold energy provide symptoms relief for central airway obstruction. Prostheses implantation is effective in maintaining airway patency after ablative procedure or external compression. Combined interventional bronchoscopy modalities and other adjunctive therapies have improvement in quality of life and further benefit in survival. This review aims to provide a diagnostic approach to central airway tumors and an overview of currently available techniques of interventional bronchoscopy in managing symptomatic central airway obstruction.

Keywords: Central airway obstruction; bronchoscopy; intervention; ablative technologies; stents

Submitted Sep 09, 2016. Accepted for publication Oct 16, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.10.101 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2016.10.101

Introduction

Patients with central airway tumors usually have nonspecific clinical manifestation which can lead to delayed diagnosis. Computed tomography (CT) scan is the best noninvasive method for airway lesion evaluation (1). Bronchoscopy is still the mainstay to approaching endobronchial lesion. The conventional methods to obtained specimens include forceps biopsy, brushing or washing the lesion under direct vision. However, the diagnostic yield of conventional forceps biopsy is limited because of the small size of tissue sample and crush artifacts (2,3). Newly developed cryotechnology provide a larger sample than that of conventional forceps biopsy and has better diagnostic yield (2).

Dyspnea is the major symptom in patients with central

airway obstruction which limits the daily activity of patients. Unfortunately, not only 20% to 30% patients with primary lung cancer experience this suffering symptoms, 2% patients with solid tumors also have endobronchial metastasis which may postpone their anti-cancer therapy because of severe dyspnea (4,5). In recent decades, interventional bronchoscopy has been an effective treatment modality for central airway obstruction (6-8). In patients with limited performance status due to central airway obstruction, the functional status will improve after interventional bronchoscopy and have the chance to receive chemotherapy (9,10). The exercise capacity, lung function and quality of life are improved after therapeutic bronchoscopy (11). Moreover, the survival may also be prolonged after airway stenting in selective situation (12,13).



Figure 1 Specimens comparison between traditional forceps biopsy (left) and cryotechnology (right).



Figure 2 Types of central airway obstruction.

Here, we provide a clinical review of interventional bronchoscopy in diagnoses and management of central airway tumors.

Diagnostic modalities

Computed tomography

Only less than 30% patients with tracheal tumors have been diagnosed via chest radiography (14). Traditional CT scan is more sensitive and can provide information on the extent of airway lesions. Newly developed multidetector CT (MDCT) can accurately detect airway tumor locations, natures, quantities (1). The extra luminal anatomy is also clearly depicted. Thus, MDCT is a rapid and non-invasive method to provide comprehensive information about the extent of disease process before surgery or interventional bronchoscopy (1).

Visualization of bronchoscopy

Bronchoscopy is the mainstay to approaching endobronchial lesion under direct vision. In addition to the conventional white light bronchoscopy, autofluorescence (AFB) and narrow band imaging (NBI) are new visualization techniques of bronchoscopy which can aid detection of bronchial mucosa lesions (15). Although the specificity of AFB is low and similar to white light bronchoscopy, there is no doubt in usefulness of detecting early bronchial mucosal lesion and evaluating the margin of mucosal involvement (16,17). NBI is designed to detect angiogenesis and neovascular lesion. The diagnostic accuracy is increased under NBI bronchoscopy (15). Both of them have superior sensitivity compared with white light bronchoscopy [3-5]. Endobronchial ultrasonography (EBUS) is also helpful in evaluating the extent of airway lesion involvement (14,18).

Tissue sampling: forceps versus cryotechnology

Forceps biopsy under direct bronchoscopic vision is the most common method to obtain tissue sample from endobronchial lesion. However, the size of tissue sample is limited by the forceps size. Small samples with crush artifacts are probably insufficient for accurate diagnosis. The diagnostic yield is only 85% of conventional forceps biopsy and patients usually have to repeat bronchoscopy (2,3).

Cryotechnology has been used as a therapy for central airway obstruction and hemoptysis (19). The samples from cryotechnology are larger than conventional forceps biopsy and have better diagnostic yield (95% to 100%) (3,20,21) (Figure 1). Besides, the tissue architecture will not be damaged by cryotechnology and thus facilitate histological analysis (22). Tumor bleeding is a major concern after biopsy. Theoretically, vasoconstriction and capillary microthrombosis after cryotechnology may ameliorate bleeding (20,23). Hetzel et al. (3) reported a greater incidence of mild bleeding after cryobiopsy. However, the rate of severe bleeding is comparable of forceps biopsy and cryobiopsy. In recently published, prospective study, two cryo biopsies were found to be optimal for diagnosis and greater than three bryobiopsies will increase the risk of bleeding (24). Cryotechnology has been a considerable choice for endobronchial lesion biopsy with better diagnostic yield and minimal complication.

Management

There are three types of central airway tumor involvement: endoluminal (tumor within airway), extraluminal (airway narrowing from external compression), and mixed (6) (*Figure 2*). A variety of techniques in endoluminal tumor debulking has been developed and has been shown to be effective in relieving symptoms (22). In addition to extraluminal and mixed type central tumor involvement,

 Table 1 Types of central airway obstruction and treatment modalities

	Intraluminal	Extraluminal	Mixed
Mechanical debulking	+	_	+
Electrocautery	++	-	+
Argon plasma coagulation	++	_	+
Laser	++	-	++
Cryotherapy	+++	-	+++
Stent		+++	++

-, not recommended; +, weakly recommended; ++, recommended, +++, strongly recommended.

airway stenting is also useful in preventing recurrence and restoring the airway patency after intraluminal tumor debulking (25). The choice of techniques depends on the characteristics of stenosis, the condition of patient, available techniques and the operator's expertise (*Table 1*).

Rigid bronchoscopy and mechanical debulking

Rigid bronchoscopy is a traditional procedure, which has been introduced under general anesthesia (26). Contraindications of rigid bronchoscopy include cervical spine instability, facial trauma, laryngeal obstruction (27). The easy airway security and large working space provide more space for interventional procedure processing. However, in patients with severe airway obstruction and respiratory failure will experience great risk of general anesthesia because of high oxygen demand and illness severity (28).

Recently, Vishwanath *et al.* (29) reported their 30-cases experience of solely mechanical debulking under rigid bronchoscopy in managing central airway tumors. The success rate reached 82.6%, however, the complication rate was as high as 32.3% with significant bleeding in 25.8% patients. Although they suggested that mechanical debulking under rigid bronchoscopy was probably quicker than thermal ablative therapy, there was no direct comparison of procedure time between different methods. Combining mechanical debulking with a complementary thermal ablative procedure may be a safer choice in bleeding control (25).

Electrocautery

Electrocautery uses high-frequency electric current

to cause heating which leads to coagulation or tissue vaporization (30). It can be delivered via rigid or flexible bronchoscopy. The effects depend on the power setting, surface area, electrical properties of tissue and the contact time (22). In one large retrospective series of electrocautery for airway obstruction, the luminal improvement was achieved in 78% patients with 6.8% complication rate (31). Electrocautery provided equally effective and constant palliation in patients with airway obstruction as that provided by neodymiumdoped:yttrium-aluminum-garnet (Nd:YAG) laser therapy. However, the cost of electrocautery was significantly lower than Nd:YAG laser (32). Thus, electrocautery is a more accessible modality worldwide.

The complications include damage of underlying cartilage which may lead to airway stenosis, bleeding, perforation, pneumothorax, malfunction of pacemaker (22). Besides, airway fire is also a major concern in the presence of high oxygen concentration and flammable substance (such as silicone stent or endotracheal tube). The above complications could be ameliorated after restricting the fractional inspired oxygen less than 40% and limiting the power output do not exceed 30W (30).

Argon plasma coagulation (APC)

APC is a non-contact method of electrocautery and can be introduced via both rigid and flexible bronchoscopy (33). The noncontact feature of APC allows extent and rapid coagulation, but the depth of penetration is more superficial (2–3 mm) and limited by increased tissue resistance after coagulation and desiccation (33,34). The major applications of APC are hemostasis and tissue destruction and particular effective in vascular lesion (35). Besides, APC is an effective therapy for airway obstruction secondary to endobronchial lesion (36). Not only significant endobronchial tumor reduction, clinical dyspnea score and forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1) are also improved after procedure (37). Because of the superficial effect and superiority in hemostasis, APC is usually used as a part of multi-modality approach for tumor debulking (33).

The complication rate of APC is approximately 2% (30). The most severe fatal complication is intracardiac gas embolism and cerebral embolism (38,39). The above conditions may be minimized by keeping the flow to less than 0.8 L/min and maintaining a safe distance of 2–5 mm (34).

Laser

Laser therapy is a widely used ablative technique for tumor

debulking which can be performed using flexible or rigid bronchoscopy with different gases (22). Neodymium: yttrium-aluminum-garnet (Nd-YAG) laser is the most frequently used (34). The most common indication is relieving central airway obstruction. It is particularly effective for intraluminal and mixed type airway obstruction and less suitable for extraluminal compression (40). In additional to constant and immediate effect in tumor shrinkage, the quality of life and overall health are also improved significantly in patients with malignant central airway obstruction due to lung cancer (41). Although laser monotherapy is quite effective in alleviating symptoms from malignant central airway obstruction, survival benefit will be improved when it combined with multimodal adjuvant therapy (including brachytherapy, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, stenting, chemoradiotherapy) (42). However, the high cost of laser therapy is a disadvantage of the usefulness worldwide and can be alternated with electrocautery, APC or cryotherapy (32,40).

The complication rate of laser therapy is around 8%, including hemorrhage, endobronchial fire, pneumothorax, and air embolism (40). The periprocedural death is 1-3% (30). Because of the inability to visualize penetration depth, perforation of major vessel will lead to fatal hemoptysis. This can be avoided by limiting the power less than 40W (34,40). Endobronchial fire can be prevented by restricting the fractional inspired oxygen less than 40%. Besides, patients who were over 60 years of age, with arterial hypertension or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease were associated with higher complication rate (43). Thus, in additional to the modification in setting, the patient selection is also important to minimizing complications.

Cryotherapy

Cryotherapy uses extremely cold (-70 °C) to tissue and causes tissue necrosis with repeated freezing and thawing cycle (30). It can be introduced with rigid or flexible bronchoscopy. The effect of cryotherapy is usually delayed but prolonged, with capillary microthrombi formation (25). The efficacy depends on the cooling rate, the minimum temperature reached, the cycle of freezing and thaw (22). Unlike thermal ablative therapy (electrocautery, laser, APC), cryotherapy has no risk in airway fire and will not lead to tissue edema after procedure (23). Because of low water content of cartilage, collagen and poorly vascularized tissue, cryotherapy has very small effects on them. As such, the scarring is minimal and the damage of cartilage is few (23). Cryotherapy is mainly indicated for a palliative treatment for intraluminal airway obstruction and not recommended in submucosal lesion or extraluminal compression (34). The overall success rate of significant recanalization exceeded 80% in one systematic review (44). In addition to improvement in dyspnea, cough, and hemoptysis, the lung function, performance status is also improved after cryotherapy (19). When combined with systemic chemotherapy and/or radiation, the survival benefit is significant (9,45). As the effect of cryotherapy is delayed, it is usually not suitable for patients with impending respiratory failure secondary to airway obstruction. Use the principle of cryoadhesion, cryosurgery has been performed with rapid relief of tumor obstruction. However, additional modalities, such as APC, are required to achieve hemostasis (34). Recently, Boujaoude et al. reported one case with acute central airway obstruction has been managed successfully with cryosurgery alone using "freeze and pull" technique. Although the experience is few, however, it provides the opportunity for patients with emergent airway obstruction under high oxygen requirement to be liberated from mechanical ventilation (46).

The complication rate is low (0-11%), most of them were minor and easily manageable (44). The risk of perforation and airway fire are non-existent, since the cartilage is cryoresistant. Thus, cryotherapy is safe while the inflammable substance is nearby the obstructive lesion (*Figure 3*).

Stent

The endobronchial stent is the main choice to alleviate extraluminal airway compression and is also available to relieve intraluminal and mixed type central airway obstruction when combining with other endobronchial therapies (25). Airway stent is usually a palliative treatment for malignancy. It provides a bridge for airway patency in patients undergoing systemic chemotherapy or radiation. Although the overall survival was not changed, the median survival time could be increased after airway stenting if it is combined with adjuvant therapy (47).

Theoretically, the ideal stent should be strength enough, not migrate, easy to insert and remove, flexible enough to mimic airway physiology, not impair mucociliary clearance, not induce granulation tissue formation, and cost-effective (26). However, it has not been developed.

Before stent implantation, the size, diameter and length have to be chosen according to CT scans and bronchoscopy.


Figure 3 Cryotherapy successfully recannulized airway obstruction secondary to silicone stent induced granulation.

Silicone stents

Silicone stent has to be deployed by rigid bronchoscopy under general anesthesia (30). The most commercially available silicone stents are Dumon stents, which have two main types: straight and bifurcated stents (26). The size, length and diameter are chosen preoperatively and can be adjust by cutting. Because it is easy to insert and remove, with few granulomatous reactions, silicone stent has been recommended as first line treatment and is particularly suitable for benign lesion for the longer lifespan (25).

The major drawbacks of silicone stent include the necessity of general anesthesia, higher migration rate, mucus plugging, thicker wall and lead to narrow internal diameter. Mucolytic nebulization is essential to prevent dense secretion and asphyxiation (25).

Self-expandable metallic stents (SEMS)

SEMS is mainly used to treat airway obstruction or tracheoesophageal (TE) fistula due to malignancy (*Figure 4*). Metallic stent is also an alternative choice in benign disease if the patients are poor surgical candidates or the airway is highly tortuous (30,48). SEMS can be introduced via rigid and flexible bronchoscopy. There are partial covered, fully covered and uncovered stent. Covered stent is preferred in malignant lesions and particularly suitable for covering TE fistula (49). Uncovered stent is mainly used in highly distorted stenosis. Unlike silicone stent, SEMS provide thinner wall construction, greater airway diameter, better conformation with irregular airway, easier placement and less migration rate. The size of stent should be chosen accurately before procedure. The length of stent has to provide 0.5–1.0 cm overlap at each end of the stenosis. The diameter of the stent should be 1–2 mm greater than the estimated diameter of the airway (30). Fluoroscopy is usually necessary for SEMS placement. However, it is not available in many intensive care units (ICU) and requires special facilities. Lin *et al.* (28) reported 26 mechanically ventilated patients have been successful inserted metallic stent under flexible bronchoscopy without fluoroscopy guidance. More than half patients have liberated from ventilator successfully.

Metallic stent is effective in reliving symptoms of airway obstruction, facilitating to liberate from ventilator, improving pulmonary function and performance status (50-52). Compared with poor performance status, patients with malignant central airway obstruction under intermediate performance status have survival benefit after airway stenting (12). This suggests that timely airway stenting before morbid complication is quite important.

The complications of SEMS include stent malposition, migration, fracture, mucus impaction, halitosis, bacterial colonization and granulomatous tissue formation. In uncovered and partial covered stent, the re-epithelialization and excessive granulation formation in the edges are the most frequent complications, which cause the difficulty in stent removal (48,53). Benign structure airway obstruction prior to stent implantation is an independent factor for granulation tissue formation (54). SMES fracture is of major concern because of the possibility of complete airway obstruction and perforation (55). Pretreatment tortuous airway in 3-dimensional CT scan predicts metallic stent fracture. SEMS implantation in such situation should be cautiously evaluated (55,56). Besides, the complication rate in benign conditions is twice higher than malignant disease



Figure 4 Self-expandable metallic stents (SEMS) implanted successfully for covering tracheoesophageal (TE) fistula in patient who was under mechanical ventilation without fluoroscopy guidance.

(42.2% vs. 21.1%) owing to the longer follow-up period and longer lifespan (51). In one largest series of lung transplant recipients, the 5-year survival was significantly lower in patients receiving metallic stent insertion. Re-stenosis and airway bacterial colonization are the major problems (52). Because of severe complication after long term SEMS implantation, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has warned that metallic stent is not advised to treat benign disease.

Developing stents

Concerning the granulation tissue formation after airway stenting, drug eluting stent with mitomycin C have been observed to reduce granulomatous reaction and less mucus trapping. In animal studies, cisplatin eluting stent have steadily and sustained released drug up to 4 weeks and helpful to against malignant cells (57).

In benign or reversible cases, the airway stent is usually temporalily needed. There are 70% of patients with postintubation or post-tracheostomy tracheal stenosis had been successfully treated by silicone stent implantation after 18 months (58). Thus, the removability of stent is quite important. Biodegradable stent has been designed to maintain airway patency for a predetermined duration. It is a temporary support device until the natural tissue regains its strength and can be removed by cellular activity in a biological environment. There are four human studies until now. Only one adult study showed relative good outcome up to 4 years, the outcomes of the other 3 pediatric studies were not satisfactory and were associated with repeat stenting after stent absorption. Besides, the cost of biodegradable stent is much higher than others. The safety and toxicity are also the major concerns (59).

Symptoms from central airway tumors result in poor quality of life and disaster outcome. The survival would not exceed 1-2 months if the patient is untreated. However, in such situation, patients' performance status, pulmonary function and comorbidities are usually limited by the possibility of surgery (25). Interventional bronchoscopy provides a less invasive choice with high technical success rate (90-98%) and is effective for central airway obstruction to improve quality of life and survival (10,11,13). The complication is relative rare (3.9%) with few mortalities (0.5%) (60). Nevertheless, the benefit is difficult to predict in patients under different situations. Guibert et al. (61) conducted a retrospective study involving 204 patients with malignant central airway obstruction. They found that higher American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, non-squamous histology, metastatic tumors and those who were treatment-naive patients had the worst survival. In one largest, multicenter, prospective study, Ost et al. (10) demonstrated that patients with ASA >3, renal failure, primary lung cancer, left mainstem involvement and TE fistula were associated with failure. They also found that the complication rate was higher in those with ASA >3, re-do bronchoscopy, receiving procedure under emergent or urgent situation. Thirty-day mortality was associated with poor performance status and ASA >3 (60). However, the patients with higher baseline Borg score had the greater improvement in dyspnea and quality of life. Since patients at the highest risk may have the greatest benefit, therapeutic bronchoscopy should not be withheld from patients solely based on risk assessment (10).

Lin and Chung. Central airway tumours

Conclusions

Newly developed visualization technologies of bronchoscopy provide more rapid, accurate, precise diagnosis of endobronchial lesions. Cryobiopsy is a safe technique with greater diagnostic yield and provides a better specimen quality than traditional forceps biopsy.

Interventional bronchoscopy enables the restoration of airway patency and plays an important role in the treatment and palliation for malignant airway obstruction. Mechanical debulking, electrocautery, APC and laser provide immediate symptom relief under urgent situation. Cryotherapy is preferred to use in the selective situation because of the delayed effects. Airway stenting is particular suitable for extraluminal compression and is also effective for intraluminal involvement. Drug eluting and biodegradable stents being developed to reduce the complication after long term implantation. Since more complication and less benefit have been expected in urgent situation, timely interventional bronchoscopy should be prudently considered before morbidity coming. The selection of modalities depends on the patients' condition, disease manifestation, availability of equipment and physicians' expertise.

Acknowledgements

Funding: This study was supported in part by grants from Chang Gung Memorial Hospital (CMRPG3B0981-3, and CMRPG3B0381-3 by Dr. Fu-Tsai Chung). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the paper. No additional external funding was received for this study.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Luo M, Duan C, Qiu J, et al. Diagnostic Value of Multidetector CT and Its Multiplanar Reformation, Volume Rendering and Virtual Bronchoscopy Postprocessing Techniques for Primary Trachea and Main Bronchus Tumors. PloS One 2015;10:e0137329.
- 2. Hetzel J, Hetzel M, Hasel C, et al. Old meets modern: the use of traditional cryoprobes in the age of molecular biology. Respiration 2008;76:193-7.

- 3. Hetzel J, Eberhardt R, Herth FJ, et al. Cryobiopsy increases the diagnostic yield of endobronchial biopsy: a multicentre trial. Eur Respir J 2012;39:685-90.
- Ernst A, Feller-Kopman D, Becker HD, et al. Central airway obstruction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004;169:1278-97.
- Coriat R, Diaz O, de la Fouchardiere C, et al. Endobronchial metastases from colorectal adenocarcinomas: clinical and endoscopic characteristics and patient prognosis. Oncology 2007;73:395-400.
- Boyd M, Rubio E. The utility of interventional pulmonary procedures in liberating patients with malignancyassociated central airway obstruction from mechanical ventilation. Lung 2012;190:471-6.
- Scarlata S, Graziano P, Lucantoni G, et al. Endoscopic treatment of primary benign central airway tumors: Results from a large consecutive case series and decision making flow chart to address bronchoscopic excision. Eur J Surg Oncol 2015;41:1437-42.
- Neyman K, Sundset A, Espinoza A, et al. Survival and complications after interventional bronchoscopy in malignant central airway obstruction: a singlecenter experience. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2011;18:233-8.
- Fang YF, Hsieh MH, Wang TY, et al. Removal of endobronchial malignant mass by cryotherapy improved performance status to receive chemotherapy. ScientificWorldJournal 2014;2014:369739.
- Ost DE, Ernst A, Grosu HB, et al. Therapeutic bronchoscopy for malignant central airway obstruction: success rates and impact on dyspnea and quality of life. Chest 2015;147:1282-98.
- Oviatt PL, Stather DR, Michaud G, et al. Exercise capacity, lung function, and quality of life after interventional bronchoscopy. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:38-42.
- Razi SS, Lebovics RS, Schwartz G, et al. Timely airway stenting improves survival in patients with malignant central airway obstruction. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;90:1088-93.
- Stratakos G, Gerovasili V, Dimitropoulos C, et al. Survival and Quality of Life Benefit after Endoscopic Management of Malignant Central Airway Obstruction. Journal of Cancer 2016;7:794-802.
- Sherani K, Vakil A, Dodhia C, et al. Malignant tracheal tumors: a review of current diagnostic and management strategies. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2015;21:322-6.
- 15. Zaric B, Kovacevic T, Stojsic V, et al. New technologies in

diagnostic bronchoscopy - an age of meta-analyses. Expert Rev Med Devices 2016;13:789-91.

- Chen W, Gao X, Tian Q, et al. A comparison of autofluorescence bronchoscopy and white light bronchoscopy in detection of lung cancer and preneoplastic lesions: a meta-analysis. Lung Cancer 2011;73:183-8.
- 17. Sun J, Garfield DH, Lam B, et al. The value of autofluorescence bronchoscopy combined with white light bronchoscopy compared with white light alone in the diagnosis of intraepithelial neoplasia and invasive lung cancer: a meta-analysis. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1336-44.
- Haas AR, Vachani A, Sterman DH. Advances in diagnostic bronchoscopy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010;182:589-97.
- Asimakopoulos G, Beeson J, Evans J, et al. Cryosurgery for malignant endobronchial tumors: analysis of outcome. Chest 2005;127:2007-14.
- 20. Rubio ER, le SR, Whatley RE, et al. Cryobiopsy: should this be used in place of endobronchial forceps biopsies? Biomed Res Int 2013;2013:730574.
- 21. Chou CL, Wang CW, Lin SM, et al. Role of flexible bronchoscopic cryotechnology in diagnosing endobronchial masses. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;95:982-6.
- 22. Hardavella G, George J. Interventional bronchoscopy in the management of thoracic malignancy. Breathe (Sheff) 2015;11:202-12.
- Ma Q, Shi B, Tian Y, et al. Fibrobronchoscopic cryosurgery for secondary malignant tumors of the trachea and main bronchi. Thorac Cancer 2016;7:459-66.
- 24. Segmen F, Aktaş Z, Öztürk A, et al. How many samples would be optimal for endobronchial cryobiopsy? Surg Endosc 2016. [Epub ahead of print].
- 25. Guibert N, Mazieres J, Marquette CH, et al. Integration of interventional bronchoscopy in the management of lung cancer. Eur Respir Rev 2015;24:378-91.
- Semaan R, Yarmus L. Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stents in the management of central airway obstruction. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:S352-62.
- Ernst A, Silvestri GA, Johnstone D, American College of Chest P. Interventional pulmonary procedures: Guidelines from the American College of Chest Physicians. Chest 2003;123:1693-717.
- 28. Lin SM, Lin TY, Chou CL, et al. Metallic stent and flexible bronchoscopy without fluoroscopy for acute respiratory failure. Eur Respir J 2008;31:1019-23.
- 29. Vishwanath G, Madan K, Bal A, et al. Rigid bronchoscopy and mechanical debulking in the management of central airway tumors: an Indian experience. J Bronchology Interv

Pulmonol 2013;20:127-33.

- Du Rand IA, Barber PV, Goldring J, et al. British Thoracic Society guideline for advanced diagnostic and therapeutic flexible bronchoscopy in adults. Thorax 2011;66 Suppl 3:iii1-21.
- Wahidi MM, Unroe MA, Adlakha N, et al. The use of electrocautery as the primary ablation modality for malignant and benign airway obstruction. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1516-20.
- Boxem T, Muller M, Venmans B, et al. Nd-YAG laser vs bronchoscopic electrocautery for palliation of symptomatic airway obstruction: a cost-effectiveness study. Chest 1999;116:1108-12.
- Miller SM, Bellinger CR, Chatterjee A. Argon plasma coagulation and electrosurgery for benign endobronchial tumors. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2013;20:38-40.
- Sachdeva A, Pickering EM, Lee HJ. From electrocautery, balloon dilatation, neodymium-doped:yttrium-aluminumgarnet (Nd:YAG) laser to argon plasma coagulation and cryotherapy. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:S363-79.
- Dalar L, Sökücü SN, Özdemir C, et al. Endobronchial argon plasma coagulation for treatment of Dieulafoy disease. Respir Care 2015;60:e11-3.
- 36. Morice RC, Ece T, Ece F, et al. Endobronchial argon plasma coagulation for treatment of hemoptysis and neoplastic airway obstruction. Chest 2001;119:781-7.
- 37. Lee BR, Oh IJ, Lee HS, et al. Usefulness of Rigid Bronchoscopic Intervention Using Argon Plasma Coagulation for Central Airway Tumors. Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol 2015;8:396-401.
- Reddy C, Majid A, Michaud G, et al. Gas embolism following bronchoscopic argon plasma coagulation: a case series. Chest 2008;134:1066-9.
- Shaw Y, Yoneda KY, Chan AL. Cerebral gas embolism from bronchoscopic argon plasma coagulation: a case report. Respiration 2012;83:267-70.
- 40. Khemasuwan D, Mehta AC, Wang KP. Past, present, and future of endobronchial laser photoresection. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:S380-8.
- 41. Zaric B, Kovacevic T, Stojsic V, et al. Neodymium yttrium-aluminium-garnet laser resection significantly improves quality of life in patients with malignant central airway obstruction due to lung cancer. Eur J Cancer Care 2015;24:560-6.
- 42. Han CC, Prasetyo D, Wright GM. Endobronchial palliation using Nd:YAG laser is associated with improved survival when combined with multimodal adjuvant treatments. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:59-64.

Lin and Chung. Central airway tumours

- 43. Perin B, Zaric B, Jovanovic S, et al. Patient-related independent clinical risk factors for early complications following Nd: YAG laser resection of lung cancer. Ann Thorac Med 2012;7:233-7.
- 44. Lee SH, Choi WJ, Sung SW, et al. Endoscopic cryotherapy of lung and bronchial tumors: a systematic review. Korean J Intern Med 2011;26:137-44.
- Zhikai Z, Lizhi N, Liang Z, et al. Treatment of central type lung cancer by combined cryotherapy: experiences of 47 patients. Cryobiology 2013;67:225-9.
- Boujaoude Z, Young D, Lotano R, et al. Cryosurgery for the immediate treatment of acute central airway obstruction. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2013;20:45-7.
- 47. Saji H, Furukawa K, Tsutsui H, et al. Outcomes of airway stenting for advanced lung cancer with central airway obstruction. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2010;11:425-8.
- 48. Fortin M, MacEachern P, Hergott CA, et al. Selfexpandable metallic stents in nonmalignant large airway disease. Can Respir J 2015;22:235-6.
- 49. Chung FT, Lin HC, Chou CL, et al. Airway ultraflex stenting in esophageal cancer with esophagorespiratory fistula. Am J Med Sci 2012;344:105-9.
- Serrano C, Laborda A, Lozano JM, et al. Metallic stents for tracheobronchial pathology treatment. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2013;36:1614-23.
- Chung FT, Chen HC, Chou CL, et al. An outcome analysis of self-expandable metallic stents in central airway obstruction: a cohort study. J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;6:46.
- Gottlieb J, Fuehner T, Dierich M, et al. Are metallic stents really safe? A long-term analysis in lung transplant recipients. Eur Respir J 2009;34:1417-22.

Cite this article as: Lin CY, Chung FT. Central airway tumors: interventional bronchoscopy in diagnosis and management. J Thorac Dis 2016;8(10):E1168-E1176. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.10.101

- Chung FT, Chen GY, Chou CL, et al. Remove airway ultraflex stents by flexible bronchoscope. Am J Med Sci 2012;343:267-72.
- Chung FT, Lin SM, Chou CL, et al. Factors leading to obstructive granulation tissue formation after ultraflex stenting in benign tracheal narrowing. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;58:102-7.
- Chung FT, Lin SM, Chen HC, et al. Factors leading to tracheobronchial self-expandable metallic stent fracture. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008;136:1328-35.
- 56. Yu CT, Chou CL, Chung FT, et al. Tracheal torsion assessed by a computer-generated 3-dimensional image analysis predicts tracheal self-expandable metallic stent fracture. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;140:769-76.
- Hohenforst-Schmidt W, Zarogoulidis P, Pitsiou G, et al. Drug Eluting Stents for Malignant Airway Obstruction: A Critical Review of the Literature. J Cancer 2016;7:377-90.
- 58. Galluccio G, Lucantoni G, Battistoni P, et al. Interventional endoscopy in the management of benign tracheal stenoses: definitive treatment at long-term follow-up. Eur J Cardio Thorac Surg 2009;35:429-33; discussion 933-4.
- Dutau H, Musani AI, Laroumagne S, et al. Biodegradable Airway Stents - Bench to Bedside: A Comprehensive Review. Respiration 2015;90:512-21.
- 60. Ost DE, Ernst A, Grosu HB, et al. Complications Following Therapeutic Bronchoscopy for Malignant Central Airway Obstruction: Results of the AQuIRE Registry. Chest 2015;148:450-71.
- Guibert N, Mazieres J, Lepage B, et al. Prognostic factors associated with interventional bronchoscopy in lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;97:253-9.

Lung cancer diagnosis and staging in the minimally invasive age with increasing demands for tissue analysis

Erik Folch¹, Daniel B. Costa², Jeffrey Wright³, Paul A. VanderLaan⁴

¹Division of Thoracic Surgery and Interventional Pulmonology, ²Department of Medicine, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA; ³Baptist Memorial Hospital, Memphis, TN, USA; ⁴Department of Pathology, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: E Folch, DB Costa, PA VanderLaan; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Erik Folch, MD, MSc. Division of Thoracic Surgery and Interventional Pulmonology, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and Harvard Medical School, 185 Pilgrim Road, Deaconess 201, Boston, MA 02215, USA. Email: efolch@bidmc.harvard.edu.

Abstract: The diagnosis and staging of patients with lung cancer in recent decades has increasingly relied on minimally invasive tissue sampling techniques, such as endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) or endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) needle aspiration, transbronchial biopsy, and transthoracic image-guided core needle biopsy. These modalities have been shown to have low complication rates, and provide adequate cellular material for pathologic diagnosis and necessary ancillary molecular testing. As an important component to a multidisciplinary team approach in the care of patients with lung cancer, these minimally invasive modalities have proven invaluable for the rapid and safe acquisition of tissue used for the diagnosis, staging, and molecular testing of tumors to identify the best evidence-based treatment plan. The continuous evolution of the field of lung cancer staging and treatment has translated into improvements in survival and quality of life for patients. Although differences in clinical practice between academic and community hospital settings still exist, improvements in physician education and training as well as adoption of technological advancements should help narrow this gap going forward.

Keywords: Lung cancer; staging; molecular testing; minimally invasive; endobronchial ultrasound with transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA); interventional pulmonology

Submitted Jul 13, 2015. Accepted for publication Aug 03, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.08.02 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.08.02

Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide. The most frequently encountered primary lung cancers include epithelial-derived non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), with adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma as the main histologic subtypes; and neuroendocrine carcinomas, with small cell lung cancer (SCLC) as the major high-grade neuroendocrine carcinoma. Most NSCLCs are diagnosed at advanced stages, and historically (up to the early 2000s), palliative therapeutic decisions were based solely on the differentiation between NSCLC and SCLC. Hence, the main diagnostic modalities and focus on tissue acquisition were geared towards obtaining small samples for simple histopathological characterization that would be added to non-invasive imaging studies to complete tumor, node, metastasis (TNM) staging. The paradigm of NSCLC histology not otherwise specified (NOS) with advanced TNM staging drove the development of anti-cancer therapies for NSCLCs in the 1980s, 1990s, and early 2000s; with the evidence-based introduction of platinum-doublets as the main palliative modality for stage IV NSCLC (1).

A need to better define NSCLC subtypes occurred in the early 2000s with the introduction of novel cytotoxic chemotherapies (pemetrexed) and biological agents

(bevacizumab) that had enhanced efficacy or worsened toxicity, respectively, based on histology (2,3). To this end, a diagnosis of NSCLC NOS was no longer sufficient, and the more widespread use of both histochemical and immunohistochemical ancillary studies helped to more consistently distinguish adenocarcinoma from squamous cell carcinoma in small biopsy/cytology specimens. The 2011 International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer/ American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society (IASLC/ATS/ERS) lung adenocarcinoma classification was developed by an international core panel of expert medical oncologists, pulmonologists, pathologists, and thoracic surgeons, to address minimum requirements in immunohistochemical testing markers to differentiate between adenocarcinoma and squamous cell in small samples that were previously classified as NSCLC NOS (4). This shift in tumor acquisition goals and requirements, continues to reverberate in clinical lung cancer care and drug development, with, for example, the initial approval by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of the immune-checkpoint, antiprogrammed death-ligand 1 (PD-1) inhibitor, nivolumab, for advanced squamous cell lung cancer (5).

The need for adequate tissue for the diagnosis and management of NSCLC has increased substantially over the last decade, as new anti-cancer therapies have begun to explore vulnerabilities in the genomic underpinnings of cancer. Cancer is a heterogeneous group of diseases that leads to invasion and metastasis, induction angiogenesis, replicative immortality, resistance to cell death, reprogramming of energy metabolism, evasion of immune surveillance, circumvention of growth suppressors, and sustained proliferative signaling (6). The latter is especially prevalent in subgroups of NSCLC, since sustained proliferative signaling is usually derived from genomic mutations in key oncogenes that encode for activated tyrosine kinases.

Three main genomic events lead to the direct activation of tyrosine kinases in NSCLC: overexpression or amplification (due to increased copy numbers of a certain oncogene), mutation (due to point mutations or insertions/deletions), and rearrangement with partner genes (by preserving or activating the kinase domain of oncogenes). The most prevalent oncogenes that are amplified, mutated or rearranged in NSCLCs are listed in *Table 1* (7-9).

Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), small molecules that can block the function of kinases, have been developed as precision therapies in NSCLC. As of mid-2015, EGFR and ALK mutations are the most prevalent, clinically relevant driver oncogenes in NSCLC care. First generation reversible EGFR TKIs (gefitinib and erlotinib) and second generation irreversible EGFR TKIs (afatinib) have been shown in multiple randomized phase III trials to be superior to standard platinum-doublet chemotherapies in the first line treatment of advanced EGFR mutant lung adenocarcinomas and are FDA approved for use in this setting (10-13). In addition, novel third generation covalent EGFR TKIs that are more specific to the most common first/second generation TKI resistance mutation (EGFR-T790M) are active and have FDA 'breakthrough' review designation.

ALK mutations in lung adenocarcinomas occur through gene rearrangements (the most common partner is EML4) that lead to constitutive activation of the tyrosine kinase domain of ALK. The multitargeted ALK/MET/ROS1 TKI crizotinib led to significant responses in phase I and II trials of ALK rearranged lung adenocarcinoma, and phase III randomized trials in the second line (crizotinib versus docetaxel or pemetrexed) and first line (crizotinib versus platinum-pemetrexed) setting have confirmed that crizotinib is more effective than chemotherapy for these tumors (14-17). The FDA label of crizotinib requires tumor identification of ALK rearrangement status. In addition, the second generation ALK TKI ceritinib is FDA approved for the therapy of crizotinib-resistant ALK rearranged lung adenocarcinoma and the related compound alectinib has a FDA breakthrough designation (18,19). Other TKIs have differing levels of evidence for off-label use in lung adenocarcinomas with other genotypes (Table 1).

To standardize the use of tissue for the ever-changing needs of molecular diagnostics in lung cancer, in 2013, IASLC, Association for Molecular Pathology (AMP), and College of American Pathologists (CAP) published minimum molecular testing guidelines for selection of lung cancer patients for EGFR and ALK TKIs that are now widely used for day-to-day medical oncology care (20). The current guidelines prioritize use of rapid single gene assays for these two driver oncogenes. However, it is becoming evident that technological advances have reached a point where comprehensive molecular profiling using a variety of next generation sequencing (NGS) platforms is feasible in routine clinical practice; with a multitude of commercial or academic vendors providing Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA)-certified NGS assays that use formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) specimens or cytology specimens to isolate DNA and/or RNA for analyses of a targeted panel of genes to select for the most readily targetable alterations (Table 1) (21,22).

Therefore, the need for sufficient, high-quality tissue

Molecular target/driver	Prevalence	US FDA-	US FDA-breakthrough	Off label use of TKIs with	Off label use of TKIs
oncogene	(%)	approved TKIs	designation TKIs in	significant level of evidence	with lesser levels of
		in 2015	2015	(NCCN category 2A)	evidence
Adenocarcinoma					
KRAS mutations	25-30	None	None	None	None
EGFR mutations	15-20	Erlotinib, afatinib	AZD9291, rociletinib	N/A	N/A
ALK rearrangements	3-7	Crizotinib, ceritinib	Alectinib	N/A	N/A
ROS1 rearrangements	2-4	None	Crizotinib	Crizotinib	Cabozantinib
<i>MET</i> exon 14 skipping mutation	2-4	None	None	None	Crizotinib
ERBB2 mutations	1-3	None	None	None	Afatinib
BRAF mutations (V600E)	1-3	None	Dafrafenib, dafrafenib + trametinib	Dafrafenib, vemurafenib	N/A
RET rearrangements	1-2	None	None	None	Cabozantinib
MET amplification	1-2	None	None	Crizotinib	N/A
MAP2K1 mutations	1	None	None	None	None
NTRK1 rearrangements	<1	None	None	None	None
FGFR2/3/4	<1	None	None	None	None
rearrangements					
Squamous cell carcinoma					
FGFR1 amplifications	15-20	None	None	None	None
FGFR2/3/4 mutations/	5-10	None	None	None	None
rearrangements					
PI3KCA mutations	5-10	None	None	None	None
DDR2 mutations	1-5	None	None	None	Dasatinib

Table 1 Known driver mutations in NSCLC with associated targeted therapeutics

NSCLC, non-small-cell lung cancer; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; TKIs, tyrosine kinase inhibitors; N/A, non-applicable.

material for diagnosis, staging, and treatment selection has grown significantly, concurrently with the expansion of minimally-invasive tissue acquisition methods. We will address current minimally invasive methods for tissue acquisition in the diagnosis and management of patients with lung cancer, their performance characteristics, and consider current gaps in patient care in different practice environments.

Minimally invasive techniques for tissue acquisition

Prompt and accurate diagnosis and staging of patients with lung cancer should be sought through an efficient process: one that minimizes the number of procedures before initiating treatment. Ideally, the preferred initial procedure would be able to simultaneously provide tissue for diagnosis, tumor classification, molecular testing, as well as provide staging information. However, this may or may not be possible depending on the individual patient and the need for sufficient and appropriate tissue for current and future cytological, immunohistochemical, and molecular studies. The available techniques are: mediastinoscopy, endobronchial ultrasound with transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA), endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) with fine needle aspiration (FNA), traditional bronchoscopic TBNA and computed-tomography guided core needle biopsy (CT-CNB) or CT-FNA. The overall performance measures of these different techniques are summarized in *Table 2*.

		88			8		
Procedure	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	Number of studies	Number of specimens	Cancer prevalence (%)
СТ	55	81	58	83	43	7,368	30
Integrated PET-CT	62	90	63	90	19	2,014	22
Mediastinoscopy	81	100	100	91	35	10,648	34
TBNA	78	100	100	77	27	2,408	81
EUS-FNA	89	100	100	86	26	2,443	58
EBUS-TBNA	89	100	100	91	26	2,756	58
EBUS-TBNA + EUS-FNA	91	100	100	96	7	811	33

Table 2 Non-invasive and minimally-invasive staging modalities for non-small cell lung carcinoma*

*, median data values, compiled from the most recent 3rd edition ACCP Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Lung Cancer [Silvestri *et al.* (23)]. PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; PET-CT, positron emission tomography-computed tomography; TBNA, transbronchial needle aspiration; EUS-FNA, endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration; EBUS-TBNA, endobronchial ultrasound with transbronchial needle aspiration; [^], includes traditional mediastinoscopy and video-assisted mediastinoscopy.



Figure 1 Lymph node map adapted from the 2009 IASLC lung cancer staging project. The lymph node stations are color coded to indicate the minimally-invasive staging techniques that can readily access each lymph node station. The close proximity to vascular structures highlights the importance of direct visualization or ultrasound guidance to avoid bleeding complications. EBUS, endobronchial ultrasound; EUS, endoscopic ultrasound; IASLC, International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer.

Mediastinoscopy

Mediastinoscopy is a surgical procedure that allows for the exploration of the superior mediastinum from the sternal

notch to the subcarinal space and sometimes can reach the main bronchi (Figure 1). It is done under general anesthesia, with the neck maximally extended and through a 2-3 cm collar incision at the sternal notch carried out through the platysma. The strap muscles are separated to expose the trachea and after incising the pretracheal fascia, the pretracheal plane is developed. Finger dissection is initially used as caudally as possible while palpating key structures such as the innominate artery and the aortic arch. This space is then used to advance the video-mediastinoscope. This process is continued by using suction/coagulation device sweeps to advance caudally. Before carrying out biopsies, the surgeon identifies the innominate artery, aortic arch, pulmonary artery and the azygos vein. Occasionally, the appearance of a lymph node and a vascular structure are similar, and a fine needle is used to gently penetrate the structure and identify if there is blood flow or not (24).

In a similar fashion to EBUS or EUS, exploration of the lymph nodes starts on the contralateral side of the tumor to rule out N3 disease and then proceeds in a systematic way. The subcarinal lymph nodes are usually sampled last because bronchial artery and perinodal bleeding can be more difficult to control. It is important to mention that, by convention, the specificity and positive predictive values of cervical mediastinoscopy are considered 100%, as entire lymph nodes are excised for histologic evaluation. However, positive results are not confirmed by other tests. The median sensitivity of conventional mediastinoscopy is reported to be 78% with a median negative predictive value of 91% (23). Video-mediastinoscopy has a median

sensitivity of 89% with a negative predictive value of 92%. Although rare, complications occur in 3% of cases with serious bleeding in 0.4% occasionally requiring mediastinotomy (25,26). Mortality is under 0.5% (27,28).

There are two technical variations of mediastinoscopy intended for systematic removal of mediastinal lymph nodes: video-assisted mediastinoscopic lymphadenectomy (VAMLA) and transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy (TEMLA). These two procedures, also called "supermediastinoscopies", are not widely used but their exceptional operating characteristics warrant a comment. Both are done through an incision similar to the one used for mediastinoscopy but with systematic removal of the lymph nodes. In VAMLA, the removal of subcarinal and right inferior paratracheal lymph nodes en block followed by the left inferior paratracheal lymph nodes is done through a 2-blade spreadable mediastinoscope (29).

In TEMLA, a sternal retractor elevates the sternum allowing for complete mediastinal lymphadenectomy from the supraclavicular to the paraesophageal lymph nodes. A thoracoscope is also used to remove the subaortic and para-aortic lymph nodes (30).

Although both are rarely used, the sensitivity of VAMLA was close to 100%, while TEMLA has shown to be superior to mediastinoscopy and EBUS (31,32).

Interestingly, some experts and authors of the prior research studies, conclude that VAMLA and TEMLA have no current role in the routine mediastinal staging of lung cancer. In part due to their invasiveness and high risk of complications when compared to equally accurate but less invasive options including EBUS and EUS (33). Furthermore, VAMLA and TEMLA are not mentioned (23) or recommended only within clinical trials (34) in the most recent guidelines for staging of lung cancer.

Endobronchial ultrasound with transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA)

Endoscopic techniques have emerged as the procedure of choice for diagnosis and staging of lung cancer (23). These techniques have also been associated with lower morbidity and mortality, and have been suggested to be more cost effective than mediastinoscopy (35,36). Complications are very rare, with the rate of pneumothorax between 0.07% and 0.2% (37). The procedure is usually done in the outpatient setting by pulmonologists, interventional pulmonologists, or thoracic surgeons in a procedure suite or in the operating room. Anesthesia largely depends on

local practices, but may involve moderate sedation or general anesthesia. A dedicated flexible bronchoscope with an ultrasound (5, 7.5, 10 and 12 MHz) at the distal end is inserted through the mouth, an endotracheal tube, or a laryngeal mask and advanced to the distal trachea where apposition of the ultrasound probe to the airway wall reveals adjacent structures in high detail. After identifying the lymph node station based on anatomic landmarks, a 21 or 22 gauge needle is advanced under direct visualization on ultrasound.

Although there is no consensus on the number of times each lymph node is punctured (passes), in our experience, three passes with 15 needle excursions per pass provides diagnostic material in over 95% of cases (38). After each pass, the needle is withdrawn and a small amount of material can be either placed on a slide for immediate preparation or the entire sample can be placed in a preservative solution for cytologic analysis and cellblock preparation. As shown in Figure 1, EBUS can access the following stations: 2R and 2L (upper paratracheal), 4R and 4L (lower paratracheal), 7 (subcarinal), 10R and 10L (hilar), 11R and 11L (interlobar), on occasion 12R and 12L (lobar) as well as paratracheal and parabronchial masses that occur close to the airway. At least one case series that encompasses multiple institutions described access to station 5 (subaortic) through a transpulmonary artery route (39).

Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA)

EUS is also a real-time ultrasound procedure guiding transesophageal needle aspiration. It allows posterior mediastinal sampling through the esophageal wall. The lymph nodes preferentially accessible to EUS are the inferior pulmonary ligament (level 9), paraesophageal (level 8), subcarinal (level 7), and left paratracheal (level 4L) (Figure 1). However, anterolateral paratracheal (levels 2R, 2L, and 4R) are difficult to sample with EUS. EUS also has a high safety profile, similar to EBUS (40,41). The main feature that sets apart EUS from other techniques is the access to locations outside of the mediastinum, such as the left lobe of the liver, a significant part of the right lobe of the liver, and the left adrenal gland (42). Given its relative strengths and weaknesses, it is best to think of EUS as a complement to EBUS for the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer patients. When used in combination, the yield is higher than with either technique used alone. Pooled analyses have shown sensitivity of 91% and specificity of 100% (23,43).

CT-guided biopsy

Computed tomography provides details on the anatomic location, shape, margins, attenuation of the primary lesion as well as the extent of invasion of the chest wall, presence of suspicious mediastinal, hilar, segmental lymph nodes, and proximity to surrounding structures (44). However, this radiologic evaluation is not entirely specific and should not be used as the single source of staging. The median sensitivity and specificity of CT for identification of mediastinal lymph node involvement were 55% and 81% respectively (23). Other studies have shown similar low sensitivity when pooled in meta-analysis demonstrating sensitivity of 51-64% for NSCLC (45,46). Whenever CT guidance is used to obtain tissue by core needle biopsy or fine needle aspiration, the pooled sensitivity and specificity are 90% and 97% respectively (47). However, the complications include a 15% risk of pneumothorax and 1% risk of major hemorrhage (48). The risk factors for major complications during trans-thoracic needle aspiration include emphysema, small lesion, greater depth of needle penetration, and multiple needle passes. For these reasons, it is not common to use trans-thoracic needle aspiration to sample mediastinal lymph nodes.

In summary, the different minimally invasive techniques are designed to help clinicians identify lung cancer patients who are likely to benefit from primary resection, neoadjuvant chemotherapy and/or radiation, or palliative chemotherapy. However, recent studies suggest that the strategic combination of staging techniques (such as EBUS, followed, when negative, by mediastinoscopy) provides better outcomes and may be more cost-effective (49). A study by Farjah and colleagues reported severe underuse of multimodality staging; with the use of multimodality staging increasing over time from 1998 to 2005 resulting in an association between use of multimodality staging and improved survival, irrespective of the stage of disease (50).

If only imaging studies are used for staging, 15-40% of patients will be denied curative intent therapy (51). For these reasons, radiologic images that are concerning for lung cancer or metastatic disease should be confirmed with cytology or histopathology. Inadequate lymph node evaluation is unfortunately common and its consequences are hard to estimate, but likely translates into reduced lung cancer survival if nodal disease is not identified and treated (52-54).

Lymph node mapping

Regardless of how thoracic lymph nodes are sampled for staging purposes, it is important to use a common vocabulary when describing the location of these lymph node stations as well as to state what specific lymph node stations were sampled. The Japanese (Naruke) and US/European (Mountain and Dresler) lymph node maps were reconciled into a single universal map by the IASLC in 2009 (55). This provides a uniform, specific anatomic definition of the lymph node stations, and facilitates the identification of the exact location during surgery, radiologic interpretation and minimally-invasive biopsy techniques (see Rami-Porta *et al.* in this special issue). It is recommended that we abandon loose anatomic descriptions such as "lower paratracheal" or "parahilar" as these terms are not specific to a lymph node station and can easily be misinterpreted.

Definitions for mediastinal lymph node evaluation

Using standard definitions for the thoroughness of mediastinal nodal staging is as important as using a uniform mediastinal lymph node map (56). The following categories have been used for surgical staging, but they can easily be extrapolated to minimally invasive techniques such as EBUS TBNA. The extent of lymph node assessment can be broadly categorized into the following groups (57):

- (I) Random sampling: the sampling of lymph nodes by convenience or by preoperative or intraoperative findings. The most common situation is the sampling of a single enlarged lymph node. Unfortunately, this practice has been found to be very common in the mediastinoscopy literature (52).
- (II) Systematic sampling: the sampling of predetermined lymph node stations, such as 2L, 4L, 7, and 10L for a left-sided lung tumor, and 2R, 4R, 7 and 10R for a right-sided tumor.
- (III) Mediastinal lymph node dissection: the complete surgical removal of all identifiable mediastinal lymph node tissue based on anatomic landmarks.
- (IV) Extended lymph node dissection: the removal of bilateral paratracheal and cervical lymph nodes by formal dissection.
- (V) Lobe-specific systematic node dissection: the removal of ipsilateral mediastinal lymph node tissue based on the location of the tumor.

Guidelines on tissue acquisition and processing for diagnosis, staging, and genotyping

The American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) evidence-

based clinical practice guidelines, the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) guidelines, and Cancer Care Ontario (CCO) Program in Evidence-Based Care Practice Guidelines are in agreement on their recommendations for indications and techniques for invasive staging (23,34,58). It is important to emphasize that random sampling or sampling of a single enlarged lymph node is considered inadequate surgical staging. Some authors have extrapolated this to minimally invasive techniques and have advocated against random sampling (59). It is recommended that appropriate staging include stations 2R, 2L, 4R, 4L, and 7. However, TBNA of lymph nodes that are smaller than 5 mm is very difficult and likely will result in sub-optimal amount of tissue for diagnosis. Clinically suspicious lymph nodes, such as enlarged (≥1 cm short axis diameter) or FDG-avid nodes, should also be sampled. Guidelines, such as those published by ESTS, the United Kingdom's National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, and CCO, recommend that appropriate lymph node assessment should be systematic and include a minimum of three mediastinal lymph node stations, one of which should be station 7 (subcarinal) (34,58,60).

Sample acquisition and processing differences: how does needle aspiration (cytology) differ from core biopsy (histology)?

It is important to have an appreciation for how small biopsies obtained by minimally invasive means are processed and evaluated by the pathologist/cytopathologist. In general, these small biopsies or cytology specimens must be sufficient to establish a diagnosis of malignancy, to make a reliable subclassification of disease (e.g., adenocarcinoma *vs.* squamous cell carcinoma) using immunochemical stains, and, increasingly, for molecular testing to identify targetable driver mutations. The amount of information to be gleaned from these small biopsies and cytologic specimens is great, and has increased dramatically over the past decade.

Minimally invasive biopsy specimens are small, with limited cellular material. Transbronchial/endobronchial biopsies and transthoracic core needle biopsies of lung lesions can provide some tissue architecture, helpful in delineating invasive carcinoma from in-situ/lepidic pattern of spread, though sampling limitations can be an issue for these specimens. Cytologic aspirates (EBUS-TBNA or EUS-FNA) oftentimes lack these architectural cues, though frequently larger tissue fragments that are almost biopsy-like can be aspirated and appreciated on direct smears or cell block preparations. Establishing a diagnosis of malignancy on cytologic specimens should rarely be a problem though, as the cytologic features of malignancy are generally easy to appreciate. In contrast to biopsy specimens, which are nearly always formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded, cytologic specimens can be processed and evaluated in a number of ways, including by direct smears or touchpreparations of tissue biopsies (either air-dried or alcohol fixed), alcohol-fixed liquid based concentration methods (such as using cytospin, ThinPrep, or SurePath), as well as the creation of a tissue cell block. The latter captures the cellular material into a cell pellet that is formalinfixed and paraffin-embedded, creating for all intents and purposes a tissue-biopsy-like specimen from which multiple serial slides can be cut from the paraffin block and used for immunohistochemical stains and molecular testing. In reality, the lines between small biopsy specimens and cytology specimens (especially with the creation of a

diagnoses and serving as substrates for molecular testing. In order to preserve cellular material for downstream molecular testing, the 2015 iteration of the WHO classification of lung tumors (61) and the 2011 IASLC/ATS/ ERS classification of lung carcinomas on small biopsy/ cytology specimens (62) recommends that a focused panel of immunostains be employed for the work-up of a suspected primary NSCLC when histology or cytomorphology alone is insufficient to distinguish adenocarcinoma from squamous cell carcinoma. Specifically, one lung adenocarcinoma marker (traditionally the transcription factor TTF-1) and one squamous cell marker (usually p63 or more recently p40-the N-terminal truncation isoform of p63 shown to be more specific for squamous cell carcinoma) (63). If these results are inconclusive, then second line lung adenocarcinoma markers (such as the aspartic proteinase Napsin-A) and squamous cell carcinoma markers (cytokeratin 5/6) can be employed. A mucicarmine histochemical stain can also be helpful to demonstrate glandular differentiation. Clinical and radiologic correlation are always helpful, to focus the immunohistochemical work-up of carcinoma metastatic to the lungs, especially when more lung-specific markers are negative.

good cell block) have become blurred, with both types of

specimens capable of providing specific histopathologic

Genotyping: yield of different techniques

The most current guidelines from the CAP, IASLC, and AMP call for testing all advanced stage lung

adenocarcinomas (or mixed tumors with an adenocarcinoma component) for EGFR mutations, generally by PCR-based methods, and ALK gene rearrangements (via FISH assay or with screening immunohistochemistry) (20). Lung cancers are also commonly tested for KRAS mutations which are associated with resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors. In addition to these three main molecular targets, the list of less common driver mutations (Table 1) in lung adenocarcinoma is growing rapidly. With the growing number of actionable targets for lung cancer, relying on the current paradigm of one-off testing using these small biopsy or cytology specimens will inevitably deplete the cellular material despite the cytopathologist's best efforts to maximize cell block cellularity and minimize material loss during the initial diagnostic work-up. Therefore, a shift towards multiplexed panels seems inevitable in the future (21).

Many groups have published very good molecular testing success rates using small biopsy and cytology specimens. In general, the success rates for small biopsy specimens (including transthoracic core needle biopsies or transbronchial biopsies) are comparable to those for cytology cell block specimens. Recent studies comparing these modalities report a molecular testing success rate for small biopsy specimens of 55-100%, and a success rate for FNA or EBUS-TBNA cell block specimens of 46-95%, depending on the study parameters (64-67). In general, there is a higher molecular testing failure rate from small biopsy or cytology specimens as compared to larger surgical resection specimens, inferred from the limiting tumor cellularity present in the former (68).

A recent publication from the Lung Cancer Mutation Consortium, a multi-institutional program investigating selected oncogene drivers in lung adenocarcinoma, revealed that in an 8-gene panel testing approach, 35% of cytology specimens and 26% of small biopsies were insufficient for molecular testing (compared to only 5% of surgical resection specimens). Importantly however, the authors comment that once a specimen was deemed adequate for molecular testing (i.e., has sufficient tumor cellularity), the specimen type (cytology/small biopsy/surgical resection) had no influence on subsequent molecular testing performance and (69) that minor differences between completion rates were not felt to be clinically significant. Therefore, cytology and small biopsy specimens have been proven to be excellent substrates for molecular testing, as long as enough tumor cells are obtained and the preceding pathologic work-up is efficient and minimizes tumor cell loss.

Advanced bronchoscopy techniques in nonacademic settings

EBUS-TBNA has become increasingly commonplace outside of academic medical centers. However, appropriate training for thorough and systematic mediastinal staging is still lagging (59). Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy (ENB), and other advanced diagnostic techniques have also become increasingly commonplace in the community setting. Each of these procedures has an associated learning curve, requiring the development of a systematic approach to proper procedural techniques for biopsies and tissue handling. Increasing interest has led to implementation of training in advanced bronchoscopy techniques in pulmonary/critical care fellowships, as well as dedicated interventional pulmonary fellowships.

For physicians who did not have exposure to these techniques during their formal training, the training options include taking a sabbatical year, participating in an intense 1-7 day course, or direct proctoring by experienced colleagues. Current ACCP guidelines for procedural training are based on minimum number of procedures and not necessarily on the cognitive and technical skills required (70). In the United States, the need for the procedures at community and regional hospitals has led to the implementation of bronchoscopy services, including EBUS, or the creation of referral channels to tertiary care centers (71). Ultimately, the success of community programs depends on adequate investment of human and technological capital, ideally within multidisciplinary teams of pulmonologists, thoracic surgeons, radiologists, cytopathologists, radiation oncologists, and medical oncologists, who should collaborate to apply evidence-based guidelines while continuously evaluating their performance using mutually accepted yield and quality metrics.

A number of authors have advocated the utility of rapid onsite examination (ROSE) for the evaluation of EBUS samples. Although immediate feedback for the bronchoscopist as well as appropriate specimen collection and triage can be helpful in certain circumstances, the current guidelines from the World Association for Bronchology and Interventional Pulmonology state that use of ROSE is not recommended for every case if the operator is experienced (72), and certainly should not limit the implementation of a much needed service for lung cancer patients. In this setting, EBUS-TBNA samples for driver oncogene mutation analysis have been successful in close to 95% of the cases, even with use of a commercial laboratory

and no sample enrichment (64). Appropriate tissue handling and preparation with methanol based fixatives and paraffinembedded cell blocks have been used successfully by our group and others (68,73).

Conclusions

The diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer has undergone multiple dramatic changes in the last decade. We have a better understanding of the molecular biology of lung cancer and driver mutations that can be targeted through the use of specific tyrosine-kinase inhibitors. Significant technological advances allow interventional pulmonologists and surgeons to obtain diagnostic material in a safe and minimally invasive manner. Ongoing refinements in diagnostic and ancillary molecular testing by pathologists and cytopathologists has allowed small biopsy and cytology specimens to be used to accurately diagnose and characterize lung cancer, helping direct appropriate therapeutic decisions. Moving forward, a pressing task for the health care community at large will be to narrow existing practice gaps between high-performing (often academic) and lower performing (often community-based) care delivery settings.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Diana Obregon for lending her artistic skills in creating the figures for this manuscript.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: DB Costa has received consulting fees and honoraria from Pfizer and Boehringer Ingelheim (unrelated to the current work). E Folch has served as scientific consultant for Boston Scientific, education consultant for Olympus and is the principal investigator for an ongoing trial in navigation bronchoscopy funded by Medtronic. J Wright and PA VanderLaan have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Schiller JH, Harrington D, Belani CP, et al. Comparison of four chemotherapy regimens for advanced non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2002;346:92-8.
- 2. Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, et al. Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer.

N Engl J Med 2006;355:2542-50.

- Scagliotti GV, Parikh P, von Pawel J, et al. Phase III study comparing cisplatin plus gemcitabine with cisplatin plus pemetrexed in chemotherapy-naive patients with advanced-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:3543-51.
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Noguchi M, et al. International association for the study of lung cancer/american thoracic society/european respiratory society international multidisciplinary classification of lung adenocarcinoma. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:244-85.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015;373:123-35.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74.
- Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Akerley W, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer, version 6.2015. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2015;13:515-24.
- Gerber DE, Gandhi L, Costa DB. Management and future directions in non-small cell lung cancer with known activating mutations. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2014:e353-65.
- Kris MG, Johnson BE, Berry LD, et al. Using multiplexed assays of oncogenic drivers in lung cancers to select targeted drugs. JAMA 2014;311:1998-2006.
- Jorge SE, Kobayashi SS, Costa DB. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations in lung cancer: preclinical and clinical data. Braz J Med Biol Res 2014;47:929-39.
- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 2009;361:947-57.
- Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, et al. Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:239-46.
- Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, et al. Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:3327-34.
- Kwak EL, Bang YJ, Camidge DR, et al. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase inhibition in non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2010;363:1693-703.
- 15. Costa DB, Shaw AT, Ou SH, et al. Clinical Experience With Crizotinib in Patients With Advanced ALK-

Rearranged Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and Brain Metastases. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:1881-8.

- Shaw AT, Kim DW, Nakagawa K, et al. Crizotinib versus chemotherapy in advanced ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2013;368:2385-94.
- Solomon BJ, Mok T, Kim DW, et al. First-line crizotinib versus chemotherapy in ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2014;371:2167-77.
- 18. Shaw AT, Engelman JA. Ceritinib in ALK-rearranged nonsmall-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2014;370:2537-9.
- Shaw AT, Ou SH, Bang YJ, et al. Crizotinib in ROS1rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2014;371:1963-71.
- 20. Lindeman NI, Cagle PT, Beasley MB, et al. Molecular testing guideline for selection of lung cancer patients for EGFR and ALK tyrosine kinase inhibitors: guideline from the College of American Pathologists, International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, and Association for Molecular Pathology. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2013;137:828-60.
- Frampton GM, Fichtenholtz A, Otto GA, et al. Development and validation of a clinical cancer genomic profiling test based on massively parallel DNA sequencing. Nat Biotechnol 2013;31:1023-31.
- 22. Zheng Z, Liebers M, Zhelyazkova B, et al. Anchored multiplex PCR for targeted next-generation sequencing. Nat Med 2014;20:1479-84.
- 23. Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.
- Weeden D, Tsang VT. Cardiothoracic surgery. In: Johnson CD, Cumming J, editers. Essential surgical technique. New York: Springer, 1997:197-232.
- Kramer H, Groen HJ. Current concepts in the mediastinal lymph node staging of nonsmall cell lung cancer. Ann Surg 2003;238:180-8.
- Park BJ, Flores R, Downey RJ, et al. Management of major hemorrhage during mediastinoscopy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;126:726-31.
- 27. Kirschner PA. Cervical mediastinoscopy. Chest Surg Clin N Am 1996;6:1-20.
- Urschel JD. Conservative management (packing) of hemorrhage complicating mediastinoscopy. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2000;6:9-12.
- 29. Hürtgen M, Friedel G, Toomes H, et al. Radical videoassisted mediastinoscopic lymphadenectomy (VAMLA)-

-technique and first results. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2002;21:348-51.

- Kuzdzał J, Zieliński M, Papla B, et al. Transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy--the new operative technique and early results in lung cancer staging. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:384-90; discussion 390.
- 31. Zielinski M, Szlubowski A, Kołodziej M, et al. Comparison of endobronchial ultrasound and/or endoesophageal ultrasound with transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy for staging and restaging of non-smallcell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:630-6.
- 32. Kuzdzal J, Zieliński M, Papla B, et al. The transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy versus cervical mediastinoscopy in non-small cell lung cancer staging. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2007;31:88-94.
- 33. Kużdżał J, Warmus J, Grochowski Z. Optimal mediastinal staging in non-small cell lung cancer: what is the role of TEMLA and VAMLA? Lung Cancer 2014;86:1-4.
- De Leyn P, Dooms C, Kuzdzal J, et al. Revised ESTS guidelines for preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging for non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;45:787-98.
- Steinfort DP, Liew D, Conron M, et al. Cost-benefit of minimally invasive staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a decision tree sensitivity analysis. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1564-70.
- Varela-Lema L, Fernández-Villar A, Ruano-Ravina A. Effectiveness and safety of endobronchial ultrasoundtransbronchial needle aspiration: a systematic review. Eur Respir J 2009;33:1156-64.
- Eapen GA, Shah AM, Lei X, et al. Complications, consequences, and practice patterns of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: Results of the AQuIRE registry. Chest 2013;143:1044-53.
- VanderLaan PA, Wang HH, Majid A, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA): an overview and update for the cytopathologist. Cancer Cytopathol 2014;122:561-76.
- 39. Folch E, Santacruz J, Machuzak M, et al. Safety and efficacy of EBUS-guided TBNA through the pulmonary artery: a preliminary report. Chest 2011;140:600A.
- 40. Detterbeck FC, Jantz MA, Wallace M, et al. Invasive mediastinal staging of lung cancer: ACCP evidencebased clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:202S-220S.
- 41. Micames CG, McCrory DC, Pavey DA, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for non-small cell

lung cancer staging: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Chest 2007;131:539-48.

- 42. Chang KJ, Erickson RA, Nguyen P. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) and EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration of the left adrenal gland. Gastrointest Endosc 1996;44:568-72.
- Wallace MB, Pascual JM, Raimondo M, et al. Minimally invasive endoscopic staging of suspected lung cancer. JAMA 2008;299:540-6.
- 44. Patel VK, Naik SK, Naidich DP, et al. A practical algorithmic approach to the diagnosis and management of solitary pulmonary nodules: part 1: radiologic characteristics and imaging modalities. Chest 2013;143:825-39.
- 45. Dwamena BA, Sonnad SS, Angobaldo JO, et al. Metastases from non-small cell lung cancer: mediastinal staging in the 1990s--meta-analytic comparison of PET and CT. Radiology 1999;213:530-6.
- 46. Gould MK, Kuschner WG, Rydzak CE, et al. Test performance of positron emission tomography and computed tomography for mediastinal staging in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003;139:879-92.
- 47. Rivera MP, Mehta AC, Wahidi MM. Establishing the diagnosis of lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e142S-65S.
- Wiener RS, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S, et al. Populationbased risk for complications after transthoracic needle lung biopsy of a pulmonary nodule: an analysis of discharge records. Ann Intern Med 2011;155:137-44.
- Annema JT, van Meerbeeck JP, Rintoul RC, et al. Mediastinoscopy vs endosonography for mediastinal nodal staging of lung cancer: a randomized trial. JAMA 2010;304:2245-52.
- Farjah F, Flum DR, Ramsey SD, et al. Multi-modality mediastinal staging for lung cancer among medicare beneficiaries. J Thorac Oncol 2009;4:355-63.
- Silvestri GA, Gould MK, Margolis ML, et al. Noninvasive staging of non-small cell lung cancer: ACCP evidencedbased clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:178S-201S.
- Little AG, Rusch VW, Bonner JA, et al. Patterns of surgical care of lung cancer patients. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;80:2051-6; discussion 2056.
- Osarogiagbon RU, Yu X. Mediastinal lymph node examination and survival in resected early-stage non-smallcell lung cancer in the surveillance, epidemiology, and end

results database. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:1798-806.

- Osarogiagbon RU, Allen JW, Farooq A, et al. Objective review of mediastinal lymph node examination in a lung cancer resection cohort. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:390-6.
- 55. Rusch VW, Asamura H, Watanabe H, et al. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: a proposal for a new international lymph node map in the forthcoming seventh edition of the TNM classification for lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2009;4:568-77.
- Detterbeck F, Puchalski J, Rubinowitz A, et al. Classification of the thoroughness of mediastinal staging of lung cancer. Chest 2010;137:436-42.
- 57. Lardinois D, De Leyn P, Van Schil P, et al. ESTS guidelines for intraoperative lymph node staging in non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2006;30:787-92.
- Darling GE, Dickie AJ, Malthaner RA, et al. Invasive mediastinal staging of non-small-cell lung cancer: a clinical practice guideline. Curr Oncol 2011;18:e304-10.
- Folch E, Majid A. Point: are >50 supervised procedures required to develop competency in performing endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for mediastinal staging? Yes. Chest 2013;143:888-91; discussion 894-5.
- 60. National Collaborating Centre for Cancer (Great Britain), National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (Great Britain). The diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer (update). NICE clinical guidelines no 121. Cardiff, UK: National Collaborating Centre for Cancer (UK); 2011:1.
- 61. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Burke AP, et al. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Lung, Pleura, Thymus and Heart. 4th ed. Lyon: WHO, 2015.
- 62. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Noguchi M, et al. Diagnosis of lung cancer in small biopsies and cytology: implications of the 2011 International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer/American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society classification. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2013;137:668-84.
- Bishop JA, Teruya-Feldstein J, Westra WH, et al. p40 (ΔNp63) is superior to p63 for the diagnosis of pulmonary squamous cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol 2012;25:405-15.
- 64. Folch E, Yamaguchi N, VanderLaan PA, et al. Adequacy of lymph node transbronchial needle aspirates using convex probe endobronchial ultrasound for multiple tumor genotyping techniques in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:1438-44.
- 65. Schneider F, Smith MA, Lane MC, et al. Adequacy of

Folch et al. Minimally invasive diagnosis and staging of lung cancer

core needle biopsy specimens and fine-needle aspirates for molecular testing of lung adenocarcinomas. Am J Clin Pathol 2015;143:193-200; quiz 306.

- 66. Coley SM, Crapanzano JP, Saqi A. FNA, core biopsy, or both for the diagnosis of lung carcinoma: Obtaining sufficient tissue for a specific diagnosis and molecular testing. Cancer Cytopathol 2015;123:318-26.
- 67. Wang S, Yu B, Ng CC, et al. The suitability of small biopsy and cytology specimens for EGFR and other mutation testing in non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4:119-25.
- Vanderlaan PA, Yamaguchi N, Folch E, et al. Success and failure rates of tumor genotyping techniques in routine pathological samples with non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2014;84:39-44.
- Sholl LM, Aisner DL, Varella-Garcia M, et al. Multiinstitutional Oncogenic Driver Mutation Analysis in Lung Adenocarcinoma: The Lung Cancer Mutation Consortium Experience. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:768-77.

Cite this article as: Folch E, Costa DB, Wright J, VanderLaan PA. Lung cancer diagnosis and staging in the minimally invasive age with increasing demands for tissue analysis. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2015;4(4):392-403. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.08.02

- Ernst A, Silvestri GA, Johnstone D. Interventional pulmonary procedures: Guidelines from the American College of Chest Physicians. Chest 2003;123:1693-717.
- 71. Kinsey CM, Channick CL. Counterpoint: are >50 supervised procedures required to develop competency in performing endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for lung cancer staging? No. Chest 2013;143:891-3; discussion 893-4.
- 72. van der Heijden EH, Casal RF, Trisolini R, et al. Guideline for the acquisition and preparation of conventional and endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration specimens for the diagnosis and molecular testing of patients with known or suspected lung cancer. Respiration 2014;88:500-17.
- 73. Reynolds JP, Tubbs RR, Minca EC, et al. EGFR mutational genotyping of liquid based cytology samples obtained via fine needle aspiration (FNA) at endobronchial ultrasound of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Lung Cancer 2014;86:158-63.

Ideal conditions to perform EBUS-TBNA

Barbara Canneto¹, Giorgio Ferraroli², Giovanni Falezza¹, Maurizio Valentino Infante¹

¹Department of Thoracic Surgery, University Hospital, Verona, Italy; ²Department of Thoracic Surgery, Humanitas Research Hospital, Milan, Italy *Correspondence to:* Maurizio Valentino Infante. Department of Thoracic Surgery, University Hospital, Ple A Stefani 1, 37126 Verona, Italy. Email: maurizio.infante@aovr.veneto.it.

Abstract: EBUS-TBNA is gaining widespread acceptance as a minimally invasive procedure for mediastinal staging and re-staging of lung cancer, diagnosis of lung tumors adjacent to large airways and characterization of both malignant and benign lymphadenopathy. The aim of this article is to describe the appropriate setting and practical aspects of the procedure that may help at the start of a new EBUS-TBNA program to improve patient safety, comfort and procedural yield according to operator experience, procedure aim, and institutional needs.

Keywords: EBUS-TBNA; endoscopy room; anaesthetic management; mediastinal biopsy

Submitted Dec 24, 2016. Accepted for publication Apr 02, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.04.64 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.04.64

Introduction

American cancer guidelines have embraced EBUS-TBNA in the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer and recommended it as the initial step in mediastinal staging, over mediastinoscopy (1). However, facilities that can already offer the procedure to their patients are still a minority even in developed countries such as the USA and the UK.

As more pulmonologists and thoracic surgeons are adopting EBUS in their standard clinical practice, there is a pressing need to understand the factors that enhance the performance and yield of EBUS-TBNA.

This chapter is intended to provide the basic notions and practical suggestions to start an EBUS program in the most appropriate setting based on local availability of resources, case mix and expertise.

Personnel requirements, patient preparation and monitoring

The procedure is normally organized on an outpatient basis, with discharge after adequate recovery.

EBUS-TBNA may be performed by a Thoracic Surgeon or by an Interventional Pulmonologist who has received adequate training in this procedure. As for flexible bronchoscopy, an intravenous catheter and standard American Society of Anaesthesiologists monitors are recommended, and continuous monitoring of the patient's vital signs and parameters (HR, BP, O₂ saturation) is mandatory. An oxygen delivery system, either via a mask with reservoir, a venti-mask or nasal-mask is also mandatory.

Emergency equipment with a defibrillator should be available, and the personnel (physician and nurses) must be adequately trained in its use.

The patient lies in a supine position, and the operator stands at the patient's head, assisted by one nurse.

The EBUS instrument and related devices (light source, processor, conventional monitor (all in one column) and the ultrasound monitor may be placed either on the left or on the right of the patient. In the beginning of the EBUS era, visual and ultrasound monitors were independent. Nowadays, integrated systems are available, allowing the bronchial direct vision and the ultrasound images to be displayed on one screen simultaneously thus saving room space and facilitating the operator's manoeuvres.

Two nurses should be preferably present in the room during the procedure EBUS-TBNA: one nurse will administer topical 2% Lidocaine, prepare the scope and the needle, and assist in their use, and prepare slides for the cytologist and formalin containers for the specimens.

The other nurse will take care of drug infusion during

the bronchoscopist results in contamination of the room atmosphere by volatile anaesthetics and in an inconsistent

delivery of volatile anaesthetic gas to the patient. Combinations of propofol, remifentanil, etomidate, ketamine in a standard fashion are commonly used. Curarisation is infrequently needed.

and they require an artificial airway.

In such cases, the airway can be secured by a laryngeal mask airway (LMA) or endotracheal tube (ETT, minimum size 8).

Considering the large size of the ultrasonic bronchoscope, a #4 or #5 LMA seems to be the most suitable device to secure the airway and provide adequate ventilation around the bronchoscope. Another advantage of the LMA is that it allows access to higher mediastinal lymph node stations that would otherwise be obscured by the ETT. It may not be appropriate in severe obesity or untreated gastroesophageal reflux (2).

In case of endotracheal intubation, the tube has to be withdrawn to explore higher mediastinal nodes; another disadvantage is that the scope is directed in a central position by the tube and it may be more difficult to get close to the tracheal wall with the tip of the scope and obtain adequate ultrasonographic imaging.

In the only prospective randomized controlled trial of EBUS-TBNA performed under general anesthesia (total intravenous anesthesia with laryngeal mask) *vs.* moderate sedation (topic anesthesia with lidocaine plus a combination of midazolam and fentanyl) diagnostic yield, complication rates and patient tolerance were comparable (3). However, 5 patients in the moderate sedation group (6.7%) did not tolerate the procedure even at the maximal pre-established doses of sedatives, and ultimately required GA.

Nowadays, lack of uniform access to GA in the majority of clinical practice settings and cost issues favour the use of mild or moderate sedation in an advanced Endoscopic room, with or without an anaesthesiologist on site.

Mild sedation (MS), defined by the American Society of Anaesthesiologists as a drug-induced depression of consciousness during which patients respond purposefully to verbal commands or light tactile stimuli with no interventions required to maintain a patent airway or ventilation, can be achieved in several ways, but generally by using a mix of short acting benzodiazepines and opiates.

DS is defined as a drug-induced depression of consciousness

mild sedation (normally benzodiazepines), monitor the patient's vital parameters and control O_2 delivery. When an Anaesthesiologist is present, the nurse assists him/her in the management of the patient.

If on-site pathology is available and adequate confirmation is required, a delivery man should also be available for slide transport.

At the end of the procedure, an adequate and thorough check of the tracheobronchial tree is mandatory before removing the bronchoscope from the airways, in order to remove clots and/or secretions, and control possible sites of bleeding.

The patient should be continuously monitored for at least one hour after the procedure (HR, BP, O_2 saturation). Oxygen delivering should be maintained, and pain medication should be administered (generally for pharingodinia). Dyspnoea must be evaluated accurately to exclude pneumothorax, asthma, or airway bleeding.

If the patient underwent the procedure under mild sedation only he/she could be discharged after approximately one hour.

If deep sedation (DS) was used, the patient should be controlled for at least 2 hours (in a recovery room or in the department).

Anaesthetic considerations

When EBUS-TBNA was introduced 10 years ago, it was typically performed using general anaesthesia (GA).

Anaesthetic management is important during EBUS-TBNA for a number of reasons:

First, the ultrasonic bronchoscope has a thicker structure than standard fiber-optic bronchoscopes, intense mucosal contact is necessary to obtain ultrasonic images, and the procedure time is generally long enough to cause considerable patient discomfort.

Second, there is an absolute need to prevent reflex coughing and laryngospasm during the procedure, as coughing and movement of the mediastinum will cause difficulties in obtaining an adequate view of the target lymph nodes or lesion, hamper accurate insertion of the needle and increase the risk of injury to mediastinal major vessels.

Topical anaesthesia with lidocaine 2% is mandatory to suppress the cough reflex, especially with mild sedation or in GA when muscle blockade agents are not used.

GA is defined as drug-induced loss of consciousness during which patients are not arousable, even by painful stimulation, they cannot maintain spontaneous ventilation, Total intra-venous anaesthesia (TIVA) provides optimal

conditions for EBUS TBNA and it is preferred over volatile

anaesthetics, because frequent suctioning of the airway by

during which patients cannot be easily aroused but respond to repeated or painful stimulation, with potential impairment of independent ventilation and potential need for an artificial airway.

In a recent retrospective study by Öztaş and colleagues (4), 152 patients underwent EBUS-TBNA under DS (intravenous midazolam + propofol) administered by an anesthesiologist and 122 patients received just midazolam administered by the endoscopist. The diagnostic yield was not statistically different in the two groups, no major complications were observed in either group and minor complications were similar.

The endoscopist performing the procedure on patients in the second group was highly skilled in the procedure. No data are given about patient or operator satisfaction.

Jeyabalan (5) investigated patient satisfaction with EBUS-TBNA under light conscious sedation (topical lidocaine plus lidocaine and intravenous midazolam and fentanyl) without anaesthetic assistance in a cohort of 82 patients. Sensitivity and negative predictive value for staging and diagnosis in suspected malignancy were 90–80% and 94.1–88.9% and 87.5% and 50% in suspected granulomatous disease. All but 9 patients (87%) stated that they would definitely/probably undergo a repeat EBUS-TBNA.

In a retrospective study (6), Yarmus and colleagues compared 163 procedures performed under DS (continuous iv. propofol with LM or ETT) with 146 performed under moderate sedation (boluses of fentanyl and midazolam). The diagnostic yield was higher in the DS group with shorter procedure time and a higher number of nodes sampled, however firm conclusions cannot be drawn as the procedures were carried out in two different institutions by different operators and pathologists, and the follow-up of negative cases was incomplete.

In another study by Ost and colleagues (7), DS and general anesthesia were associated with more lymph nodes sampled per patient, but this was not associated with higher EBUS-TBNA diagnostic yield.

Anesthesia techniques do not seem to affect the frequency of complications with EBUS-TBNA (8), therefore no evidence exists to strongly recommend one anesthetic method over another as regards diagnostic yield and procedural safety.

The choice is ultimately made according to operator experience, educational needs, procedure planning (full mediastinal staging *vs.* one station diagnosis; tissue sampling for benign *vs.* malignant disease) and institutional standards (9).

Ideal environment: endoscopy room vs. operating room (OR)

The operating room or theatre provides a fully equipped and protected environment, and specialised staff to assist the patient and the operator during the procedure, including an anaesthesiologist, and advanced anaesthesia and life-support instrumentation.

However, these potential advantages must be weighed against local availability of resources (operating theatre time and personnel) and cost issues.

Mainly, the OR setting allows the endoscopic procedure to be immediately followed by a mediastinoscopy if EBUS – TBNA does not provide a firm diagnosis.

This is more likely at the beginning of the learning curve if the target lesion or lymph nodes are relatively small or rest in a more difficult location (4L).

EBUS-TBNA has a relatively low sensitivity of 57– 90% (10) for lymphoma, and a diagnostic yield of 54% to 93% for sarcoidosis (11). In such cases, surgical biopsy is more often necessary for diagnostic confirmation.

EBUS-TBNA can provide adequate material for mutation analysis in cancer patients who are potential candidates for biological agents therapy in roughly 90% of the patients *vs.* close to 100 % with mediastinoscopy (12).

There is thus a potential benefit of performing EBUS-TBNA in the OR for such patients, especially those coming from far away, to avoid readmission after several days or weeks in case of a non-diagnostic result.

In the experience of the Swedish Cancer Institute in Seattle, roughly 50% of the EBUS-TBNA procedures have been carried out in the operating theatre (unpublished data, courtesy of Dr. Jed Gorden). In the University Hospitals of Verona, currently EBUS TBNA is routinely carried out in the operating theatre and 14% EBUS-TBNA procedures have been followed by immediate mediastinoscopy due to inadequate specimens.

In conclusion, the endoscopic room could be appropriate in most cases to carry out EBUS-TBNA and allows significant cost savings without jeopardising patient safety and diagnostic yield.

The operating theatre appears to be the ideal setting both for patient and operator comfort and safety, and to ensure the maximum diagnostic yield in the following cases:

- (I) The endoscopy room is not adequately equipped for a safe procedure;
- (II) An anaesthesiologist is not available in the endoscopy suite and DS is deemed necessary;

Canneto et al. Ideal conditions to perform EBUS-TBNA

- (III) There is a high probability that EBUS-TBNA would be inadequate or non-diagnostic;
- (IV) Procedural time, individual expertise and financial considerations may all influence the final choice of the appropriate setting in such individual cases.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.
- Sarkiss M, Kennedy M, Riedel B, et al. Anesthesia technique for endobronchial ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of mediastinal lymph node. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2007;21:892-6.
- Casal RF, Lazarus DR, Kuhl K, et al. Randomized trial of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration under general anesthesia versus moderate sedation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015;191:796-803.
- Öztaş S, Aktürk ÜA, Alpay LA, et al. A Comparison of Propofol-Midazolam and Midazolam Alone for Sedation in Endobronchial Ultrasound-Guided Transbronchial Needle Aspiration: A retrospective cohort study. Clin

Cite this article as: Canneto B, Ferraroli G, Falezza G, Infante MV. Ideal conditions to perform EBUS-TBNA. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 5):S414-S417. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.04.64

Respir J 2015. [Epub ahead of print].

- Jeyabalan A, Medford AR. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration: patient satisfaction under light conscious sedation. Respiration 2014;88:244-50.
- Yarmus LB, Akulian JA, Gilbert C, et al. Comparison of moderate versus deep sedation for endobronchial ultrasound transbronchial needle aspiration. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2013;10:121-6.
- Ost DE, Ernst A, Lei X, et al. Diagnostic yield of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: results of the AQuIRE Bronchoscopy Registry. Chest 2011;140:1557-66.
- Eapen GA, Shah AM, Lei X, et al. Complications, consequences, and practice patterns of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: Results of the AQuIRE registry. Chest 2013;143:1044-53.
- Aswanetmanee P, Limsuwat C, Kabach M, et al. The role of sedation in endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: Systematic review. Endosc Ultrasound 2016;5:300-6.
- Erer OF, Erol S, Anar C, et al. Diagnostic yield of EBUS-TBNA for lymphoma and review of the literature. Endosc Ultrasound 2016. [Epub ahead of print].
- Agarwal R, Srinivasan A, Aggarwal AN, et al. Efficacy and safety of convex probe EBUS-TBNA in sarcoidosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Respir Med 2012;106:883-92.
- Navani N, Brown JM, Nankivell M, et al. Suitability of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration specimens for subtyping and genotyping of nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter study of 774 patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012;185:1316-22.

40

Is bronchodilator the correct treatment for COPD subjects before EBUS?

Veronica Leoni¹, Patrizia Pignatti², Dina Visca³, Antonio Spanevello^{1,3}

¹Department of Medicine and Surgery, Respiratory Diseases, University of Insubria, Varese-Como, Italy; ²Allergy and Immunology Unit, ³Respiratory Medicine Unit, Istituti Clinici Scientifici Maugeri, IRCCS, Pavia, Italy

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: V Leoni, P Pignatti, A Spanevello; (II) Administrative support: P Pignatti; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: V Leoni; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: V Leoni, P Pignatti; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Patrizia Pignatti, PhD. Allergy and Immunology Unit, Istituti Clinici Scientifici Maugeri, IRCCS, via S. Maugeri, 10 27100 Pavia, Italy. Email: patrizia.pignatti@icsmaugeri.it.

Abstract: Endobronchial ultrasound transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) is a reliable and commonly established technique, enabling real-time guidance of transbronchial needle aspiration of mediastinal and hilar structures and parabronchial lung masses. As EBUS-TBNA has become more available and adopted by clinicians, questions have emerged about the optimal performance of the procedure. Although EBUS is considered safe, there are few complications that could occur during the test, correlated with both the procedure itself and the patient's characteristics. Moreover, this technique is often addressed to patients with overlapping airways diseases, which might have higher risk of complications during the procedure. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients could experience EBUS-TBNA with a relatively high frequency due to their risk of developing lung cancer. The irreversible bronchial constriction characteristic of the disease raises some questions on premedication before bronchoscopic procedures. It is mandatory to optimize every aspect of the procedure in order to minimize the risk of complications, especially for fragile patients. Whether the use of inhaled bronchodilators before the procedure could improve the outcome of the procedure in COPD patients is reviewed in this article. No clear indication emerged from the literature suggesting the need of more studies in order to clarify this point.

Keywords: β2-agonist; anticholinergic drugs; bronchoscopy; endobronchial; pre-medication

Submitted Dec 07, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 06, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.142 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.03.142

Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial fine needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) is a relatively novel, minimally invasive methodology to sample peribronchial masses with real-time guidance (1,2), widely used all over the world. The most common indications for EBUS are the staging of the mediastinum for suspected non-small cell lung cancer and the diagnosis of unexplained mediastinal lymphadenopathy. Usually EBUS is well tolerated, with very few major contraindications; guidelines suggest that patients who experienced myocardial infarction should wait 6 weeks before the procedure, which is however contraindicated when myocardial ischemia, arrhythmias, severe hypoxemia at rest, coagulation or platelet function disorders are present (1).

EBUS-TBNA is less available and more expensive than rigid bronchoscopy (RB) which remains the best choice for extraction of airway foreign bodies, when a flexible scope is not suited or in case of large biopsies. However, the diagnostic power of RB in terms of lung cancer staging or evaluation of peripheral pulmonary lesions is lower compared to EBUS-TBNA (3) in the general population and speculatively in COPD patients. EBUS is generally considered safe (1,4), however, whether performed with anaesthesia or only light sedation, pre-procedural medications are routinely administered and may have side effects. Diagnostic sampling may lead to immediate, although rare, complications, such as intrabronchial bleeding, bronchospasm, hypoxemia, hemodynamic variations and pneumothorax (1,5,6).

We know from the literature that significant fall in Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second (FEV₁), and forced vital capacity (FVC) occurs after endoscopic procedure, during both routine bronchoscopy and procedures, which include bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) and biopsy (6). This impairment of the lung function reflects the gas exchange efficiency, with a reduction of the PaO₂ (7). These events were found in the entire population, both healthy and patients suffering from chronic respiratory disease. Severity of asthma, baseline FEV₁ or initial PaO₂ did not predict the degree of hypoxemia or the fall of FEV₁. It is intuitive that these effects are greater in people affected by respiratory airways disease and correlated with the duration of the procedure (7).

Similar data were also found in the pediatric population showing alveolar hypoventilation during flexible bronchoscopy particularly in cases requiring large amounts of sedation and in patients susceptible to complications from respiratory acidosis (8).

Patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) can experience flexible bronchoscopy for different reasons. Cigarette smoking, recognized as the major cause of COPD, is also a major risk factor for malignancy, therefore patients with COPD have a higher incidence of carcinoma of the lung, and endoscopic evaluations can lead to earlier diagnosis. However, the authors did not report indication to cope with COPD patients who have low FEV₁ and no limit is reported.

Historically, the attention on pre-medication for patients undergoing bronchoscopy was focused on asthmatic patients, because of higher grade of bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR). Different kinds of bronchodilator agents were tested, such as a combination of β 2-short acting and anticholinergic drugs, administered either topically and systemically (8-11). Therefore, the administration of nebulized bronchodilators has been requested before flexible bronchoscopy in asthmatic patients (12). While some indications are given for asthma, there are no clear results supporting the utility of giving bronchodilators before bronchoscopy in COPD patients. No mention about pre-medication with bronchodilators can be found both in the British Thoracic Society guidelines on diagnostic flexible bronchoscopy (12) and in CHEST guideline for EBUS-TBNA (1).

Bronchoscopic procedures are considered rather safe in COPD patients compared to asthmatics with high BHR. There are only few studies that investigate the preoperative use of bronchodilators on COPD population and not conclusive.

A recent study by Georgiou and colleagues showed that, among a cohort of 92 patients with advanced COPD undergoing EBUS for the evaluation of peripheral pulmonary lesion, 10.6% of them experienced acute respiratory failure (13).

Hattotuwa et al. performed endobronchial biopsy and BAL in patients with mild, moderate and severe COPD with 44.5% as mean FEV₁, without exacerbation of disease and with suspension of inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) for at least 8 week before the bioptic procedure. Symptoms were treated with salbutamol and/or ipratropium bromide; 2.5 mg of salbutamol were administered to all subjects with the exception of patients with mild disease. Prolonged coughing and transient decreases of oxygen saturations (lowest 88%) occurred in the enrolled patients during BAL, treated successfully with supplemental oxygen. Low incidence of adverse events needing hospital treatment (2%) and low incidence of hemoptysis which resolved spontaneously (3%), were reported in the study, concluding that fiberoptic bronchoscopy, endobronchial biopsies, and BAL can be carried out in selected patients with COPD with a low incidence of adverse events (14).

Stolz and colleagues presented the results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to evaluate the protective effect of salbutamol in COPD patients who experienced bronchoscopy, and they found that the decrease in FEV₁ was similar in salbutamol and placebo arms (15). In this study, the combination of an opiate with a benzodiazepine used for sedation did not cause excessive oxygen desaturation, suggesting that this drug combination could be a reliable choice to sedate these subjects. Furthermore, salbutamol added prior the procedure, represented, in a subgroup of patients, an addition to the maximum combination therapy of two bronchodilators, one long-acting $\beta 2$ agonist plus one anticholinergic drug, and/or ICS.

No evaluations can be drawn on the protective effect of ICS in reducing bronchial hyperreactivity in these patients before bronchoscopy. Another study, by Inoue and colleagues, investigated the effect of two anticholinergic agents, intramuscular atropine and inhaled ipratropium bromide, on bronchoconstriction in 29 patients who

were undergoing diagnostic bronchoscopy. In both the placebo and the atropine group, the lidocaine used as local anaesthesia produced a significant fall of FEV_1 and peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR), whereas in the subjects treated with ipratropium bromide, no significant FEV_1 and PEFR fall was reported after local anaesthesia. Moreover, the bronchoscopic procedure determined significant decreases in FEV_1 and PEFR, but with lesser variations than those reported in the placebo and atropine treated patients, suggesting that an inhaled anticholinergic drug, unlike atropine, might protect patients towards excessive bronchoconstriction during bronchoscopy (16).

In this uncertain scenario, the proper management of COPD patient seems to be the only clear cornerstone.

As showed above, the impairment of lung function and respiratory gas exchange is expected during endoscopic procedures, both routine bronchoscopy and EBUS. There is no clear evidence regarding the utility of short-acting bronchodilators in COPD patients' prior bronchoscopy. It becomes even more important to optimize the maintenance therapy of these subjects, in order to prevent, as much as possible, the drop of lung function parameters and, consequently, the risk of hypoxemia. This concept might be fundamental in COPD with high BHR, who might have more side effects during procedures (17). BHR can cause increase in cough and dyspnea and more severe BHR in COPD is associated with a higher degree of airway obstruction as reflected by lower FEV₁ and FEV₁/FVC values (18).

In the past years, some studies provided evidence that the decline in post-bronchodilator FEV_1 can be reduced by long-term ICS treatment (19-21). Another study showed a deterioration of FEV_1 , after steroid withdrawal in COPD population (22). In this subset of patients, long-term ICS treatment should be recommended in order to reduce BHR before EBUS procedure.

The proper long-acting bronchodilator must be chosen considering symptoms and exacerbation risk of the patient (23). We know from literature that COPD bronchodilator responsiveness is a continuous variable and classifying patients as "responders" and "non-responders" can be misleading because it changes over time (24). Recently, some studies were conducted trying to evaluate if individual's reversibility could predict the future response to a combination of bronchodilators (25,26). Both short-acting and long-acting medications were tested. These studies showed that the overall extent of clinical benefit obtained with an association of two bronchodilators is related to the response to the single compound. Post-hoc pooled analyses of the same data by Donohue and colleagues showed

of the same data by Donohue and colleagues showed that the benefits of dual long-acting bronchodilators (umeclidinium/vilanterol) versus single drug were more than additive in subjects who did not respond to both umeclidinium and vilanterol, and additive in responders to only one bronchodilator.

In contrast, umeclidinium/vilanterol had a lower than additive effect in dual responders (26). These results could be the basis for future studies on bronchodilation before EBUS in COPD patients.

The goal should be reaching the highest lung performance that a patient could achieve in order to minimize any possible risk of bronchospasm or lung function impairment during the invasive procedure.

In conclusion, the use of bronchodilators in COPD subjects before EBUS is recommended in order to reduce or minimize the bronchoconstriction due to this procedure, but the type of bronchodilator to be used needs to be more investigated.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Wahidi MM, Herth F, Yasufuku K, et al. Technical aspects of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: CHEST guideline and expert panel report. Chest 2016;149:816-35.
- Aziz F. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for staging of lung cancer: a concise review. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2012;1:208-13.
- Paradis TJ, Dixon J, Tieu BH. The role of bronchoscopy in the diagnosis of airway disease. J Thorac Dis 2016;8:3826-37.
- Varela-Lema L, Fernández-Villar A, Ruano-Ravina A. Effectiveness and safety of endobronchial ultrasoundtransbronchial needle aspiration: a systematic review. Eur Respir J 2009;33:1156-64.
- 5. Leiten EO, Martinsen EM, Bakke PS, et al. Complications and discomfort of bronchoscopy: a systematic review. Eur

Leoni et al. Bronchodilation in COPD subjects before EBUS

44

Clin Respir J 2016;3:33324.

- Facciolongo N, Patelli M, Gasparini S, et al. Incidence of complications in bronchoscopy. Multicentre prospective study of 20,986 bronchoscopies. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2009;71:8-14.
- Spanevello A, Migliori GB, Satta A, et al. Bronchoalveolar lavage causes decrease in PaO2, increase in (A-α) gradient value and bronchoconstriction in asthmatics. Respir Med 1998;92:191-7.
- Sadot E, Gut G and Sivan Y. Alveolar ventilation in children during flexible bronchoscopy. Pediatr Pulmonol 2016;51:1177-82.
- Djukanović R, Wilson JW, Lai CK, et al. The safety aspects of fiberoptic bronchoscopy, bronchoalveolar lavage, and endobronchial biopsy in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991;143:772-7.
- Rankin JA, Snyder PE, Schachter EN, et al. Bronchoalveolar lavage: its safety in subjects with mild asthma. Chest 1984;85:723-8.
- Jarjour NN, Peters SP, Djukanović R, et al. Investigative use of bronchoscopy in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;157:692-7.
- Bush A, Blaikley J, Booton R, et al. British Thoracic Society guideline for diagnostic flexible bronchoscopy in adults. Thorax 2013;68:1-44.
- Georgiou HD, Taverner J, Irving LB, et al. Safety and Efficacy of Radial EBUS for the Investigation of Peripheral Pulmonary Lesions in Patients With Advanced COPD. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2016;23:192-8.
- 14. Hattotuwa K, Gamble EA, O'Shaughnessy T, et al. Safety of bronchoscopy, biopsy, and BAL in research patients with COPD. Chest 2002;122:1909-12.
- Stolz D, Pollak V, Prashant N, et al. Placebo-Controlled Trial of Bronchodilators for Bronchoscopy in Patients With COPD. Chest 2007;131:765-72.
- Inoue H, Aizawa H, Takata S, et al. Ipratropium bromide protects against bronchoconstriction during bronchoscopy. Lung 1994;172:293-8.
- 17. Tashkin DP, Altose MD, Bleecker ER, et al. The lung health study: airway responsiveness to inhaled

Cite this article as: Leoni V, Pignatti P, Visca D, Spanevello A. Is bronchodilator the correct treatment for COPD subjects before EBUS? J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 5):S410-S413. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.142

methacholine in smokers with mild to moderate airflow limitation. The Lung Health Study Research Group. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992;145:301-10.

- van den Berge M, Vonk JM, Gosman M, et al. Clinical and inflammatory determinants of bronchial hyperresponsiveness in COPD. Eur Respir J 2012;40:1098-105.
- Celli BR, Thomas NE, Anderson JA, et al. Effect of pharmacotherapy on rate of decline of lung function in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: results from the TORCH study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2008;178:332-8.
- Lapperre TS, Snoeck-Stroband JB, Gosman MM, et al. Effect of fluticasone with and without salmeterol on pulmonary outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2009;151:517-27.
- Rennard SI, Tashkin DP, McElhattan J, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of budesonide/formoterol in one hydrofluoroalkane pressurized metered-dose inhaler in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: results from a 1-year randomized controlled clinical trial. Drugs 2009; 69:549-65.
- 22. Magnussen H, Disse B, Rodriguez-Roisin R, et al. Withdrawal of inhaled glucocorticoids and exacerbations of COPD. N Engl J Med 2014;371:1285-94.
- 23. Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD, Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD). Available online: http://goldcopd.org/
- Calverley PM, Burge PS, Spencer S, et al. Bronchodilator reversibility testing in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 2003;58:659-64.
- Pascoe S, Wu W, Zhu CQ, et al. Bronchodilator reversibility in patients with COPD revisited: shortterm reproducibility. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2016;11:2035-40.
- Donohue JF, Singh D, Munzu C, et al. Magnitude of umeclidinium/vilanterol lung function effect depends on monotherapy responses: Results from two randomised controlled trials. Respiratory Medicine 2016;112:65-74.

Conventional transbronchial needle aspiration in community practice

Elif Küpeli

Pulmonary Diseases Department, School of Medicine, Başkent University, Bahcelievler 06490, Ankara, Turkey *Correspondence to:* Elif Küpeli, MD, Assoc. Prof, FCCP. Pulmonary Diseases Department, School of Medicine, Başkent University, 5. sokak, No.48, Bahcelievler 06490, Ankara, Turkey. Email: elifkupeli@yahoo.com.

Abstract: Conventional transbronchial needle aspiration (C-TBNA) provides an opportunity to diagnose mediastinal lesions and stage bronchogenic carcinoma in a minimally invasive fashion. The procedure is easy to learn and requires zero upfront cost. Any community pulmonologist can acquire and maintain the skills of C-TBNA without undergoing formal interventional pulmonary fellowship training. Besides being used for the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer, C-TBNA can be used in patients suspected to have benign conditions such as sarcoidosis and tuberculosis. It also contributes in improving the diagnostic yield of flexible bronchoscopy while dealing with endobronchial, submucosal, peribronchial, or peripheral lesions. C-TBNA may be the only diagnostic modality that can be performed in patients in whom mediastinoscopy is contraindicated due to a bleeding diathesis. The procedure is safe and has great potential to augment the welfare of patients with pulmonary ailments. The learning curve of the procedure is short and steep. Every community pulmonologist should be able to perform C-TBNA.

Keywords: Transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA); community practice; diagnostic bronchoscopy

Submitted Sep 16, 2015. Accepted for publication Nov 09, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.54 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.54

Introduction

Transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA) of the mediastinal lymph nodes was first ever performed by Eduardo Schipetti in 1949; the procedure was indeed performed using rigid instruments. In 1981, Wang *et al.* reported its application via flexible bronchoscope commencing a new era in the field of bronchology (1-6). Since then, the utility of TBNA has extended beyond the mediastinal lymphadenopathy and includes endobronchial as well as peripheral lung lesions and sub-mucosal as well as peribronchial processes (7-14).

The procedure of TBNA can be performed using either the anatomical information provided by the roentgenographic studies or an ultrasonic guidance. The former method is referred as conventional TBNA (C-TBNA) while the latter as endobronchial ultrasound guided TBNA (EBUS-TBNA). A linear probe ultrasound is commonly used to perform the TBNA in a real time fashion. Since the introduction of the EBUS-TBNA in 2003 (15), the role of C-TBNA has been under scrutiny. EBUS- TBNA certainly provides higher diagnostic yield, especially while dealing with the smaller lymph nodes located in the difficult locations such left paratracheal area, yet the procedure has its own limitation. Monetary resources and opportunities to acquire skills at this technique are almost non-existent in the developing world (16). In this context, C-TBNA continues to play a major role in improving the diagnostic yield of flexible bronchoscopy (FB). The procedure is easy to learn and requires zero upfront cost. Any community pulmonologist can acquire and maintain the skills of C-TBNA without undergoing formal interventional pulmonary fellowship training. The following chapter deals with the role of C-TBNA in a community practice.

Acquiring skills of C-TBNA

In my personal opinion and experience, it is very easy to acquire skills of C-TBNA (17). To begin with, however, every pulmonary fellowship training should offer training in C-TBNA. However, if one has missed this opportunity there are several avenues to explore. One can be introduced to C-TBNA at any of the hands-on courses being offered throughout the year at various national and international meetings. One can gather preliminary knowledge related to the indications, anatomical landmarks, role of roentgenography, the instrument, the technique, avoidance of the false positive results, handling of the specimen, required team work and complications of the procedure. Such courses also offer practicing C-TBNA on inanimate objects or even animal models.

Selection of the training program depends upon its reputation, faculty and hours of hands-on sessions. Courses with limited number of attendees allow more opportunity for the one on one discussion with the faculty. Use of animal objects also provides feeling close to performing a real procedure. Some programs also provide training on human cadavers. Live demonstrations are also very useful although such practices are becoming infrequent. Reading material and literature provided at such courses is extremely useful as the pulmonologist starts embarking on the procedure. Several manufacturing companies provide digital videos on C-TBNA which are very useful in studying minor details related to the procedure. Visiting a center of excellence where large number of such procedures are performed might add to the confidence of performing the first procedure. There are certain bronchoscopy centers around the world which may allow real hands on experience to qualified individuals at a cost. If there is a possibility of a preceptor ship from a senior or more experienced colleague in one's own institution that could be an invaluable resource.

In other words, C-TBNA can be learned "by the books"; post-graduate courses, workshops or hands-on courses (17). Even in the era of endobronchial and the esophageal ultrasounds (EUS), acquiring skills to perform C-TBNA is essential.

Setting up the C-TBNA program

Before commencing the C-TBNA program, there are several steps that are crucial. It is mandatory to identify a trained bronchoscopy assistant for the program. He/she should be a fully cognizant of the entire bronchoscopy procedure, cleaning, disinfection and storage of the bronchoscope, types of the needles, specimen preparation and processing. It was very well said by someone that when it comes to bronchoscopy, "you are only as good as your assistant".

© AME Publishing Company. All rights reserved.

Küpeli. C-TBNA in community practice

Before sending any specimen to the laboratory, a formal meeting with the cytopathologist is essential. This dialogue should include establishing type of preservative to be used, smear techniques, special solutions required for bacterial cultures and lymphoma studies. If there is a possibility, rapid on-site cytological examination (ROSE), that should be certainly explored.

Close collaboration with the thoracic surgeon as well as the radiologist is essential for the success of the program. This would help identify patients who would be best benefitted by the C-TBNA and reduce the need for invasive procedures including cervical mediastinoscopy. It is essential to have a computed tomography (CT) of the chest prior to all elective bronchoscopy procedures. Routinely reviewing the CT scan of the chest of every individual undergoing the procedure with the radiologist, for the accurate location of the lymphnode certainly facilitates the procedure. Such discussions help create a mental image of the aspiration site before entering the bronchoscopy suite.

In these eras of multidisciplinary approach, routine tumor board meetings to discuss the outcomes of individual patients shall increase the academic value of the program.

Rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) in community practice of TBNA

ROSE of transbronchial aspirates by a cytopathologist present in the bronchoscopy suit reduces the incidence of inadequate specimens and improves C-TBNA yield in observational studies (18,19). There are several plausible reasons why ROSE can improve the yield of TBNA. Firstly, negative or uncertain findings on ROSE can be addressed immediately with repeated aspirations of the same site with a slightly modified technique. This feedback-guided strategy leads to a variable number of aspirates and is indisputably better than sampling an arbitrary number of aspirates of uncertain quality (19). Secondly, the often minute TBNA samples are handled and processed in the best possible way with ROSE, which is an often overlooked but important factor for good TBNA yield (20). Thirdly, the availability of ROSE leads to a more frequent use of C-TBNA and hence practical expertise, which is likely to improve the performance of both bronchoscopists and cytopathologists (21). Furthermore, ROSE encourages the use of TBNA not only for formal staging but also for submucosal, exophytic and peripheral lesions, which are known to have a good yield with C-TBNA (10). ROSE provides the opportunity to stop sampling when the diagnostic objective has been met.

Table 1 Indications for conventional transbronchial needle aspiration

Mediastinal and/or hilar lymphadenopathy
Staging of lung cancer or suspect of lung cancer: mainly to prove unresectability
Sarcoidosis, lymphoma, PTLD
Extrinsic compression of the airway by a peribronchial lesion or a lymphadenopathy
Submucosal disease
Peripheral nodules or masses: negative bronchus sign (Tsuboi type IV)
Endobronchial tumors (necrotic or hemorrhagic tumors)
Diagnosis/drainage of mediastinal cysts or abscesses
PTLD, post transplant lymphoproliferative disorder.

Although some trials showed an increase of diagnostic yield ranging from 25% to 46% when ROSE was used along with C-TBNA (18,20), a randomized trial showed no significant difference between the TBNA group and the ROSE group in terms of diagnostic yield (22). It has been shown that the reduced number of samples sent for pathology and microbiology tests as well as the reduced use of consumables that was possible in the ROSE group likely helped abate the costs of bronchoscopy and compensate for the costs of the cytopathology service (23,24).

It is indeed challenging to carry out ROSE in the community practice as expertise of an expert cytopathologist may not be readily available. However such limitation can be overcome by pulmonologist training him/herself in the interpretation of the cytology specimen. In an elegant study by Bonifazi *et al.*, a good concordance was found between the cytopathologist and an adequately trained pulmonologist while dealing with specimens positive with malignant cells (25,26).

Indications

C-TBNA provides tissue specimen for either cytologic or a histological examination from beyond the confines of the endobronchial tree. The size of the specimen thus obtained depends upon the gauge of the needle used, 19 *vs.* 22 G.

The indications for TBNA are summarized in the table (*Table 1*). The most common application of TBNA is the diagnosis of mediastinal lymphadenopathy especially in patients suspected to have bronchogenic carcinoma. Conditions such as sarcoidosis, tuberculosis, lymphoma, and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD) (27) presenting in a similar fashion, can also be diagnosed using C-TBNA. In such cases, the procedure is performed in an elective fashion once the abnormality is detected on the

CT scan of the chest. On the other hand, C-TBNA can also be used to sample submucosal as well as peribronchial disease often encountered as an incidental finding during bronchoscopy being performed for other indications. C-TBNA has also been found useful in the diagnosis of peripheral lung lesion especially for those with a negative bronchus sign, often referred as Tsuboi type IV lesion (Figure 1). Occasionally C-TBNA is also performed to sample exophytic lesion when excessive bleeding is feared with endobronchial biopsy (EBBx). In experts' opinion C-TBNA produces much less bleeding than EBBx while dealing with highly vascular lesions. Incidentally, superior vena cava syndrome is not a contraindication to performing TBNA. Similarly C-TBNA is performed in cases of necrotic endobronchial lesion where EBBx is likely to be false negative. In such cases C-TBNA is used to obtain tissue from the core of the lesion, to avoid false negativity (28-30).

It needs to be mentioned here that C-TBNA is much less sensitive than EBUS-TBNA while performing mediastinal staging for suspected or known bronchogenic carcinoma. Systemic staging of lung cancer (medical mediastinoscopy) is best performed using EBUS-TBNA under general anesthesia, preferably using ROSE by an interventional pulmonologist. C-TBNA could certainly be used to sample large (>15 mm) mediastinal LN preferably to establish unresectable nature of bronchogenic carcinoma.

Results

Diagnosis specific

Staging of non small cell bronchogenic carcinoma

Accurate staging of lung cancer with preoperative detection of mediastinal spread is critical to planning optimal treatment, including resection with curative intent. Lymph node enlargement on CT scan or uptake



Figure 1 Tsuboi classification of pulmonary nodule based on anatomical relationship with the adjacent bronchus. C-TBNA increases the diagnostic yield of flexible bronchoscopy while dealing with type III and IV lesions. C-TBNA, conventional transbronchial needle aspiration.

of fluorodeoxyglucose on positron emission tomography (PET) does not constitute proof of malignant spread. A 2013 meta-analysis reported sensitivity for CT and PET scan of 55% and 77%, respectively (31). In a community practice, the use of C-TBNA in staging lung cancer is rare as EBUS-TBNA is superior to C-TBNA and has become the preferred first-step procedure (30,32-34).

The yield of C-TBNA in the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer has been reported between 20% and 80% in the literature (14,35,36). A single meta-analysis found sensitivity and specificity of C-TBNA for the diagnosis of non-small cell lung cancer to be 39% and 99%, respectively (33). Carinal involvement, subcarinal lymph node size greater than 1.5 cm and suspected small cell carcinoma are the factors that increase the sensitivity of C-TBNA (21,37). The diagnostic yield of C-TBNA on small cell lung cancer was reported as high as 89% in the literature (38). It needs to be pointed out here that the sensitivity of C-TBNA depends upon the prevalence of the disease in the cohort being studied (39).

Sarcoidosis

The availability of the 19 G histology needle has expanded the indications for C-TBNA in sarcoidosis; as it is a less invasive, safer, and more economical alternative than mediastinoscopy (*Figure 2*). Several reports have confirmed the diagnostic value of TBNA for the biopsy of mediastinal lymph nodes in patients with suspected sarcoidosis (40-44). A study involving 258 patients with suspected sarcoidosis found the diagnostic yield of bronchoscopy increased from



Figure 2 Diagnosis of sarcoidosis established by 19 G C-TBNA needle in our community practice. Note a large granuloma consisting of epithelioid histiocytes, few multinucleated giant cells, and lymphocytes (HE, 200x). C-TBNA, conventional transbronchial needle aspiration.

66% to 78% percent when C-TBNA was added to the transbronchial biopsy (TBBx) (45). A recent randomized multicenter study of 304 patients with suspected stage I/II sarcoidosis (GRANULOMA) reported that compared to transbronchial biopsy, TBNA of mediastinal nodes by endobronchial ultrasound or EUS resulted in a higher diagnostic yield of 80% vs. 53% (43). However, the study should be interpreted with caution given that not all patients with stage I sarcoidosis need histologic diagnosis and not all interventional bronchoscopists are proficient in both procedures. Gupta *et al.* have shown that, EBUS-TBNA has the highest diagnostic yield of C-TBNA plus EBBx and TBBx is similar to EBUS-TBNA plus TBBx (44).

Lymphoma

The clinical utility of C-TBNA in the diagnosis of lymphoma has been limited, since this usually requires larger samples of tissue than are normally obtained by the 22 G needle. However, the availability of the 19 G histology needle, along with the use of flowcytometry to enhance diagnostic yield, may change this assumption (46). The diagnosis of lymphoma, using both cytology and histology needles, has been reported anecdotally, although the overall yield of the procedure in this setting cannot be stated with certainty (27).

Infections

In the literature, a number of anecdotal reports of infections

diagnosed via C-TBNA have appeared. C-TBNA can establish the diagnosis of histoplasmosis, pneumocystis jirovecii pneumonia, and cryptococcal infection in patients with AIDS (47). In addition, the diagnosis of mediastinal mycobacterial adenitis (due to either mycobacterium tuberculosis or M. avium-intracellulare) has been described in immunocompetent, as well as immunocompromised patients (48-51). Harkin et al. demonstrated the usefulness of C-TBNA in HIV patients. Forty-one HIV(+) patients with mediastinal lymphadenopathy underwent 44 TBNA procedures. Of 23 procedures performed on patients shown to have mycobacterial disease, aspirations showed smear positive for AFB in 11 (48%), 14 (61%) specimens grew mycobacteria in cultured material, and caseous necrosis or necrotizing granulomatous lesions were seen in 15 (65%). In 48% and 68% of the patients TBNA was an exclusive diagnostic for mycobacterial disease in two different studies (52,53).

Miscellaneous

C-TBNA of submucosal area proximal to an endobronchial tumor to detect local spread may help predict the line of surgical resection in patients with non-small-cell carcinoma (54). C-TBNA has also successfully identified leiomyoma of the esophagus (47), metastatic uterine rhabdomyosarcoma (55), sclerosing hemangioma (56), malignant mesothelioma (57), carcinoid tumors (58) and malignant melanoma (59). Mediastinal cysts have also been diagnosed and therapeutically aspirated using the transbronchial route using TBNA needles (60-62). One report described a patient with a right paratracheal mass on CT scan that was suspicious for malignancy; TBNA revealed serosanguineous fluid suggestive of a sterile abscess, and there was no recurrence on later scans following the aspiration (63). Decompression of a subcarinal cyst using TBNA permitted safe anesthesia and subsequent resection of the cyst in another report (64).

Lesion specific

Peripheral nodules or masses

C-TBNA of the peripheral nodules and masses using the 22 G cytology needle has emerged as an extremely useful diagnostic technique. C-TBNA is particularly useful for increasing the diagnostic yield of FB for lesions in which it is not accessible by the common accessories due to the local anatomy and/or its relationship with the adjacent bronchus. Tsuboi type III and IV lesions with negative bronchus sign

afford most exclusivity to C-TBNA. A 2013 meta-analysis revealed that the yield of C-TBNA is higher (sensitivity 63%) in peripheral lesions than from either TBBx alone or a combination of TBBx, brushing, and lavage procedures (65). Lesion characteristics predicting the best diagnostic yields are lesions greater than 2 cm in diameter (80% versus 33% to 58%), concurrent mediastinal disease (89% versus 46%), and the lesion being a hematogenous metastasis. The yield from a combination of C-TBNA plus forceps biopsy may be as high as 75%. Although the yield is lower than transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA), there is a lower risk of pneumothorax (66).

Peribronchial and submucosal disease

The diagnostic yield of conventional procedures such as forceps biopsy and brushing tends to be much lower for submucosal and peribronchial diseases than for the exophytic lesions. Such lesions are often covered by normal epithelium, causing suboptimal sampling. Submucosal infiltration by tumor may make tissues firmer, causing the forceps to slide off the lesion and peribronchial lesions are inaccessible to the biopsy forceps by virtue of being located outside the airway. Under such circumstances, C-TBNA to obtain submucosal or peribronchial samples could increase diagnostic yield of FB (9,10,14). In a study involving 31 patients with submucosal and peribronchial disease, it was found that the sensitivity of biopsies obtained by forceps, C-TBNA, a combination of both forceps and TBNA, and a combination of forceps biopsy, bronchial brushing and washing, and C-TBNA was 55%, 71%, 89%, and 97%, respectively (9). Thus, C-TBNA can significantly increase the diagnostic yield of FB while dealing with peribronchial and submucosal diseases.

Exophytic lesion

Due to the high yield of forceps biopsy for diagnosing endobronchial lesions (67-100%) suspicious for lung cancer, role of TBNA may be limited (67). However, as discussed earlier, TBNA has been found exclusively diagnostic while dealing with necrotic or hemorrhagic exophytic lesions (21,68). Overall, reported diagnostic yield of C-TBNA for central lesions suspected to be bronchogenic carcinoma is between 70-96% (10,11,58,67,69).

Complications

Complications of TBNA are uncommon if appropriate precautions are taken and the proper technique is employed.



Figure 3 Learning curve of C-TBNA in a community practice. Note the sensitivity (A) and accuracy (B) plateau around 60 procedures. C-TBNA, conventional transbronchial needle aspiration.

A coagulation profile is not needed prior to TBNA in the absence of a history of a bleeding diathesis (70). Although a variety of complications related to TBNA have been reported, damage to the working channel of the bronchoscope is by far the most important. This complication is more common when a 19 G needle is used, and great care needs to be taken while manipulating the apparatus through the bronchoscope (71). The incidence of fever and bacteremia has been debated, and no firm recommendations can be made regarding antibiotic prophylaxis (72). Transient bacteremia six hours after the procedure with prompt defervescence after antibiotic therapy has been reported. There is a single case report of a purulent pericarditis with polymicrobial mouth flora requiring pericardiocentesis and catheter drainage in addition to antibiotics following a C-TBNA of a mediastinal mass (73). There are no reports of significant bleeding following C-TBNA even in a patient receiving anticoagulation therapy (74). Oozing of a minimal amount of blood from the puncture site may be encountered; the source is usually a dilated blood vessel in the tracheobronchial wall rather than invasion of a major mediastinal vascular structure.

Less frequent complications include pneumothorax, pneumomediastinum, hemomediastinum, and mediastinitis (6,75,76). None of these complications are serious or frequent enough for a community pulmonologist to deter from the valuable procedure of C-TBNA.

Local experience and the learning curve

At our facility, the possibility of acquiring tools and training

required for EBUS-TBNA are close to nil. There are also financial limitations related to the disposable accessories and repair and maintenance of the EBUS scope (77). Beside, our patient volume may not allow adequate number of procedures to maintain proficiency with the EBUS-TBNA. Hence, C-TBNA remains the only option in our environment. Incidentally, there are no interventional pulmonology fellowship programs being offered in our country that provide advanced diagnostic skills. Under the circumstances, we were successful in acquiring the skills of C-TBNA by reading the books and without any formal training. We were also able to achieve proficiency with the procedure in about 60 procedures and have been able to improve the diagnostic yield of bronchoscopy (*Figure 3*) (78).

Our overall diagnostic yield of C-TBNA since the beginning of the program has been between 41% and 50% (17,78,79). This yield in the patients with lung cancer was found to be 66-82% and 75% in patient with sarcoidosis Obviously, our yield was higher with lymphnode size greater than 20 mm than otherwise (17, 78, 79). Understanding of the mediastinal anatomy, refinement of the technique and the preparation of the specimen were the major determinants of the learning curve and the current success of our program. For a novice bronchoscopist, it would be my recommendation to start performing C-TBNA in patients with large mediastinal LNs, located in the favorable location such as subcarinal or right paratracheal area and where small cell carcinoma is a suspect. I would also recommend that one performs at least 25 TBNAs using a cytology needle (22 G) before embarking on the use of a histology needle (19 G). The latter may require

added skill and experience for its insertion through the tracheobronchial wall and to avoid damage to the vascular structures (17,78). It does need to be pointed out that in our part of the world, patients seldom present with resectable lung cancer and even patients with benign conditions exhibit bulky lymphnodes where use of C-TBNA is most appropriate.

Conclusions

TBNA provides an opportunity to diagnose mediastinal lesions and stage bronchogenic carcinoma in a minimally invasive fashion. In our opinion, acquiring skills of C-TBNA does not require formal interventional pulmonology training and could be learned from the "books". Proficiency could be attained within 60 procedures and acceptable results could be achieved. There is no upfront cost and the procedure can be performed under moderate sedation and local anesthesia in a cost-effective fashion. If a possibility exists, a bronchoscopist can also train him/herself with interpretation of cytology specimen for ROSE. The procedure is safe and has great potential to augment the welfare of patients with pulmonary ailment. Every community pulmonologist should be able to perform C-TBNA.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Schieppati E. La puncion mediastinal a traves del espolon traqueal. Rev As Med Argent 1949;63:497.
- Brouet G, Paley PY, Marche J, et al. Puncture for cytodiagnosis of peri-tracheo-bronchial isolated adenopathy. J Fr Med Chir Thorac 1953;7:393-8.
- Euler HE, Strauch J, Witte S. Cytodiagnosis of mediastinal tumors. Arch Ohren Nasen Kehlkopfheilkd 1955;167:376-82.
- 4. Schieppati E. Mediastinal lymph node punctures through the tracheal carina. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1958;107:243-6.
- 5. Schiessle W. Transbronchial and transtracheal puncture in

peritracheobronchial adenopathies. J Fr Med Chir Thorac 1962;16:551-69.

- Wang KP, Marsh BR, Summer WR, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration for diagnosis of lung cancer. Chest 1981;80:48-50.
- Wang KP, Terry PB. Transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis and staging of bronchogenic carcinoma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983;127:344-7.
- 8. Shure D, Fedullo PF. Transbronchial needle aspiration of peripheral masses. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983;128:1090-2.
- Shure D, Fedullo PF. Transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of submucosal and peribronchial bronchogenic carcinoma. Chest 1985;88:49-51.
- Dasgupta A, Jain P, Minai OA, et al. Utility of transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of endobronchial lesions. Chest 1999;115:1237-41.
- Hermens FH, Van Engelenburg TC, Visser FJ, et al. Diagnostic yield of transbronchial histology needle aspiration in patients with mediastinal lymph node enlargement. Respiration 2003;70:631-5.
- Sharafkhaneh A, Baaklini W, Gorin AB, et al. Yield of transbronchial needle aspiration in diagnosis of mediastinal lesions. Chest 2003;124:2131-5.
- Khoo KL, Chua GS, Mukhopadhyay A, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration: initial experience in routine diagnostic bronchoscopy. Respir Med 2003;97:1200-4.
- Hsu LH, Liu CC, Ko JS. Education and experience improve the performance of transbronchial needle aspiration: a learning curve at a cancer center. Chest 2004;125:532-40.
- Yasufuku K, Chiyo M, Sekine Y, et al. Real-time endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration of mediastinal and hilar lymph nodes. Chest 2004;126:122-8.
- Wallace MB, Pascual JM, Raimondo M, et al. Minimally invasive endoscopic staging of suspected lung cancer. JAMA 2008;299:540-6.
- Kupeli E, Memis L, Ozdemirel TS, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration "by the books". Ann Thorac Med 2011;6:85-90.
- Diette GB, White P, Terry P, et al. Utility of on-site cytopathology assessment for bronchoscopicevaluation of lung masses and adenopathy. Chest 2000;117:1186-90.
- Chin R, McCain TW, Lucia MA, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration in diagnosing and staging lung cancer: How many aspirates are needed? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:377-81.

- 20. Davenport RD. Rapid on-site evaluation of transbronchial aspirates. Chest 1990;98:59-61.
- 21. Haponik EF, Cappellari JO, Chin R, et al. Education and experience improve transbronchial needle aspiration performance. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995;151:1998-2002.
- 22. Trisolini R, Cancellieri A, Tinelli C, et al. Rapid on-site evaluation of transbronchial aspirates in the diagnosis of hilar and mediastinal adenopathy: a randomized trial. Chest 2011;139:395-401.
- 23. Baram D, Garcia RB, Richman PS. Impact of rapid onsite cytologic evaluation during transbronchial needle aspiration. Chest 2005;128:869-75.
- Diacon AH, Schuurmans MM, Theron J, et al. Utility of rapid on-site evaluation of transbronchial needle aspirates. Respiration 2005;72:182-8.
- 25. Bonifazi M, Sediari M, Ferretti M, et al. The role of the pulmonologist in rapid on-site cytologic evaluation of transbronchial needle aspiration: a prospective study. Chest 2014;145:60-5.
- 26. Mehta AC, Cicenia J. ROSEs Are Read. Chest 2014;145:7-9.
- 27. Ghamande S, Rafanan A, Dweik R, et al. Role of transbronchial needle aspiration in patients receiving mechanical ventilation. Chest 2002;122:985-9.
- Ernst A, Silvestri GA, Johnstone D. American College of Chest Physicians. Interventional pulmonary procedures: Guidelines from the American College of Chest Physicians. Chest 2003;123:1693-717.
- Bolliger CT, Mathur PN, Beamis JF, et al. ERS/ATS statement on interventional pulmonology. European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society. Eur Respir J 2002;19:356-73.
- Steinfort DP, Khor YH, Manser RL, et al. Radial probe endobronchial ultrasound for the diagnosis of peripheral lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Respir J 2011;37:902-10.
- 31. Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.
- 32. Herth F, Becker HD, Ernst A. Conventional vs endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: a randomized trial. Chest 2004;125:322-5.
- Holty JE, Kuschner WG, Gould MK. Accuracy of transbronchial needle aspiration for mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Thorax

2005;60:949-55.

- 34. Navani N, Nankivell M, Lawrence DR, et al. Lung-BOOST trial investigators. Lung cancer diagnosis and staging with endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration compared with conventional approaches: an open-label, pragmatic, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med 2015;3:282-9.
- Schenk DA, Bower JH, Bryan CL, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration staging of bronchogenic carcinoma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986;134:146-8.
- 36. Toloza EM, Harpole L, Detterbeck F, et al. Invasivestaging of non-small cell lung cancer: A review of the currentevidence. Chest 2003;123:157S-166S.
- Harrow E, Halber M, Hardy S, et al. Bronchoscopic and roentgenographic correlates of a positive transbronchial needle aspiration in the staging of lung cancer. Chest 1991;100:1592-6.
- Caglayan B, Akturk UA, Fidan A, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of endobronchial malignant lesions: a 3-year experience. Chest 2005;128:704-8.
- Medford AR, Agrawal S, Free CM, et al. A prospective study of conventional transbronchial needle aspiration: performance and cost utility. Respiration 2010;79:482-9.
- 40. Trisolini R, Lazzari Agli L, Cancellieri A, et al. The value of flexible transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of stage I sarcoidosis. Chest 2003;124:2126-30.
- Bilaçeroğlu S, Perim K, Günel O, et al. Combining transbronchial aspiration with endobronchial and transbronchial biopsy in sarcoidosis. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 1999;54:217-23.
- 42. Morales CF, Patefield AJ, Strollo PJ Jr, et al. Flexible transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of sarcoidosis. Chest 1994;106:709-11.
- 43. von Bartheld MB, Dekkers OM, Szlubowski A, et al. Endosonography vs conventional bronchoscopy for the diagnosis of sarcoidosis: the GRANULOMA randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2013;309:2457-64.
- 44. Gupta D, Dadhwal DS, Agarwal R, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration vs conventional transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of sarcoidosis. Chest 2014;146:547-56.
- Pauli G, Pelletier A, Bohner C, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of sarcoidosis. Chest 1984;85:482-4.
- 46. Ketai L, Chauncey J, Duque R. Combination of flow cytometry and transbronchial needle aspiration in the

diagnosis of mediastinal lymphoma. Chest 1985;88:936.

- 47. Wang KP. Transbronchial needle aspiration to obtain histology specimen. J Bronchol 1994;1:116-22.
- 48. Jain P, Sandur S, Meli Y, et al. Role of flexible bronchoscopy in immunocompromised patients with lung infiltrates. Chest 2004;125:712-22.
- Malabonga VM, Basti J, Kamholz SL. Utility of bronchoscopic sampling techniques for cryptococcal disease in AIDS. Chest 1991;99:370-2.
- Baron KM, Aranda CP. Diagnosis of mediastinal mycobacterial lymphadenopathy by transbronchial needle aspiration. Chest 1991;100:1723-4.
- Calpe JL, Chiner E, Larramendi CH. Endobronchial tuberculosis in HIV-infected patients. AIDS 1995;9:1159-64.
- 52. Harkin TJ, Ciotoli C, Addrizzo-Harris DJ, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA) in patients infected with HIV. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;157:1913-8.
- Bilaçeroğlu S, Günel O, Eriş N, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration in diagnosing intrathoracic tuberculous lymphadenitis. Chest 2004;126:259-67.
- York EL, Jones RL, King EG, et al. The value of submucous needle aspiration in the prediction of surgical resection line of bronchogenic carcinoma. Chest 1991;100:1028-9.
- 55. Goldstein LS, Kavuru MS, Meli Y, et al. Uterine rhabdomyosarcoma metastatic to mediastinal lymph nodes: diagnosis by transbronchial needle aspiration. South Med J 1999;92:84-7.
- Hirano H, Miyagawa Y, Nagata N, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of pulmonary sclerosing haemangioma. Respir Med 1993;87:475-7.
- Selcuk ZT, Hafiz MA, Wang KP. Malignant pleural mesothelioma diagnosed by transbronchial needle biopsy. J Bronchol 1997;4:136-8.
- Conley YD, Cafoncelli AR, Khan JH, et al. Bronchial carcinoid tumor: experience over 20 years. Am Surg 1992;58:670-2.
- 59. Das RK, Dasgupta A, Tewari S, et al. Malignant melanoma of the bronchus. J Bronchol 1998;5:59-60.
- 60. Scatarige JC, Wang KP, Siegelman SS. Transbronchial needle aspiration biopsy of the mediastinum. In: Siegelman SS, editor. Contemporary Issues in Computed Tomography: Computed Tomography of the Chest. New York: Churchill Livingstone, 1984:59.
- Schwartz AR, Fishman EK, Wang KP. Diagnosis and treatment of a bronchogenic cyst using transbronchial needle aspiration. Thorax 1986;41:326-7.

- Schwartz DB, Beals TF, Wimbish KJ, et al. Transbronchial fine needle aspiration of bronchogenic cysts. Chest 1985;88:573-5.
- 63. Wang KP, Nelson S, Scatarige J, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration of a mediastinal mass: therapeutic implications. Thorax 1983;38:556-7.
- McDougall JC, Fromme GA. Transcarinal aspiration of a mediastinal cyst to facilitate anesthetic management. Chest 1990;97:1490-2.
- 65. Rivera MP, Mehta AC, Wahidi MM. Establishing the diagnosis of lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e142S-65S.
- 66. Gasparini S, Ferretti M, Secchi EB, et al. Integration of transbronchial and percutaneous approach in the diagnosis of peripheral pulmonary nodules or masses. Experience with 1,027 consecutive cases. Chest 1995;108:131-7.
- Popovich J Jr, Kvale PA, Eichenhorn MS, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of multiple biopsies from flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopy. A comparison of central versus peripheral carcinoma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1982;125:521-3.
- 68. Cetinkaya E, Yildiz P, Altin S, et al. Diagnostic value of transbronchial needle aspiration by Wang 22-gauge cytology needle in intrathoracic lymphadenopathy. Chest 2004;125:527-31.
- Jones DF, Chin R Jr, Cappellari JO, et al. Endobronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of small-cell carcinoma. Chest 1994;105:1151-4.
- Dasgupta A, Mehta AC. Transbronchial needle aspiration. An underused diagnostic technique. Clin Chest Med 1999;20:39-51.
- Sherling BE. Complication with a transbronchial histology needle. Chest 1990;98:783.
- Witte MC, Opal SM, Gilbert JG, et al. Incidence of fever and bacteremia following transbronchial needle aspiration. Chest 1986;89:85-7.
- 73. Epstein SK, Winslow CJ, Brecher SM, et al. Polymicrobial bacterial pericarditis after transbronchial needle aspiration. Case report with an investigation on the risk of bacterial contamination during fiberoptic bronchoscopy. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992;146:523-5.
- 74. Harrow EM, Oldenburg FA Jr, Lingenfelter MS, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration in clinical practice. A five-year experience. Chest 1989;96:1268-72.
- 75. Kucera RF, Wolfe GK, Perry ME. Hemomediastinum after transbronchial needle aspiration. Chest 1986;90:466.
- 76. Gochi F, Chen F, Aoyama A, et al. Mediastinal infectious

Küpeli. C-TBNA in community practice

complication after endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2013;17:751-2.

77. Stather DR, MacEachern P, Chee A, et al. Evaluation of clinical endobronchial ultrasound skills following clinical versus simulation training. Respirology 2012;17:291-9.

Cite this article as: Küpeli E. Conventional transbronchial needle aspiration in community practice. J Thorac Dis 2015;7(S4):S256-S265. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.54

- Küpeli E, Seyfettin P, Tepeoğlu MD. Conventional transbronchial needle aspiration: From acquisition to precision. Ann Thorac Med 2015;10:50-4.
- Küpeli E, Cörüt R, Memiş L, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration: a tool for a community bronchoscopist. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2012;19:115-20.

Navigational transbronchial needle aspiration, percutaneous needle aspiration and its future

Sixto Arias¹, Lonny Yarmus², A. Christine Argento³

¹University of Miami, Interventional Pulmonology, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine; ²Johns Hopkins University, Interventional Pulmonology, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine; ³Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Interventional Pulmonology, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: None; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: A. Christine Argento, MD. Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Interventional Pulmonology, Northwestern University, 676 North St. Clair Street, 18th floor, suite 250, Chicago, IL 60611, USA. Email: angela.argento@nm.org.

Abstract: Peripheral lung nodule evaluation represents a clinical challenge. Given that many nodules will be incidentally found with lung cancer screening following the publication of the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST), the goal is to find an accurate, safe and minimally-invasive diagnostic modality to biopsy the concerning lesions. Unfortunately, conventional bronchoscopic techniques provide a poor diagnostic yield of 18–62%. In recent years advances in technology have led to the introduction of electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy (ENB) as a tool to guide sampling of peripheral lung nodules. The same principle has also recently been expanded and applied to the transthoracic needle biopsy, referred to as electromagnetic transthoracic needle aspiration (E-TTNA). An improved diagnostic yield has afforded this technology a recommendation by the 2013 3rd Edition ACCP Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Lung Cancer which state that "in patients with peripheral lung lesions difficult to reach with conventional bronchoscopy, ENB is recommended if the equipment and the expertise are available (Grade 1C)". In this review, we will discuss the technology, devices that are available, techniques and protocols, diagnostic yield, safety, cost effectiveness and more.

Keywords: Lung nodule; electromagnetic bronchoscopy; transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA); transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA)

Submitted Jul 17, 2015. Accepted for publication Oct 22, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.16 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.16

Introduction

The increasing use of chest computerized tomography (CT) scans for respiratory disorders and for lung cancer screening in high-risk patients following the results from the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST) has resulted in the evaluation of pulmonary nodules as a common occurrence for many practitioners (1). The annual number of CT scans currently performed in the United States is approximately 85 million (2). From the NLST we know that 27% of patients had a clinically significant nodule found on low dose CT scan

and that screening following their protocol led to a 20% relative risk reduction in lung cancer deaths. However, of the nodules found, more than 90% underwent a diagnostic evaluation proving that 96.4% of those positive screenings were, in actuality, false positives (1). Given the current smoking estimates of the US population and the NLST pulmonary nodule incidence, as many as 1–2 million more suspicious nodules will be discovered annually with lung cancer screening. Lung cancer screening programs are being implemented at many institutions in an attempt to identify, counsel and formulate a plan for evaluation of these
nodules in identified high-risk individuals. Peripheral lung nodule evaluation represents a clinical challenge. Given that the vast majority of these nodules are not malignant, the goal is to find an accurate, safe and minimallyinvasive diagnostic modality. Minimally invasive diagnostic procedures include bronchoscopic interventions and nonbronchoscopic techniques such as transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) or surgical biopsy. Unfortunately, conventional bronchoscopic techniques provide a diagnostic vield of 18-62% when sampling peripheral pulmonary nodules (3). In recent years, advances in technology have led to the introduction of electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy (ENB) as a tool to guide sampling of peripheral lung nodules. The same principle has also recently been expanded and applied to the transthoracic needle biopsy, referred to as electromagnetic transthoracic needle aspiration (E-TTNA). The 2013 3rd Edition ACCP Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Lung Cancer state that "in patients with peripheral lung lesions difficult to reach with conventional bronchoscopy, ENB is recommended if the equipment and the expertise are available (Grade 1C)" (4). In this review, we will highlight the current state of navigational transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA) and percutaneous needle aspiration (PCNA) and speculate on future directions.

Technology

Electromagnetic (EM) tracking for guidance in medical procedures is based on four basic principles (5):

- (I) Creating a magnetic field around the patient;
- (II) Utilizing a sensing device to detect location and orientation within the magnetic field;
- (III) Reformatting data from a CT scan for 3-D reconstruction that will overlap the location and orientation within the magnetic field;
- (IV) Display of a computer interface throughout the procedure to guide the clinician.

In detail, there is a field generator to form a low-strength and varying EM field that will pass through a patient's body. This field then generates current in sensor coils in or on instruments that will be used through the working channel of the bronchoscope in order to determine their x, y and z positions as well as their orientation and rotation around their own axis when the instrument is moved within the EM field. There are several different sensors; the two that are used in medical applications are the 5 and 6 degree-offreedom sensors. The 5 degree-of-freedom sensor measures the x, y and z positions as well as the pointing direction. The 6 degree-of-freedom adds rotation around its own axis (roll, pitch, and yaw movements) (6). Once the capability to track positioning within the airway is achieved, a map is required to guide the proceduralist to the lesion of interest.

CT scans contain a set of 2-dimensional images formed by pixels that are various shades on a grey-scale, based on their density, and this is measured in Hounsfield Units. Based on these density differences, the various structures of the body are easily defined and delineated from one another. As pixels form images to represent a "slice" of the body with a certain thickness, the pixels contain averaged information with depth. Pixels can therefore be used together to form a 3-dimensional cube called a voxel. These voxels can then be reconstructed to highlight various body structures such as the airways, lymphnodes, lungs, vasculature or tumors that can be used to create several visualizations for display and analysis. Once a 3-dimensional CT scan image is created, it can then be segmented, meaning, certain specific structures can be extracted from the CT images. This technique is used to convert digital imaging and communications in medicine standards (DICOM) images from a CT scan into a structural map of the airways. ENB requires a high-definition of the airways and so thin-section, highresolution CT scan images are required with a minimum slice thickness of 1.25 mm.

Putting these items together, commercial systems use a sensor probe on their instruments that picks up the EM field generated by the localization system which is comprised of a processor, amplifier and either a location board or a sensor pad and array. When the sensor is placed within the EM field, its position and orientation are displayed on a monitor with the location superimposed upon previously acquired thin-section high-resolution CT images reconstructed into a 3-dimensional airway map. This image-guided localization device has several uses including bronchoscopic guidance for transbronchial biopsies and needle aspirations, fiducial placement and marking of nodules prior to surgery as well as PCNA.

Equipment

In the United States, there are two EM navigational systems available for clinical use: superDimension (Covidien, Minneapolis, MN, USA, *Figure 1*) and SPiNView (Veran Medical Technologies, St. Louis, MO, USA, *Figure 2*). Both systems are based on the same fundamental concept. A CT scan using a dedicated protocol is obtained for planning



Figure 1 SuperDimension ENB system. ENB, electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy. [Reprinted with permission from Veran Medical Technologies].



Figure 2 Veran ENB system. ENB, electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy. [Reprinted with permission from Veran Medical Technologies].

ENB targets and to overlay the magnetic field to the CT scan and the patient anatomy. The superDimension system (Covidien, Minneapolis, MN, USA) consists of several components. The main processor unit, steerable extended working channel catheter with different tip angulations ranging from 45° to 180° , a locatable guide and the EM board which generates the EM field and lies underneath the patient throughout the procedure. During the pre-procedure planning phase, the target lesion is identified using proprietary software (*Figure 3, Figure 4A*).

The SPiNView system (Veran Medical Technologies, St. Louis, MO, USA) uses a tracking pad that serves as a reference point, providing feedback information for the system to maintain registration despite the change in location of the target lesion due to respiratory variation. Ideally, to maximize accuracy, CT scan images are obtained during inspiration and expiration for the computer algorithm to compensate for the dynamic respiratory changes. As with the superDimension system, SpinDrive requires a pre-procedure planning phase that is performed using proprietary software loaded onto a dedicated laptop (Figure 3). The main piece of equipment is composed of a central unit with a generator that creates the EM field which projects down, over the patient. Another major difference is in the biopsy instruments. They are always-on tip trackable, eliminating the need for an extended working channel, but limiting the directionality. Because the instruments are tip-tracked, the need for fluoroscopy to ensure appropriate positioning is obviated. The biopsy forceps and brushes are 1.8 mm in outer diameter (OD) and histology and cytology needles are available in 19 and 21 gauge (G) respectively (Figure 4B).

TTNA is a non-bronchoscopic diagnostic approach to lung nodules and masses. TTNA of a peripheral lung lesion can be performed under ultrasonography, fluoroscopy or CT guidance.

Recently, the EM navigational technology was incorporated into the traditional TTNA technique creating a novel diagnostic tool and potentially a new paradigm in the evaluation of lung nodules. The SPiNPerc system (Veran Medical Technologies, St. Louis, MO, USA) consists of the same computer unit used with the SPiNView system for ENB, but instead of endobronchial navigation via a trackable bronchoscopic instrument, a 19 G (105 mm length) needle is used for navigation. The needle has two components, a stylet that works as a sensor allowing EM navigation to peripheral pulmonary nodules and the needle itself. Once within the target lesion, the needle works as a

Arias et al. ENB and E-TTNA



Figure 3 Pre-procedural planning and CT-3D reconstruction overlay. CT, computerized tomography.



Figure 4 ENB instruments. (A) Extended working channel and Edge catheters; (B) always-on tip-tracked instruments. ENB, electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy. [Reprinted with permission from Covidien].



Figure 5 Veran SPiNPerc E-TTNA needle. E-TTNA, electromagnetic transthoracic needle aspiration. [Reprinted with permission from Veran Medical Technologies].

working channel through which smaller FNA needles can be passed or core biopsies can be obtained (*Figure 5*) (7). Currently, this approach is only available on the Veran SPiNView System.

Technique/protocol

Planning

Prior to starting the procedure, the digitized information from each patient's CT scan is imported into the EM navigation system where all views (axial, coronal and sagittal) of the chest are reconstructed using a proprietary software that is unique to each system. Virtual endoscopy images of the airway are reconstructed. Consequently, anatomic landmarks (typically major bronchial tree bifurcations) are identified as coordinates on the corresponding CT as well as on the virtual bronchoscopy image.

Registration

The same identifiable landmarks are then used during real-time bronchoscopy in order to better correlate the CT data and reconstruction to the actual anatomy. With the superDimension system, when these points in the airway are reached, either the sensor can be used to physically touch the airway landmark or a foot-pedal can be depressed to identify the areas that were used in the pre-procedural planning. With the SPiNView, the system automatically registers the patient's anatomy without the need for any manual registration.

ENB with superDimension procedural phase starts by placing the patient on a non-metallic bed equipped with anchors for the navigational board. Once connected with the main station, a rectangular EM field is displayed and three sensors are attached to the patient's chest in a triangular distribution. Registration is confirmed and the operator navigates to the target after which the steerable and locatable guide is removed while the extended working channel is left in place to act as a guide sheath and the biopsies are taken using conventional instruments. The SPiNView system has automatic registration, but requires attaching the sensor pads before obtaining the CT images. Once in the procedural room the patient is positioned in a similar fashion used to acquire the CT scan and the bronchoscopic procedure can commence.

Bronchoscopic procedure

The bronchoscopist navigates to the target lesion steering the bronchoscope with the locatable guide/extended working channel or alternatively using tip-tracked instruments. The system will help to navigate the operator into the correct airway using virtual images and reconstructions of the CT scans. Once in proximity to the target lesion, biopsies, needle aspirates and brushings are obtained.

Percutaneous biopsy

The EM navigational needle is also tip-tracked in real time to the target lesion. Pre-procedural planning is performed as described above. The needle trajectory is guided by multiplanar CT scan images and the virtual 3D reconstruction images. Once in the lesion the needle stylet (sensor) is removed. Fine needle aspiration is performed for rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) followed by larger biopsies. Multiple core samples are obtained using a 20 G automatic biopsy needle (*Figure 6*). Specimens are typically placed in formaldehyde for pathological analysis. Post procedure evaluation with chest ultrasonography or conventional chest radiography is advised in order to exclude complications such as pneumothorax.

Diagnostic yield

Multiple factors influence the diagnostic accuracy including location, nodule size, and presence in cross-section of a bronchus leading to the nodule (8). Size has the most studied influence on diagnostic yield and despite some conflicting data, the majority of papers report a sensitivity



Figure 6 E-TTNA procedure. E-TTNA, electromagnetic transthoracic needle aspiration.

that is lower for lesions less than 2 cm in size (9-11). Another factor that was recently reported to decrease diagnostic yield is target movement during the different phases of the respiratory cycle. The dynamic nature of the procedure ideally would require a continuous and strict registration to maximize accuracy and prevent sample errors. Chen et al. reported an average motion of 17.6 mm for lung lesions when comparing scans during inspiration and expiration. Lesions found to be most susceptible were those in the lower lobes. Interestingly, size and distance from the pleura did not significantly affect respiratory-induced movement of pulmonary nodules (12). Moderate sedation vs. general anesthesia selection is an area of much controversy during bronchoscopic procedures. In a recent study no difference was found in diagnostic yield for ENB guided biopsies of peripheral lung nodules though the procedure time was less in the moderate sedation group (13).

ENB is also noted to have a steep learning curve and Lamprecht *et al.* noted an increased diagnostic yield after some procedural experience; with diagnostic yield of 80% and 87.5% for the first 30 and last 30 procedures, respectively (14).

Gex *et al.* performed a systematic review and meta-analysis on diagnostic yield and safety of ENB whereby they reported on six variables associated with higher ENB yields: nodule location in the upper or middle lobes, nodule size, lower registration error, presence of a bronchus sign on CT imaging, combined use of an ultrasonic radial probe and catheter suctioning as a sampling technique (15). Zhang *et al.* in a recent systematic review evaluating ENB showed a pooled sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood ratio, negative likelihood ratio and diagnostic odds ratio of 82%, 100%, 19.36%, 0.23%, and 97.62%, respectively. This group re-confirmed the above six variables associated with improved diagnostic yield for ENB (16).

The use of TTNA is mainly based on location of the lesion, availability of less-invasive modalities and proceduralist expertise. Although the diagnotic yield varies depending on the technology used, Rivera *et al.* reported that the pooled sensitivity of TTNA for the diagnosis of peripheral bronchogenic carcinoma was 0.90 [95% confidence interval (CI), 0.88–0.91] and when separated by imaging modality, 92% (95% CI, 90–94%) and 88% (95% CI, 85–90%) for studies of CT scan-guided and fluoroscopy-guided TTNA, respectively (17). No clinical trials exist at this time to determine the diagnostic yield for E-TTNA.

Safety

One of the major advantages of bronchoscopic navigational biopsies is the safety profile. ENB complications include pneumothorax, bleeding and respiratory failure. In general ENB is a low risk diagnostic modality (16). Gex *et al.* reported a pneumothorax of 3.1% of whom 1.6% of patients required further management with a chest tube drainage (15).

Complications related to TTNA include pneumothorax,

bleeding, hemoptysis, air embolism and infection. In a study by Wiener *et al.* that included 15,865 patients, pneumothorax risk after TTNA was 15% (95% CI, 14–16%) with 7% (95% CI, 6–7.2%) requiring management with a chest tube (18). Parenchymal hemorrhage and hemoptysis have an incidence of 11% and 7%, respectively. These bleeding complications tend to be self-limited and rarely require active intervention or management (19,20). E-TTNA is no different than other transthoracic biopsies with other imaging modalities and therefore the complication rate is presumed to be similar, with recent studies pending publication.

Combining modalities

ENB and EBUS

Traditional TBNA and EBUS-TBNA have both been shown to be effective in the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer (21-23). Recent technologies like ENB and radial EBUS have been successfully introduced to the diagnostic armamentarium of peripheral lung nodules. The clinical utility of the combination of different diagnostic techniques have been evaluated by different groups. Utilization of the radial EBUS in combination to ENB provides a real-time verification of the target, theoretically reducing the possibility of sample error. Eberhardt et al. reported a diagnostic vield of 88% for the combined procedure versus 69% and 59% for radial EBUS and ENB alone respectively (24). Other hybrid methods include virtual bronchoscopy and radial EBUS. The clinical benefit of this combination has been documented (25). ENB was conceived with the intention to localize and sample lesions that are difficult to access by conventional bronchoscopic techniques. Chee et al. demonstrated that ENB improves localization rates after unsuccessful attempts with radial EBUS (93% vs. 73%), however diagnostic yield for radial EBUS alone and radial EBUS with ENB were 43% and 50%, respectively (26). Development of instruments that allow ENB with real time EBUS and biopsy capabilities could dramatically contribute to the evaluation of peripheral pulmonary nodules.

ENB and EBUS and E-TTNA

Combination of EBUS-TBNA, ENB and E-TTNA provides a comprehensive, minimally-invasive approach to the diagnosis and staging of peripheral pulmonary lesions. This complement of a bronchoscopic with a non-bronchoscopic biopsy technique consolidates multiple procedures that can be performed in a single setting. A potential algorithm to maximize outcomes would include multiple modalities and ROSE. The procedure would start with convex-probe EBUS mediastinal staging, followed by ENB and biopsy of the peripheral pulmonary lesion which can be confirmed with radial EBUS, followed by E-TTNA of the peripheral nodule if a diagnosis is not confirmed using the bronchoscopic techniques with ROSE. The advantages of this approach may be an increase in overall diagnostic vield as well as a cost-effective approach to the diagnosis of lung nodules in high-risk patients for malignancy. The patient has fewer hospital encounters, more efficient time to diagnosis, less anesthesia and lower cost. Preliminary reports from a recent study by Yarmus et al. showed a diagnostic yield higher than 80% for peripheral lesions ranging in size from 12-29 mm. Before widespread use of this suggested protocol, further clinical studies are required.

Other uses

Guidance for lymph node biopsy

A less common use of EM bronchoscopy is guidance to sample mediastinal and hilar lymph nodes as an alternative to EBUS. The planning and registration is performed as described above, with one of the lymph nodes marked as a target. In this way, the location and distance to the lymph node are determined in real time using EM guidance. The site for transtracheal or transbronchial puncture is then marked by creating an indentation of the airway mucosa with the sensor probe at the desired location. Following marking, standard instruments can be utilized to perform traditional TBNA (27). In a recent study by Diken et al., they reported a diagnostic yield for ENB-TBNA of 72.8% in nodes with a mean size of 17.56±6.25 mm in a cohort of 94 patients with 145 lymph nodes biopsied as compared to 42.2% using conventional TBNA (28). Another study by Gildea et al. evaluated diagnostic yield and safety with ENB to sample peripheral lesions (n=54) and lymph nodes (n=31). With respect to lymphadenopathy, their diagnostic yield was 100% for nodes with a mean size of 28.13 (range, 11–72) mm and there were no complications noted with lymph node sampling (29).

Dye marking prior to surgery

Several techniques exist to localize pulmonary nodules for

operative excision and they typically require a percutaneous approach to place pleural markers, coils, hook wires or radioactive markers but these procedures, unfortunately, have a high rate of pneumothorax. The premise for use of ENB for localization is that after the lesion is located during navigation and methylene blue is injected near the lesion. The surgeon resects the marked area during the same operative and anesthesia time, and intraoperative frozen sectioning confirms successful resection. This approach greatly aids lung preservation, length of procedural, anesthesia and operating room times, limits cost and makes the work-up and management for a pulmonary nodule efficient for the patient, all while minimizing morbidity (30). Krimsky et al. have recently published an approach whereby they "tented" the sub-pleural space adjacent to the nodule with the locatable guide and extended working channel under fluoroscopy and a 25 gauge sclerotherapy needle was used to inject 0.5 mL of either indigo carmine or methylene blue dye at the site. Following marking, the patients were taken to the operating room for a minimallyinvasive resection either by video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) or robotic-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (RATS) approaches with or without an anatomic resection and lymph node dissection. They found the dye marker outlined the area of interest 81% of the time in 22 patients. One patient had diffuse dye marking of the parietal pleura and two patients the dye was not visualized. The nodules studied had a mean size of 13.4 mm (range, 7-30 mm). No patient had to be converted to an open procedure (31).

A similar technique was published the same year by Bolton et al. They evaluated 19 patients who underwent ENB localization and dye marking prior to robotic resection. Their approach differed in that they marked the lesion as well as the nearest pleural surface. Mean size of lesions was 18 mm (range, 8-40 mm and only four patients with lesions >20 mm, all of which were ground glass nodules/masses) (32). Finally, earlier this year, Anayama et al. published a technique for the use of thoracoscopy following injection of indocyanine green (ICG) that is delivered bronchoscopically via ENB guidance to a pulmonary nodule without injuring the visceral pleura. They have tested this protocol on three live pigs whereby they created pulmonary nodules with 0.3 mL of 5% agar containing iopamidol. ENB was used to then bronchoscopically inject 0.1 mL of ICG to the area of the nodule. After 6 hours, the lung was examined with a thoracoscope that has near infrared capabilities. The nodules were successfully located and were found to be within 3.3±0.95 mm of the nodule. The benefit

of this approach is that ICG is not affected by color changes of the pleura that can occur with anthracosis or underlying pulmonary disease. Contrary to the use of fiducial markers, micro-coils or hook-wires, this approach did not result in pneumothorax. ICG can also notably be confirmed with CT scan prior to surgery (33).

Fiducial placement

Probably the most common therapeutic rather than diagnostic use for ENB is for the placement of fiducials. Fiducial markers are radiographically visible markers that identify the position of a tumor and assists with accommodation for respiratory motion during stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). Fiducials can be inserted via three methods: transthoracic, intravascular and bronchoscopic. Bronchoscopic insertion has a better safety profile over the other two insertion methods with less risk of pneumothorax, pleurisy and pulmonary infarcts (34-36). Ideally, fiducials must have a minimum spatial separation of 20 mm and an angular separation between any groupings of three fiducials of 15 degrees (37). Given this standard, it is advisable to place more than the three required fiducials in case there is migration or expectoration of the fiducial, a known complication of bronchoscopic fiducial placement that occurs 10-26% of the time (36).

Kupelian et al. placed metallic markers for radiation therapy in 23 patients for early-stage lung cancer either with CT guidance or using the ENB system transbronchially. They reported a pneumothorax rate of 8/15 (53.3%) vs. 0/8 (0%) in each group, respectively. Successful placement and migration rates were equivalent (38). Anantham et al. reported on the attempted placement of fiducial markers in nine patients. The overall success rate was 89% and of those with successful placement, 90% of the fiducials remained in appropriate position without migration 7-10 days later when they returned for SBRT planning. A mean number of 4.9 fiducial markers were placed per patient (39). Finally, Harley et al. reported on 43 consecutive patients who had 2-5 fiducial markers placed in or around peripheral lung lesions using EBUS. EBUS was combined with ENB when the lesion was difficult to navigate to. In total, 12 patients required navigation with ENB. Thirty of forty-three patients had no evidence of fiducial migration following fiducial placement. Of the 13 patients who had 1 or more fiducials that had migrated, none had any clinical impact on treatment with SBRT. One patient had a small pneumothorax necessitating chest

tube placement and 1-day admission and several patients had blood-streaked sputum, but otherwise there were no complications reported (40).

Foreign body removal

Although rare in adults, there is a case report of a foreign body (copper wire) that had been aspirated by a 46-year-old gentleman and had migrated to the right lower lobe causing a chronic cough. Bronchoscopic attempts were unsuccessful as the wire was not visible despite using a pediatric and ultrathin bronchoscope. ENB was then performed and forceps were extended through a guide sheath to successfully remove the wire with resolution of the cough. Utilization of ENB saved this patient from undergoing surgical intervention and can be considered in similar cases (41).

Placement of brachytherapy catheter

There is a technical note published in German describing the successful placement of a brachytherapy catheter after navigation to a peripheral, unresectable, lung cancer in the right upper lobe, confirmed with radial EBUS. This catheter remained in appropriate position for five therapeutic sessions without migration and the patient had an excellent clinical outcome. This technique may become useful in patients who are not surgical candidates, particularly with upper lobe lesions where fiducial markers are less stable (42). Future ENB therapeutic interventions like placement of ablative catheters may be a potential treatment alternative to surgery or SBRT.

Cost effectiveness

As mentioned earlier, the number of incidentally found pulmonary nodules is increasing with high-risk patients being screened for lung cancer and the use of CT scans for thoracic symptoms and disorders. The probability of malignancy, however, in an abnormal CT scan depends upon the lesion and patient characteristics. The probability of malignancy of a pulmonary nodule can be estimated using existing models (43,44). If the probability of malignancy is high, the patient should go directly to resection. Equally, if the likelihood of malignancy is low, then the patient will undergo radiographic follow-up. The management of a solitary pulmonary nodule of intermediate risk for malignancy (between 5% and 65%) is unclear. In a time where healthcare is required to become more fiscally responsible, cost must be a consideration when selecting a diagnostic or therapeutic modality.

With respect to ENB with or without E-TTNA, although costs are significant, particularly if an additional highresolution, thin-slice CT scan must be obtained, they are not prohibitive. American insurance companies do currently cover ENB. There are a couple of publications that can help to determine the most cost-effective strategy for diagnosis of a pulmonary nodule. Unfortunately, E-TTNA is a novel modality and has not yet been extensively studied and so is not included in the papers below, though may show an improvement in cost-effectiveness by increasing diagnostic yield in a minimally-invasive and time-efficient way.

The first study is a cost-effectiveness evaluation that was performed looking at initial diagnostic strategies for evaluation of a pulmonary nodule using a decision-analysis model to assess costs and outcomes of PET/CT (watchful waiting) vs. CT-guided TTNA vs. ENB vs. VATS. The base case consists of a 1.5-2 cm, upper lobe, incidentally discovered pulmonary nodule in a patient with a 15 pack-year smoking history and either a spiculated appearance or growth of 15% of this nodule on serial imaging. The above scenario with both a 50% and a 65% pretest probability of cancer were evaluated (45). Diagnostic modalities were compared based on published literature estimates of sensitivity, specificity, complication and outcome probabilities, 5-year survival rates and cost. The study found that when cancer prevalence was 65%, ENB and CT-guided TTNA were the most cost-effective strategies. The decision to use one strategy over the other should be individualized based on size and location (including central vs. peripheral and proximity to airways) of the pulmonary nodule. When cancer prevalence was 50%, ENB, CT-guided TTNA and PET/CT had equivalent cost-effectiveness.

Another study by Dale *et al.* was a cost-consequence analysis of ENB *vs.* CT-guided TTNA for a solitary pulmonary nodule (46). The base case is a 65-year-old with >40 pack-year smoking history and a 2-cm solitary pulmonary nodule. The base case would have an approximate 60% chance of malignancy. They found that using CT-guided TTNA or ENB followed by VATS for a non-diagnostic biopsy was less cost-effective than performing serial biopsies. Serial biopsies meant that patients in the ENB arm who had a non-diagnostic ENB biopsy all went onto CT-guided TTNA. Similarly, patients in the CT-guided TTNA arm with a non-diagnostic CT-guided TTNA all went on to ENB biopsy. The serial biopsy approach decreased cost in both arms as the need for VATS decreased, though complications did increase. The cost savings of CT-guided TTNA are largely driven by the high sensitivity thereby leading to less need for VATS to secure a diagnosis. Although ENB is more expensive than CT-guided TTNA overall, there are cost savings with the use of ENB secondary to the minimal complication rate of ENB *vs.* CT-guided TTNA (pnemothorax: 1.6% *vs.* 15%, hemorrhage: 0.1% *vs.* 1% and respiratory failure: 0.1% *vs.* 1%, respectively).

Limitations

The main ENB limitation continues to be related to the alignment of the EM tracker to pre-procedural CT images. The current findings suggest that the diagnostic yield of ENB may be affected by CT-to-body divergence rather than the size or location of the lesion. CT-to-body divergence is unavoidable as ENB is not a real-time navigational system and this may be one of its current drawbacks. Although ENB is often referred to as the "global positioning systems (GPS) of the lungs" there is a significant difference. GPS devices receive constant positioning feedback regarding their location on a map that is continuously updated; ENB systems do not update the anatomy from the planning CT scan.

These differences could be obviated in the future with the application of CT with ultra-fast temporal resolution and/or respiratory gating.

Other technologies like co-registration and image fusion technology have been used for diagnostic and therapeutic interventions in solid organs and tumors. Application of such modalities in pulmonary procedures would be an alternative to overcome some of the ENB limitations. ENB is a multi-step process that is time consuming and requires a dedicated infrastructure, but there is no doubt of the utility of ENB in the diagnosis and management of pulmonary nodules.

Future directions

ENB and E-TTNA will continue to strive towards an effective, efficient, minimally invasive and cost-conscious approach to the diagnosis of pulmonary nodules in addition to playing a role in some therapeutic interventions such as fiducial placement, pleural dye marking and foreign body removal. With ENB improving localization of pulmonary nodules, hopefully some localized therapy can be delivered to the nodules (47). Tsushima *et al.* demonstrated the feasibility of fiberoptic bronchoscopy-guided radiofrequency-induced

tissue ablation using normal sheep lungs. In this study, coagulation and necrotic tissue formed around the electrode tip created increased tissue impedance and therefore adequate necrosis was not achieved (48).

A later study by Tanabe *et al.* used a cooled electrode probe in humans and achieved an ablative area with destruction of the alveolar space and coagulation necrosis to a maximal area of $12 \times 10 \text{ mm}^2$ (49). More study needs to be performed before this should be used as a treatment option.

In order to move in a forward direction, we need to continue to improve upon the diagnostic yield as this modality offers several advantages over other techniques such as CT-guided TTNA and VATS including a better safety profile, particularly for patients who have significant respiratory compromise and cost savings.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: Dr. Argento and Dr. Arias have no conflicts of interest to declare. Yarmus has received educational grants, research grants and consulting fees from Veran.

References

- National Lung Screening Trial Research Team, Aberle DR, Adams AM, et al. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med 2011;365:395-409.
- Goodman DM. Initiatives focus on limiting radiation exposure to patients during CT scans. JAMA 2013;309:647-8.
- Baaklini WA, Reinoso MA, Gorin AB, et al. Diagnostic yield of fiberoptic bronchoscopy in evaluating solitary pulmonary nodules. Chest 2000;117:1049-54.
- Rivera MP, Mehta AC, Wahidi MM. Establishing the diagnosis of lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e142S-65S.
- Gilbert C, Akulian J, Ortiz R, et al. Novel bronchoscopic strategies for the diagnosis of peripheral lung lesions: present techniques and future directions. Respirology 2014;19:636-44.

Interventional Pulmonology

- Reynisson PJ, Leira HO, Hernes TN, et al. Navigated bronchoscopy: a technical review. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2014;21:242-64.
- Arias S, Lee H, Semaan R, et al. Use of Electromagnetic Navigational Transthoracic Needle Aspiration (E-TTNA) for Sampling of Lung Nodules. J Vis Exp 2015;(99):e52723.
- Seijo LM, de Torres JP, Lozano MD, et al. Diagnostic yield of electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy is highly dependent on the presence of a Bronchus sign on CT imaging: results from a prospective study. Chest 2010;138:1316-21.
- Wallace JM, Deutsch AL. Flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopy and percutaneous needle lung aspiration for evaluating the solitary pulmonary nodule. Chest 1982;81:665-71.
- Fletcher EC, Levin DC. Flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopy and fluoroscopically guided transbronchial biopsy in the management of solitary pulmonary nodules. West J Med 1982;136:477-83.
- Chechani V. Bronchoscopic diagnosis of solitary pulmonary nodules and lung masses in the absence of endobronchial abnormality. Chest 1996;109:620-5.
- Chen A, Pastis N, Furukawa B, et al. The effect of respiratory motion on pulmonary nodule location during electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy. Chest 2015;147:1275-81.
- Bowling MR, Kohan MW, Walker P, et al. The effect of general anesthesia versus intravenous sedation on diagnostic yield and success in electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2015;22:5-13.
- Lamprecht B, Porsch P, Wegleitner B, et al. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy (ENB): Increasing diagnostic yield. Respir Med 2012;106:710-5.
- Gex G, Pralong JA, Combescure C, et al. Diagnostic yield and safety of electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy for lung nodules: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Respiration 2014;87:165-76.
- Zhang W, Chen S, Dong X, et al. Meta-analysis of the diagnostic yield and safety of electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy for lung nodules. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:799-809.
- Rivera MP, Mehta AC; American College of Chest Physicians. Initial diagnosis of lung cancer: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:131S-148S.
- Wiener RS, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S, et al. Populationbased risk for complications after transthoracic needle lung biopsy of a pulmonary nodule: an analysis of discharge records. Ann Intern Med 2011;155:137-44.

- 19. vanSonnenberg E, Casola G, Ho M, et al. Difficult thoracic lesions: CT-guided biopsy experience in 150 cases. Radiology 1988;167:457-61.
- Berquist TH, Bailey PB, Cortese DA, et al. Transthoracic needle biopsy: accuracy and complications in relation to location and type of lesion. Mayo Clin Proc 1980;55:475-81.
- Dasgupta A, Mehta AC. Transbronchial needle aspiration. An underused diagnostic technique. Clin Chest Med 1999;20:39-51.
- Wang KP, Marsh BR, Summer WR, et al. Transbronchial needle aspiration for diagnosis of lung cancer. Chest 1981;80:48-50.
- 23. Wang KP, Terry PB. Transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis and staging of bronchogenic carcinoma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983;127:344-7.
- 24. Eberhardt R, Anantham D, Ernst A, et al. Multimodality bronchoscopic diagnosis of peripheral lung lesions: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;176:36-41.
- Asahina H, Yamazaki K, Onodera Y, et al. Transbronchial biopsy using endobronchial ultrasonography with a guide sheath and virtual bronchoscopic navigation. Chest 2005;128:1761-5.
- Chee A, Stather DR, Maceachern P, et al. Diagnostic utility of peripheral endobronchial ultrasound with electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy in peripheral lung nodules. Respirology 2013;18:784-9.
- 27. Weiser TS, Hyman K, Yun J, et al. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy: a surgeon's perspective. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;85:S797-801.
- Diken ÖE, Karnak D, Çiledağ A, et al. Electromagnetic navigation-guided TBNA vs conventional TBNA in the diagnosis of mediastinal lymphadenopathy. Clin Respir J 2015;9:214-20.
- Gildea TR, Mazzone PJ, Karnak D, et al. Electromagnetic navigation diagnostic bronchoscopy: a prospective study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006;174:982-9.
- Port J, Harrison S. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy. Semin Intervent Radiol 2013;30:128-32.
- 31. Krimsky WS, Minnich DJ, Cattaneo SM, et al. Thoracoscopic detection of occult indeterminate pulmonary nodules using bronchoscopic pleural dye marking. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect 2014;4.
- 32. Bolton WD, Howe H 3rd, Stephenson JE. The utility of electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy as a localization tool for robotic resection of small pulmonary nodules. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:471-5; discussion 475-6.
- 33. Anayama T, Qiu J, Chan H, et al. Localization of

pulmonary nodules using navigation bronchoscope and a near-infrared fluorescence thoracoscope. Ann Thorac Surg 2015;99:224-30.

- Nuyttens JJ, Prévost JB, Praag J, et al. Lung tumor tracking during stereotactic radiotherapy treatment with the CyberKnife: Marker placement and early results. Acta Oncol 2006;45:961-5.
- 35. Harada T, Shirato H, Ogura S, et al. Real-time tumortracking radiation therapy for lung carcinoma by the aid of insertion of a gold marker using bronchofiberscopy. Cancer 2002;95:1720-7.
- Reichner C, Collins B, Gagnon G, et al. The Placement of Gold Fiducials for CyberKnife Stereotactic Radiosurgery Using a Modified Transbronchial Needle Aspiration Technique. J Bronchology 2005;12:193-5.
- Cyberknife System: patient preparation: user's manuel (Cyberknife G4). Sunnyvale, CA: Accuracy Incorporated, 2005;63:1442-7.
- Kupelian PA, Forbes A, Willoughby TR, et al. Implantation and stability of metallic fiducials within pulmonary lesions. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;69:777-85.
- Anantham D, Feller-Kopman D, Shanmugham LN, et al. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy-guided fiducial placement for robotic stereotactic radiosurgery of lung tumors: a feasibility study. Chest 2007;132:930-5.
- 40. Harley DP, Krimsky WS, Sarkar S, et al. Fiducial marker placement using endobronchial ultrasound and navigational bronchoscopy for stereotactic radiosurgery: an alternative strategy. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;89:368-73; discussion 373-4.
- 41. Karpman C, Midthun DE, Mullon JJ. A distal airway foreign body removed with electromagnetic navigation

Cite this article as: Arias S, Yarmus L, Argento AC. Navigational transbronchial needle aspiration, percutaneous needle aspiration and its future. J Thorac Dis 2015;7(S4):S317-S328. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.16

bronchoscopy. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2014;21:170-2.

- 42. Harms W, Krempien R, Grehn C, et al. Electromagnetically navigated brachytherapy as a new treatment option for peripheral pulmonary tumors. Strahlenther Onkol 2006;182:108-11.
- Swensen SJ, Silverstein MD, Ilstrup DM, et al. The probability of malignancy in solitary pulmonary nodules. Application to small radiologically indeterminate nodules. Arch Intern Med 1997;157:849-55.
- 44. Ost DE, Gould MK. Decision making in patients with pulmonary nodules. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012;185:363-72.
- 45. Deppen SA, Davis WT, Green EA, et al. Costeffectiveness of initial diagnostic strategies for pulmonary nodules presenting to thoracic surgeons. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:1214-22.
- 46. Dale CR, Madtes DK, Fan VS, et al. Navigational bronchoscopy with biopsy versus computed tomographyguided biopsy for the diagnosis of a solitary pulmonary nodule: a cost-consequences analysis. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2012;19:294-303.
- Eberhardt R, Kahn N, Herth FJ. 'Heat and destroy': bronchoscopic-guided therapy of peripheral lung lesions. Respiration 2010;79:265-73.
- Tsushima K, Koizumi T, Tanabe T, et al. Bronchoscopyguided radiofrequency ablation as a potential novel therapeutic tool. Eur Respir J 2007;29:1193-200.
- Tanabe T, Koizumi T, Tsushima K, et al. Comparative study of three different catheters for CT imagingbronchoscopy-guided radiofrequency ablation as a potential and novel interventional therapy for lung cancer. Chest 2010;137:890-7.

Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA)—from morphology to molecular testing

Luisella Righi¹, Francesca Franzi², Francesca Montarolo¹, Gaia Gatti¹, Massimo Bongiovanni³, Fausto Sessa⁴, Stefano La Rosa³

¹Pathology Unit, Department of Oncology, University of Turin, San Luigi Hospital, Orbassano, Italy; ²Department of Pathology, Ospedale di Circolo, Varese, Italy; ³Service of Clinical Pathology, Institute of Pathology, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland; ⁴Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: S La Rosa, L Righi, M Bongiovanni; (II) Administrative support: F Franzi; (III) Provision of study materials: F Montarolo, G Gatti, F Franzi; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: F Sessa, S La Rosa; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: L Righi; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Luisella Righi. Pathology Unit, Department of Oncology, San Luigi Hospital, University of Torino, Regione Gonzole 10, 10043 Orbassano, Torino, Italy. Email: luisella.righi@unito.it.

Abstract: In recent years, endobronchial ultrasound-guided TBNA (EBUS-TBNA) has emerged as an innovative technique for diagnosis and staging of lung cancer and has been successfully introduced into daily clinical practice with several advantages including minimally invasive approach, safe, cost-effective, real time image guidance, broad sampling capability, and rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE). Both cytological and histological approaches could be useful to have material for diagnosis, immunohistochemical and molecular analyses which may be very important for targeted therapy with successful rate ranging from 89% to 98%. The utility of ROSE during EBUS-TBNA has been matter of debate. Indeed, although some evidence concluded that ROSE does not increase the diagnostic efficacy of EBUS-TBNA, other demonstrated that it improves the diagnostic yield of the procedure up to 30%, allows to avoid repetition of additional diagnostic procedures and reduces risk of complications. Furthermore the sample preparation by cytopathologist is optimized with the aid of direct macroscopic inspection, optimal smearing techniques, and triage of the sample permitting to obtain adequate tissue for diagnosis, ancillary techniques and molecular testing, when needed. Some pathological issues on EBUS-TBNA are reviewed and discussed with particular focus on ROSE and molecular testing

Keywords: Endobronchial ultrasound-guided (EBUS); transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA); lung cancer; immunohistochemistry (IHC); EGFR; ALK

Submitted Dec 15, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 14, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.158 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.03.158

Introduction

The traditional approach to the diagnosis of lung and mediastinal diseases has included different noninvasive and invasive techniques performed to obtain diagnostic cytological and/or histological material. Among invasive techniques, aspiration cytology including transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA) and computed tomography (CT)-guided transcutaneous fine needle aspiration/core biopsy have been used for many decades as an alternative to more invasive surgical procedures. However, in recent years, endobronchial ultrasound-guided TBNA (EBUS-TBNA) has emerged as an innovative technique and has been successfully introduced into daily clinical practice (1). This procedure has joined the use of conventional bronchoscopy and ultrasound imaging, which are two techniques well managed for decades, with needle aspiration beyond the bronchial wall to get material from both lung parenchyma and mediastinal lymph nodes. Indeed, this procedure is of particular interest either to confirm the diagnosis of radiologically detected central lung cancer, or for the staging of known lung cancer by sampling mediastinal lymph nodes. Moreover, EBUS-TBNA can be particularly useful for the diagnosis of localized mediastinal disease or other lung diseases associated with mediastinal lymphadenopathy like sarcoidosis (2).

The results just obtained after the introduction of this novel technique in terms of diagnostic accuracy and safety has convinced clinicians that it may represent an innovative diagnostic tool with several advantages including minimally invasive approach, safe, cost-effective, real time image guidance, broad sampling capability, and rapid onsite evaluation (ROSE) (3,4). EBUS-TBNA has also acquired importance in cases in which surgical procedures are contraindicated or unnecessary, like patients with comorbidity which increase surgical risks, and it is more suitable for patients with disease not requiring surgery such as lymphomas, germ cell neoplasms or metastatic lung cancers.

Using the EBUS-TBNA approach it is possible to obtain either cytological material (with or without ROSE) or histological cores. Although literature data comparing the diagnostic accuracy between the two material typologies are limited, available information has not demonstrated a significant difference. A perspective study comparing EBUS-TBNA with EBUS biopsy without aspiration has not demonstrated differences in sample quality and diagnostic yield for malignancy (5). Consequently, the choice of the type of material (cytological versus histological) mainly depends on the local expertise and organization.

In this study, we give a review on the practical approach to EBUS-TBNA procedure including cytological, histological, and molecular aspects. The new era of EBUS-TBNA may be resumed as "do more with less" because with a relatively small material we are now able to perform an accurate diagnosis associated with prognostic and predictive morphological and molecular markers.

Cytology approach to EBUS-TBNA specimens

Considering the cytological approach to EBUS-TBNA specimens, sensitivity in the diagnosis of lung cancer is recorded to be up to 90% after learning curve (4) and diagnostic accuracy for this technique is reported to be higher than that for CT and PET (98% *vs.* 60.8% and 72.5%, respectively). The benefit of ROSE during EBUS-

TBNA has been matter of debate in the past few years. Indeed, although some studies concluded that ROSE does not increase the diagnostic efficacy of EBUS-TBNA (6), several other investigations have demonstrated that it allows to improve the diagnostic yield of the procedure up to 30% (7-9) and that the immediate evaluation of sample adequacy allows to avoid additional biopsies, additional bronchoscopic procedures, repetition of other diagnostic procedures or risk of complications connected to bronchoscopy (10). Furthermore, the sample preparation by cytopathologist is optimized with the aid of direct macroscopic inspection, optimal smearing techniques, and triage of the sample allowing to obtain adequate tissue for diagnosis, ancillary techniques and molecular testing (7).

For this reason, the cytopathologist is more and more solicited to offer ROSE evaluation of cytological material obtained during EBUS-guided technique and has assumed an increasingly central role in the management of patients with lung cancer. In situations where financial difficulties do not permit to have enough resources, the cytotechnologists (CyT) may also be asked to give rapid interpretations. The accuracy rate of responses done by CyT (between preliminary and final diagnosis) was shown to be higher for pancreas, liver and bone lesions and lower for kidney and lung lesions (11).

There is a lot of variability in technical methods for tissue acquisition and further treatment of collected specimens. Variability concerns necessity to have ROSE, needle gauge, number of passes and specimens' management. ROSE is essential for appropriateness of tissue management, as abundance of material is now the goal of image-guided procedures for targeted therapies. Moreover, with ROSE, TurnAround Time (the amount of time taken to give a diagnosis, TAT) is reduced. Most studies showed a 90% to 98% concordance between ROSE diagnosis and final diagnoses (8,12). False negative rate due to sampling errors is directly correlated to the lower number of slides examined. EBUS-TBNA is also frequently performed because of the discovery of a PET positive lesion/nodule in patients followed up for previous lung malignancies. In this situation, it has been demonstrated that ROSE significantly reduces false positive rate in PET positive lesions.

Usually, needle gauge used is 22. In our experience, the number of passes is determined by the acquisition of diagnostic material. In case of positive (malignant) diagnosis on one of the ROSE slides, we try to have an idea of the possible diagnosis/differential diagnosis. Thus, we can triage the material appropriately according to the

Interventional Pulmonology



Figure 1 A 67-year-old female with a history of previous lung adenocarcinoma presented with a PET positive nodule in a para-tracheal lymph node. (A) The ROSE smear showed abundant cellular material with mostly isolated cells. The cells showed enlarged nuclei, prominent nucleoli and cytoplasmic vacuoles. The material was sufficient for diagnosis (working diagnosis: non-small cell metastatic lung carcinoma) (toluidine blue staining, 200×); (B) the same smear stained with Papanicolaou for definitive evaluation confirmed the ROSE diagnosis (Papanicolaou staining, 200×); (C) immunocytochemical expression for CK7 on the same de-stained slide was intense. The final cytoplogical diagnosis was: lymph-node metastatic lung adenocarcinoma (CK7 immunostaining, 200×). In case of need, the same slide could be used for molecular analysis, either scraping the slides or using laser capture microdissection.

preliminary working diagnosis: cell block preparation in case of solid tumor for immunocytochemistry and mutational analysis, flow cytometry in case of suspected hematological malignancies, and sterile sampling for microbiological studies in case of inflammatory process/abscessed cavity. The rest of the passes will be used to enrich one of these possibilities. In case of negative (normal tissue) diagnosis, such as in case of reactive lymph nodes, the needle rinse material after each pass will be used for liquid-based cytological preparation. Three passes are generally sufficient to provide enough material. After each pass, one to three slides can be realized and stained with Toluidine blue (Figure 1A). The staining process lasts no more than 10-15 seconds and permits a rapid, almost immediate, response from the cytopathologist or the trained CyT. What should we communicate to the clinicians? Strictly, the most appropriate rapid diagnosis concerns the quantity of material aspired: sufficient (or not) to establish a definitive diagnosis. However, according to the confidence between cytopathologists and clinicians, and also according to the compliance of the clinicians to understand and accept that definitive diagnosis may change the preliminary one, the cytopathologists can also say more: material consistent with a lymph node tissue (thus indicating the appropriateness of the technical aspiration) or consistent with malignant cells (i.e., adenocarcinoma vs. squamous cell carcinoma vs. small cell carcinoma). This is particularly useful in urgent cases in which a diagnosis of small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma can immediately prompt the clinicians towards a chemotherapeutical decision, instead of a surgical treatment. Once the diagnosis is reached on one smear, all the rest of the material is used to enrich the specimens or for special tests. Once in the cytopathology laboratory, the Toluidine blu smear is then stained with traditional Pap stain for final interpretation (*Figure 1B*) and the rest of the material is treated for liquid-based cytology or cell block preparations. Immunocytochemical stains (*Figure 1C*) and molecular analysis can be done using either stained slides or cell block.

Histological approach to EBUS-TBNA specimens

EBUS biopsy without aspiration has been referred as "transbronchial needle capillary sampling (TBNCS)" by some authors (5). Since it seems that there is not a significant difference in diagnostic yield between EBUS-TBNA and TBNCS, the choice of the type of material (cytological vs. histological) mainly depends on the local expertise and organization. The disadvantage in using histological material mainly relies on the impossibility to have a rapid on-site evaluation. Conversely, the advantage relies on the possibility to have more material for immunohistochemical and molecular analysis which may be very important for certain tumor types including lymphomas and adenocarcinomas (Figures 2-5). In addition, lymph node biopsy may be better in getting material than cytological approach when lymph node is fibrotic such as in cases of sarcoidosis (Figure 6). From a practical point of view, the material is routinely managed as a histological core biopsy. In our experience, cytological examination of cell block obtained from needle washing material is helpful to get additional diagnostic cells.



Figure 2 Histological biopsy of a lymph node with a metastasis from a pulmonary adenocarcinoma. Tumor cells are grouped in cluster (A, ematoxilin & eosin, 100×) and are positive for cytokeratin 7 (B, immunostaining, 100×) and TTF1 (C, immunostaining, 100×), whilst are negative for p40 (D, immunostaining, 100×).



Figure 3 Histological biopsy of a lymph node with a metastasis from a pulmonary squamous cell carcinoma. Tumor cells show the typical features of a squamous cell carcinoma (A, ematoxilin & eosin, 100×). The diagnosis is confirmed by the immunoreactivity for p40 (B, immunostaining, 100×) and the lack of TTF1 expression (C, immunostaining, 100×).

Molecular testing

The vast majority of patients with non-small cells lung carcinomas (NSCLC) do not require surgical resection because of the advanced stage at clinical onset. For this reason, the unique specimen available for these patients is frequently represented by small cytological or microhistological biopsy samples. On the other hand, an accurate and precise diagnosis (i.e., recognition of benign *vs.* malignant, primary *vs.* metastatic lesion and the NSCLC subtyping), together with the determination of predictive biomarkers, are mandatory for treatment selection. In this scenario, the major issue is to maximize all necessary information on cytological or biopsy specimen available.



Figure 4 Example of a metastasis form a poorly differentiated neuroendocrine lung carcinoma. Neoplastic cells are atypical with hyperchromic nuclei (A, ematoxilin & eosin, 100×) and show chromogranin A immunoreactivity (B, immunostaining, 100×).



Figure 5 Trans-bronchial biopsy of a mediastinal enlarged lymph node. Neoplastic cells are monomorphic showing a lymphoid appearance (A, ematoxilin & eosin, 40×). They are positive for CD20 (B, immunostaining, 40×) and cyclin D1 (C, immunostaining, 40×), while being negative for CD3, which shows some residual non-neoplastic T-lymphocytes (D, immunostaining, 40×). The final diagnosis was of mantle cell lymphoma.

Although performing diagnoses on small samples could be easy (in case of morphology-based adeno or squamous cell carcinoma features), in several cases of poorly differentiated or undifferentiated cancers, morphology does not allow a more precise classification and the discouraged term NSCLC-not otherwise specified (NOS) is used. However, major therapeutic advances in lung cancer field require a more precise histological subtyping for therapeutic purposes (13,14). The use of immunohistochemistry (IHC) in these cases is recommended because may add some information about a residual adeno- or squamous differentiation, increasing the refinement of diagnosis and avoiding the use of NSCLC-NOS term (15). Several biomarkers and diagnostic algorithms have been described in the last years and suggested for the most efficient NSCLC subtyping: nowadays, using a small panel of 2 to 4 biomarkers (i.e., TTF1, Napsin A, p40 and CK5/6 or CK7) the proportion of NSCLC-NOS diagnosis could



Figure 6 Trans-bronchial biopsy of an enlarged lymph node. Normal tissue is replaced by epithelioid granulomas suggesting the diagnosis of sarcoidosis (ematoxilin & eosin, 40×).

be widely reduced (15,16). This is an important aim, since morphologically poorly differentiated carcinomas with an adenocarcinoma immunoprofile show the same overall survival of cases with clear morphological features of adenocarcinoma (17,18). Furthermore, the more and more precise molecular profiling of lung cancer has led to the discovering of an increasing number of new driver genes that could become drug target (19). Lung adenocarcinoma is the most studied in this direction because it is characterized by a highly druggable molecular profile. In fact, an increasing number of genes are described as oncogenic drivers and several drugs are developed for each of them (19). As a matter of fact, patients with an oncogenic driver mutation who receive targeted therapy have better survival than patients who do not receive targeted therapy or without an oncogenic driver (20). However, after a honeymoon period of response to therapy, acquired resistances can occur (21). The vast majority of cancers treated with target therapy harbor therapy-induced new genetic changes, in term of both acquisition and loss of gene alterations (22,23). Moreover, histological shift from well differentiated to poorly differentiated small cell cancer has been described as acquired resistance mechanism (23-25). Comprehensive molecular profiling of other more frequent lung cancer types including squamous and large cell carcinoma revealed a marked genomic complexity with less druggable alterations for the first and genetic features typical of other better differentiated carcinomas for the latter (26,27). Finally, with the advent of the target therapy, a new predictive role for IHC has been awarded. Indeed, IHC allows to visualize the presence and tissue distribution of the drug target at the protein level. For example in ALK test,

the gene alteration produces a fusion protein which is easily detectable by IHC. To this end, two monoclonal antibodies have been developed and are commercially available: the clone 5A4 (Leica Biosystems Newcastle Ltd, Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK/Novocastra Laboratories Ltd., Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK, and prediluted Abcam, Cambridge, UK), and the clone D5F3 (Cell Signaling Technology Inc., Danvers, MA, USA) with high sensitivity, specificity and reproducibility, as compared to FISH technique. That's why the use of ALK IHC as screening test has been adopted in some countries and only tumors that are positive for ALK IHC, either weakly or strongly, should be referred to FISH for confirmation of a rearrangement (28).

A field in great expansion is the use of immunotherapy in combination with conventional therapy (29). Immune check-point is the receptor-ligand interaction that leads to a modulation of the tumor-induced immune response. The PD-1/PD-L1 interaction is one of the more widely studied because PD-L1 IHC expression on tumor cells has been associated with higher response rate to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 drugs, although some methodological issues have still to be resolved (30), such as the percentage of positive cells to be considered predictive of a satisfactory clinical response and the type of the primary antibody used.

In the last WHO 2015 (15), specific recommendations for pathologists about lung cancer classification in small tissue together with an algorithm for handling samples were published, including three major steps: the accurate diagnosis, the use of IHC for poorly differentiated NSCLC and the requirement of mutational assay. These guidelines imply that the tissue represents the major issue in advanced lung cancer pathology, with some technical aspects to keep in mind for pathologists: first of all the sample evaluation. Pathologist should be present during the sampling procedures to collect clinical information, to handle and prepare tissue sampling for a rapid onsite staining and ROSE which provides a real time evaluation of cytological specimen obtained with cytological sampling (see above). The use of ROSE permits to obtain sufficient tissue for molecular testing with high rate of success (31,32); in fact, although actually there is no evidence to recommend the use of ROSE in all the procedures, guidelines suggest that ROSE should be used when molecular testing is needed (12). A recent randomized trial study by Trisolini and coworkers showed that ROSE is associated with a 10% increase in the success rate of EBUS-TBNA for optimal lung cancer genotyping, with the advantage of reducing the number of re-biopsy because of the minimal tumor burden for



Figure 7 EGFR pyrosequencing diagrams showing a case with an activating *EGFR* mutations in exon 21 (L858R) and a resistance mutation in exon 20 (T790M). Arrows show the point of the curve where the point mutation occurred.

molecular analysis (33). Finally, when the sample is processed according to routine management, the final sample should be evaluated for the assessment of the amount and quality of the neoplastic cells, necessary for the type and the number of molecular analysis required. At this step, a crucial issue is the choice of the marker to test, the choice of the optimal method to use and the interpretation of results according to guidelines. Nowadays, EGFR mutations and ALK translocation are the most predictive tests required for targeted therapies (34,35), but several other gene mutations (i.e., KRAS, BRAF, etc.) or alterations (i.e., ROS translocation, MET amplification, etc.), predictive of response or resistance to therapy, are also increasing in importance. According to specific gene alterations (mutation, translocation or amplification) a specific method should be used and appropriate tissue amount and quality are required. For example, EGFR mutation test requires an adequate amount of neoplastic DNA with respect to normal DNA to maximize the sensitivity of the sequencing method used (i.e., direct sequencing, pyrosequencing, etc. Figure 7) and for this reason a sample with an adequate percentage of neoplastic cell with respect to the normal counterpart is necessary. Cytological samples are generally characterized by few neoplastic cells in a background of normal cells: these few cells could be sufficient for a diagnosis of malignancy but not adequate for molecular analyses. To improve the availability and adequacy of cytological material and to avoid the poor neoplastic cellularity of certain cytological samples, an accurate microscopic manual microdissection could be performed in the cell block, smear or core biopsy and multiple sections from cell block could be used to increase the amount of extracted DNA. On the contrary, for ALK translocation assessment, a minimum of 50 neoplastic cells should be present in the same cut section according to the cut-off guideline of ALK translocation assessment based on 50 counted nuclei (Figure 8).

Recent guidelines (12) in the material acquisition and preparation to obtain adequate EBUS-TBNA specimens

recommend as follows: (I) at least three needle aspirations per site for morphological diagnosis and a total of four passes per site when molecular testing is planned should be performed; (II) preservation of material for production of cell blocks or tissue core for morphological evaluation and for IHC for subtyping NSCLC, when needed, should be planned. There is no quality evidence to suggest the best solution (e.g., formalin, saline or Hank's solution) for cell block preparation and it should be chosen following consultation with local and molecular pathology colleagues; furthermore, no specific slide preparation and staining method (e.g., Wright-Giemsa, Papanicolau, rapid Romanowsky staining) is preferable to others, local expertise and practice should be considered when selecting the slide staining technique; (III) smears, cell block or core tissue can be useful for molecular testing (cell block or core tissue are indispensable to assess ALK translocation, while smear may be successfully used to evaluate the status of EGFR when cell block or tissue core are lacking).

The adequacy rate of EBUS-TBNA for molecular analysis depends on many factors: small sample size, tumor necrosis, sampling of nodal micrometastasis, and contamination of the samples with blood or bronchial cells (32). Several studies demonstrated that molecular analysis can be routinely performed on the majority of samples obtained by EBUS-TBNA with successful rate ranging from 89% to 98% (36,37). Other studies have demonstrated the feasibility of performing complete molecular tests, with or without IHC on EBUS-TBNA sample (38) with respect to other minimally (39) or more invasive procedures (31). However, a question remains: how much tissue is needed? It depends on the history of patient disease because after the diagnosis and IHC and EGFR/ALK analyses, it should be necessary to perform other molecular investigation (i.e., resistance molecular alterations) or the material should be used for patient clinical study enrollment.

Nowadays, we are still limited by the tissue availability because a single step assay is frequently used. In the near



Figure 8 Lung adenocarcinoma case with ALK determination. Smear specimen showing neoplastic epithelial cells arranged in pseudo-papillary structures (A, Giemsa stain, 200×). Cell block picture showing large amount of adenocarcinoma neoplastic tissue (B, ematoxilin & eosin, 100×). ALK immunohistochemistry (IHC) (clone 5A4) showing the majority of cells with moderate (2+) intensity and some cells with high (3+) intensity score (C, immunostaining 200×). ALK rearrangement was confirmed by FISH analysis (D, fluorochrome, 1,000×).

future, next generation comprehensive analyses will allow multiplex assays with higher speed, higher sensitivity, and high throughput diagnostic results using much minor amount of tissue (40). However, some validation, costefficiency and standardization issues should be resolved and they are much near than we think (41).

Concluding remarks

EBUS-TBNA has emerged as an innovative technique which has been successfully introduced into our daily clinical practice giving several advantages including minimally invasive approach, safe, cost-effective, real time image guidance, and broad sampling capability. It has also acquired importance considering cases in which surgical procedures are contraindicated or unnecessary. Using EBUS-TBNA, we are now able to perform an accurate diagnosis associated to the identification of prognostic and predictive morphological and molecular markers. Considering that about 70% of patients with lung cancer are not candidate to surgery but they may be treated with new target therapies, the introduction of an increasing number of molecular tests will continue to transform our daily practice with the need of even more molecular determination using even low amount of adequate material. The use of EBUS-TBNA could satisfy those requests with safety and cost efficiency.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

1. VanderLaan PA, Wang HH, Majid A, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration

Interventional Pulmonology

(EBUS-TBNA): an overview and update for the cytopathologist. Cancer Cytopathol 2014;122:561-76.

- Monaco SE. Introduction to EBUS-TBNA. In: Monaco SE, Khalbuss WE, Pantanowitz L. editors. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA): a practical approach. Basel: Karger, 2014:1-3.
- 3. Herth F, Becker HD, Ernst A. Conventional vs endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: a randomized trial. Chest 2004;125:322-5.
- Yasufuku K, Nakajima T, Motoori K, et al. Comparison of endobronchial ultrasound, positron emission tomography, and CT for lymph node staging of lung cancer. Chest 2006;130:710-8.
- Casal RF, Staerkel GA, Ost D, et al. Randomized clinical trial of endobronchial ultrasound needle biopsy with and without aspiration. Chest 2012;142:568-73.
- Joseph M, Jones T, Lutterbie Y, et al. Rapid on-site pathologic evaluation does not increase the efficacy of endobronchial ultrasonographic biopsy for mediastinal staging. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;96:403-10.
- da Cunha Santos G, Ko HM, Saieg MA, et al. "The petals and thorns" of ROSE (rapid on-site evaluation). Cancer Cytopathol 2013;121:4-8.
- Nakajima T, Yasufuku K, Saegusa F, et al. Rapid on-site cytologic evaluation during endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration for nodal staging in patients with lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;95:1695-9.
- Guo H, Liu S, Guo J, et al. Rapid on-site evaluation during endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for the diagnosis of hilar and mediastinal lymphadenopathy in patients with lung cancer. Cancer Lett 2016;371:182-6.
- Oki M, Saka H, Kitagawa C, et al. Rapid on-site cytologic evaluation during endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for diagnosing lung cancer: a randomized study. Respiration 2013;85:486-92.
- Sarode V, Chau D, Duey M, et al. Rapid On-site Evaluation (ROSE) of Cytology Smears Performed by Cytotechnologists for Assessment of Adequacy in Deepseated Lesions: Correlation with Final Interpretation. J Am Soc Cytopathol 2016;5:S60.
- 12. van der Heijden EH, Casal RF, Trisolini R, et al. Guideline for the acquisition and preparation of conventional and endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration specimens for the diagnosis and molecular testing of patients with known or suspected lung cancer.

Respiration 2014;88:500-17.

- 13. Scagliotti GV, Parikh P, von Pawel J, et al. Phase III study comparing cisplatin plus gemcitabine with cisplatin plus pemetrexed in chemotherapy-naive patients with advanced-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:3543-51.
- 14. Johnson DH, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny WF, et al. Randomized phase II trial comparing bevacizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:2184-91.
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Burke AP, et al. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Lung, Pleura, Thymus and Heart. Fourth edition. Lyon: IARC Press, 2015.
- Whithaus K, Fukuoka J, Prihoda TJ, et al. Evaluation of napsin A, cytokeratin 5/6, p63, and thyroid transcription factor 1 in adenocarcinoma versus squamous cell carcinoma of the lung. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2012;136:155-62.
- 17. Righi L, Vavalà T, Rapa I, et al. Impact of non-small-cell lung cancer-not otherwise specified immunophenotyping on treatment outcome. J Thorac Oncol 2014;9:1540-6.
- Karlsson A, Brunnström H, Lindquist KE, et al. Mutational and gene fusion analyses of primary large cell and large cell neuroendocrine lung cancer. Oncotarget 2015;6:22028-37.
- Tsao AS, Scagliotti GV, Bunn PA Jr, et al. Scientific Advances in Lung Cancer 2015. J Thorac Oncol 2016;11:613-38.
- Kris MG, Johnson BE, Berry LD, et al. Using multiplexed assays of oncogenic drivers in lung cancers to select targeted drugs. JAMA 2014;311:1998-2006.
- Remon J, Morán T, Majem M, et al. Acquired resistance to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer: a new era begins. Cancer Treat Rev 2014;40:93-101.
- 22. Bean J, Brennan C, Shih JY, et al. MET amplification occurs with or without T790M mutations in EGFR mutant lung tumors with acquired resistance to gefitinib or erlotinib. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:20932-7.
- Vatrano S, Righi L, Vavalá T, et al. Molecular and Histological Changes in Post-Treatment Biopsies of Non-Squamous Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Retrospective Study. Target Oncol 2016;11:157-66.
- Sequist LV, Waltman BA, Dias-Santagata D, et al. Genotypic and histological evolution of lung cancers acquiring resistance to EGFR inhibitors. Sci Transl Med 2011;3:75ra26.

- 25. Jukna A, Montanari G, Mengoli MC, et al. Squamous Cell Carcinoma "Transformation" Concurrent with Secondary T790M Mutation in Resistant EGFR-Mutated Adenocarcinomas. J Thorac Oncol 2016;11:e49-51.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. Nature 2012;489:519-25.
- Clinical Lung Cancer Genome Project (CLCGP); Network Genomic Medicine (NGM). A genomics-based classification of human lung tumors. Sci Transl Med 2013;5:209ra153.
- 28. Marchetti A, Ardizzoni A, Papotti M, et al. Recommendations for the analysis of ALK gene rearrangements in non-small-cell lung cancer: a consensus of the Italian Association of Medical Oncology and the Italian Society of Pathology and Cytopathology. J Thorac Oncol 2013;8:352-8.
- 29. Champiat S, Ileana E, Giaccone G, et al. Incorporating immune-checkpoint inhibitors into systemic therapy of NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol 2014;9:144-53.
- Remon J, Chaput N, Planchard D. Predictive biomarkers for programmed death-1/programmed death ligand immune checkpoint inhibitors in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 2016;28:122-9.
- 31. Casadio C, Guarize J, Donghi S, et al. Molecular Testing for Targeted Therapy in Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Suitability of Endobronchial Ultrasound Transbronchial Needle Aspiration. Am J Clin Pathol 2015;144:629-34.
- Jurado J, Saqi A, Maxfield R, et al. The efficacy of EBUSguided transbronchial needle aspiration for molecular testing in lung adenocarcinoma. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;96:1196-202.
- Trisolini R, Cancellieri A, Tinelli C, et al. Randomized Trial of Endobronchial Ultrasound-Guided Transbronchial

Cite this article as: Righi L, Franzi F, Montarolo F, Gatti G, Bongiovanni M, Sessa F, La Rosa S. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA)—from morphology to molecular testing. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 5):S395-S404. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.158 Needle Aspiration With and Without Rapid Onsite Evaluation for Lung Cancer Genotyping. Chest 2015;148:1430-7.

- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 2009;361:947-57.
- Shaw AT, Kim DW, Nakagawa K, et al. Crizotinib versus chemotherapy in advanced ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2013;368:2385-94.
- José RJ, Shaw P, Taylor M, et al. Impact of EBUS-TBNA on modalities for tissue acquisition in patients with lung cancer. QJM 2014;107:201-6.
- 37. Jeyabalan A, Bhatt N, Plummeridge MJ, et al. Adequacy of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration samples processed as histopathological samples for genetic mutation analysis in lung adenocarcinoma. Mol Clin Oncol 2016;4:119-25.
- 38. Rooper LM, Nikolskaia O, Carter J, et al. A single EBUS-TBNA procedure can support a large panel of immunohistochemical stains, specific diagnostic subtyping, and multiple gene analyses in the majority of non-small cell lung cancer cases. Hum Pathol 2016;51:139-45.
- 39. Schmid-Bindert G, Wang Y, Jiang H, et al. EBUS-TBNA provides highest RNA yield for multiple biomarker testing from routinely obtained small biopsies in non-small cell lung cancer patients - a comparative study of three different minimal invasive sampling methods. PLoS One 2013;8:e77948.
- 40. Salto-Tellez M, Gonzalez de Castro D. Next-generation sequencing: a change of paradigm in molecular diagnostic validation. J Pathol 2014;234:5-10.
- Aziz N, Zhao Q, Bry L, et al. College of American Pathologists' laboratory standards for next-generation sequencing clinical tests. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2015;139:481-93.

76

Biopsy and re-biopsy in lung cancer: the oncologist requests and the role of endobronchial ultrasounds transbronchial needle aspiration

Alessandro Tuzi¹, Elena Bolzacchini¹, Matteo B. Suter¹, Alice Giaquinto¹, Antonio Passaro², Stefania Gobba¹, Ilaria Vallini¹, Graziella Pinotti¹

¹Medical Oncology, ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy; ²Medical Oncology, Istituto Europeo di Oncologia (IEO), Milan, Italy *Contributions*: (I) Conception and design: A Tuzi; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: E Bolzacchini, MB Suter; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Alessandro Tuzi. Day Hospital Oncologia, ASST Sette Laghi, Ospedale di Circolo, Viale Borri 57, 21100 Varese, Italy. Email: Alessandro.Tuzi@ASST-Settelaghi.it.

Abstract: As the leading cause of death worldwide, lung cancer has proven itself incurable in the advanced stages. For early stages, endobronchial ultrasounds transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) is now considered the standard to assess mediastinal lymph node, to define the multimodality therapeutic approach. In recent years, EBUS-TBNA has extended its use also into metastatic and locally recurrent disease. New molecules, with specific mutations that give resistance to current target therapies, have made re-biopsy at disease progression an important assessment, with therapeutic and clinical implication. Here we present the oncologist's point of view on EBUS-TBNA in the staging process, at recurrence and progression.

Keywords: Endobronchial ultrasounds (EBUS); re-biopsy; T790M; lung cancer; review

Submitted Dec 20, 2016. Accepted for publication Mar 28, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.04.09 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.04.09

Introduction

Lung cancer

Lung cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer deaths worldwide. The main histological types of cancers are squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), adenocarcinoma (ADC), large cell carcinoma (LCC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC). In Western countries, the ADC frequency is increasing (>50%), while SCC and small cell are significantly reduced (1).

Accurate staging of the disease is mandatory to determine the prognosis and appropriate treatment. The most significant treatment decision lies on the distinction between those patients who can benefit from surgical resection and those who should receive chemotherapy and radiation therapy or both (2).

Biopsy

Diagnosis

In case of suspected lung cancer, it is recommended a sequential approach that involves physical examination, radiogram of the chest, chest computed tomography (CT scan) with medium contrast enhancement, bronchoscopy, and cyto-histological definition of the lesion. For central lesions endoscopically visible, histological diagnosis is obtained through cyto-histological samples such as biopsy, brushing, transbronchial needle aspiration (TBNA). Peripheral lesions can be approached percutaneously. The transbronchial approach has lower incidence of complications (especially pneumothorax) and it provides the possibility, during the diagnostic procedure, to sample the lymph nodes by TBNA (3).

The clinical staging is usually performed with noninvasive diagnostic modalities, such as total body CT scan with medium contrast, and/or positron emission tomography (PET). The imaging obtained from these techniques is used to assess the primary lung malignancy, to characterize the mediastinal involvement and to search for distant metastases. Accurate mediastinal staging is a crucial part of the diagnostic workup of every patient with lung cancer, for its prognostic value and for planning optimal treatment. In many cases, the status of these nodes determines whether the disease is surgically resectable. The existence of metastatic contralateral adenopathy (N3) or distant metastasis (M1) contraindicates surgery. Patients with mediastinal ipsilateral lymph node metastasis (N2) may be considered for neoadjuvant therapy followed by surgery based on studies reporting improved survival with this treatment approach (2).

In patients with an abnormal mediastinum (lymph nodes enlargement at CT, with or without a PET increased activity), or with a radiologically normal mediastinum associated with a central lung tumor or with a N1 disease, histological samples of the suspected lymphonodular metastasis are required (4).

Mediastinoscopy and video-assisted thoracoscopy have been the methods of choice to invasively stage the mediastinum before the introduction of endoscopic ultrasounds needle aspiration techniques. Endobronchial ultrasounds transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) is minimally invasive, safe and well-tolerated method to stage the mediastinum. Furthermore, because its accuracy and cost-effectiveness, endoscopic staging is now the recommended method for invasive mediastinal evaluation (5).

EBUS-TBNA has to be performed in moderate or deep sedation, with a needle of 21 or 22 gauge. The tissue sampling may be run with or without the pathologist's assessment in the endoscopic room (rapid on-site evaluation, ROSE); however, in the absence of ROSE a minimum of three separate steps to sample each lymphnode is suggested (6).

Relapsed disease

Even patients with early disease are at relatively high risk of disease recurrence. Cisplatin-based chemotherapy regimens have decreased the risk of recurrence after surgery and provided modest survival gains. An updated meta-analysis from the non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) Collaborative Group demonstrated an average survival benefit of 5.4% at 5 years for patients with resected stage I to III disease (7).

Greater than 50% of disease recurrences occurring after surgery for early stage NSCLC involve local sites (8); detecting mediastinal involvement is crucial for the curative treatment of recurrent NSCLC (9).

EBUS-TBNA can be used for the diagnosis of mediastinal recurrence as a non-invasive approach.

Guidelines recommend the acquisition of additional samples to perform not only the diagnosis of relapse but also additional molecular analysis (6).

Role of molecular profile

In recent years, studies on molecular characteristics of lung cancers showed a role for specific genes that proved to be important therapeutic targets. In NSCLC (especially in 10–15% of the ADC of Caucasian patients and in 40% of Asian patients) activating mutations of EGFR (exons 18, 19, 20 and 21) have been identified. The presence of these mutations is the most important predictive factor for targeted therapies with specific EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (9,10). In fact, only patients with EGFRm+ have good responses to the treatment with first-generation EGFR TKIs, such as erlotinib and gefitinib (11), with improvements in progression free survival, overall response rate and clinical benefit.

Another important molecular alteration that has been documented for ADC is the rearrangement of anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) that activates a specific receptor tyrosine kinase involved in the processes of proliferation and cell survival; it is found in approximately 3–7% of ADC (12,13).

The determination ALK rearrangement is necessary to select patients for treatment with specific tyrosine-kinase inhibitors [crizotinib and ceritinib, approved by European Medicines Agency (EMA) for patients pre-treated with crizotinib] (14,15).

Other molecular alterations that can be tested in ADC, with promising therapeutic implications are the rearrangement of the *ROS1* gene (about 1–2% of ADC) and RET gene. Activating mutations of BRAF (V600E is that non-V600E), amplification of HER2, mutation of PI3KCA and PTEN, amplification and mutations of PDGFR are molecular changes that could have future therapeutic implications in SCC (16).

Currently, only EGFR and ALK represent molecular targets with specific available target therapy and therefore

Interventional Pulmonology

they must be tested in case of metastatic disease. While EGFR and KRAS mutations are usually mutually exclusive, the ALK rearrangement was detected in 1–2% of EGFR mutated tumors (17). The role of KRAS mutation is still uncertain. Therefore, the determination of KRAS remains optional.

EGFR and ALK analysis can be performed on surgical specimens, cytology, and biopsy of the primary tumor and/ or metastases.

Re-biopsy

Re-biopsy is a growing trend in oncology. This is due to many factors, chiefly: (I) finer molecular characterization, through next generation sequencing (18); (II) new drugs capable of overcoming specific resistance mutations (19); (III) less invasive technique to obtain tissue specimen (20). Up until recent years, re-biopsy was a practice confined to cancer that, even in advanced stages, were still managed by surgeons, and/or presented easily accessible sites, such as prostate cancer and breast cancer (21). Things started to change with the advent of target therapy, with many clinical trials having mandatory re-biopsy, and also with the development of less invasive and safer technique to collect tissue specimens. Still, for some years the interest for re-biopsy was confined mostly to research, without it entering clinical practice. It is only in very recent times that re-biopsy is acquiring a growing importance, with practical implication not only for the clinician but also for the patient. As of today, awaiting validation of the liquid biopsy, re-biopsy represents the only instrument to discover specific transformation and targetable mutation in patient experiencing progressive disease.

Histology shift

A known mechanism of resistance to therapy, especially tyrosine kinase inhibitors targeting EGFR, is the transformation of NSCLC, generally ADC, in SCLC (22). One of the first cases of resistance to erlotinib due to the transformation in SCLC was described in 2006 (23). Since then, several others have been reported. Case series give variable percentage for this phenomenon, between 5% and 14%, among patients with EGFR mutated ADC (24,25): although rare, it can still affect at least one patient in twenty. The mutation of the driver gene EGFR, still present after histological shift supports the hypothesis that these are transformations regarding the same tumour and not the growth of a new neoplasm (26). Current understanding still leaves some open questions: is the SCLC already present at diagnosis, in combined-histology tumour, and grows under the selective pressure of therapy for the NSCLC? Or is it a transformation at the molecular level, with candidate gene RB1 as a key player that triggers the histological shift (22)? While further studies enlighten the basis of this transformation, the clinician should keep this event in mind, considering re-biopsy for those patients affected by ADC with rapid progression or unusual behaviour, especially EGFR-mutated ones. The importance of pathological demonstration of a histological shift is due to the mixed response to anti-EGFR observed in these patients (27,28), thus recommending SCLC treatment as the main therapeutic option.

Acquired resistance

A common concept, in microbiology as in oncology, is that a prolonged exposition to certain drugs can select a resistant population, either a bacterium or a neoplastic cell. In the cytotoxic era, the usual strategy to overcome this phenomenon was to combine different chemotherapeutics, with only partial success, limited to haematological malignancies. Acquired resistance was also the limit to the great hopes of target therapy: the majority of patients experience, after a variable interval of time, the ensuing of a resistant clone that causes disease progression. The silver lining to this event is that our deeper understanding of molecular biology has made it possible in some cases to identify the specific mechanisms behind acquired resistance. One of the finest examples is T790M in EGFR mutated lung ADC (29): this mutation is one of the main mechanism of acquired resistance, generally present only in a minority of cells at diagnosis, and much more expressed at disease progression. Beside identifying the mutation, we now have also new tyrosine kinase inhibitors that specifically target T790M, osimertinib (19). In the following years, molecular profiling will become a key part of patient re-evaluations, along radiological assessments and physical examinations, making re-biopsy at progression mandatory.

Conclusions

Lung cancer represents one of the leading causes of death worldwide, especially in the advanced stages of the disease.

For early stage lung cancer, EBUS-TBNA represents a fundamental evaluation to assess correctly mediastinal

involvement. The extent of lymph node invasion is key information, for the oncologist as well as for the surgeon and the radiotherapist, to better define the therapeutic approach.

In recent years, because of better understanding of molecular biology, EBUS-TBNA has gained a role also in the metastatic and locally recurrent disease. New target therapies, aimed at specific resistance mutation, have made re-biopsy a usual assessment at disease progression. This is of paramount importance for the oncologist, to detect histological shift or specific mutation such as T790M for EGFR-mutated ADC. While re-biopsy was, up until recent years, mainly confined to research, as of today it has therapeutic implication and actively change patients' outcome.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Nicholson AG, et al. The 2015 World Health Organization Classification of Lung Tumors: Impact of Genetic, Clinical and Radiologic Advances Since the 2004 Classification. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:1243-60.
- Uy KL, Darling G, Xu W, et al. Improved results of induction chemoradiation before surgical intervention for selected patients with stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2007;134:188-93.
- Deslauriers J, Pearson FG, Shamji F. editors. Lung Cancer, Part I: Screening, Diagnosis, and Staging. Elsevier 2013;23:A1-A6, 103-272.
- Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.
- Vilmann P, Clementsen PF, Colella S, et al. Combined endobronchial and oesophageal endosonography for the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline, in

cooperation with the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS). Eur Respir J 2015;46:40-60.

- Wahidi MM, Herth F, Yasufuku K, et al. Technical Aspects of Endobronchial Ultrasound-Guided Transbronchial Needle Aspiration: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. Chest 2016;149:816-35.
- Pignon JP, Tribodet H, Scagliotti GV, et al. Lung adjuvant cisplatin evaluation: a pooled analysis by the LACE Collaborative Group. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:3552-9.
- Kelsey CR, Marks LB, Hollis D, et al. Local recurrence after surgery for early stage lung cancer: an 11-year experience with 975 patients. Cancer 2009;115:5218-27.
- 9. Gazdar AF. Personalized medicine and inhibition of EGFR signaling in lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2009;361:1018-20.
- Sequist LV, Joshi VA, Jänne PA, et al. Response to treatment and survival of patients with non-small cell lung cancer undergoing somatic EGFR mutation testing. Oncologist 2007;12:90-8.
- Zhang H. Three generations of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors developed to revolutionize the therapy of lung cancer. Drug Des Devel Ther 2016;10:3867-72.
- Kwak EL, Bang YJ, Camidge DR, et al. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase inhibition in non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2010;363:1693-703.
- Soda M, Choi YL, Enomoto M, et al. Identification of the transforming EML4-ALK fusion gene in non-small-cell lung cancer. Nature 2007;448:561-6.
- Shaw AT, Kim DW, Nakagawa K, et al. Crizotinib versus chemotherapy in advanced ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2013;368:2385-94.
- 15. Kim DW, Mehra R, Tan DS, et al. Activity and safety of ceritinib in patients with ALK-rearranged non-smallcell lung cancer (ASCEND-1): updated results from the multicentre, open-label, phase 1 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016;17:452-63.
- Oxnard GR, Binder A, Jänne PA. New targetable oncogenes in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:1097-104.
- 17. Cooper WA, Lam DC, O'Toole SA, et al. Molecular Biology of Lung Cancer. J Thorac Dis 2013;5:S479-90.
- Yu Y, He J. Molecular classification of non-small-cell lung cancer: diagnosis, individualized treatment, and prognosis. Front Med 2013;7:157-71.
- Mok TS, Wu Y-L, Ahn M-J, et al. Osimertinib or Platinum-Pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-Positive Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2017;376:629-40.

Interventional Pulmonology

- 20. Navani N, Brown JM, Nankivell M, et al. Suitability of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration specimens for subtyping and genotyping of nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter study of 774 patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012;185:1316-22.
- Jekunen AP. Role of rebiopsy in relapsed non-small cell lung cancer for directing oncology treatments. J Oncol 2015;2015:809835.
- Oser MG, Niederst MJ, Sequist LV, et al. Transformation from non-small-cell lung cancer to small-cell lung cancer: molecular drivers and cells of origin. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:e165-72.
- 23. Morinaga R, Okamoto I, Furuta K, et al. Sequential occurrence of non-small cell and small cell lung cancer with the same EGFR mutation. Lung Cancer 2007;58:411-3.
- 24. Sequist LV, Waltman BA, Dias-Santagata D, et al. Genotypic and histological evolution of lung cancers acquiring resistance to EGFR inhibitors. Sci Transl Med

Cite this article as: Tuzi A, Bolzacchini E, Suter MB, Giaquinto A, Passaro A, Gobba S, Vallini I, Pinotti G. Biopsy and re-biopsy in lung cancer: the oncologist requests and the role of endobronchial ultrasounds transbronchial needle aspiration. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 5):S405-S409. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.04.09 2011;3:75ra26.

- 25. Yu HA, Arcila ME, Rekhtman N, et al. Analysis of tumor specimens at the time of acquired resistance to EGFR-TKI therapy in 155 patients with EGFR-mutant lung cancers. Clin Cancer Res 2013;19:2240-7.
- Shiao TH, Chang YL, Yu CJ, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in small cell lung cancer: a brief report. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:195-8.
- 27. Araki J, Okamoto I, Suto R, et al. Efficacy of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor gefitinib in a patient with metastatic small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2005;48:141-4.
- Okamoto I, Araki J, Suto R, et al. EGFR mutation in gefitinib-responsive small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2006;17:1028-9.
- 29. Yoshida T, Zhang G, Smith MA, et al. Tyrosine phosphoproteomics identifies both codrivers and cotargeting strategies for T790M-related EGFR-TKI resistance in non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2014;20:4059-74.

Endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration for mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: variability of results and perspectives

Elisa Nardecchia, Maria Cattoni, Lorenzo Dominioni

Center for Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Ospedale di Circolo, Varese, Italy *Correspondence to:* Lorenzo Dominioni, MD. Center for Thoracic Surgery, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Insubria, Ospedale di Circolo, Via Guicciardini, 9, Varese 21100, Italy. Email: lorenzo.dominioni@uninsubria.it.

Abstract: The remarkable value of endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) for mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is recognized worldwide. Reports from different centers however show considerable variation of EBUS-TBNA performance in terms of diagnostic yield, sensitivity and negative predictive value (NPV). Interpretation of EBUS-TBNA diagnostic efficacy requires clarifying whether the technique is used for purely diagnostic purpose or mediastinal staging, recognizing that different study groups may be inherently heterogeneous and that numerous factors may impact on the procedure outcomes. Review of these factors indicates that the prevalence of N2/N3 disease, the thoroughness of mediastinal sampling and >3 needle passes per target lymph node (LN) [in the absence of rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE)] influence the procedure outcomes, while many details in the sample preparation technique are unlikely to impact on the results and should be left to the proceduralists' preference. Generalized use of a standardized database for prospective collection of relevant EBUS-TBNA data would allow reporting institutional results by sub-groups of N2/N3 disease prevalence and thoroughness of staging, and would help establishing quality standards for the procedure.

Keywords: Endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA); lung cancer; mediastinal staging; diagnostic performance

Submitted Mar 01, 2017. Accepted for publication Mar 28, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.04.12 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.04.12

Introduction

Over the last 15 years endobronchial ultrasoundtransbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) has emerged as the technique of first choice for biopsy of mediastinal lymph nodes (LN). In patients with suspect/ known non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), the primary indications of EBUS-TBNA are tissue confirmation of computed tomography (CT)-enlarged or positron emission tomography (PET)-positive mediastinal LN, and systematic mediastinal LN staging, a major determinant of tumor resectability and prognosis. In selected patients with suspected lung cancer, the EBUS-TBNA technique may be used as first-line tissue sampling procedure; if this shows N2/N3 invasion and identifies the lung cancer subtype, simultaneous diagnosis and mediastinal staging of the disease can be obtained, and the duration and cost of the diagnostic process are reduced. Moreover, it may be helpful averting lung tumor biopsy when this is technically difficult, or high-risk (e.g., emphysematous patients), or inappropriate (e.g., patient unfit for surgery).

EBUS-TBNA for diagnosis of malignancy in mediastinal nodes is a highly effective technique, with a low (about 1%) rate of complications, almost exclusively minor (1-5). In the context of NSCLC diagnosis and staging, reports from different centers show considerable variation of EBUS-TBNA diagnostic yield (71–99%) (5-9), and of

Interventional Pulmonology

Table 1 Factors possibly affecting the efficacy of EBUS-TBNA for mediastinal staging of NSCLC

Factors
Prevalence of N2/N3 disease
Patient sedation method
Sample acquisition and preparation technique
Thoroughness of mediastinal staging
Learning curve and volume

EBUS-TBNA, endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

key performance indices, namely sensitivity (46–97%) and negative predictive value (NPV) (60–99%) (10). Discrepancies in the reported efficacy of the procedure and lack of generally accepted benchmarks for EBUS-TBNA outcomes complicate the comparison of findings across institutions. The performance indices of EBUS-TNBA mediastinal staging may be influenced by numerous factors (*Table 1*), the most relevant of which are the N2/N3 disease prevalence and the thoroughness of staging (10-12). We will focus on these factors, as they are important for interpreting differences in the procedure efficacy among institutions and for establishing quality standards of EBUS-TBNA practice.

Prevalence of N2/N3 disease

Prevalence of N2/N3 disease in the tested population of NSCLC patients impacts on the diagnostic performance of EBUS-TBNA (12-14). As indicated by the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) meta-analysis of EBUS-TBNA mediastinal staging, which included a total of 2,756 procedures (10), the prevalence of N2/N3 disease directly correlates with diagnostic sensitivity and inversely correlates with NPV: with <20% prevalence of mediastinal lymph nodal metastases, EBUS-TBNA showed 78% sensitivity and 96% NPV; with ≥80% prevalence, 96% sensitivity and 83% NPV (12). Because prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis is a major bias, it is not surprising that EBUS-TBNA diagnostic performance varies among series with different N2/N3 disease prevalence, and staging results are difficult to translate from one study to another (15). For meaningful assessment of the quality of EBUS-TBNA outcomes, it is necessary to know the prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis in the examined population (12).

Patient sedation method

Patient sedation for conducting EBUS-TBNA can be obtained by conscious sedation (usually with fentanyl and midazolam) or by general anesthesia (with propofol and oro-tracheal tube/laryngeal mask). Proponents of general anesthesia maintain that abolishing respiratory variation and cough facilitates sampling when target nodes are small and the patient is scarcely collaborating. Whether the type of sedation makes a difference in the procedure performance has been debated. There are no randomized studies documenting a superior diagnostic performance of EBUS-TBNA with either sedation method. In a retrospective multicentric study of EBUS-TBNA that we recently carried out, sampling adequacy rate was similar with general anesthesia and with conscious sedation (87% and 92%; P=0.09) (16), in agreement with the conclusion of current systematic literature reviews indicating that the choice of sedation method can be left to the operator preference (17,18).

Sample acquisition and preparation techniques

EBUS-TBNA procedures are generally performed with 21-Gauge (G) or 22-G needle. After reviewing the evidence from studies comparing the diagnostic yield of EBUS-TBNA with these two needle sizes, Wahidi et al. concluded that either size is an acceptable option (18). Some authors prefer the larger-bore needle (21-G) because it provides more tissue material, which can be used for histology and for molecular studies. In the context of potentially operable NSCLC, for thorough assessment of mediastinal node involvement it is generally agreed that 3 needle passes per target LN should be obtained, if rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) of samples is not used (17-20). Each pass should include 5 to 15 needle agitations within the target node (18), with or without suction (21). The important indication that three is the optimal number of punctures per target LN was provided by the study of Lee et al. who evaluated by EBUS-TBNA 163 LN stations in 102 NSCLC patients (19). In that study, each target LN was punctured four times, however after three passes the sample adequacy was 100%; the sensitivity for differentiating malignant from benign LN stations was 95.3% and did not increase with four passes (19).

The most frequently used techniques for EBUS-TBNA specimen acquisition and processing are cytology slides, cell-block, core-tissue, combination of cytology slides and

for mediasemai staging of fung earleer						
Authors	Year	Patients (n)	LN stations biopsied per patient (n)	Diagnostic yield (%)	Sensitivity (%)	
Yasufuku <i>et al.</i> (6)	2011	153	2.8	71	94	
Lee <i>et al.</i> (5)	2012	73	1.9	99	81	
Tian <i>et al.</i> (7)	2013	185	-	99	95	
Nakajima <i>et al.</i> (8)	2013	438	2.2	91	97	
Figueiredo <i>et al.</i> (9)	2015	149	2.7	87	96	
Median	_	-	2.5	95	95	

Table 2 Mean number of lymph node stations biopsied per patient, diagnostic yield and sensitivity in recent series of EBUS-TBNA procedures for mediastinal staging of lung cancer

EBUS-TBNA, endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration; LN, lymph nodes.

core-tissue, combination of cytology slides and cell-block. Only few studies comparing these techniques have been published and there is no consensus on the optimal method of specimen preparation (17). In our institute, a study was carried out to identify the best performing technique among those currently available for EBUS-TBNA specimen acquisition and processing; we found that the diagnostic yield with cytology smear and with core-tissue were high and similar (81% vs. 87%; P=0.44) (22). In the literature, like in our study, the comparison of cytology smear, coretissue and cell-block methods showed that no single method is superior to the others (23,24). Notably, we attained the highest diagnostic yield (100%) by combining two methods (cytology slides and core-tissue, or cytology slides and cellblock); however the use of two methods in combination is expensive and time-consuming (22). Considering that familiarity and expertise with a technique impacts on the final results, choice of needle size to use for EBUS-TBNA and of specimen processing method should be left to the operator experience and preference (17).

The influence of ROSE on quantity, quality and yield of EBUS-TBNA samples in patients with known or suspect lung cancer has been the object of a systematic literature review by Van der Heijden *et al.* (17). These authors provided guidelines for specimen acquisition and preparation, indicating that ROSE does not modify EBUS-TBNA diagnostic yield, nor does it affect the number of needle passes, the duration of the procedure, and the complication rate. However, when EBUS-TBNA was the first diagnostic procedure in patients with suspect lung cancer, ROSE was found to reduce the number of additional procedures (25,26).

In conclusion, the sample acquisition and preparation technique are unlikely to impact on EBUS-TBNA diagnostic yield, provided that at least three needle passes per target LN are done (in the absence of ROSE of samples).

Thoroughness of mediastinal staging

Mediastinal nodal staging is a critical step for determining the best treatment of NSCLC. For this purpose, until recently, mediastinoscopy was the generally accepted gold standard, with about 80% sensitivity and about 90% NPV in confirming N2/N3 disease (10). Pretreatment mediastinal staging of NSCLC has been revolutioned by the advent of EBUS-TBNA, a procedure characterized by sensitivity equivalent to that of mediastinoscopy (*Table 2*), but less invasive, less risky, and obviating the need for general anesthesia (10). As a result, in recent years EBUS-TBNA has almost replaced surgical staging by mediastinoscopy in many centers (6,12).

It has been remarked that the reliability of mediastinal staging with EBUS-TBNA, as with other staging techniques, largely depends on the thoroughness of the procedure (10,11,13,19). Thorough mediastinal staging by mediastinoscopy or EBUS-TBNA is best performed with systematic sampling, which requires biopsy of representative LNs in stations 2R, 2L, 4R, 4L, 7 (10). Current guidelines recommend aiming to target at least 3 LN stations (typically 4R, 4L and 7), including those LNs with CT/PET features suggestive of metastasis (6,10,12,20).

Despite these recommendations, in real life the EBUS-TBNA practice is generally characterized by <3 sampled mediastinal nodal stations per patient (27,28), for multiple reasons that include difficult punture of LNs, bleeding, restless patient, longer procedure, ROSE showing metastasis early in the procedure. In early reports of EBUS-TBNA, the median number of mediastinal LN stations sampled per patient was <2 (5), a result that has improved in more recent series (*Table 2*) and that needs further improvement (12). Limited thoroughness of mediastinal staging likely contributes to the variability of EBUS-TBNA staging accuracy in different studies.

Whether mediastinoscopy should be routinely done after negative EBUS-TBNA remains controversial (6,29-31). The prospective randomized trial of EBUS-TBNA vs. mediastinoscopy for staging of NSCLC performed by Yasufuku *et al.* showed equivalent effectiveness of the two techniques in determining the true pathologic N stage (6). However, for EBUS-TBNA negative cases at high risk of lung cancer metastases, the current ACCP and British Thoracic Society (BTS) guidelines recommend mediastinoscopy or other surgical approaches to obtain mediastinal nodes' biopsy (10,32).

Learning curve and volume

The skill and experience of the operator, usually an interventional pulmonologist or a thoracic surgeon, influence EBUS-TBNA results. For acquisition of the EBUS-TBNA technique the ACCP, the European Respiratory Society and the American Thoracic Society recommend an initial training of 40-50 supervised procedures. In addition, 20 procedures per year are suggested for maintaining competency (33,34). The speed of learning the EBUS-TBNA procedure varies for different operators, either highly experienced or trainee bronchoscopist (35,36). Furthermore, improvements in performance are reported even after doing 200 procedures, indicating that volume affects the quality of EBUS-TBNA outcomes (36,37). In a recent EBUS-TBNA workshop held in October 2016 in Varese, Italy, a multicentric study was presented that included 485 EBUS-TBNA mediastinal staging procedures in NSCLC patients and compared the outcomes of the five participating units. In all those centers, the prevalence of N2 disease was >70%, but wide variation was found in the rate of inadequate sampling (0-29%) and in the rate of false-negative (FN) EBUS-TBNA results (4–11% of all adequate samples); interestingly, the center with the largest EBUS volume (50 procedures/year) showed the lowest FN rate (4%), and the FN rate inversely correlated (P<0.009) with the volume of procedures in the individual centers (38).

To date, the length of the learning curve for EBUS-TBNA proficiency is unclear and is probably different for each operator; no diagnostic yield cut-off has yet been 85

established to define the standard capability of performing EBUS-TBNA.

Perspectives

Molecular testing

Improvement of target therapy makes tumor subtyping and genotyping increasingly necessary for management of lung cancer; obtaining from EBUS-TBNA a specimen suitable for molecular analysis is therefore important. The success in performing molecular tests on TBNA samples depends on the absolute number and percentage of malignant cells present in the sampled material, on quality of cell preservation and on type and sensitivity of the test itself (17,39). Recent reports from high-volume centers indicate that 72-97% of EBUS-TBNA samples are appropriate for testing the most frequently used prognostic markers of lung cancer, namely EGFR, ALK and KRAS (17,25,39,40). Both smear and cell block preparation, or core tissue, can be utilized for molecular testing (17,23); however, while EGFR and KRAS status can be determined using all three specimen preparation techniques, the ALK translocation is best assessed using cell block and core tissue (17). Cell block and core tissue are currently judged to be the best material for molecular analysis, suggesting to privilege these two processing methods if possible.

In advanced lung cancer patients whose treatment may vary on the molecular results, a recent randomized trial showed that ROSE increased by 10% (although not significantly) the success rate of EBUS-TBNA for genotyping, and reduced the number of redo procedures and of further investigations (25).

No randomized studies are available on the influence of needle size, use of suction and type of sedation on the adequacy of samples for molecular testing. In patients undergoing EBUS-TBNA for diagnosis and/or staging of suspect/known NSCLC, more than three needle passes may be necessary to obtain sufficient material for molecular testing (18,30); it is therefore recommended that additional samples be obtained for EGFR and ALK testing (41).

Quality standards

The vast majority of published EBUS-TBNA studies consist of retrospective cohort reports without pre-defined standards and represent real life practice. Efforts should be made to shift from targeted sampling of enlarged or PET

positive nodes to systematic mediastinal node sampling (12); this will likely improve the thoroughness of staging, the accuracy of EBUS-TBNA and the interpretation of local performance data. EBUS-TBNA guidelines have been made available from expert centers (17,18) but quality standards for assessment of EBUS-TBNA performance have not yet been established, with the exception of the 2014 BTS Quality Standard that states a minimum of 88% sensitivity for mediastinal staging of suspected NSCLC (42). EBUS-TBNA practice needs to be standardized to ensure the best outcomes in all institutions (12). To this effect, the performance of staging could be measured by the sensitivity and NPV metrics, stratifying the population by prevalence of N2/N3 disease, because the latter influences both sensitivity and NPV. The ACCP guidelines on NSCLC staging classify patients into four groups (A, B, C, D), according to the index staging CT scan of the chest (10); this classification correlates with N2/N3 disease prevalence and may be used to define standards for nodal staging and for comparison of EBUS-TBNA outcomes across centers (12). Importantly, for meaningful comparison of EBUS-TBNA results, the data should be gathered prospectively, because those retrospectively collected are frequently uncertain as to the indication to perform EBUS-TBNA (diagnosis vs. mediastinal staging), the prevalence of N2/N3 disease, and the exact LN stations successfully sampled. An important step forward will be made when the use of a standardized database for prospective collection of relevant EBUS-TBNA data will be generalized (12).

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Eapen GA, Shah AM, Lei X, et al. Complications, consequences, and practice patterns of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: Results of the AQuIRE registry. Chest 2013;143:1044-53.
- Gu P, Zhao YZ, Jiang LY, et al. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration for staging of lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J

Cancer 2009;45:1389-96.

- Varela-Lema L, Fernández-Villar A, Ruano-Ravina A. Effectiveness and safety of endobronchial ultrasoundtransbronchial needle aspiration: a systematic review. Eur Respir J 2009;33:1156-64.
- Micames CG, McCrory DC, Pavey DA, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for non-small cell lung cancer staging: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Chest 2007;131:539-48.
- Lee BE, Kletsman E, Rutledge JR, et al. Utility of endobronchial ultrasound-guided mediastinal lymph node biopsy in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;143:585-90
- Yasufuku K, Pierre A, Darling G, et al. A prospective controlled trial of endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration compared with mediastinoscopy for mediastinal lymph node staging of lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;142:1393-400.
- Tian Q, Chen L, Wang R, et al. The reason of false negative results of endobronchial ultrasoundtransbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of intrapulmonary and mediastinal malignancy. Thoracic Cancer 2013;4:186-90.
- Nakajima T, Yasufuku K, Saegusa F, et al. Rapid on-site cytologic evaluation during endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration for nodal staging in patients with lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;95:1695-9.
- Figueiredo VR, Cardoso PF, Jacomelli M, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for lung cancer staging: early experience in Brazil. J Bras Pneumol 2015;41:23-30.
- Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.
- Detterbeck FC, Jantz MA, Wallace M, et al. Invasive mediastinal staging of lung cancer: ACCP evidencebased clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest 2007;132:202S-20S.
- Evison M, Crosbie P, Navani N, et al. How should performance in EBUS mediastinal staging in lung cancer be measured? Br J Cancer 2016;115:e9.
- Kennedy MP, Jimenez CA, Morice RC, et al. Factors influencing the diagnostic Yield of Endobronchial Ultrasound-guided Transbronchial Needle Aspiration. J

Interventional Pulmonology

Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2010;17:202-8.

- Holty JE, Kuschner WG, Gould MK. Accuracy of transbronchial needle aspiration for mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Thorax 2005;60:949-55.
- 15. Cerfolio RJ, Bryant AS, Eloubeidi MA, et al. The true false negative rates of esophageal and endobronchial ultrasound in the staging of mediastinal lymph nodes in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;90:427-34.
- Rotolo N, Imperatori A, Nosotti M, et al. Multicentric study of endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration for lung cancer staging in Italy. J Thorac Dis 2017;9:S370-S375.
- 17. Van der Heijden EH, Casal RF, Trisolini R, et al. Guideline for the acquisition and preparation of conventional and endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration specimens for the diagnosis and molecular testing of patients with known or suspected lung cancer. Respiration 2014;88:500-17.
- Wahidi MM, Herth F, Yasufuku K, et al. Technical Aspects of Endobronchial Ultrasound-Guided Transbronchial Needle Aspiration: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. Chest 2016;149:816-35.
- Lee HS, Lee GK, Lee HS, et al. Real-time endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration in mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: how many aspirations per target lymph node station? Chest 2008;134:368-74.
- De Leyn P, Dooms C, Kuzdzal J, et al. Revised ESTS guidelines for preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging for non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;45:787-98.
- 21. Casal RF, Staerkel GA, Ost D, et al. Randomized clinical trial of endobronchial ultrasound needle biopsy with and without aspiration. Chest 2012;142:568-73.
- 22. Rotolo N, Cattoni M, Crosta G, et al. Comparison of multiple techniques for endobronchial ultrasoundtransbronchial needle aspiration specimen preparation in a single institution experience. J Thorac Dis 2017;9:S381-S385.
- 23. Navani N, Brown JM, Nankivell M, et al. Suitability of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration specimens for subtyping and genotyping of nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter study of 774 patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012;185:1316-22.
- 24. Steinfort DP, Russell PA, Tsui A, et al. Interobserver agreement in determining non-small cell lung cancer

subtype in specimens acquired by EBUS- TBNA. Eur Respir J 2012;40:699-705.

- 25. Trisolini R, Cancellieri A, Tinelli C, et al. Randomized Trial of Endobronchial Ultrasound-Guided Transbronchial Needle Aspiration With and Without Rapid Onsite Evaluation for Lung Cancer Genotyping. Chest 2015;148:1430-7.
- 26. Oki M, Saka H, Ando M, et al. Endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine needle aspiration and endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: Are two better than one in mediastinal staging of nonsmall cell lung cancer? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;148:1169-77.
- Jeebun V, Harrison RN. Understanding local performance data for EBUS-TBNA: insights from an unselected case series at a high volume UK center. J Thorac Dis 2017. [Epub ahead of print].
- Evison M, Crosbie P, Martin J, et al. EBUS-guided mediastinal lung cancer staging: monitoring of quality standards improves performance. Thorax 2016;71:762-3.
- Taverner J, Cheang MY, Antippa P. Negative EBUS-TBNA predicts very low prevalence of mediastinal disease in staging of non-small cell lung cancer. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2016;23:177-80.
- Kinsey CM, Arenberg DA. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration for non-small cell lung cancer staging. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014;189:640-9.
- Rusch VW. Mediastinoscopy: an obsolete procedure? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;142:1400-2.
- 32. Du Rand IA, Barber PV, Goldring J, et al. Summary of the British Thoracic Society guidelines for advanced diagnostic and therapeutic flexible bronchoscopy in adults. Thorax 2011;66:1014-5.
- Ernst A, Silvestri GA, Johnstone D. Interventional pulmonary procedures: Guidelines from the American College of Chest Physicians. Chest 2003;123:1693-717.
- Bolliger CT, Mathur PN, Beamis JF, et al. ERS/ATS statement on interventional pulmonology. European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society. Eur Respir J 2002;19:356-73.
- Kemp SV, El Batrawy SH, Harrison RN, et al. Learning curves for endobronchial ultrasound using cusum analysis. Thorax 2010;65:534-8.
- Stather DR, Chee A, MacEachern P, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound learning curve in interventional pulmonary fellows. Respirology 2015;20:333-9.
- 37. Hu Y, Puri V, Crabtree TD, et al. Attaining proficiency

Elisa et al. EBUS-TBNA for mediastinal staging of NSCLC

with endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013;146:1387-92.

- Rotolo N, Nosotti M, Santambrogio L, et al. Falsenegative rate and volume of EBUS-TBNA procedures for NSCLC staging: a multicenter study in Italy. Proceedings of the 25th European Conference on General Thoracic Surgery, Innsbruck, Austria, 2017.
- VanderLaan PA, Wang HH, Majid A, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA): an overview and update for the cytopathologist. Cancer Cytopathol 2014;122:561-76.
- 40. Casadio C, Guarize J, Donghi S, et al. Molecular Testing

Cite this article as: Nardecchia E, Cattoni M, Dominioni L. Endobronchial ultrasound-transbronchial needle aspiration for mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: variability of results and perspectives. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 5):S418-S424. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.04.12 for Targeted Therapy in Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Suitability of Endobronchial Ultrasound Transbronchial Needle Aspiration. Am J Clin Pathol 2015;144:629-34.

- Yarmus L, Akulian J, Gilbert C, et al. Optimizing endobronchial ultrasound for molecular analysis. How many passes are needed? Ann Am Thorac Soc 2013;10:636-43.
- 42. BTS Quality Standards for Flexible Bronchoscopy in Adults. Available online: https://www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/ document-library/clinical-information/bronchoscopy/btsquality-standards-for-flexible-bronchoscopy-2014/

The role of endobronchial ultrasound versus mediastinoscopy for non-small cell lung cancer

Katarzyna Czarnecka-Kujawa^{1,2}, Kazuhiro Yasufuku²

¹Division of Respirology, ²Division of Thoracic Surgery, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network; University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: PubMed; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: K Czarnecka-Kujawa; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: None; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Katarzyna Czarnecka-Kujawa. Division of Respirology, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Toronto General Hospital, University Health Network; University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada. Email: kasia.czarnecka@uhn.ca.

Abstract: This review provides an update on the current role of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) and mediastinoscopy (Med) in assessment of patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Invasive mediastinal lymph node (LN) staging is the major application for both of these techniques. Up until recently, Med was the gold standard for invasive mediastinal LN staging in NSCLC. However, EBUS-TBNA has shown to be equivalent, and in some studies better than Med for invasive staging of lung cancer. EBUS-TBNA offers access to N1 LNs and development of the thin convex probe EBUS (TCP-EBUS) will expand EBUS-TBNA access from the paratracheal region and central airways to more distal parabronchial regions allowing for more extensive N1 LN assessment and sampling more distal lung tumors. EBUS-TBNA is more cost-effective than Med and it is currently recommended as the test of first choice for invasive mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer. Confirmatory Med should be performed selectively in patients with high pretest probability of metastatic disease. Addition of esophageal ultrasound fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) may increase diagnostic yield of EBUS-TBNA mediastinal staging. Both Med and EBUS-TBNA can be used in primary lung cancer diagnosis, restaging of the mediastinum following neoadjuvant therapy and in diagnosis of lung cancer recurrence. In the future, a combination of EBUS-TBNA with or without EUS-FNA and Med is most likely going to provide the most optimal invasive assessment of the mediastinum in patients with lung cancer. The decision on test choice and sequence should be made on a case-by-case basis and factoring in local resources and expertise.

Keywords: Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA); mediastinoscopy (Med); lung cancer

Submitted Nov 07, 2016. Accepted for publication Jan 02, 2017. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.102 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.03.102

Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer mortality worldwide (1). Despite evolving knowledge of lung cancer, its molecular genetics and improved ways of detection, the overall 5-year survival is still poor at approximately 18% (1). Accurate staging of patients with lung cancer is important as it determines the treatment and affects the outcome. Assessment of patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) includes non-invasive staging [i.e., computed tomography (CT) of the chest, PET-CT, MRI of the brain] and invasive staging [mediastinal lymph node (LN) sampling].

In lung cancer patients, the role of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) and mediastinoscopy (Med) centers on invasive evaluation, specifically diagnosis and staging. The techniques also have a role in lung cancer restaging following neoadjuvant therapy in patients with N2 disease considered for a definitive surgical management, and detection of lung cancer recurrence.

In this article, we discuss the current role of EBUS-TBNA and Med in assessment of patients with NSCLC.

EBUS-TBNA and Med—role in lung cancer staging

Mediastinal staging in patients with NSCLC is a crucial step, offering prognostic information and guiding management. Detection of mediastinal nodal metastases can prevent futile surgeries. The non-invasive staging improves detection of intra- and extra-thoracic metastases, however, it cannot provide a definitive tissue diagnosis and is associated with relatively low sensitivity, specificity and high false positive and negative rates (2-8). Thus, CT chest and PET-CT "positive" results should be confirmed pathologically by invasive pre-operative staging (2,9). In addition, invasive mediastinal LN staging is indicated in patients with: (I) tumors >3 cm in size; (II) central tumors (central third of the hemithorax); (III) distinct enlargement or FDG avid N1 LN (2,9,10). Invasive mediastinal staging is also important in non-surgical candidates with clinical Stage IA disease considered for stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) or ablative therapy [i.e., radiofrequency ablation (RFA)] in order to rule out N1 disease which would prelude use of these therapies (2).

Until just over two decades ago, mediastinal LN staging was performed with the use of bronchoscopic technique of a blind conventional TBNA and surgical invasive techniques including: Med, specifically cervical Med and less commonly, left anterior mediastinotomy (a.k.a. Chamberlain procedure). In addition, extended cervical Med, and more recently, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) and "supermediastinoscopies", including transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy (TEMLA) and video-assisted mediastinal lymphadenectomy (VAMLA) have become available (11,12). EBUS-TBNA has become available for mediastinal LN staging in the last 14 years. All surgical techniques require general anesthesia.

Surgical mediastinal LN staging

Med allows access to the upper paratracheal (stations 2R and 2L), lower paratracheal (stations 4R and 4L), anterior subcarinal (station 7) as well as hilar (stations 10R and 10L)

LNs. Med cannot access the pulmonary ligament (station 9), paraesophageal (station 8), posterior subcarinal (station 7), and the aorto-pulmonary window (APW; stations 5 and 6) LNs. The video-assisted Med has now replaced the traditional Med in majority of thoracic surgery centers, increasing procedure safety and diagnostic performance in lung cancer staging (2). Anterior mediastinotomy (a.k.a Chamberlain procedure) allows access to station 5 and 6 LNs via the left second intercostal space (13). Reported sensitivity and negative predictive value (NPV) of anterior mediastinotomy in assessment of AP window LNs is 78% and 91% respectively (2). Extended cervical Med introduced by Kirschner in 1971, and popularized by Ginsburg, allows access to levels 5, 6, 2, 4 and 7 (14-16). Reported sensitivity of extended Med ranges from 71% to 81% while NPV is 91% (13). VAMLA allows access to bilateral paratracheal and subcarinal LNs (17). VAMLA sensitivity in lung cancer staging is: 0.96 (95% CI, 0.81-99.3); specificity, 1 (95% CI, 0.97-1.00); PPV 1 (95% CI, 0.87-1.00); NPV 0.99 (95% CI, 0.95-0.99); and diagnostic accuracy, 0.99 (95% CI, 0.96-0.99). TEMLA is an open technique, allowing access to stations 1, 2R, 2L, 3a, 4R, 4L, 5, 6, 7 and 8 LNs. Large number of nodes can be removed (mean 43; range, 26-85) (11,12). Reported sensitivity and NPV of TEMLA in detection of mediastinal LN metastases is 0.9 and 0.95, respectively. In contrast to other surgical mediastinal sampling methods, TEMLA and VAMLA offer complete lymphadenectomy (17). However, the high rate of complications (6.0-13.2%) make use of both VAMLA and TEMLA unpopular given development of endoscopic techniques with comparable diagnostic yield but much better safety profile and shorter procedure duration (11,12,17,18).

In this review, all Med data presented pertain to video assisted-cervical Med (the most commonly used surgical mediastinal assessment modality), unless specified otherwise.

In mediastinal LN staging of primary lung cancer, Med yield depends on LN location and operator skills (19,20). In a recent systematic review assessing Med performance in 995 patients with clinical N0 to N3 disease, Med sensitivity was 89% and NPV of 92% (2).

Med is an invasive procedure performed in an operating room. It requires general anesthesia. A transverse incision is made above the sternal notch to access the paratracheal fascia. Video mediastinoscope is then inserted into the mediastinum after blunt digital dissection and palpation of the mediastinal vessels with further blunt dissection to access the mediastinal LNs. Generally, Med is a safe procedure, performed in outpatient setting. Reported complication rate is up to 2.5%, including a pneumothorax, infection and injury to the major mediastinal vessels (which can lead to a life threatening bleeding), peripheral nerves (which can result in vocal cord palsy), bronchi and the esophagus. Mortality has been reported at 0.08% in relation to vascular injury (21). The procedure is contraindicated in patients with tracheostomy, severe cervical spine arthritis or instability that prohibits neck extension. Mediastinal adhesions may make a repeat Med challenging (21-23).

Endoscopic mediastinal staging with EBUS-TBNA

Introduction of radial probe endobronchial ultrasound (RP-EBUS) in the early 1990's, has introduced the idea of less invasive mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer (24-27). Besides its role in diagnosis of peribronchial lesions (28,29) RP-EBUS has been used to guide TBNA in patients with mediastinal lymphadenopathy and in lung cancer mediastinal LN staging. Diagnostic yield of RP-EBUS guided TBNA of mediastinal LNs ranged between 72% and 80% [in a population with high prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis (86%)] (27,30). However, it wasn't until the early 2000's, and introduction of convex probe EBUS (CP-EBUS) that mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer has undergone a revolutionary change (31,32).

CP-EBUS is a flexible bronchoscope integrated with a convex transducer at the tip which scans parallel to the insertion direction of the bronchoscope. The outer and inner diameters of the insertion tube are 6.9mm and 6.2mm, respectively. Incorporation of EBUS at the tip of a flexible bronchoscope allows for real-time TBNA of the visualized structures (LNs, tumors). The ultrasound probe has B-mode and power color Doppler capabilities, allowing differentiation of LNs from vascular structures. In addition, the newer EU-ME2 processor (Olympus) is equipped with the elastography function. Elastography allows for real time assessment of LN deformability (which may be altered in a pathological LN) taking advantage of the tissue distortion caused by the compressions or vibrations generated by the heartbeat or vascular pulsations) (33). Elastography may offer a useful non-invasive adjunct to endosonographic LN assessment, pointing out the areas which are more likely to be involved with tumor, for a more directed TBNA (34).

Similar to Med, CP-EBUS can access station 2R, 2L, 4R, 4L and 7 LNs. Posteriorly and deep located station 7 LNs may not be readily accessible to Med, resulting in false negative results, but can be easily assessed with EBUS-

TBNA (19,35). EBUS-TBNA can reach N1 LNs, including the hilar (station 10), interlobar (station 11) and some of the lobar LNs (station 12) which are not accessible by Med.

Neither EBUS-TBNA nor Med can access prevascular (3A), sub-aortic (station 5), para-aortic (station 6), paraesophageal (station 8) and pulmonary ligament (station 9) nodes.

EBUS-TBNA is a safe procedure, with an average complication rate of 1.23% (95% CI, 0.97-1.48%). Reported complications include: hemorrhage (0.68%), infection (0.19%) (mediastinitis, pneumonia, pericarditis, cyst infection, sepsis) pneumothorax (0.03%). EBUS-TBNA reported mortality is 0.01% (36,37). EBUS-TBNA is an out-patient procedure that can be performed safely in an endoscopy suite, under conscious sedation (38).

The first study report of EBUS-TBNA in mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer showed sensitivity of 94.5%, specificity and PPV of 100%, NPV of 89.5% and diagnostic accuracy of 96.3% (31). The prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis was 63%. In 19% of patients, in addition to offering staging information, EBUS-TBNA provided diagnostic information, eliminating the need for further invasive tests. EBUS-TBNA staging, prevented 29 mediastinoscopy, eight thoracotomies, four thoracoscopies and nine percutaneous LN biopsies, streamlining the diagnostic work-up (31). Another study of EBUS-TBNA staging in a population with high prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis (98.2%) and mediastinal lymphadenopathy confirmed high diagnostic performance of EBUS-TBNA with sensitivity, specificity, diagnostic yield and accuracy of 94%, 100%, 93% and 94%, respectively. However, NPV was only 11% suggesting that in a population of patients with high pretest probability of mediastinal nodal metastasis, confirmatory Med or other staging procedure should be performed to exclude false negatives (39).

Lung cancer management strategies have now been expanded to include non-surgical strategies like SBRT and RFA. In addition, tissue-sparing surgery (wedge, sublobar resection) have become more popular and may be the only treatment option for non-surgical candidates. Post-SBRT local failure can be as high as 15%. This may be due to undetected nodal metastasis in patients undergoing treatment under presumption that the clinical stage correlates with the pathological stage (2,40-48). In addition, lung cancer screening programs have proliferated since the recent lung cancer screening recommendations of the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force (49). These developments may expand the pool of patients with early disease who
Ctudy	Voor		Drevelance of NO/NO disease (0/)	Sensitiv	vity (%)	Negative predictive value (%)	
Sludy	rear	11	Frevalence of N2/N3 disease (%)	EBUS Med EBUS	Med		
Ernst <i>et al</i> . (20)	2008	66	89	87	68	78	59
Yasufuku et al. (35)	2011	153	32	81	79	91	90
Um <i>et al</i> . (19)	2015	127	59	88	81	85	79

Table 1 Performance characteristics of EBUS-TBNA and Med in mediastinal lymph node staging in patients with lung cancer

qualify for minimally invasive diagnosis and treatment. Furthermore, given improved survival in patients with single versus multiple N1 LNs involvement, preoperative chemotherapy (not currently standard of care because of the lack of studies proving benefit) may become an option for patients with multiple N1 nodal disease. All of these recent developments stress the growing need for invasive nodal staging that extends beyond the mediastinum and into the hilar, interlobar, and perhaps even the lobar LNs (50). Performance of Med and EBUS-TBNA has been assessed in patients with clinical N0 disease.

A recent systematic review, showed that yield of videoassisted Med, unlike that of the traditional Med, is not affected by the prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis (sensitivity of 89% in cN0-3) (2). EBUS-TBNA has varying performance in patients with clinical N0 disease. Some studies report sensitivity and NPV ranging between 89-92.3% and 96.3-98.9%, respectively (44,45), while others show sensitivity and NPV ranging between 35-60% and 88.4-93.4% (41,43). There may be a variety of reasons for this discrepancy aside from clinical expertise of the operator: (I) presence of multiple LNs at a station, but only selective LN sampling; (II) LNs inaccessible to EBUS-TBNA sampling (i.e., vascular structures in the needle path); (III) micrometastases in LNs not sampled (i.e., in many studies the lower limit of LN size considered for TBNA was 5 mm, with LNs smaller than that not sampled); (IV) micrometastases in small LNs which may be more challenging to sample. Some authors reported higher percentage of non-diagnostic results from LNs smaller than 5 mm in size, suggesting that this may represent the lower limit of EBUS-TBNA accessibility beyond which, adequate tissue sampling may be challenging and negative results should be interpreted with caution (35). EBUS-TBNA can accurately distinguish between the pathological N0 and N1 disease with sensitivity, specificity, diagnostic accuracy and NPV of 73%, 100%, 96.6% and 96.2%, respectively (51). Overall, EBUS-TBNA can correctly identify mediastinal nodal metastasis in ~1 out of 3 patients with clinical N0

disease. Given the EBUS-TBNA safety profile and the advantage of access to N1 LNs, staging with EBUS-TBNA may become an important step in work-up of patients with early lung cancer.

To date, systematic reviews and four meta-analysis evaluated performance of EBUS-TBNA in lung cancer staging (2,52-55). Populations with different prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis were included (prevalence range 33.7% to 99.3%). Data from nearly 3,000 patients were analysed, 36 studies, spanning 12 years (from 2002 to 2012). Overall, EBUS-TBNA demonstrated excellent sensitivity and specificity of 0.88–0.93 (95% CI, 0.79–0.94) and 1.00 (95% CI, 0.92–1.00), respectively; NPV of 91% (range, 83–96%) (2,52-54).

EBUS-TBNA vs. Med: a comparison of diagnostic performance in mediastinal LN staging

EBUS-TBNA performance in mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer has also been compared to that of Med, in prospective studies (19,20,35) (Table 1) and recently in a meta-analysis (56). Populations with moderate and high prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis were assessed (prevalence ranged from 32% to 89%). Yasufuku et al. performed a first heard-to-head comparison of EBUS-TBNA and Med staging in a cohort of 153 patients with potentially resectable lung cancer. Sensitivity, NPV, and diagnostic accuracy of EBUS-TBNA and Med were 81%, 91%, 93% and 79%, 90% and 93%, respectively. Specificity and the PPV for both staging procedures were 100%. This study demonstrated that in expert hands and controlled setting, EBUS-TBNA is equivalent to Med in mediastinal LN staging (35). Ernst et al. study showed similar results (20). Ninety three percent vs. 82% of patients with lung cancer evaluated by EBUS-TBNA and Med, respectively, had their pathological stage correctly identified (P=0.083). Overall, sensitivity and NPV of EBUS-TBNA and Med were 89% vs. 68% and 78% vs. 59%, respectively. However, per LN analysis showed that EBUS-TBNA had higher diagnostic accuracy (91%) than Med (78%, P=0.007). There was a discrepancy in diagnostic yield at station 7 (79% for Med vs. 98% for EBUS-TBNA, P=0.007). Recently, Um et al. demonstrated that EBUS-TBNA can have a superior to Med performance in lung cancer staging in a cohort of patients with biopsy proven lung cancer (19). EBUS-TBNA and Med sensitivity and diagnostic accuracy were 88% vs. 81.3% and 92.9% vs. 89%, respectively (P=0.005). No difference was demonstrated between the procedures in specificity (100% for both), PPV (100% EBUS-TBNA vs. 89% Med) and NPV (EBUS-TBNA 85.2% vs. 78.8% Med). Similar to the Ernst et al. study, there was a discrepancy between the modalities in disease detection at station 7 LN, with a non-significant trend towards inferior yield with Med than EBUS-TBNA, 75% vs. 82% (P=0.0614). However, Med yield at station 4L was significantly lower than that of EBUS-TBNA (52.4% vs. 81%, P=0.0270).

Recently, a large meta-analysis was conducted comparing indirectly diagnostic yield of mediastinal staging with EBUS-TBNA to that of Med (56). Ten EBUS-TBNA and seven Med studies were included. Outcomes of nearly 1,000 patients staged were analysed and compared. Overall, sensitivity for detection of mediastinal metastasis was equivalent between EBUS-TBNA and Med at 0.84 (95% CI, 0.79–0.88) and 0.86 (95% CI, 0.82–0.90), respectively (P=0.6321). Med was associated with fewer false negatives, which in both staging modalities were attributed to metastasis in inaccessible LNs (station 5 and 6) and inadequate sampling at accessible LNs. Med, was associated with more complications (17 vs. 4). EBUS-TBNA related complications were minor and resolved without intervention.

These studies confirm that both techniques have similar performance in mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer, with EBUS-TBNA being less invasive, better tolerated and with fewer and only minor complications. These findings led to a recent recommendation by the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) that the endoscopic mediastinal staging with EBUS-TBNA or esophageal ultrasound fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) be the tests of first choice in invasive mediastinal LN staging, and that they be followed by Med in case of negative results if the index of suspicion for metastatic disease is high (2,9).

Combined ultrasonography

Given that neither Med nor EBUS-TBNA can access stations 5, 6, 8 and 9 nodes, some authors have advocated

for a combined approach, and adding EUS-FNA to EBUS-TBNA [combined ultrasonography (CUS)] for mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer (57,58). EUS-FNA is complimentary to EBUS-TBNA and Med in terms of mediastinal LN access. It allows access to station 2R, 2L, 4L, 4R, 5, 7, 8 and 9 LNs. EUS-FNA can also access L adrenal, left lobe of the liver and celiac axis, some of which are common sites of metastasis from lung cancer. However, due to intervening airways, right sided upper paratracheal (2R, 2L) and lower paratracheal (4R) LNs may be more challenging to access. Detailed performance analysis of EUS-FNA in mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer is beyond the scope of this review, nonetheless, EUS-FNA sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV in mediastinal LN staging is equivalent to that of EBUS-TBNA at 89%, 100%, 100% and 86% respectively (2).

CUS has been shown to improve access to the mediastinum (59) and the extended LN sampling that occurs with both modalities combined may improve diagnostic yield as compared to EBUS-TBNA alone, thanks to detection of additional metastatic foci (59-61). The concept of CUS was first presented by Vilmann et al. (60). Thirty-one patients with suspected or proven lung cancer underwent CUS. A total of 119 lesions were sampled by EUS-FNA (n=59) and EBUS-TBNA (n=60). Cancer diagnosis was made in 26 EUS-FNA and 28 EBUS-TBNA sampled lesions, respectively. Eleven additional cancer diagnoses and three samples with suspicious cells were obtained by EBUS-TBNA that had not been obtained by the EUS-FNA. Conversely, 12 additional cancer diagnoses, one suspicious and one specific benign diagnosis (sarcoidosis) were found by EUS-FNA that had not been picked up by EBUS-TBNA. Mediastinal involvement was confirmed in 20 of the 28 patients in whom a final diagnosis was obtained. The accuracy of CUS, for diagnosis of mediastinal metastasis was 100% (95% CI, 83-100%).

Whether two dedicated scopes are used (a dedicated EBUS-TBNA scope and a dedicated EUS-FNA scope) or EBUS scope following the EBUS-TBNA is used to perform transesophageal needle aspiration (TENA), CUS sensitivity, NPV and diagnostic accuracy have been shown to remain high and perhaps higher than that of EBUS-TBNA alone (59,61,62). One study reported sensitivity and NPV of CUS of 96% vs. EBUS-TBNA alone of 92%, in lung cancer staging. However, no p value was provided for this difference. Another study showed, again, high EBUS-TBNA and CUS sensitivity, NPV and diagnostic accuracy of 84.4%, 93.3%, and 95.1% vs. 91.1%, 96.1%

and 97.2%; P=0.332, P=0.37 9, and P=0.360, respectively but with no statistically significant difference between the two approaches (59). The diagnostic yield was not affected regardless of whether one or two scopes were used for the CUS (59,61,63). However, one scope CUS significantly reduced procedure time as compared to the two scope approach (25 ± 4.4 vs. 14.9 ± 2.3 min, P=0.001) (63).

Based on these results, some authors argue for the use of CUS in mediastinal LN staging in patients with lung cancer and promote the use of EBUS-TENA over EBUS-TBNA for time-saving purposes (61,62,64,65). However, there are some important aspects of these studies that need to be taken into consideration before CUS can be recommended routinely. Herth et al. reported only three cases where positive results were obtained exclusively by EBUS-TENA from station 2L, 10L, and 7, all of which are accessible by EBUS-TBNA (61). In another study, three exclusively positive cases determined by EBUS-TENA (2.1% of patients) were from station 4L and 5 (frequently involved together with station 4L which is accessible to EBUS-TBNA). Stations 8 and 9 LNs did not contribute to increased diagnostic yield by EBUS-TENA in that study (59). Overall, prevalence of mediastinal LN metastasis in stations inaccessible to EBUS-TBNA is low, ranging between 0.19-1.2% for station 8, and 0.83-2.2% in stations 5 and 6 (35,58,62). The low prevalence of mediastinal metastasis in exclusively EUS-accessible LNs, limitations of EUS including underdiagnoses of N3 disease in left-sided tumors, and N2 disease in right-sided tumors (due to decreased diagnostic yield resulting from higher rate of false negatives in the R-sided LNs due to reduced LN visualization through the air-filled trachea) and given the equivalent to Med yield of EBUS-TBNA in hands of a skilled operator, may be the reasons behind the lack of statistically significant difference in diagnostic yield when adding EUS-FNA to EBUS-TBNA staging, while a statistically significant increase in diagnostic yield has been achieved by adding EBUS-TBNA to EUS-FNA (66).

The use of EBUS through the esophagus to increase the yield further or CUS using two scopes may not be justifiable from the health economics perspective and instead a selective use of CUS should be implemented if there is a high index of suspicion of metastasis in EBUS-TBNA inaccessible LNs. In 2005, Rintoul *et al.* selectively added EUS-FNA to EBUS-TBNA staging in 7 out of 20 patients subjected to endoscopic staging. Five of those patients had additional pathologic diagnosis detected by the EUS-FNA that wouldn't have been obtained with EBUS- TBNA alone. CUS sensitivity, specificity and accuracy were 85% (95% CI, 54.6–98.1%), 100% (95% CI, 47.8–100%) and 89% (95% CI, 65.3–98.6%), respectively (67).

A recent prospective study of mediastinal staging in patients with lung cancer, compared the yield of combined EBUS-EUS and Med with the results of surgical lymphadenectomy. CUS and Med approach diagnosed additional N2/N3 and M1 disease in 14% of study patients that had not been detected by the Med approach, preventing inappropriate surgical resections. CUS sensitivity, NPV and diagnostic accuracy was 91%, 100%, 96% and 97%, respectively. Interestingly, NPV and diagnostic accuracy of EBUS alone, CUS and Med compared with mediastinal lymphadenectomy at thoracotomy were quite similar (–90%, 95%CI, –0.84 to 0.95) (68).

Use of confirmatory Med after negative EBUS-TBNA

A positive result with mediastinal LN staging with EBUS-TBNA has a significant impact on patient management and may result in improved survival (2,24,69-71). However, if EBUS-TBNA staging is negative, the question remains whether there is a role for a confirmatory Med in this setting, and if so, which patients should it be offered to.

Performance of EBUS-TBNA depends on the operator's skill and prevalence of mediastinal metastasis in the studied population. In skilled hands, performance of EBUS-TBNA has been shown to be equivalent or better than that of Med (19,35). In a population with intermediate prevalence of mediastinal metastasis (35%), Yasufuku et al. showed sensitivity and NPV of EBUS-TBNA of 81% and 91%, respectively (35). Combined EBUS-TBNA and Med improved sensitivity to 91% and NPV to 96%. This represents an overall 5% increase in NPV and number needed to treat of nine. In other words, in a population with intermediate prevalence of nodal metastasis, both procedures would have to be performed in nine patients to detect one patient with metastatic disease. In a patient population with clinical N0 disease, surgical staging may not contribute significantly to improving diagnostic yield. Szlubowski et al. demonstrated CUS sensitivity, specificity, diagnostic accuracy, PPV and NPV of 68% (95% CI, 48-84%), 98% (95% CI, 92-100%), 91% (95% CI, 86-96%), 91% (95% CI, 70-99%) and 91% (95% CI, 83-96%). TEMLA was performed in 99 patients whose CUS was negative detecting 9 additional cases of mediastinal metastatic disease (8%) (72).

Therefore, in a patient population with clinical N0 disease and low prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis,

confirmatory Med following negative EBUS-TBNA staging, may not be justifiable. Annema et al. compared the yield of CUS and Med combined to that of Med in a population of patients with high prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis (49%) (58). Sensitivity for detecting N2 and N3 disease was 79% (95% CI, 66-88%) in Med arm, 85% (95% CI, 74-92%) in CUS arm (P=0.47) and 94% (62/66; 95% CI, 85-98%) for the CUS strategy followed by Med (P=0.02). Evaluating sonography (CUS) and surgical components (Med) separately, showed sensitivity and NPV of 85% and 85% for CUS and 79% and 86% for Med. This demonstrated that Med and CUS staging may be equivalent but that CUS approach followed by Med in CUS negative cases in a patient population with high prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis has higher than Med alone sensitivity and results in fewer unnecessary surgeries (7% in CUS and Med arm vs. 18% in the Med alone arm, P=0.02). Adding Med to CUS increased sensitivity and NPV of staging by 9% (94%) and 11% (93%), respectively indicating that with rising prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis, confirmatory Med may be of value and that the decision about confirmatory testing should be made on a case by case basis. Post hoc analysis of survival data from this trial has recently been reported, showing no survival advantage in the CUS and Med arm as compared with the Med alone arm. This may be explained by insufficient powering of the study to detect survival difference (73).

Cost-effectiveness of EBUS-TBNA and Med in mediastinal LN staging in primary lung cancer

Multiple studies explored costs, cost-benefit and costeffectiveness of EBUS-TBNA and Med in lung cancer staging (74-79). In 2006, Meyers et al. evaluated cost effectiveness of mediastinal LN staging with Med in patients with clinical Stage I disease, by PET and CT. Prevalence of N2 disease was 5.6% (74). The results showed that routine Med in this patient population is not cost-effective. If neoadjuvant therapy in N2 disease is assumed to convey a survival benefit over adjuvant chemotherapy, suggested by some studies (69-71), then invasive staging may be costeffective in this patient population (80). Routine Med is, however, cost-effective once the prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis exceeds 10% (74). Five years following Meyers et al. study, Steinfort et al. performed a decision analysis comparing costs of mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer, in which they incorporated EBUS-TBNA into the model. Other strategies included: Med, EBUS-TBNA

followed by Med (if endoscopic staging was negative) and conventional TBNA (75). In a population with high prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis EBUS-TBNA followed by Med was the least costly strategy, suggesting a clear role for confirmatory Med in some patients, while advocating for EBUS-TBNA as the test of first choice in invasive staging. All studies demonstrate that EBUS-TBNA sensitivity and prevalence of mediastinal nodal metastasis are important factors in deciding on the most cost-effective staging modality. Recent study showed that if the EBUS-TBNA sensitivity of at least 25% cannot be achieved, Med should be the preferred staging strategy. Cost comparison between Med and EBUS-TBNA showed that the needle based technique is less expensive than Med if the staging procedure is performed in the endoscopy suite while it is more expensive than Med if performed in the operating room, however, it generates less waste than Med (75,81).

EBUS-TBNA and Med—role in lung cancer diagnosis

EBUS-TBNA has also been shown to be a useful modality in the diagnosis of primary lung cancer (82-85). Peribronchial lesions adjacent to large central or segmental airways of the lower lobes can be accessed with EBUS-TBNA with sensitivity and diagnostic accuracy ranging between 82% and 97.2% (82-85). NPV is quite low at 23% (95%CI, 5–53%), indicating that negative results in patients with high pretest probability of lung cancer, should be evaluated with other modalities (83). Only minor complications have been reported including self-limited atrial fibrillation (83). Importantly, no pneumothoraces or bleeding were reported.

Endobronchial biopsy and percutaneous lung biopsy are two commonly utilized modalities for diagnosis of lung lesions suspicious for cancer. Beside exposure to radiation, percutaneous, CT-guided lung biopsy, carries a risk of pneumothorax and or hemoptysis of 30–40% (86,87). Percutaneous lung biopsy in centrally located lesions is more expensive and with lower yield than transbronchial biopsy (87,88). Flexible bronchoscopy may be a useful diagnostic modality if the lesion has an endobronchial component, but without it, diagnostic yield has been reported at 0% (83).

Current CP-EBUS can only assess paratracheal and peribronchial areas located around the main and segmental airways of lower lobes. Majority of lung cancers occur in the right upper lobe and tumors of left upper lobe and lingula are not uncommon. Recently, Wada et al. reported on performance of a prototype thin convex probe-EBUS (TCP-EBUS) in a porcine lung (89). The TCP-EBUS has a smaller external diameter of 5.9 mm and grater bending angle of 170° up than the current CP-EBUS (6.9 mm external diameter and 120° up angulation). Thanks to these characteristics, the TCP-EBUS on average has a 14.7 mm greater endoscopic visibility range and a 16.0 mm greater maximum reach than the current CP-EBUS. The TCP-EBUS visualized 1 to 3 distal bifurcations further than the current CP-EBUS, accessing the segmental airways of the left upper lobe and the tracheobronchus (intubation of which, requires significant scope angulation, not possible with the current CP-EBUS). Adequate nodal tissue was sampled from lobar and segmental LNs (89). Improved airway access and ability to sample upper and lower lobe peribronchial tissue and segmental LNs are expected in human lung, given larger than a pig's airway diameter. Performance of the prototype TCP-EBUS offers a promising improvement to diagnosis of peribronchial tumors. In addition, it would improve the assessment of intrathoracic LNs, moving the lung cancer staging beyond the mediastinum and into the segmental and lobar regions and into the upper lobes. This could prove useful in planning treatment for ablative therapy and sublobar resection candidates. In addition, the ability to safely access, sample and accurately diagnose lung cancer in patients with centrally located lesions by EBUS-TBNA opens up a possibility of accomplishing both, obtaining tissue diagnosis from the primary tumor and mediastinal staging in a single procedure, reducing overall costs of the diagnostic work up and accelerating patient's access to appropriate definitive therapy.

In the era of personalized medicine, determining molecular signature of lung cancer has become the standard of care. EBUS-TBNA samples provide sufficient quantity and quality material for molecular testing. Reported adequacy of EBUS-TBNA samples for molecular diagnosis ranges from 77% to 98% (90,91). EBUS samples have one of the lowest insufficiency rates (4%) for EGFR and KRAS mutational analysis (compared with CT-FNA, 7.5%; ultrasound guided/superficial FNA, 10%) and can provide sufficient tissue quantity for multigene testing (i.e., p53 mutation, BRAF and PIK3CA) (90,92).

Med can also be used in assessment of primary lung lesions assessing for presence and the extent of mediastinal tumor invasion (T component). In mediastinal staging studies, Med has been shown to correctly identify mediastinal tumor invasion, preventing futile thoracotomies (58).

Med and EBUS-TBNA in lung cancer re-staging and recurrence

Neoadjuvant chemoradiation followed by surgery in lung cancer patients with N2 disease may offer survival advantage over definitive chemoradiation, if the mediastinum can be down-staged to N0/N1 preoperatively (93-95). Both Med and EBUS-TBNA have been used for mediastinal restaging (41,96-102). However, performance of both Med and EBUS-TBNA in restaging is worse than in original staging. This is due to LN and mediastinal scarring that results from neoadjuvant therapy and prior Med. In the past, the prevailing thought was that prior manipulation of the mediastinum may make a repeat Med impossible. However, multiple studies have reported feasibility of repeated Med for restaging with 98-100% planned procedures completed (97,100), low morbidity (1.9%) (100) but unfortunately also a death reported in one study due to perioperative bleeding (97). One of the largest series was reported by De Waele et al. (97), 104 patients were restaged with Med after neoadjuvant therapy. Med sensitivity, specificity, and diagnostic accuracy were 71%, 100% and 84%, respectively (97). Med prevented 20 futile thoracotomies by detection of persistent N2/3 disease. Patients without nodal metastasis proceeded to surgical resection with median survival of 28 months (95% CI, 15-41 months). Survival in patients with positive and false-negative Med was 14 months (95% CI, 8-20 months) and 24 months (95% CI, 3-45 months), respectively. This suggests that Med is also able to provide a prognostic information. Other studies reported similar performance characteristics for Med with sensitivity of 61-83%, diagnostic accuracy of 84-91% and NPV of 85% (96-98,100). One, study however, showed very low sensitivity and diagnostic accuracy of Med, 29% and 60%, respectively, which was presumed to be due to inadequate sampling of station 7 LN in majority of patients (99).

Sensitivity and NPV of EBUS-TBNA for mediastinal restaging has shown to be lower than in initial mediastinal staging, ranging between 50% and 77%. This is thought to be attributable to LN necrosis and fibrosis (101-104). However, the procedure is safe with no complications reported.

EBUS-TBNA has been evaluated in patients with new mediastinal lymphadenopathy following treatment

of lung cancer (105). PET-CT is not highly reliable in assessment of patients suspected to have cancer recurrence. False positives are common and can be related to post inflammatory mediastinal changes due to surgery or related to chronic bronchitis due to smoking (105,106). Pathological confirmation of positive imaging is, therefore, important. In one study, EBUS-TBNA mediastinal LN sampling was performed in patients with progressive mediastinal lymphadenopathy following initial treatment of NSCLC (105). Cancer recurrence and a new primary cancer were diagnosed in 64% and 25% of patients, respectively. Patients diagnosed with early new lung cancer, following EBUS-TBNA staging proving no mediastinal involvement, underwent surgery with curative intent. Patients with recurrence and new small cell lung cancer obtained appropriate therapy. A recent study reported a 100% sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV of EBUS-TBNA for assessment of mediastinal LN in patients following treatment of lung cancer (107). These results show that EBUS-TBNA can be used to obtain a definitive diagnosis of newly developed mediastinal and hilar abnormalities after primary therapy in patients with lung cancer. Diagnostic accuracy of EBUS-TBNA in such setting is 95.1%. Added benefit is that the procedure can be repeated safely without additional risk to the patient, even if the mediastinum had previously been assessed by Med.

Due to adhesions that occur following LN dissection during lung cancer resection, confirming cancer recurrence with Med meets the same challenges as using Med for restaging after neoadjuvant therapy (108,109).

At present there is insufficient evidence to clearly define the role of surgical and endoscopic modalities in patients with advanced lung cancer and considered for trimodality therapy and in setting of suspected recurrent lung cancer. Given better performance of Med when performed for the first time, and equivalent performance of Med and EBUS-TBNA in primary mediastinal staging, it appears that saving Med for re-staging after neoadjuvant therapy and staging initially with EBUS-TBNA might be the most cost-effective staging approach in lung cancer patients considered for a curative resection. However, if EBUS-TBNA is performed for restaging, a confirmatory Med should be performed in the event of negative EBUS-TBNA (9). Given excellent performance characteristic of EBUS-TBNA in diagnosis of lung cancer recurrence and the potential challenges of Med, EBUS-TBNA should be used for initial evaluation of new mediastinal

lymphadenopathy in patients with prior lung cancer.

Conclusions and future directions

Lung cancer diagnosis and management have undergone significant changes over the past decade with introduction of the minimally invasive endoscopic techniques. EBUS-TBNA offers an accurate and cost-effective means of mediastinal evaluation at all stages of lung cancer, from the original mediastinal staging to detection of disease recurrence. Quality data on performance of EBUS-TBNA in mediastinal LN staging in lung cancer led to a recent recommendation from the ACCP and ESTS to use the needle based techniques for the initial mediastinal staging (2,9). Currently, endoscopic staging is recommended for patients with distinct mediastinal or N1 LN enlargement on CT chest, or FDG avidity on PET, in central tumors and all patients with T2 tumors (2). When combined with EUS-FNA, EBUS-TBNA offers nearly complete assessment of the mediastinum and may have higher diagnostic accuracy than the previous gold standard, Med in patients with metastatic disease in EBUS-TBNA-inaccessible LNs. When performed by a skilled bronchoscopist EBUS-TBNA can not only provide mediastinal LN staging but also, in some patients, offer diagnosis of the primary tumor including information on its molecular profile (110,111).

Practice of medicine has evolved in many specialities with focus on minimally invasive diagnosis and treatment as well as personalized treatments of disease. At present, lung cancer is being treated not only with surgery but also with therapies like RFA and SBRT. Sublobar resections may become standard of care for T1a tumors (112) and are the only surgical option for patients with significantly impaired lung function (40). In this setting, development of a TCP-EBUS scope opens up a possibility of not only reaching further into the airways and sampling the more distant and upper lobe N1 LNs, but also, personalized therapy where a tumor-specific treatment could be delivered to a metastatic LN or a primary lung tumor, using a real time ultrasound imaging (113,114).

Even though many centers globally have acquired endoscopic ultrasound technology, it is unlikely that Med will be eliminated from the armamentarium of invasive tests used in lung cancer patients. Instead, a combination of endoscopic and surgical assessments will become the standard of care, depending on the unique clinical scenario.

Czarnecka-Kujawa and Yasufuku. EBUS vs. Med in NSCLC

This will allow highest diagnostic yield at all stages of the disease and as a result, most optimal patient management. For example, Med is recommended as a confirmatory test in patients with negative needle-based staging in patients with high pretest probability of mediastinal metastasis and it should be the test of first choice for mediastinal restaging, following neoadjuvant therapy (especially if EBUS-TBNA was used to stage mediastinum initially). In addition, despite the recent change in the guidelines and a shift to the minimally invasive endosonography for staging, acquisition of this technology in many thoracic surgery and pulmonology centers is hindered by the lack of EBUS-TBNA expertise and limited resources. Therefore, Med is still the test of first choice in many thoracic surgery programs worldwide for mediastinal staging, restaging and diagnosis of disease recurrence. For these reasons, it important that thoracic surgeons get adequate training in both Med and the needle based techniques like EBUS-TBNA or EUS-FNA and that the focus of lung cancer diagnosis and treatment be on a multidisciplinary approach with a close collaboration of the radiologists, thoracic surgeons, pulmonologists, pathologists and oncologists to ensure the optimal patient management at all stages of the disease.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin 2016;66:7-30.
- Silvestri GA, Gonzalez AV, Jantz MA, et al. Methods for staging non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e211S-50S.
- De Wever W, Ceyssens S, Mortelmans L, et al. Additional value of PET-CT in the staging of lung cancer: comparison with CT alone, PET alone and visual correlation of PET and CT. Eur Radiol 2007;17:23-32.
- 4. Darling GE, Maziak DE, Inculet RI, et al. Positron

emission tomography-computed tomography compared with invasive mediastinal staging in non-small cell lung cancer: results of mediastinal staging in the early lung positron emission tomography trial. J Thorac Oncol 2011;6:1367-72.

- Fischer B, Lassen U, Mortensen J, et al. Preoperative staging of lung cancer with combined PET-CT. N Engl J Med 2009;361:32-9.
- Herder GJ, Kramer H, Hoekstra OS, et al. Traditional versus up-front [18F] fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography staging of non-small-cell lung cancer: a Dutch cooperative randomized study. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:1800-6.
- Cerfolio RJ, Bryant AS, Ojha B, et al. Improving the inaccuracies of clinical staging of patients with NSCLC: a prospective trial. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;80:1207-13; discussion 1213-4.
- Tournoy KG, Maddens S, Gosselin R, et al. Integrated FDG-PET/CT does not make invasive staging of the intrathoracic lymph nodes in non-small cell lung cancer redundant: a prospective study. Thorax 2007;62:696-701.
- De Leyn P, Dooms C, Kuzdzal J, et al. Preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging for non-small cell lung cancer: 2014 update of the 2007 ESTS guidelines. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2014;3:225-33.
- Darling GE, Dickie AJ, Malthaner RA, et al. Invasive mediastinal staging of non-small-cell lung cancer: a clinical practice guideline. Curr Oncol 2011;18:e304-10.
- Kuzdzał J, Zieliński M, Papla B, et al. Transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy--the new operative technique and early results in lung cancer staging. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;27:384-90; discussion 390.
- Kużdżał J, Szlubowski A, Grochowski Z, et al. Current evidence on transcervical mediastinal lymph nodes dissection. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;40:1470-3.
- Passlick B. Initial surgical staging of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2003;42 Suppl 1:S21-5.
- Ginsberg RJ, Rice TW, Goldberg M, et al. Extended cervical mediastinoscopy. A single staging procedure for bronchogenic carcinoma of the left upper lobe. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1987;94:673-8.
- Freixinet Gilart J, Garcia PG, de Castro FR, et al. Extended cervical mediastinoscopy in the staging of bronchogenic carcinoma. Ann Thorac Surg 2000;70:1641-3.
- 16. Semik M, Netz B, Schmidt C, et al. Surgical exploration of the mediastinum: mediastinoscopy and intraoperative staging. Lung Cancer 2004;45 Suppl 2:S55-61.

- Call S, Obiols C, Rami-Porta R, et al. Video-Assisted Mediastinoscopic Lymphadenectomy for Staging Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2016;101:1326-33.
- Kuzdzał J, Zieliński M, Papla B, et al. The transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy versus cervical mediastinoscopy in non-small cell lung cancer staging. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2007;31:88-94.
- Um SW, Kim HK, Jung SH, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound versus mediastinoscopy for mediastinal nodal staging of non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10:331-7.
- 20. Ernst A, Anantham D, Eberhardt R, et al. Diagnosis of mediastinal adenopathy-real-time endobronchial ultrasound guided needle aspiration versus mediastinoscopy. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:577-82.
- 21. Toloza EM, Harpole L, Detterbeck F, et al. Invasive staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a review of the current evidence. Chest 2003;123:157S-66S.
- Pearson G, Cooper J, Deslauriers J, et al. Mediastinoscopy. Thoracic Surgery 2nd ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 2002:98-103.
- Lemaire A, Nikolic I, Petersen T, et al. Nine-year single center experience with cervical mediastinoscopy: complications and false negative rate. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:1185-9; discussion 1189-90.
- Czarnecka K, Yasufuku K. The role of endobronchial ultrasound/esophageal ultrasound for evaluation of the mediastinum in lung cancer. Expert Rev Respir Med 2014;8:763-76.
- Czarnecka K, Yasufuku K. Interventional pulmonology: focus on pulmonary diagnostics. Respirology 2013;18:47-60.
- Yasufuku K. Current clinical applications of endobronchial ultrasound. Expert Rev Respir Med 2010;4:491-8.
- 27. Herth F, Becker HD, Ernst A. Conventional vs endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: a randomized trial. Chest 2004;125:322-5.
- Herth FJ, Ernst A, Becker HD. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial lung biopsy in solitary pulmonary nodules and peripheral lesions. Eur Respir J 2002;20:972-4.
- 29. Paone G, Nicastri E, Lucantoni G, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-driven biopsy in the diagnosis of peripheral lung lesions. Chest 2005;128:3551-7.
- Herth FJ, Becker HD, Ernst A. Ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: an experience in 242 patients. Chest 2003;123:604-7.

- Yasufuku K, Chiyo M, Sekine Y, et al. Real-time endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration of mediastinal and hilar lymph nodes. Chest 2004;126:122-8.
- Yasufuku K, Chhajed PN, Sekine Y, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound using a new convex probe: a preliminary study on surgically resected specimens. Oncol Rep 2004;11:293-6.
- Available online: http://www.olympus-europa.com [September 17 2016].
- 34. Xu W, Shi J, Zeng X, et al. EUS elastography for the differentiation of benign and malignant lymph nodes: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2011;74:1001-9; quiz 1115.e1-4.
- 35. Yasufuku K, Pierre A, Darling G, et al. A prospective controlled trial of endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration compared with mediastinoscopy for mediastinal lymph node staging of lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;142:1393-400.e1.
- 36. Asano F, Aoe M, Ohsaki Y, et al. Complications associated with endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration: a nationwide survey by the Japan Society for Respiratory Endoscopy. Respir Res 2013;14:50.
- von Bartheld MB, Annema JT. Endosonography-related mortality and morbidity for pulmonary indications: a nationwide survey in the Netherlands. Gastrointest Endosc 2015;82:1009-15.
- Yarmus LB, Akulian JA, Gilbert C, et al. Comparison of moderate versus deep sedation for endobronchial ultrasound transbronchial needle aspiration. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2013;10:121-6.
- Herth FJ, Eberhardt R, Vilmann P, et al. Real-time endobronchial ultrasound guided transbronchial needle aspiration for sampling mediastinal lymph nodes. Thorax 2006;61:795-8.
- Crabtree TD, Denlinger CE, Meyers BF, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus surgical resection for stage I non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;140:377-86.
- 41. Shingyoji M, Nakajima T, Yoshino M, et al. Endobronchial ultrasonography for positron emission tomography and computed tomography-negative lymph node staging in non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:1762-7.
- 42. Choi YS, Shim YM, Kim J, et al. Mediastinoscopy in patients with clinical stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2003;75:364-6.

Czarnecka-Kujawa and Yasufuku. EBUS vs. Med in NSCLC

- 43. Ong P, Grosu H, Eapen GA, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for systematic nodal staging of lung cancer in patients with N0 disease by computed tomography and integrated positron emission tomography-computed tomography. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2015;12:415-9.
- Herth FJ, Ernst A, Eberhardt R, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration of lymph nodes in the radiologically normal mediastinum. Eur Respir J 2006;28:910-4.
- 45. Herth FJ, Eberhardt R, Krasnik M, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration of lymph nodes in the radiologically and positron emission tomography-normal mediastinum in patients with lung cancer. Chest 2008;133:887-91.
- Coughlin M, Deslauriers J, Beaulieu M, et al. Role of mediastinoscopy in pretreatment staging of patients with primary lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 1985;40:556-60.
- 47. Luke WP, Pearson FG, Todd TR, et al. Prospective evaluation of mediastinoscopy for assessment of carcinoma of the lung. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1986;91:53-6.
- Hoffmann H. Invasive staging of lung cancer by mediastinoscopy and video-assisted thoracoscopy. Lung Cancer 2001;34 Suppl 3:S3-5.
- 49. Lung Cancer: Screening. Available online: http://www. uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspslung.htm [Accessed September 20, 2016].
- Czarnecka K, Yasufuku K. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration for staging patients with lung cancer with clinical N0 disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2015;12:297-9.
- Yasufuku K, Nakajima T, Waddell T, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for differentiating N0 versus N1 lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;96:1756-60.
- 52. Adams K, Shah PL, Edmonds L, et al. Test performance of endobronchial ultrasound and transbronchial needle aspiration biopsy for mediastinal staging in patients with lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax 2009;64:757-62.
- Gu P, Zhao YZ, Jiang LY, et al. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration for staging of lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:1389-96.
- 54. Dong X, Qiu X, Liu Q, et al. Endobronchial ultrasoundguided transbronchial needle aspiration in the mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;96:1502-7.

- 55. Sehgal IS, Dhooria S, Aggarwal AN, et al. Endosonography Versus Mediastinoscopy in Mediastinal Staging of Lung Cancer: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Ann Thorac Surg 2016;102:1747-55.
- 56. Ge X, Guan W, Han F, et al. Comparison of Endobronchial Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration and Video-Assisted Mediastinoscopy for Mediastinal Staging of Lung Cancer. Lung 2015;193:757-66.
- 57. Hu LX, Chen RX, Huang H, et al. Endobronchial Ultrasound-guided Transbronchial Needle Aspiration versus Standard Bronchoscopic Modalities for Diagnosis of Sarcoidosis: A Meta-analysis. Chin Med J (Engl) 2016;129:1607-15.
- Annema JT, van Meerbeeck JP, Rintoul RC, et al. Mediastinoscopy vs endosonography for mediastinal nodal staging of lung cancer: a randomized trial. JAMA 2010;304:2245-52.
- 59. Hwangbo B, Lee GK, Lee HS, et al. Transbronchial and transesophageal fine-needle aspiration using an ultrasound bronchoscope in mediastinal staging of potentially operable lung cancer. Chest 2010;138:795-802.
- 60. Vilmann P, Puri R. The complete ''medical'' mediastinoscopy (EUS-FNA + EBUS-TBNA). Minerva Med 2007;98:331-8.
- 61. Herth FJ, Krasnik M, Kahn N, et al. Combined endoscopic-endobronchial ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of mediastinal lymph nodes through a single bronchoscope in 150 patients with suspected lung cancer. Chest 2010;138:790-4.
- 62. Liberman M, Sampalis J, Duranceau A, et al. Endosonographic mediastinal lymph node staging of lung cancer. Chest 2014;146:389-97.
- 63. Szlubowski A, Soja J, Kocon P, et al. A comparison of the combined ultrasound of the mediastinum by use of a single ultrasound bronchoscope versus ultrasound bronchoscope plus ultrasound gastroscope in lung cancer staging:
 a prospective trial. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2012;15:442-6; discussion 446.
- Hegde PV, Liberman M. Mediastinal Staging: Endosonographic Ultrasound Lymph Node Biopsy or Mediastinoscopy. Thorac Surg Clin 2016;26:243-9.
- 65. Vilmann P, Clementsen PF, Colella S, et al. Combined endobronchial and esophageal endosonography for the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline, in cooperation with the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS).

Endoscopy 2015;47:545-59.

- 66. Kang HJ, Hwangbo B, Lee GK, et al. EBUS-centred versus EUS-centred mediastinal staging in lung cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Thorax 2014;69:261-8.
- Rintoul RC, Skwarski KM, Murchison JT, et al. Endobronchial and endoscopic ultrasound-guided realtime fine-needle aspiration for mediastinal staging. Eur Respir J 2005;25:416-21.
- 68. Liberman M, Duranceau A, Grunenwald E, et al. Initial experience with a new technique of endoscopic and ultrasonographic access for biopsy of para-aortic (station 6) mediastinal lymph nodes without traversing the aorta. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;144:787-92; discussion 792-3.
- 69. Yang CF, Kumar A, Gulack BC, et al. Long-term outcomes after lobectomy for non-small cell lung cancer when unsuspected pN2 disease is found: A National Cancer Data Base analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016;151:1380-8.
- Aggarwal C, Li L, Borghaei H, et al. Multidisciplinary therapy of stage IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer: longterm outcome of chemoradiation with or without surgery. Cancer Control 2014;21:57-62.
- 71. Darling GE, Li F, Patsios D, et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation and surgery improves survival outcomes compared with definitive chemoradiation in the treatment of stage IIIA N2 non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;48:684-90; discussion 90.
- 72. Szlubowski A, Zielinski M, Soja J, et al. A combined approach of endobronchial and endoscopic ultrasoundguided needle aspiration in the radiologically normal mediastinum in non-small-cell lung cancer staging--a prospective trial. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2010;37:1175-9.
- Kuijvenhoven JC, Korevaar DA, Tournoy KG, et al. Five-Year Survival After Endosonography vs Mediastinoscopy for Mediastinal Nodal Staging of Lung Cancer. JAMA 2016;316:1110-2.
- 74. Meyers BF, Haddad F, Siegel BA, et al. Cost-effectiveness of routine mediastinoscopy in computed tomography- and positron emission tomography-screened patients with stage I lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006;131:822-9; discussion 822-9.
- Steinfort DP, Liew D, Conron M, et al. Cost-benefit of minimally invasive staging of non-small cell lung cancer: a decision tree sensitivity analysis. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1564-70.
- 76. Sharples LD, Jackson C, Wheaton E, et al. Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of endobronchial

and endoscopic ultrasound relative to surgical staging in potentially resectable lung cancer: results from the ASTER randomised controlled trial. Health Technol Assess 2012;16:1-75, iii-iv.

- 77. Rintoul RC, Glover MJ, Jackson C, et al. Cost effectiveness of endosonography versus surgical staging in potentially resectable lung cancer: a health economics analysis of the ASTER trial from a European perspective. Thorax 2014;69:679-81.
- 78. Harewood GC, Pascual J, Raimondo M, et al. Economic analysis of combined endoscopic and endobronchial ultrasound in the evaluation of patients with suspected non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2010;67:366-71.
- Luque M, Diez FJ, Disdier C. Optimal sequence of tests for the mediastinal staging of non-small cell lung cancer. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016;16:9.
- Czarnecka K, Rochau U, Sirbert U, et al. Cost-effectiveens of invasive mediastinal staging in non-small cell lung cancer. Baltimore, MD: American Association for Thoracic Surgery annual meeting; 2016.
- Andrade RS, Podgaetz E, Rueth NM, et al. Endobronchial ultrasonography versus mediastinoscopy: a singleinstitution cost analysis and waste comparison. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:1003-7.
- 82. Nakajima T, Yasufuku K, Fujiwara T, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for the diagnosis of intrapulmonary lesions. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:985-8.
- Tournoy KG, Rintoul RC, van Meerbeeck JP, et al. EBUS-TBNA for the diagnosis of central parenchymal lung lesions not visible at routine bronchoscopy. Lung Cancer 2009;63:45-9.
- Lee JE, Kim HY, Lim KY, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration in the diagnosis of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2010;70:51-6.
- 85. Verma A, Jeon K, Koh WJ, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration for the diagnosis of central lung parenchymal lesions. Yonsei Med J 2013;54:672-8.
- Geraghty PR, Kee ST, McFarlane G, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of pulmonary nodules: needle size and pneumothorax rate. Radiology 2003;229:475-81.
- Cox JE, Chiles C, McManus CM, et al. Transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy: variables that affect risk of pneumothorax. Radiology 1999;212:165-8.
- 88. Steinfort DP, Liew D, Irving LB. Radial probe EBUS

Czarnecka-Kujawa and Yasufuku. EBUS vs. Med in NSCLC

versus CT-guided needle biopsy for evaluation of peripheral pulmonary lesions: an economic analysis. Eur Respir J 2013;41:539-47.

- 89. Wada H, Hirohashi K, Nakajima T, et al. Assessment of the new thin convex probe endobronchial ultrasound bronchoscope and the dedicated aspiration needle: a preliminary study in the porcine lung. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2015;22:20-7.
- Billah S, Stewart J, Staerkel G, et al. EGFR and KRAS mutations in lung carcinoma: molecular testing by using cytology specimens. Cancer Cytopathol 2011;119:111-7.
- 91. Santis G, Angell R, Nickless G, et al. Screening for EGFR and KRAS mutations in endobronchial ultrasound derived transbronchial needle aspirates in non-small cell lung cancer using COLD-PCR. PLoS One 2011;6:e25191.
- 92. Nakajima T, Yasufuku K, Nakagawara A, et al. Multigene mutation analysis of metastatic lymph nodes in nonsmall cell lung cancer diagnosed by endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration. Chest 2011;140:1319-24.
- Zieliński M, Hauer L, Hauer J, et al. Non-smallcell lung cancer restaging with transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2010;37:776-80.
- 94. Van Meerbeeck JP, Van Schil PE, Senan S. Reply: Randomized controlled trial of resection versus radiotherapy after induction chemotherapy in stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:1138-9.
- 95. Betticher DC, Hsu Schmitz SF, Totsch M, et al. Mediastinal lymph node clearance after docetaxel-cisplatin neoadjuvant chemotherapy is prognostic of survival in patients with stage IIIA pN2 non-small-cell lung cancer: a multicenter phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1752-9.
- 96. De Waele M, Hendriks J, Lauwers P, et al. Nodal status at repeat mediastinoscopy determines survival in nonsmall cell lung cancer with mediastinal nodal involvement, treated by induction therapy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2006;29:240-3.
- 97. De Waele M, Serra-Mitjans M, Hendriks J, et al. Accuracy and survival of repeat mediastinoscopy after induction therapy for non-small cell lung cancer in a combined series of 104 patients. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008;33:824-8.
- Rami-Porta R, Mateu-Navarro M, Serra-Mitjans M, et al. Remediastinoscopy: comments and updated results. Lung Cancer 2003;42:363-4.
- 99. De Leyn P, Stroobants S, De Wever W, et al. Prospective comparative study of integrated positron emission

tomography-computed tomography scan compared with remediastinoscopy in the assessment of residual mediastinal lymph node disease after induction chemotherapy for mediastinoscopy-proven stage IIIA-N2 Non-small-cell lung cancer: a Leuven Lung Cancer Group Study. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:3333-9.

- 100.Marra A, Hillejan L, Fechner S, et al. Remediastinoscopy in restaging of lung cancer after induction therapy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008;135:843-9.
- 101. Nasir BS, Bryant AS, Minnich DJ, et al. The efficacy of restaging endobronchial ultrasound in patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer after preoperative therapy. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:1008-12.
- 102. Kunst PW, Lee P, Paul MA, et al. Restaging of mediastinal nodes with transbronchial needle aspiration after induction chemoradiation for locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:912-5.
- 103.Herth FJ, Annema JT, Eberhardt R, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound with transbronchial needle aspiration for restaging the mediastinum in lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:3346-50.
- 104. Shingyoji M, Nakajima T, Nishimura H, et al. Restaging by endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration in patients with inoperable advanced lung cancer. Intern Med 2010;49:787-90.
- 105. Anraku M, Pierre AF, Nakajima T, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration in the management of previously treated lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2011;92:251-5; discussion 5.
- 106. Verhagen AF, Bootsma GP, Tjan-Heijnen VC, et al. FDG-PET in staging lung cancer: how does it change the algorithm? Lung Cancer 2004;44:175-81.
- 107. Yamamoto T, Sakairi Y, Nakajima T, et al. Comparison between endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration and 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in the diagnosis of postoperative nodal recurrence in patients with lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;47:234-8.
- 108. de Cabanyes Candela S, Detterbeck FC. A systematic review of restaging after induction therapy for stage IIIa lung cancer: prediction of pathologic stage. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:389-98.
- 109.Meersschaut D, Vermassen F, Brutel de la Riviere A, et al. Repeat mediastinoscopy in the assessment of new and recurrent lung neoplasm. Ann Thorac Surg 1992;53:120-2.
- 110. Ost DE, Niu J, S Elting L, et al. Quality gaps and comparative effectiveness in lung cancer staging and

102

diagnosis. Chest 2014;145:331-45.

- 111. Almeida FA, Casal RF, Jimenez CA, et al. Quality gaps and comparative effectiveness in lung cancer staging: the impact of test sequencing on outcomes. Chest 2013;144:1776-82.
- 112. Koike T, Kitahara A, Sato S, et al. Lobectomy Versus Segmentectomy in Radiologically Pure Solid Small-Sized Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Ann Thorac Surg

Cite this article as: Czarnecka-Kujawa K, Yasufuku K. The role of endobronchial ultrasound versus mediastinoscopy for non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 2):S83-S97. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.102

2016;101:1354-60.

- 113. Celikoglu F, Celikoglu SI, Goldberg EP. Bronchoscopic intratumoral chemotherapy of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2008;61:1-12.
- 114. Mehta HJ, Begnaud A, Penley AM, et al. Restoration of Patency to Central Airways Occluded by Malignant Endobronchial Tumors Using Intratumoral Injection of Cisplatin. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2015;12:1345-50.

Transthoracic needle aspiration: the past, present and future

Arun Chockalingam, Kelvin Hong

Russell H. Morgan Department of Radiology and Radiological Science, Division of Vascular and Interventional Radiology, The Johns Hopkins Hospital, Sheikh Zayed Tower, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: K Hong; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: K Hong; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Kelvin Hong, MD. Zayed 7203, 1800 Orleans St, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA. Email: khong1@jhmi.edu.

Abstract: Transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) has been used to diagnose disease in the lung for many decades. Thanks to advances in technology and cytopathology, the diagnostic power, accuracy, safety, and efficacy of TTNA are constantly improving. The transition from fluoroscopy to computed tomography (CT) has yielded better visualization, and ability to enhance sophistication of tools used to biopsy. In addition, needles are being refined for obtaining better biopsy samples and increased capabilities. Because of the minimally invasive nature of TTNA, it is becoming a strong alternative to surgical intervention. In the future, these developments will continue and TTNA will become more efficient, and potentially open a door to personalized medicine. However, there are complications due to this procedure, which include pneumothorax, hemorrhage, air embolism, and others which are very rare. Probability of complication increases when patients are older, have significant past medical history, have larger lesions, and are uncooperative during procedure. Indications, contraindications, and other considerations should be contemplated before a patient is elected for TTNA.

Keywords: Lung biopsy; needle aspiration; interventional; computed tomography (CT)

Submitted Sep 26, 2015. Accepted for publication Nov 04, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.12.01 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.12.01

Introduction

From as early as 1883 (1), clinicians have used transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) to safely and effectively diagnose pulmonary malignancies. Over the years, biopsies through this procedure have become more accurate and efficient due to advances in imaging technologies and cytopathologic techniques. The transition from fluoroscopy to computed tomography (CT) allowed for better visualization and detection of smaller lesions. In addition, developments in cytopathology have facilitated histologic analysis with smaller amounts of required material. Previous studies have shown diagnostic accuracy of benign and malignant disease of TTNA to range from 77-97% (2-4). Increased use of CT-guided TTNA (CT-TTNA) has reduced the need for more invasive surgeries such as thoracotomies and bronchoscopies. As a result, there has been increases in cost savings and decreases in hospital length of stay (2). However, there are few complications that arise from TTNA, pneumothorax being the most common. When making the decision to do TTNA for a biopsy, physicians need to consider from the givens of TTNA and the patient whether the benefits of the biopsy greatly outweigh the risk and consequence of a complication. In this review article, we will discuss what is known about indications, contraindications, imaging modalities, needle types, considerations, complications and management with respect to TTNA, and then comment on the trajectory of TTNA in the future of thoracic medicine.

Indications

TTNA is mostly used to evaluate an indeterminate pulmonary mass or nodule. This can include almost any abnormality seen in imaging. Lesions of lung parenchyma, mediastinal, hilar, pleural, and chest wall have been proven to be diagnosable with TTNA (1). In these cases, some institutions would instead use bronchoscopy or thoracoscopic surgery. However, bronchoscopy is limited to central lesions with endobronchial or hilar components (3,5) and thoracoscopic surgery requires general anesthesia and is dependent on the skill of the surgeon (3). In addition, TTNA can be used to sample focal infectious lesions and stage lung cancers or extrathoracic malignancies (3). For these cases, a histological classification would be very useful, enhancing the value of TTNA. Besides neoplastic (benign or malignant) disease, TTNA can be used to diagnose inflammatory disease (1).

Contraindications

The number one contraindication to TTNA is bleeding diathesis, for which platelet count, prothrombin time, partial thromboplastin time and INR should be obtained prior to procedure. Relative contraindications range from pulmonary hypertension to emphysematous disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Large bullae in biopsy path can cause post-procedure pneumothorax. Possibly the most serious contraindication to TTNA is an uncooperative patient. The patient's ability to lie still, hold their breath, and maintain prone position (1,3) are essential to a successful TTNA. For this reason intractable cough and mechanical ventilation are also contraindications.

Imaging modalities

Fluoroscopy

Fluoroscopic guidance represented the first modality for TTNA (3). Advantages of fluoroscopy include real time visualization, familiarity, and availability. Fluoroscopy-guided TTNA (F-TTNA) has been an alternative to CT-TTNA due to shorter durations, lower incidence of pneumothorax, lower cost and lower radiation dosage (3,6). Disadvantages arise from limitations of fluoroscopy, including poor visualization of small lesions and bullae and safe sampling of central lesions. One study done by Cheung *et al.* (6) investigated combining F-TTNA with CT-TTNA, where a biopsy is done under fluoroscopy and cone-beam CT using a C-arm cone beam CT system. This new biopsy technique took the advantages of fluoroscopy

and CT and allowed for diagnosis of small (<30 mm) and deep (\geq 50 mm) with high diagnostic accuracy and short procedure time (6).

Ultrasound

Ultrasound-guided TTNA biopsy has many advantages, in that it provides real-time visualization, can target nonvascular and nonnecrotic portions of masses (7), and has no radiation. Compared to CT-TTNA, ultrasound is inexpensive and portable. The latter aspect is useful for patients who cannot be transported to the radiology department (3). However, the necessity of adequate acoustics limits the potential of using ultrasound. Masses in the anterior mediastinum and peripheral lung adjacent to the costal pleural surface are difficult to image in ultrasound, but are detectable by CT (3,8).

Magnetic-resonance imaging (MRI)

Magnetic-resonance imaging (MRI)-guided procedures have been shown to yield excellent clinical results in osseous biopsies (9), however, very little has been reported on MRI usage in TTNA (10,11). This might be because CT is generally accepted as the main imaging modality for TTNA. Liu et al. (10) showed that MRI-guided TTNA (MRI-TTNA) is comparable to CT in mean procedural time and diagnostic accuracy. Sakarya et al. (11), who first reported using an MR fluoroscopy-guided approach to TTNA, showed that MR guidance has good feasibility. Advantages of using MR fluoroscopy include near-real-time imagine and absence of radiation (11). However, with CT imaging, fissures, focal areas of emphysema, and bullae are better detected and during TTNA these areas can be avoided during biopsy (11). This is something that MR imaging cannot account for. In addition, issues with breath-hold duration and patient compliance can create motion artifacts, which means lower MR-image quality.

Computed tomography (CT)

As previously mentioned, CT is the most common modality for TTNA procedures. Advantages of CT guidance are attributed to excellent visualization capabilities. This also includes the visualization of the biopsy needle tip, which facilitates placement and allows for high diagnostic yield (3). However, there are disadvantages, including lack of realtime visualization, greater cost of procedure, more patient

discomfort, and higher incidence of pneumothorax (3). Within this modality, there have been many developments. First, conventional CT was used to guide biopsy needle placement. Soon, helical CT emerged and now is very widely used (12). CT fluoroscopy was most recently introduced, and has been proven to be effective because it unites together the visualization of CT and efficiency from fluoroscopic guidance. Unfortunately, this technique is susceptible to irradiation to the physician's hand during the procedure. Yoshimatsu et al. (12) conducted a TTNA study using an "I-I device" which functions as a cradle for the needle and a handle to distance a physician's hand from radiation exposure. Results of this study showed decreased radiation dose to physician's hand and faster fluoroscopy and procedure times with equal if not better outcomes than those without the I-I device (12). Surgical forceps or special needle holders are currently used to reduce radiation dose during TTNA procedures (12).

CT-TTNA has been improved upon through the incorporation of other technologies and modalities. About 10 years ago, cone-beam CT had been introduced to interventional radiology as cutting-edge, allowing for real-time fluoroscopy, angiography, CT imaging, and 3D reconstruction capabilities (13). Previous studies have shown high and reproducible diagnostic accuracy with cone-beam CT-TTNA (13,14). Cone-beam CT has even been shown to provide high accuracy, specificity, sensitivity, and positive/negative predictive values with "XperGuide" navigation guidance (15). One group had even combined fludeoxyglucose positive emission tomography (FDG-PET) with CT, and showed improved diagnostic yield in patients with large (≥ 2.5 cm) intrathoracic lesions (16). Another group had assessed performance of using an optical CT-based navigation system to assist with TTNA. With a technical success of 100%, Grasso et al. (17) showed that using this navigation tool with a low dose CT protocol can decrease patient radiation exposure.

Navigation systems

Navigation systems for assisting with TTNA have been shown to be effective in CT and electromagnetic modalities. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy (ENB) has recently started to emerge, and has been quite effective (18,19). ENB uses an image guided localization system that directs steerable bronchoscopic tools to points of interest within a bronchial tree, and has been shown to produce high sensitivity in fine-needle aspiration (19). CT in order to produce 3D virtual images for reference. VAL-MAP was shown in an early experience study to work, but more studies need to be done to assess its safety and efficacy (20).

Needles

There are many types of needs used in TTNA for biopsies, with various gauges, lengths, tips, and mechanisms. A clinician may select a needle based on preference or patient/lesion characteristics. Mainly, there are aspiration needles, cutting needles, and automated core-biopsy needles. Aspiration needles are thin-walled and flexible (2) and can provide high-quality cellular material for microscopic/cytological diagnosis (3). The Chiba (Cook, Inc. Bloomington, IN, USA) is the most commonly used, and has a 30 degree bevel and sizes ranging from 18-25 gauge (2). This type of needle can be used to diagnose epithelial carcinomas. Cutting needles are used when a histologic specimen is required for analysis. Essentially, cutting needles are modified aspiration needles, with an added cutting tip on the side. Possible cutting tips include a receptacle slot just proximal to the tip, a spring-loaded end cutting tip, or a drill bit styled tip within a guiding cannula (3). Lastly, automated core-biopsy needles (Figure 1) retrieve tissue from the patient for histopathologic workup. These needles are useful especially if a pathologist is not on-site, because the needle will obtain similar core samples that are free of crush injury sometimes imparted by smaller conventional needles (2).

Considerations

The primary consideration a physician must make before pursuing TTNA for a patient is whether the benefits of a biopsy outweigh the risk for complication and toleration of the procedure. Pneumothorax remains the most common complication during and after a TTNA procedure (2,3,21). Many previous studies investigating this connection have proven factors that contribute to this increased rate of

Chockalingam and Hong. Transthoracic needle aspiration

Electromagnetic Navigational TTNA (E-TTNA) is

currently being proposed to maximize diagnostic yield and

minimize the need for invasive procedures in conjunction

with endobronchial ultrasound transbronchial needle

aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) (18). Another type of navigation system seen in literature uses virtual assisted lung mapping

(VAL-MAP) to provide "geometric" information of the lung

surface (20). Bronchoscopic multispot dye-marking was



Figure 1 CT image with lung windows showing needle placement during TTNA for patient 1 in prone position. The same lung lesion pictured in *Figure 1* is shown here. A 20 gauge 11 centimeter core biopsy device was inserted through an 18 gauge 6 centimeter double wall needle with trocar. (A) The needle is inserted through the left posterior chest wall; (B) a zoomed-in image of area where TTNA core-biopsy is taking place. Four core biopsy samples were taken with this method. CT, computed tomography; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration.

complication. Geraghty *et al.* (22) showed needle size and patient age to be statistically significant risk factors. In the same study, they measured a 50% reduction in pneumothorax rate associated with using smaller 19-gauge needles instead of 18-gage needles (22). Patients with larger lesions are susceptible to higher pneumothorax rate (23,24) and lower diagnostic accuracy during TTNA (4). Longer needle path lengths in procedure are also significant in increasing pneumothorax rate and decreasing diagnostic accuracy (4). Interestingly, the risk of pneumothorax in TTNA is not dependent on physician experience (23) or needle aspiration technique (2). In one study, pneumothorax incidence was nearly equal in TTNA performed by a junior resident, senior resident or staff physician (23).

Overall, patients who are female, older age (≥70 years), have COPD (25), and/or have presence of emphysema (23) are at higher risk for complications during TTNA. As more and more patients are being diagnosed with thoracic malignancy and undergo TTNA for biopsy, the incidence of complication will definitely increase, especially because smaller growing lesions (<20 mm) can now be detected. Patient lifestyle, age, comorbidities, and experiences at an institution must be taken into consideration before electing for TTNA.

Complications and management

Pneumothorax

As previously mentioned, pneumothorax is the most common complication as a result of TTNA. The incidence

of pneumothorax has been reported to be from 0-61%, with an average of around 20% (2,3,21-23). Increased patient age, obstructive lung disease, COPD, multiple pleural passes, increased duration of procedure, and traversal of a fissure increases the risk of pneumothorax. If a pneumothorax develops during procedure, it can be manually aspirated before the introducer needle is removed (Figure 2) (21). It is also recommended that the patient be placed biopsy-side down and given oxygen via nasal cannula. For pneumothoraces that develop after procedure, many steps need to be taken. Small pneumothoraces can be managed with monitoring of vital signs, administration of oxygen, and obtaining a chest film. If films at 2 and 4 hours are unremarkable, discharge can be considered. Pneumothoraces unchanged on film after 4 hours are unlikely to grow (2,26). Larger cases might require imageguided intervention such as insertion of a small chest tube, which happens for around 1-14.2% of patients (3,21). These small chest tubes allow for treatment of potentially significant complication without the need for surgical intervention and can be inserted on an outpatient basis. In addition, the diagnostic efficacy increases for biopsies of lesions with an already treated pneumothorax (1).

Most recently, lung biopsy tract seal plugs have been used to combat pneumothorax (*Figure 3*). Two major types are the Bio-Seal Lung Plug System (Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, Vancouver, British Columbia) and the BioSentry Tract Sealant System (Surgical Specialties, Massachusetts, USA). One study done by Zaetta *et al.* (27) showed significantly



Figure 2 CT image with lung windows showing needle placement during TTNA for patient 2 with minor complication. (A) The needle is inserted through the left anterior chest wall; (B) black arrows show pneumothorax and surgical emphysema in chest wall. A chest tube was placed for chest resolution in 2 days with water seal drainage. CT, computed tomography; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration.

reduced rates of pneumothorax in patients undergoing CT-TTNA. Autologous blood clot seals (ABCS) have also been shown to reduce frequency of pneumothoraces (28).

Hemorrhage and hemoptysis

The second most common complication with TTNA is hemorrhage, with an average incidence of about 11% (2,3,21). Hemorrhages and hemoptysis are considered self-limited and usually do not require intervention. However, the patient should be placed biopsy-side down to prevent aspiration of blood into the opposite lung (2,3,21). Fortunately, many measures can be taken to avoid a hemorrhage or hemothorax. Patients taking anticoagulants or have bleeding diatheses should be contraindicated for TTNA. During the procedure, it is recommended to aim the trajectory of the needle away from the aorta and heart to avoid accidental injury. Massive hemorrhages are very rare, but may require anesthesia consultation to intubate with a double-lumen endotracheal tube (21).

Air embolism

Air embolism in TTNA is extremely rare but can be very fatal if not fixed, leading to cerebral or myocardial infarction, stroke, or death. As little as 0.5 mL of air would be required to induce coronary ischemia or arrhythmias (3). In large cohorts of TTNA patients, there were very few cases of air embolism (occurrence between 0.02-1.8%) (2,21). There are two mechanisms by which air embolisms can occur: (I) placement of the needle tip in a pulmonary vein and removal of the inner stylet and (II) placement of the needle through both a bronchus and adjacent pulmonary vein, followed by creation of a fistula. If an air embolism is recognized, the patient should be placed in the Trendelenburg position to prevent air from being circulated cerebrally (21). Air embolisms can be prevented by occluding the introducer needle with an inner stylet, saline, or a finger. This complication is another reason why patients with intractable coughs should not be recommended for TTNA.

Tumor seeding

Tumor seeding is an extremely rare complication of TTNA, and is reported to have incidence between 0.012-0.061% (3,21,29). Mean time from biopsy to development of metastasis is around 2.6 months (3). At this time, there are no definitive risk factors that can be identified to help prevent tumor seeding (21,29). However, if metastasis occurs but is isolated to the chest wall, wide en bloc resection can be done. Tumor seeding has occurred with diagnoses of pleural mesothelioma and thymoma.

Future perspectives

After so many years of implementation and research,



Figure 3 CT image with lung windows showing TTNA for patient 3, where a sealant (Angiotech BioSentry, Angiotech SuperCore, Bulgaria) was used to prevent pneumothorax using a 19/20 gauge probe. Patient 3 had metastatic melanoma and was on immunotherapy trial. CT, computed tomography; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration.

TTNA has been proven to be safe, effective, and very accurate in biopsy diagnosis. Advances in imaging and cytopathology have increased diagnostic power of TTNA, meaning that more lesions (including those previously too small to detect) can be analyzed with less required histologic material. However, because of this the number of diagnoses has and will increase over time. This will inevitably increase complications, which means that there will be more weight on the decision to elect a patient for TTNA. In this case, more studies into risk factors need to be done, especially for complications not as well researched as pneumothoraces. A very key aspect of TTNA is the length of procedure, which has been shown to be a significant risk factor for complication. Future studies on needle type and design may open the door to technologies that will make the procedures more efficient and decrease patient length of stay. Results from a TTNA biopsy will also pave way to a form of personalized medicine. Tissue and cells retrieved during TTNA can be placed through genetic blood testing in order to specifically identify biomarkers and provide tailor-made treatment for each specific patient. These considerations and the prospective trajectory for the field can only increase the safety, efficacy, and acceptance of TTNA as the mainstay procedure to diagnose thoracic malignancy and disease.

Acknowledgements

CT images for Figure 3 were given to us by Robert Suh, MD (UCLA Medical Center, Diagnostic Radiology).

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Perlmutt LM, Johnston WW, Dunnick NR. Percutaneous transthoracic needle aspiration: a review. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1989;152:451-5.
- Birchard KR. Transthoracic needle biopsy. Semin Intervent Radiol 2011;28:87-97.
- Klein JS, Zarka MA. Transthoracic needle biopsy. Radiol Clin North Am 2000;38:235-66, vii.
- Ohno Y, Hatabu H, Takenaka D, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of small (< or = 20 mm) solitary pulmonary nodules. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2003;180:1665-9.
- Naidich DP, Sussman R, Kutcher WL, et al. Solitary pulmonary nodules. CT-bronchoscopic correlation. Chest 1988;93:595-8.
- Cheung JY, Kim Y, Shim SS, et al. Combined fluoroscopyand CT-guided transthoracic needle biopsy using a C-arm cone-beam CT system: comparison with fluoroscopyguided biopsy. Korean J Radiol 2011;12:89-96.
- Pan JF, Yang PC, Chang DB, et al. Needle aspiration biopsy of malignant lung masses with necrotic centers. Improved sensitivity with ultrasonic guidance. Chest 1993;103:1452-6.
- Perlmutt LM, Braun SD, Newman GE, et al. Timing of chest film follow-up after transthoracic needle aspiration. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1986;146:1049-50.
- Fritz J, Tzaribachev N, Thomas C, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging-guided osseous biopsy in children with chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2012;35:146-53.
- Liu S, Li C, Yu X, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of MRIguided percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of solitary pulmonary nodules. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2015;38:416-21.
- 11. Sakarya ME, Unal O, Ozbay B, et al. MR fluoroscopyguided transthoracic fine-needle aspiration biopsy: feasibility. Radiology 2003;228:589-92.
- Yoshimatsu R, Yamagami T, Kato T, et al. Percutaneous needle biopsy of lung nodules under CT fluoroscopic guidance with use of the "I-I device". Br J Radiol 2008;81:107-12.
- 13. Choi JW, Park CM, Goo JM, et al. C-arm cone-beam

CT-guided percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of small (≤20 mm) lung nodules: diagnostic accuracy and complications in 161 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2012;199:W322-30.

- Hwang HS, Chung MJ, Lee JW, et al. C-arm conebeam CT-guided percutaneous transthoracic lung biopsy: usefulness in evaluation of small pulmonary nodules. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010;195:W400-7.
- Floridi C, Muollo A, Fontana F, et al. C-arm conebeam computed tomography needle path overlay for percutaneous biopsy of pulmonary nodules. Radiol Med 2014;119:820-7.
- Sauter J, Butnor K, Klein J. Diagnostic Yield of CT-guided Transthoracic Needle Aspiration of Large Pulmonary Masses is Improved by Pre-procedure FDG-PET Imaging. Journal of American Society of Cytopathology, 2014;5:S4.
- 17. Grasso RF, Cazzato RL, Luppi G, et al. Percutaneous lung biopsies: performance of an optical CT-based navigation system with a low-dose protocol. Eur Radiol 2013;23:3071-6.
- Arias S, Lee H, Semaan R, et al. Use of Electromagnetic Navigational Transthoracic Needle Aspiration (E-TTNA) for Sampling of Lung Nodules. J Vis Exp 2015;(99):e52723.
- Odronic SI, Gildea TR, Chute DJ. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy-guided fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of lung lesions. Diagn Cytopathol 2014;42:1045-50.
- Sato M, Omasa M, Chen F, et al. Use of virtual assisted lung mapping (VAL-MAP), a bronchoscopic multispot dye-marking technique using virtual images, for precise navigation of thoracoscopic sublobar lung resection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:1813-9.
- Wu CC, Maher MM, Shepard JA. Complications of CTguided percutaneous needle biopsy of the chest: prevention and management. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2011;196:W678-82.
- 22. Geraghty PR, Kee ST, McFarlane G, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of pulmonary nodules: needle size and pneumothorax rate. Radiology 2003;229:475-81.
- Cox JE, Chiles C, McManus CM, et al. Transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy: variables that affect risk of pneumothorax. Radiology 1999;212:165-8.
- Kazerooni EA, Lim FT, Mikhail A, et al. Risk of pneumothorax in CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of the lung. Radiology 1996;198:371-5.
- 25. Wiener RS, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S, et al. Populationbased risk for complications after transthoracic needle lung

biopsy of a pulmonary nodule: an analysis of discharge records. Ann Intern Med 2011;155:137-44.

- 26. Choi CM, Um SW, Yoo CG, et al. Incidence and risk factors of delayed pneumothorax after transthoracic needle biopsy of the lung. Chest 2004;126:1516-21.
- 27. Zaetta JM, Licht MO, Fisher JS, et al. A lung biopsy tract plug for reduction of postbiopsy pneumothorax and other complications: results of a prospective, multicenter,

Cite this article as: Chockalingam A, Hong K. Transthoracic needle aspiration: the past, present and future. J Thorac Dis 2015;7(S4):S292-S299. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.12.01

randomized, controlled clinical study. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2010;21:1235-43.e1-3.

- Lang EK, Ghavami R, Schreiner VC, et al. Autologous blood clot seal to prevent pneumothorax at CT-guided lung biopsy. Radiology 2000;216:93-6.
- 29. Robertson EG, Baxter G. Tumour seeding following percutaneous needle biopsy: the real story! Clin Radiol 2011;66:1007-14.

Transthoracic needle biopsy of the lung

David M. DiBardino¹, Lonny B. Yarmus², Roy W. Semaan²

¹Division of Pulmonary, Allergy and Critical Care Medicine, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons, New York, NY, USA; ²Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: None; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: None; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Roy W. Semaan, MD. Interventional Pulmonology, Sheikh Zayed Tower, Suite 7-125, The Johns Hopkins Hospital, 1800 Orleans Street, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA. Email: rsemaan1@jhmi.edu.

Background: Image guided transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) is a valuable tool used for the diagnosis of countless thoracic diseases. Computed tomography (CT) is the most common imaging modality used for guidance followed by ultrasound (US) for lesions abutting the pleural surface. Novel approaches using virtual CT guidance have recently been introduced. The objective of this review is to examine the current literature for TTNA biopsy of the lung focusing on diagnostic accuracy and safety.

Methods: MEDLINE was searched from inception to October 2015 for all case series examining image guided TTNA. Articles focusing on fluoroscopic guidance as well as influence of rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) on yield were excluded. The diagnostic accuracy, defined as the number of true positives divided by the number of biopsies done, as well as the complication rate [pneumothorax (PTX), bleeding] was examined for CT guided TTNA, US guided TTNA as well as CT guided electromagnetic navigational-TTNA (E-TTNA). Of the 490 articles recovered 75 were included in our analysis.

Results: The overall pooled diagnostic accuracy for CT guided TTNA using 48 articles that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria was 92.1% (9,567/10,383). A similar yield was obtained examining ten articles using US guided TTNA of 88.7% (446/503). E-TTNA, being a new modality, only had one pilot study citing a diagnostic accuracy of 83% (19/23). Pooled PTX and hemorrhage rates were 20.5% and 2.8% respectively for CT guided TTNA. The PTX rate was lower in US guided TTNA at a pooled rate of 4.4%. E-TTNA showed a similar rate of PTX at 20% with no incidence of bleeding in a single pilot study available.

Conclusions: Image guided TTNA is a safe and accurate modality for the biopsy of lung pathology. This study found similar yield and safety profiles with the three imaging modalities examined.

Keywords: Image guided lung biopsy; transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA); computed tomography guided TTNA (CT guided TTNA); ultrasound guided TTNA (US guided TTNA); CT guided electromagnetic navigational TTNA

Submitted Nov 05, 2015. Accepted for publication Nov 13, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.12.16 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.12.16

Introduction

Image guided transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) of lung lesions has been a valuable diagnostic tool since it was first described in 1965 (1). Integral to the evolution of the technique has been the type of image guidance used to direct the biopsy tool to the area of abnormality. As imaging technology has advanced, so has the type of guidance used: plain radiograph and fluoroscopy giving way to computed tomography (CT), ultrasound (US) guided procedures (2,3) and CT guided electromagnetic navigational-TTNA (E-TTNA).



Figure 1 Flow diagram.

A large body of literature has subsequently explored the technique using CT and US. This literature has focused on the diagnostic accuracy of TTNA, modifications to the biopsy tools used, and the complications. The vast majority of the literature is large case series based with periodic pooled analyses, meta-analyses, and structured reviews of the test characteristics reported (4-7). These analyses have focused on the excellent diagnostic performance of TTNA for the diagnosis of peripheral lung cancer and have included an older and heterogeneous group of procedures guided by plain radiograph, fluoroscopy guided, CT guided, and US.

In this review, we summarize the recent available literature on CT guided and US guided TTNA for lung lesions. Furthermore, we report our case series using a novel electromagnetic navigational technology for TTNA (E-TTNA) and explore future directions in the field (8-10).

Methods

MEDLINE was searched from inception to October 2015 for all case series designed to describe the test characteristics and complications of TTNA of lung nodules using combinations of the medical subject headings (MeSH terms) "computed tomography", "ultrasound", "transthoracic", "needle aspiration", "needle biopsy", and "peripheral lung nodules". Bibliographies and related articles of included studies were hand searched for additional reports. Research analyzing TTNA guided by fluoroscopy alone, an inadequate description of the imaging guidance used, inadequate confirmation of diagnosis, and analyses that included lesions from outside the lung parenchyma were excluded from our pooled analysis. Articles designed to compare biopsy techniques or examine the influence of rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) on diagnostic yield were excluded. Non-English language articles were also excluded (*Figure 1*).

For the purposes of the pooled analysis, the overall diagnostic accuracy was defined as the number of true positives (true malignancy found on TTNA) and true negatives (confirmed benign lesions found on TTNA) divided by the number of biopsies done, provided that a definitive diagnosis was achieved based on clinical follow up and/or further invasive testing. Patients who underwent repeat biopsies had each biopsy counted separately. The pooled sensitivity and specificity of TTNA for malignancy was also calculated. If the subset of the test characteristics regarding malignancy were not available, overall diagnostic sensitivity and specificity were reported as indicated in the tables. When reports had adequate diagnostic follow up for only a subset of their study population, the diagnostic accuracy, sensitivity for malignancy, and specificity for malignancy used in the pooled analyses were derived only from the subset with follow up. Primary data was extracted manually from each full text article. When articles calculated the test characteristics of TTNA only after excluding failed procedures (aborted or nondiagnostic) this was noted in the table. Similarly, the safety data was manually extracted and pooled from each full text manuscript.

Results

CT guided TTNA

Diagnostic accuracy

The vast majority of the literature focuses on the diagnostic yield of CT guided TTNA. Forty-eight articles using CT guidance met the inclusion and exclusion criteria based on the search strategy described above. The overall pooled diagnostic accuracy was 92.1% (9,567/10,383) and the sensitivity for detecting malignancy was 92.1% (7,343/7,975). The specificity for the diagnosis of malignancy approaches 100% with rare false positives (Table 1). Within each individual study, one factor consistently proposed as influencing the diagnostic accuracy of TTNA was lung lesion size. However, individual studies were mixed in validating lesion size as a predictor of diagnostic failure and were consistently under powered to detect a difference (14,17,20,22,28,30,31,33,36-39,41-44,52,58). When articles restricted to lung nodules ≤ 2 cm were analyzed with articles that reported diagnostic accuracy stratified by lesion size ≤ 2 cm, the pooled diagnostic accuracy was still excellent at 92.8% (2,521/2,718) and the pooled sensitivity for detecting malignancy was similarly high at 92.3% (1,497/1,622) (Table 2). When nodules were further stratified into ≤ 1 cm lesions the test characteristics did not decline significantly with a pooled diagnostic accuracy of 92.6% (638/689), and a pooled sensitivity for detecting malignancy at 88.7% (410/462).

Another consistent factor proposed as affecting diagnostic yield was the presence of a ground glass opacity (GGO) component to the lesion being biopsied. However, when articles reporting test characteristics of TTNA of GGO were segregated (*Table 3*), the pooled diagnostic accuracy was still very high at 92.5%, and the pooled sensitivity for detecting malignancy was similar at 91.4% (30-32,35,38,39,50).

Several other factors were inconsistently associated with a lower diagnostic yield in univariate and multivariate analyses including lower lobe biopsy site (28,42,52), acquisition of two or fewer specimens (28), malignant lesions (28,52), benign lesions (25), pneumothorax (PTX) during procedure (52), and use of aspiration needle only (39). Regardless of this mixed data (15,23), a high pretest probability of malignancy is a consistent predictor of high diagnostic accuracy as benign lesions were the most difficult to definitively diagnose on TTNA. Articles that studied patients with a lower pretest probability of malignancy reported the lowest diagnostic yield (46,47).

Safety

A sizable amount of case-series data was also available on the safety of CT guided TTNA with seventeen articles identified as specifically describing the complications. Additionally, thirty-six articles designed to describe the test characteristics of CT guided TTNA also provided information on complications encountered (*Table 4*). Generally, the information regarding the most common complications is dominated by the largest, multi-centered case series with over 15,000 subjects (59).

Overall, PTX is the most common safety issue. PTX occurred with a pooled incidence of 20.5% (6,821/33,306) (*Table 4*). The overall pooled incidence of chest tube placement for PTX was 7.3% (2,178/29,930) but varied widely (range, 0-31.1%), likely owing to different and evolving management strategies.

Several risk factors for PTX have been proposed in univariate and multivariate analyses including coaxial stabilizing needle size (13,72), age (13,34,57,72,75), smaller lesion size (23,55,60,64,66,69), depth of lesion (22,23,34,41,53,55,60,62-66,69,72-75), wider trajectory angle (41,63), a higher forced vital capacity (22,63), supine position during biopsy (61), longer puncture time (68), needle passing through a pulmonary fissure (69,75), traversing aerated lung (69,71), emphysema within biopsy path (42,43,72,75), presence of emphysema (73,74), number of pleural surfaces crossed (42,72,75), number of punctures (22,34), anterior biopsy approach (72), posterior biopsy approach (72), lateral biopsy approach (34), and a less experienced operator (66). Once a PTX has occurred, several risk factors for chest tube placement have been consistently identified such as age (52,72), supine position during biopsy (52), benign lung lesion on final diagnosis (52), a history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (57,59,60,62,72), emphysema within biopsy path (75),

Table 1 Test characteristics for CT guided transthoracic needle biopsy for pulmona
--

		OI gui	ded transtitoracie needle bit	Sensitivity	Specificity	Diagnostic	l esion sizes	
Study	Year	No.	Type of biopsy	(%)	(%)	accuracy (%)	(cm)	Other
Larscheid (11)	1998	109*	22 or 23-G TTNA	91	100	89	<1 to >6	
Lopez Hänninen (12)	2001	79	TTCNB 20-G	96	100	95	0.5-6	
Geraghty (13)	2003	676*	TTNA 18 or 19-G	91	99	94	<1 to >2	
Yankelevitz (14)	1997	114	TTNA 20 or 22-G	94	100	75	≤3	
Charig (15)	2000	185	TTCNB 14, 18, or 20-G	93	100	94	1.3-11.2	
Hirose (16)	2000	50	TTCNB 18-G	89	100	90	0.8-6	
Arslan (17)	2002	294	TTNA 22-G	88	100	82	1 to >6	
Lucidarme (18)	1998	89*	TTCNB 18-G	93	100	90	0.9-8	
García Río (19)	1994	84	TTNA	76	100	82	1.8-4	
Wallace (20)	2002	57*	TTNA 20 to 22-G	82	100	88	≤1	
Laurent (21)	2000	66*	TTCNB 20-G	91	100	91	<2	
		132*	TTCNB 20-G	96	100	96	>2	
Ohno (22)	2003	162	TTNA 22-G	87	100	77	≤2	
Heyer (23)	2008	172	TTCNB 16-G	93	100	95	0.8-7.6	
Montaudon (24)	2004	605	TTCNB 20-G	92	99	94	Range	
Yeow (25)	2003	631	TTCNB 16 to 20-G	93	98	94	Range	
Priola (26)	2007	612	TTNA 21, 20-G,	90	99	83	<1 to 11	
Pladt (07)	2006	66*		01	100	0.4	<1 to > 2	
Diaut (27)	2000	1000		01	00	04	<1 to >3	
Hiraki (28)	2009	1000	TTONB 20-G	94	99	95	<110>3	
Inoue (29)	2012	00		95	100	90	0.0-3.0	
Hur (30)	2009	28	TTOND	/ 1	100	82 07 [‡] (0)	0.8-2.8	GGO
Yamauchi (31)	2011	67 07	TICNB	97	100	971(2)	0.6-4.7	GGO
Yamagami (32)	2013	85	I I CNB	88	100	91	0.4-3	GGO
Yamagami (33)	2004	22	mixed	93	100	95	0.7-2	Difficult lesions
Yang (34)	2015	311	TICNB 18-G	95	97	93	≤3	
De Filippo (35)	2013	/8*	TINA 20-G	86	100	86	0.7-3	Some GGO
Ng (36)	2008	4/*	TINA 22-G	68	100	79	≤1	
Zhuang (37)	2013	102	TTNA 18 or 20-G	96	98	96	1-7	Cavitary lesions
Kim (38)	2008	43*	TTCNB 18 or 20-G	92	100	91 ⁺ (7)	0.9-3.1	GGO
Choi (39)	2013	268*	Mixed, all 20-G	93	99	95 [∓] (27)	<1	Some GGO
Hayashi (40)	1998	52	TTCNB 18 or 20-G	100	100	96	<3	
Li (41)	2013	169	TTCNB 20-G	90	100	94	≤2	
Lee (42)	2014	1153	TTCNB 18-G	96	100	97	0.5-13	
Choi (43)	2012	173	TTCNB 18-G	97	100	98 [‡] (10)	≤2	
Choo (44)	2013	107	TTCNB 18-G	97	100	98 [‡] (9)	≤1	Virtual CT scan
Lima (45)	2011	89*	TTNA 25-G	94	82	84	Not reported	
Mesurolle (46)	2003	85	TTNA 18, 19, or 21-G	82	100	81	0.9-9	Head & neck CA
Yankelevitz (47)	1998	48	TTNA 20 or 22-G	94	100	67	<3	Negative bronch
Yu (48)	2002	52	TTCNB 18 or 20-G	97	100	97 [‡] (1)	1.8-15	

Table 1 (continued)

 Table 1 (continued)

Study	Voor	No		Sensitivity	Specificity	Diagnostic	Lesion sizes	Othor
Sludy	rear	NO.	Type of biopsy	(%)	(%)	accuracy (%)	(cm)	Other
Floridi (49)	2014	95	TTCNB 20-G	91	100	93 [‡] (5)	0.7-14	
Lu (50)	2012	52*	TTCNB 20-G	94	100	94	≤3	GGO
Laspas (51)	2008	409	TTNA 21 or 23-G	92	98	93 [‡] (40)	0.6-10	
Takeshita (52)	2015	750	Mixed	91	99	93 [‡] (10)	0.9-3.9	
Uskül (53)	2009	134	TTNA 22-G	83	100	84	1.3-11	
Niu (54)	2015	84	TTCNB 20-G	86	100	89	0.5-12	Pleural lesions
Loh (55)	2013	367*	Mixed	96	100	97	0.6-12.3	
Lee (56)	2012	94	Mixed	93	100	91	0.8-12	
Yaffe (57)	2015	173*	TTCNB 18-G	94	92	94	0.9-3.9	
Jiao de (58)	2014	110	TTCNB 16-G	97	100	97 [‡] (2)	0.6-15	
Pooled analysis				92.1		92.1		

*, subset of a larger population with adequate follow up; [‡], excludes nondiagnostic biopsies (number of biopsies excluded). CT, computed tomography; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration; TTCNB, transthoracic core needle biopsy; GGO, ground-glass opacities.

presence of emphysema (52,74), smoking history (59), lesion depth (52,63,72), lateral biopsy approach (72), posterior biopsy approach (72), number of pleural surfaces crossed (72), needle passing through a pulmonary fissure (75), and wider trajectory angle (63). However, many of these biologically plausible risk factors are only inconsistently associated with PTX and chest tube placement, likely owing to the heterogeneity of methods and lack of consistent controlling for confounding (15,37,42,56,61,62,67,68,73,74).

Clinically significant hemorrhage is the next most common complication with a pooled incidence of 2.8% (609/22,313) when defined as hemoptysis, hemothorax, hypotension, chest wall hematoma, or symptoms prompting imaging. These clinically significant hemorrhages were considerably less common than evidence of hemorrhage on screening post biopsy CT scan (41,56,68), and PTX (*Table 4*). Proposed risk factors for any hemorrhage included depth of lesion (41,55,68), number of times the pleura was punctured (68), GGO being biopsied (42,43), and size of the lesion (55,68). Other very rare complications such as cardiac or respiratory arrest, shock, seeding of malignant cells in the biopsy tract, and hemothorax have been reported (76-78). The dreaded complication of air-embolism occurs very rarely with an estimated incidence of 0.02% to 0.07% (52,79).

US guided TTNA

Diagnostic accuracy

There is considerably less data available describing US

guided TTNA for lung lesions. A total of ten studies met the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the pooled analysis (*Table 5*). Lesions amenable to US guided TTNA were abutting the pleura such that aerated lung did not reflect the US beams before the lesion was visible. The overall pooled diagnostic accuracy was similarly high at 88.7% (446/503), and the sensitivity for detecting malignancy was 91.5% (366/400). The specificity for the diagnosis of malignancy also approached 100% (*Table 5*).

Small lesions were biopsied with only mixed evidence that lesion size affected diagnostic yield (81,89). Pleural adhesion with a lack of lung sliding was also proposed as increasing diagnostic yield (89). As discussed above, a higher pretest probability of malignancy consistently increased the diagnostic yield as benign lesions were more difficult to definitively diagnose (83-89).

Safety

US guided TTNA was generally very well tolerated with a pooled incidence of PTX of 4.4% (22/503). This compared favorably to CT guided TTNA; however, US guided lesions are inherently more peripheral. Therefore, PTX is less likely regardless of biopsy method used. To our knowledge, the only comparison of US guided and CT guided TTNA reported retrospectively by Sconfienza *et al.* (90) did find a lower PTX rate with US guidance when biopsying consecutive peripheral lung lesions (14.7% *vs.* 5.8%). Pleural adhesions with a lack of lung sliding were proposed as protective against PTX (89).

14010 2 1000 011414000	100000	01 50		care bropby i	or pullional		-	
Study	Year	No.	Type of biopsy	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Diagnostic accuracy (%)	Lesion sizes (cm)	Other
Studies including da	2 cm	()						
Yankelevitz (14)	1997	69*	TTNA 20 or 22-G	90	100%	NA	≤2	
Arslan (17)	2002	20*	TTNA 22-G	NA	NA	95	1 to ≤2	
Wallace (20)	2002	57*	TTNA 20 to 22-G	82	100	88	≤1	
Laurent (21)	2000	66*	TTCNB 20-G	91	100	91	<2	
Ohno (22)	2003	162	TTNA 22-G	87	100	77	≤2	
Hiraki (28)	2009	582*	TTCNB 20-G	94	100	95	≤2	
Hur (30)	2009	20*	TTNA 20 to 22-G	69	100	80	≤2	GGO
Yamauchi (31)	2011	50*	TTCNB	95	100	96	≤2	GGO
Yamagami (33)	2004	22	mixed	93	100	95	0.7-2	Difficult lesions
Ng (36)	2008	47*	TTNA 22-G	68	100	79	≤1	
Zhuang (37)	2013	78*	TTNA 18 or 20-G	97	93	96	<2	Cavitary lesions
Kim (38)	2008	23*	TTCNB 18 or 20-G	94	100	91	<2	GGO
Choi (39)	2013	268*	Mixed, all 20-G	93	99	95 [‡] (27)	<1	Some GGO
Li (41)	2013	169	TTCNB 20-G	90	100	94	≤2	
Lee (42)	2014	485*	TTCNB 18-G	94	100	96	≤2	
Choi (43)	2012	173	TTCNB 18-G	97	100	98 [‡] (10)	≤2	
Choo (44)	2013	107	TTCNB 18-G	97	100	98 [‡] (9)	≤1	Virtual CT scan
Takeshita (52)	2015	391*	Mixed	NA	NA	88	≤2	
Jiao de (58)	2014	17*	TTCNB 16-G	NA	100	94	≤2	
Pooled analysis				92.3		92.8		
Studies reporting da	ta for noo	dules ≤	1 cm					
Wallace (20)	2002	57*	TTNA 20 to 22-G	82	100	88	≤1	
Laurent (21)	2000	7*	TTCNB 20-G	67	100	86	≤1	
Hiraki (28)	2009	151*	TTCNB 20-G	90	100	93	≤1	
Hur (30)	2009	10*	TTNA 20 to 22-G	67	100	80	≤1	GGO
Yamauchi (31)	2011	8*	TTCNB	86	100	88	≤1	GGO
Ng (36)	2008	47*	TTNA 22-G	68	100	79	≤1	
Choi (39)	2013	268*	Mixed, all 20-G	93	99	95 [‡] (27)	<1	Some GGO
Lee (42)	2014	70*	TTCNB 18-G	88	100	93	≤1	
Choo (44)	2013	107	TTCNB 18-G	97	100	98 [‡] (9)	≤1	Virtual CT scan

Table 2 Test characteristics for CT guided transthoracic needle biopsy for pulmonary lesions \leq 2 cm

*, subset of a larger population with smaller lesions; [‡], excludes nondiagnostic biopsies (number of biopsies excluded). CT, computed tomography; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration; TTCNB, transthoracic core needle biopsy; GGO, ground-glass opacities; NA, not available.

92.6

88.7

Pooled analysis

			5	1 2				
Study.	Voar	No	Type of biopey	Sensitivity	Specificity	Diagnostic	Lesion sizes	Othor
Study	Tear	NO.	Type of blopsy	(%)	(%)	accuracy (%)	(cm)	Other
Inoue (29)	2012	66*	TTCNB 20-G	95	100	95	0.5-3.5	Pure GGO
Hur (30)	2009	28	TTNA 20 to 22-G	71	100	82	0.8-2.8	GGO
Yamauchi (31)	2011	67	TTCNB	97	100	97	0.6-4.7	GGO
Yamagami (32)	2013	85	TTCNB	88	100	91	0.4-3	GGO
De Filippo (35)	2013	78*	TTNA 20-G	86	100	86	0.7-3	Some GGO
Kim (38)	2008	43*	TTCNB 18 or 20-G	92	100	91	0.9-3.1	GGO
Choi (39)	2013	268*	Mixed, all 20-G	93	99	95	<1	Some GGO
Lu (50)	2012	52*	TTCNB 20-G	94	100	94	≤3	GGO
Pooled analysis				91.4		92.5		

Table 3 Test characteristics for CT guided transthoracic needle biopsy for GGO lesions

*, subset of a larger population with adequate follow up. CT, computed tomography; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration; TTCNB, transthoracic core needle biopsy; GGO, ground-glass opacities.

Electromagnetic navigational-transtboracic needle aspiration (E-TTNA)

Although CT and US guided TTNA have been proven safe and effective they do not provide mediastinal staging which is essential in providing prognostic information as well as selecting appropriate surgical and oncologic treatment. A novel thoracic navigational system recently developed by Veran Medical Technologies (St Louis, MO, USA) allows operators to perform a virtual CT guided electromagnetic navigational TTNA using a CT scan of the chest obtained prior to the procedure which is virtually paired with the patient using a tracking pad placed on the chest. This allows the operator to perform mediastinal lymph node staging with convex endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS), navigational bronchoscopy if needed and a navigational E-TTNA all in one setting.

Diagnostic accuracy

A single center safety and feasibility trial of 24 patients using the above system was recently completed showing a diagnostic yield of 83% for E-TTNA (91), which is comparable to the above cited yield using real time imaging. Of note, when EBUS TBNA of mediastinal lymph nodes as well as navigational bronchoscopy using the same system was completed in the same study the diagnostic yield was raised to 92%.

Safety

Using the pilot study cited above, safety of E-TTNA appears to be equivalent to conventional CT guided TTNA.

There were five pneumothoraces (20%) after the combined procedure with only two patients requiring pigtail chest tube catheters and admission. There was no other incidence of bleeding, hemoptysis, prolonged intubation or other complications reported.

Although this data is promising, the above pilot data only involves a single center with 24 patients. Further multicentered, randomized trials with larger enrollment need to be completed before drawing conclusions about the diagnostic accuracy and safety of E-TTNA alone and in comparison to conventional image guided TTNA.

Conclusions

Image guided TTNA remains an important modality in the diagnosis of thoracic diseases, particularly malignancies. This review has shown a high overall diagnostic yield, sensitivity and specificity for pulmonary nodules using CT and US guided imaging after analysis of 75 published articles. E-TTNA was also examined using data from a recent single center pilot study that showed similar diagnostic yield to the two previously mentioned imaging modalities. However, as this is a small, single center study, this data must be taken in context, with further large multicenter trials needed before this modality can be accepted as an alternative to CT or US guided TTNA.

Regarding safety, both CT and US guidance were extremely safe with the two most common complications reported being PTX, a large proportion of which can be managed conservatively with observation rather than tube

Table 4 Safety profile of CT guided transthoracic needle biopsy

Ctudy	Veer	Number	PTX rate	PTX with chest tube	Hemorrhage
Sludy	rear	Number	(95% Cl if available) (%)	(95% CI if available) (%)	(95% CI if available)* (%)
Wiener (59)	2011	15,865	15.0 (14.0-16.0)	6.6 (6.0-7.2)	1.0 (0.9-1.2)
Geraghty (13)	2003	846	26.7	8.7	NA
Kazerooni (60)	1996	121	44.6	14.9	NA
Nakamura (61)	2011	156	59.6	7.7	NA
Laurent (62)	1999	307	19.9	2.0	NA
Saji (63)	2002	289	26.6	14.2	NA
Yamagami (64)	2002	134	34.4	2.2	NA
Yeow (65)	2001	117	12	0	3
Yeow (66)	2004	660	23.4	1.4	3.9
Yildirim (67)	2009	225	26.2	7.6	12.9
Khan (68)	2008	135	17	2.2	6.7
Nour-Eldin (69)	2015	650	25	4.3	NA
Dennie (70)	2001	506	22.9	6.5	NA
Haramati (71)	1991	131	27.4	4.6	3.8
Kuban (72)	2015	4,262	30.3	15	NA
Chami (73)	2015	163	36.2	5.5	NA
Schulze (74)	2015	664	21.7	6	NA
Kim (75)	2015	1,227	21.4	2.9	NA
Larscheid (11)	1998	130	43	18.5	NA
Lopez Hänninen (12)	2001	79	24	5.1	0
Yankelevitz (14)	1997	114	20.2	5.3	0
Charig (15)	2000	183	26.2	2.2	7.1
Hirose (16)	2000	50	42	12	NA
Arslan (17)	2002	294	8.2	1	3.1
Lucidarme (18)	1998	91	34	3.3	9.9
García Río (19)	1994	84	14.3	4.8	1.2
Wallace (20)	2002	61	62.2	31.1	NA
Ohno (22)	2003	162	28.4	2.5	NA
Heyer (23)	2008	172	26.2	NA	NA
Yeow (25)	2003	631	23.5	NA	NA
Bladt (27)	2006	72	9.7	NA	1.7
Hur (30)	2009	28	17.9	7.1	10.7
Yamauchi (31)	2011	90	15.6	NA	14.4
Yamagami (33)	2004	22	31.8	4.5	4.5
Yang (34)	2015	311	17.7	0.9	11.6
Ng (36)	2008	55	52.7	9.1	NA
Zhuang (37)	2013	102	8.8	NA	14.7
Kim (38)	2008	55	18.2	1.8	12.7
Li (41)	2013	169	14.8	1.8	6.5
Lee (42)	2014	1,153	17	NA	6.9

Table 4 (continued)

Table 4 (continued)

Study.	Voor	Number	PTX rate	PTX with chest tube	Hemorrhage
Sludy	rear	Number	(95% CI if available) (%)	(95% CI if available) (%)	(95% CI if available)* (%)
Choi (43)	2012	173	31.8	1.7	14.5
Choo (44)	2013	107	6.5	NA	5.6
Lima (45)	2011	97	27.8	12.4	2
Yu (48)	2002	52	11.5	0	5.8
Floridi (49)	2014	95	21.1	0	NA
Lu (50)	2012	55	47.3	NA	20
Laspas (51)	2008	409	4.2	0.2	0.2
Takeshita (52)	2015	750	36.8	NA	12.1
Uskül (53)	2009	134	16.4	NA	NA
Niu (54)	2015	84	16.7	2.4	NA
Loh (55)	2013	399	34.8	3	3.8
Lee (56)	2012	94	25.5	1	NA
Yaffe (57)	2015	181	26.5	1.1	9.4
Jiao de (58)	2014	110	12	NA	6.5
Pooled analysis			20.5	7.3	2.8

*, includes the subset of clinically apparent bleeding only: hemoptysis, hemothorax, hemorrhagic shock, chest wall hematoma, or symptoms prompting imaging. CT, computed tomography; PTX, pneumothorax; CI, confidence interval; NA, not available.

	Table 5 Test characteristics for	US guided transthoracic	needle aspirations for	pulmonary lesions
--	----------------------------------	-------------------------	------------------------	-------------------

Study	Year	No.	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Diagnostic accuracy (%)	Pleural based lesion	Other	PTX (%)
Knudsen (80)	1996	134	100 [‡] (15)	94 [‡] (15)	98 [‡] (15)	Y		3.7
Targhetta (81)	1993	64	91	100	86	Y		3.1
Yuan (82)	1992	30	92	100	90	Y	Lesions <3 cm	3.3
Yang (83)	1985	25	100	100	84	Y		8
Chen (84)	1995	40	97	100	88	Y		5
Chen (85)	1996	34*	96	100	88	Y	≤3 cm	2.5
Dallari (86)	1999	45	92	100	80	Y		0
Khosla (87)	2009	21	90	100	95	Y		0
Hsu (88)	1993	16	94	100	94	Y	Apical lesions	0
Meena (89)	2015	109	80	90	83	Y	6.4% hemoptysis	8.3
Pooled analysis			91.5		88.7			4.4

*, subset of a larger population with adequate follow up; [‡], excludes nondiagnostic biopsies (number of biopsies excluded). US, ultrasound; TTNA, transthoracic needle aspiration; TTCNB, transthoracic core needle biopsy; Y, yes; N, no; PTX, pneumothorax.

thoracostomy, as well as hemorrhage. Serious complications including hemothorax, air embolism, or cardiopulmonary arrest have been reported, but are extremely rare. There is a higher reported PTX rate using CT guided imaging as compared to US guidance. This is likely secondary to the fact that US guided biopsies are only performed on nodules and masses that are directly abutting the pleura. E-TTNA also appears to have an equivalent safety profile compared to CT guided TTNA, but again this data must be taken in context as discussed above.

One disadvantage with percutaneous biopsy of potential lung malignancies is the inability to simultaneously stage the mediastinum as is possible with bronchoscopic lung biopsy with simultaneous convex EBUS trans-bronchial needle aspiration of mediastinal lymph nodes. However, as diagnostic yield for bronchoscopic biopsies of peripheral lung nodules remains significantly lower than with CT guided TTNA even under navigational guidance (92), a combined modality of performing EBUS staging, attempted bronchoscopic biopsy and if unsuccessful E-TTNA biopsy of the suspected nodule may provide an efficient and convenient pathway to lung cancer diagnosis and staging for patients in the near future.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Nordenström B. A new technique for transthoracic biopsy of lung changes. Br J Radiol 1965;38:550-3.
- Sheth S, Hamper UM, Stanley DB, et al. US guidance for thoracic biopsy: a valuable alternative to CT. Radiology 1999;210:721-6.
- Birchard KR. Transthoracic needle biopsy. Semin Intervent Radiol 2011;28:87-97.
- Lacasse Y, Wong E, Guyatt GH, et al. Transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy for the diagnosis of localised pulmonary lesions: a meta-analysis. Thorax 1999;54:884-93.
- Rivera MP, Mehta AC, Wahidi MM. Establishing the diagnosis of lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e142S-65S.
- Schreiber G, McCrory DC. Performance characteristics of different modalities for diagnosis of suspected lung cancer: summary of published evidence. Chest 2003;123:115S-128S.
- Rivera MP, Mehta AC. Initial diagnosis of lung cancer: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd ed). Chest 2007;132:131S-148S.

- Arias S, Lee H, Semaan R, et al. Use of Electromagnetic Navigational Transthoracic Needle Aspiration (E-TTNA) for Sampling of Lung Nodules. J Vis Exp 2015;(99):e52723.
- 9. Wada H, Anayama T, Hirohashi K, et al. Thoracoscopic ultrasonography for localization of subcentimetre lung nodules. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015. [Epub ahead of print].
- Liu S, Li C, Yu X, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of MRIguided percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of solitary pulmonary nodules. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2015;38:416-21.
- 11. Larscheid RC, Thorpe PE, Scott WJ. Percutaneous transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy: a comprehensive review of its current role in the diagnosis and treatment of lung tumors. Chest 1998;114:704-9.
- Lopez Hänninen E, Vogl TJ, Ricke J, et al. CT-guided percutaneous core biopsies of pulmonary lesions. Diagnostic accuracy, complications and therapeutic impact. Acta Radiol 2001;42:151-5.
- Geraghty PR, Kee ST, McFarlane G, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of pulmonary nodules: needle size and pneumothorax rate. Radiology 2003;229:475-81.
- Yankelevitz DF, Henschke CI, Koizumi JH, et al. CTguided transthoracic needle biopsy of small solitary pulmonary nodules. Clin Imaging 1997;21:107-10.
- 15. Charig MJ, Phillips AJ. CT-guided cutting needle biopsy of lung lesions--safety and efficacy of an out-patient service. Clin Radiol 2000;55:964-9.
- Hirose T, Mori K, Machida S, et al. Computed tomographic fluoroscopy-guided transthoracic needle biopsy for diagnosis of pulmonary nodules. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2000;30:259-62.
- Arslan S, Yilmaz A, Bayramgürler B, et al. CT- guided transthoracic fine needle aspiration of pulmonary lesions: accuracy and complications in 294 patients. Med Sci Monit 2002;8:CR493-7.
- Lucidarme O, Howarth N, Finet JF, et al. Intrapulmonary lesions: percutaneous automated biopsy with a detachable, 18-gauge, coaxial cutting needle. Radiology 1998;207:759-65.
- García Río F, Díaz Lobato S, Pino JM, et al. Value of CT-guided fine needle aspiration in solitary pulmonary nodules with negative fiberoptic bronchoscopy. Acta Radiol 1994;35:478-80.
- 20. Wallace MJ, Krishnamurthy S, Broemeling LD, et al. CT-guided percutaneous fine-needle aspiration biopsy

DiBardino et al. TTNA biopsy of the lung

of small (< or =1-cm) pulmonary lesions. Radiology 2002;225:823-8.

- 21. Laurent F, Latrabe V, Vergier B, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle biopsy of pulmonary nodules smaller than 20 mm: results with an automated 20-gauge coaxial cutting needle. Clin Radiol 2000;55:281-7.
- 22. Ohno Y, Hatabu H, Takenaka D, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of small (< or = 20 mm) solitary pulmonary nodules. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2003;180:1665-9.
- 23. Heyer CM, Reichelt S, Peters SA, et al. Computed tomography-navigated transthoracic core biopsy of pulmonary lesions: which factors affect diagnostic yield and complication rates? Acad Radiol 2008;15:1017-26.
- 24. Montaudon M, Latrabe V, Pariente A, et al. Factors influencing accuracy of CT-guided percutaneous biopsies of pulmonary lesions. Eur Radiol 2004;14:1234-40.
- 25. Yeow KM, Tsay PK, Cheung YC, et al. Factors affecting diagnostic accuracy of CT-guided coaxial cutting needle lung biopsy: retrospective analysis of 631 procedures. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2003;14:581-8.
- Priola AM, Priola SM, Cataldi A, et al. Accuracy of CTguided transthoracic needle biopsy of lung lesions: factors affecting diagnostic yield. Radiol Med 2007;112:1142-59.
- 27. Bladt O, De Wever W. Additional value of CTfluoroscopic biopsy of pulmonary lesions: a retrospective study of 69 patients. JBR-BTR 2006;89:298-302.
- Hiraki T, Mimura H, Gobara H, et al. CT fluoroscopyguided biopsy of 1,000 pulmonary lesions performed with 20-gauge coaxial cutting needles: diagnostic yield and risk factors for diagnostic failure. Chest 2009;136:1612-7.
- 29. Inoue D, Gobara H, Hiraki T, et al. CT fluoroscopyguided cutting needle biopsy of focal pure ground-glass opacity lung lesions: diagnostic yield in 83 lesions. Eur J Radiol 2012;81:354-9.
- Hur J, Lee HJ, Nam JE, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of CT fluoroscopy-guided needle aspiration biopsy of groundglass opacity pulmonary lesions. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2009;192:629-34.
- Yamauchi Y, Izumi Y, Nakatsuka S, et al. Diagnostic performance of percutaneous core needle lung biopsy under multi-CT fluoroscopic guidance for ground-glass opacity pulmonary lesions. Eur J Radiol 2011;79:e85-9.
- 32. Yamagami T, Yoshimatsu R, Miura H, et al. Diagnostic performance of percutaneous lung biopsy using automated biopsy needles under CT-fluoroscopic guidance for ground-glass opacity lesions. Br J Radiol 2013;86:20120447.

- 33. Yamagami T, Kato T, Iida S, et al. Percutaneous needle biopsy for small lung nodules beneath the rib under CT scan fluoroscopic guidance with gantry tilt. Chest 2004;126:744-7.
- Yang W, Sun W, Li Q, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of CT-Guided Transthoracic Needle Biopsy for Solitary Pulmonary Nodules. PLoS One 2015;10:e0131373.
- 35. De Filippo M, Saba L, Concari G, et al. Predictive factors of diagnostic accuracy of CT-guided transthoracic fineneedle aspiration for solid noncalcified, subsolid and mixed pulmonary nodules. Radiol Med 2013;118:1071-81.
- 36. Ng YL, Patsios D, Roberts H, et al. CT-guided percutaneous fine-needle aspiration biopsy of pulmonary nodules measuring 10 mm or less. Clin Radiol 2008;63:272-7.
- 37. Zhuang YP, Wang HY, Zhang J, et al. Diagnostic accuracy and safety of CT-guided fine needle aspiration biopsy in cavitary pulmonary lesions. Eur J Radiol 2013;82:182-6.
- Kim TJ, Lee JH, Lee CT, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of CT-guided core biopsy of ground-glass opacity pulmonary lesions. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2008;190:234-9.
- Choi SH, Chae EJ, Kim JE, et al. Percutaneous CTguided aspiration and core biopsy of pulmonary nodules smaller than 1 cm: analysis of outcomes of 305 procedures from a tertiary referral center. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2013;201:964-70.
- 40. Hayashi N, Sakai T, Kitagawa M, et al. CT-guided biopsy of pulmonary nodules less than 3 cm: usefulness of the spring-operated core biopsy needle and frozensection pathologic diagnosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1998;170:329-31.
- Li Y, Du Y, Yang HF, et al. CT-guided percutaneous core needle biopsy for small (≤20 mm) pulmonary lesions. Clin Radiol 2013;68:e43-8.
- Lee SM, Park CM, Lee KH, et al. C-arm cone-beam CTguided percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of lung nodules: clinical experience in 1108 patients. Radiology 2014;271:291-300.
- Choi JW, Park CM, Goo JM, et al. C-arm cone-beam CT-guided percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of small (≤ 20 mm) lung nodules: diagnostic accuracy and complications in 161 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2012;199:W322-30.
- 44. Choo JY, Park CM, Lee NK, et al. Percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of small (≤ 1 cm) lung nodules under C-arm cone-beam CT virtual navigation guidance. Eur Radiol 2013;23:712-9.
- 45. Lima CD, Nunes RA, Saito EH, et al. Results and

complications of CT-guided transthoracic fine-needle aspiration biopsy of pulmonary lesions. J Bras Pneumol 2011;37:209-16.

- Mesurolle B, Mignon F, Meingan P, et al. Head and neck cancer patients with pulmonary nodules: value and role of CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsies. Head Neck 2003;25:889-94.
- Yankelevitz DF, Henschke CI, Koizumi J, et al. CT-guided transthoracic needle biopsy following indeterminate fiberoptic bronchoscopy in solitary pulmonary nodules. Clin Imaging 1998;22:7-10.
- Yu LS, Deheinzelin D, Younes RN, et al. Computed tomography-guided cutting needle biopsy of pulmonary lesions. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo 2002;57:15-8.
- Floridi C, Muollo A, Fontana F, et al. C-arm conebeam computed tomography needle path overlay for percutaneous biopsy of pulmonary nodules. Radiol Med 2014;119:820-7.
- Lu CH, Hsiao CH, Chang YC, et al. Percutaneous computed tomography-guided coaxial core biopsy for small pulmonary lesions with ground-glass attenuation. J Thorac Oncol 2012;7:143-50.
- Laspas F, Roussakis A, Efthimiadou R, et al. Percutaneous CT-guided fine-needle aspiration of pulmonary lesions: Results and complications in 409 patients. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2008;52:458-62.
- 52. Takeshita J, Masago K, Kato R, et al. CT-guided fineneedle aspiration and core needle biopsies of pulmonary lesions: a single-center experience with 750 biopsies in Japan. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2015;204:29-34.
- 53. Uskül BT, Türker H, Gökçe M, et al. CT-guided transthoracic fine needle aspiration of pulmonary lesions: accuracy and complications in 134 cases. Tuberk Toraks 2009;57:177-85.
- Niu XK, Bhetuwal A, Yang HF. CT-guided core needle biopsy of pleural lesions: evaluating diagnostic yield and associated complications. Korean J Radiol 2015;16:206-12.
- Loh SE, Wu DD, Venkatesh SK, et al. CT-guided thoracic biopsy: evaluating diagnostic yield and complications. Ann Acad Med Singapore 2013;42:285-90.
- 56. Lee WJ, Chong S, Seo JS, et al. Transthoracic fine-needle aspiration biopsy of the lungs using a C-arm cone-beam CT system: diagnostic accuracy and post-procedural complications. Br J Radiol 2012;85:e217-22.
- 57. Yaffe D, Koslow M, Haskiya H, et al. A novel technique for CT-guided transthoracic biopsy of lung lesions: improved biopsy accuracy and safety. Eur Radiol 2015;25:3354-60.
- 58. Jiao de C, Li TF, Han XW, et al. Clinical applications

of the C-arm cone-beam CT-based 3D needle guidance system in performing percutaneous transthoracic needle biopsy of pulmonary lesions. Diagn Interv Radiol 2014;20:470-4.

- Wiener RS, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S, et al. Populationbased risk for complications after transthoracic needle lung biopsy of a pulmonary nodule: an analysis of discharge records. Ann Intern Med 2011;155:137-44.
- Kazerooni EA, Lim FT, Mikhail A, et al. Risk of pneumothorax in CT-guided transthoracic needle aspiration biopsy of the lung. Radiology 1996;198:371-5.
- 61. Nakamura M, Yoshizako T, Koyama S, et al. Risk factors influencing chest tube placement among patients with pneumothorax because of CT-guided needle biopsy of the lung. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2011;55:474-8.
- 62. Laurent F, Michel P, Latrabe V, et al. Pneumothoraces and chest tube placement after CT-guided transthoracic lung biopsy using a coaxial technique: incidence and risk factors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1999;172:1049-53.
- 63. Saji H, Nakamura H, Tsuchida T, et al. The incidence and the risk of pneumothorax and chest tube placement after percutaneous CT-guided lung biopsy: the angle of the needle trajectory is a novel predictor. Chest 2002;121:1521-6.
- 64. Yamagami T, Nakamura T, Iida S, et al. Management of pneumothorax after percutaneous CT-guided lung biopsy. Chest 2002;121:1159-64.
- 65. Yeow KM, See LC, Lui KW, et al. Risk factors for pneumothorax and bleeding after CT-guided percutaneous coaxial cutting needle biopsy of lung lesions. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2001;12:1305-12.
- 66. Yeow KM, Su IH, Pan KT, et al. Risk factors of pneumothorax and bleeding: multivariate analysis of 660 CT-guided coaxial cutting needle lung biopsies. Chest 2004;126:748-54.
- Yildirim E, Kirbas I, Harman A, et al. CT-guided cutting needle lung biopsy using modified coaxial technique: factors effecting risk of complications. Eur J Radiol 2009;70:57-60.
- Khan MF, Straub R, Moghaddam SR, et al. Variables affecting the risk of pneumothorax and intrapulmonal hemorrhage in CT-guided transthoracic biopsy. Eur Radiol 2008;18:1356-63.
- 69. Nour-Eldin NA, Alsubhi M, Emam A, et al. Pneumothorax Complicating Coaxial and Non-coaxial CT-Guided Lung Biopsy: Comparative Analysis of Determining Risk Factors and Management of Pneumothorax in a Retrospective Review of 650 Patients. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2015.

DiBardino et al. TTNA biopsy of the lung

[Epub ahead of print].

- Dennie CJ, Matzinger FR, Marriner JR, et al. Transthoracic needle biopsy of the lung: results of early discharge in 506 outpatients. Radiology 2001;219:247-51.
- Haramati LB, Austin JH. Complications after CT-guided needle biopsy through aerated versus nonaerated lung. Radiology 1991;181:778.
- 72. Kuban JD, Tam AL, Huang SY, et al. The Effect of Needle Gauge on the Risk of Pneumothorax and Chest Tube Placement After Percutaneous Computed Tomographic (CT)-Guided Lung Biopsy. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2015;38:1595-602.
- Chami HA, Faraj W, Yehia ZA, et al. Predictors of pneumothorax after CT-guided transthoracic needle lung biopsy: the role of quantitative CT. Clin Radiol 2015;70:1382-7.
- Schulze R, Seebacher G, Enderes B, et al. Complications in CT-Guided, Semi-Automatic Coaxial Core Biopsy of Potentially Malignant Pulmonary Lesions. Rofo 2015;187:697-702.
- 75. Kim JI, Park CM, Lee SM, et al. Rapid needle-out patientrollover approach after cone beam CT-guided lung biopsy: effect on pneumothorax rate in 1,191 consecutive patients. Eur Radiol 2015;25:1845-53.
- 76. Tomiyama N, Yasuhara Y, Nakajima Y, et al. CTguided needle biopsy of lung lesions: a survey of severe complication based on 9783 biopsies in Japan. Eur J Radiol 2006;59:60-4.
- 77. Voravud N, Shin DM, Dekmezian RH, et al. Implantation metastasis of carcinoma after percutaneous fine-needle aspiration biopsy. Chest 1992;102:313-5.
- Müller NL, Bergin CJ, Miller RR, et al. Seeding of malignant cells into the needle track after lung and pleural biopsy. Can Assoc Radiol J 1986;37:192-4.
- 79. Bou-Assaly W, Pernicano P, Hoeffner E. Systemic air embolism after transthoracic lung biopsy: A case report and review of literature. World J Radiol 2010;2:193-6.
- Knudsen DU, Nielsen SM, Hariri J, et al. Ultrasonographically guided fine-needle aspiration biopsy of intrathoracic tumors. Acta Radiol 1996;37:327-31.
- 81. Targhetta R, Bourgeois JM, Marty-Double C, et al. Peripheral pulmonary lesions: ultrasonic features and

Cite this article as: DiBardino DM, Yarmus LB, Semaan RW. Transthoracic needle biopsy of the lung. J Thorac Dis 2015;7(S4):S304-S316. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.12.16

ultrasonically guided fine needle aspiration biopsy. J Ultrasound Med 1993;12:369-74.

- Yuan A, Yang PC, Chang DB, et al. Ultrasound-guided aspiration biopsy of small peripheral pulmonary nodules. Chest 1992;101:926-30.
- Yang PC, Luh KT, Sheu JC, et al. Peripheral pulmonary lesions: ultrasonography and ultrasonically guided aspiration biopsy. Radiology 1985;155:451-6.
- Chen CC, Hsu WH, Huang CM, et al. Ultrasoundguided fine-needle aspiration biopsy of solitary pulmonary nodules. J Clin Ultrasound 1995;23:531-6.
- 85. Chen CC, Hsu WH, Huang CM, et al. Ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration biopsy of small pulmonary nodules abutting to the chest wall. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi (Taipei) 1996;57:106-11.
- Dallari R, Gollini C, Barozzi G, et al. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous needle aspiration biopsy of peripheral pulmonary lesions. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 1999;54:7-10.
- Khosla R, Rohatgi PK, Seam N. Ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration biopsy of pleural-based intrathoracic lesions. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2009;16:87-90.
- Hsu WH, Chiang CD, Wang RC, et al. Apical malignancies diagnosed by ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration biopsy. J Formos Med Assoc 1993;92:983-7.
- Meena N, Bartter T. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous needle aspiration by pulmonologists: a study of factors with impact on procedural yield and complications. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2015;22:204-8.
- Sconfienza LM, Mauri G, Grossi F, et al. Pleural and peripheral lung lesions: comparison of US- and CT-guided biopsy. Radiology 2013;266:930-5.
- 91. Yarmus L, Semaan R, Arias S, et al. Combined Navigational Transthoracic Needle Aspiration and Bronchoscopy for the Diagnosis of Peripheral Pulmonary Nodule: A prospective Human Study. CHEST, Interventional Pulmonary Posters. 2015, Montreal, QC. Available online: http://journal.publications.chestnet.org/ article.aspx?articleid=2456700&resultClick=3
- 92. Ost DE, Ernst A, Lei X, et al. Diagnostic Yield and Complications of Bronchoscopy for Peripheral Lung Lesions: Results of the AQuIRE Registry. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015. [Epub ahead of print].

124

Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions, comments on the European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology guidelines on interventional ultrasound

Christoph F. Dietrich^{1,2}, Rudolf Horn³, Susanne Morf⁴, Liliana Chiorean⁵, Yi Dong⁶, Xin-Wu Cui^{1,7}, Nathan S. S. Atkinson⁸, Christian Jenssen⁹

¹Medical Department, Caritas-Krankenhaus Bad Mergentheim, Academic Teaching Hospital of the University of Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany; ²Sino-German Research Center of Ultrasound in Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou 450000, China; ³Notfallstation, Kantonsspital Glarus, Glarus, Switzerland; ⁴Intensivmedizin Kantonsspital Graubünden, Chur, Switzerland; ⁵Department of Medical Imaging, des Cévennes Clinic, Annonay, France; ⁶Translational Gastroenterology Unit, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust, Oxford, UK; ⁷Department of Medical Ultrasound, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430074, China; ⁸Department of Ultrasound, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China; ⁹Department of Internal Medicine, Krankenhaus Märkisch Oderland Strausberg, Wriezen, Germany

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: CF Dietrich, R Horn, S Morf, L Chiorean, C Jenssen; (II) Administrative support: L Chiorean, Y Dong, XW Cui; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: CF Dietrich, R Horn, S Morf, L Chiorean, NS Atkinson; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Prof. Dr. med. Christoph F. Dietrich. Med. Klinik 2, Caritas-Krankenhaus, Uhlandstr. 7, D-97980 Bad Mergentheim, Germany. Email: christoph.dietrich@ckbm.de.

Abstract: Central venous access has traditionally been performed on the basis of designated anatomical landmarks. However, due to patients' individual anatomy and vessel pathology and depending on individual operators' skill, this landmark approach is associated with a significant failure rate and complication risk. There is substantial evidence demonstrating significant improvement in effectiveness and safety of vascular access by realtime ultrasound (US)-guidance, as compared to the anatomical landmark-guided approach. This review comments on the evidence-based recommendations on US-guided vascular access which have been published recently within the framework of Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (InVUS) of the European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology (EFSUMB) from a clinical practice point of view.

Keywords: Guidelines; intervention; ultrasound-guidance (US-guidance); vascular access; central venous catheters; anatomic landmarks

Submitted Apr 12, 2016. Accepted for publication Apr 16, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.08.49 **View this article at:** http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2016.08.49

Introduction

Sonographic imaging of potential target vessels to determine the most appropriate vessel, the ideal puncture site and the best patient position, is a reasonable approach to identify anatomical variations known to occur in a substantial portion of veins (1-5).

Ultrasound (US) guided catheter placement into the subclavian and internal jugular veins (IJVs) was first described in 1975 (6,7). The first attempts to use a Dopplercontrolled needle director as an aid for percutaneous angiography were reported in 1973. More recently US guidance for vascular access has been introduced more widely also as quality parameter to minimize complications (8). Real time ultrasound (RTUS) has proven beneficial in guiding interventional procedures under many circumstances, becoming standard in clinical practice for many years (9). Through technical advances and improvements of image quality, RTUS allows identification of vessel localisation the best target vessel and optimised puncture site (10). Anatomical variations can be easily identified (1-5) and vein thrombosis excluded which is not only of importance in oncological patients (11,12). It is important to exclude vein catheter associated thrombosis in, for example, critical care patients.

The aim of this paper is to summarize and comment on the recently published European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology (EFSUMB) on interventional ultrasound (INVUS), part VI, US-guided vascular interventions (13), to give practical advice and to illustrate the procedures. We refer also to the current EFSUMB guidelines on INVUS (13-18) on contrast enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) (19-21), elastography (22,23), and comments on the guidelines (24-29).

Basic principles

The three cornerstones for US guided vascular interventions are the patient, the interventionalist and US equipment.

Indications and contraindications

Most importantly the right indication for each kind of vascular access should be justified; this is especially true for central vascular access. The information provided to the patient depends on the situation (emergency) and on their level of consciousness (13).

Establishing central venous access is fundamental for emergency physicians in order to monitor the hemodynamics, central venous pressure (CVP) and pulse contour cardiac output (PiCCO), to deliver vasoactive drugs, hyperosmolar fluids and volume resuscitation (30). In oncological and haematological patients, central venous access is often required for blood sampling and for peripheral stem cell preparation, as well as for administration of blood products, chemotherapy or other drugs (11). Advantages of US-guidance for central venous access have been proved in a variate patient population, including critically ill patients (31,32), ventilated patients (33), both oncological and haematological patients (11,34-37), in situations when a parental nutrition was needed (37) or in haemodialised patients (38,39). Outcomes are improved for experienced as well as inexperienced operators (40). Given a clear indication, there is no absolute contraindication for US-guided vascular access and interventions.

Which central venous access?

Due to coagulation disorders, thrombocytopenia (diseaseor therapy-associated) and hemostasis disorders, oncological and hematological patients belong to the high-risk group for central venous access (11,41). Additionally, anatomical changes may be encountered in patients with the primary tumor, metastases or lymphoma in the puncture region (11).

One of the advantages of the subclavian/axillary approach is that it can be used for central venous catheter placement in patients with severe burns on the face, neck, and/or proximal shoulders (42). Still, there are drawbacks related to the smaller diameter and deeper location of subclavian and axillary veins (43).

Risks and complications

The complication rates using the traditional landmark technique range from 0.3% to 18.8%, depending on multiple factors, such as patient population, site of insertion, time taken, number of needle passes and the specific definition of complications used (44-48). Evidence from meta-analyses of RCTs shows that RTUS-guided access to the IJV and subclavian vein (SV) in adults has a significantly lower failure rate as compared to the traditional 'blind' access and that it is associated with a decreased rate of complications, requires a shorter access time and fewer attempts for successful access (30,38,39,49-52). In the meta-analysis of Hind et al., commissioned by the British National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE), the relative risk of complications, of failed attempts, and failed first attempt were reduced by 57%, 86%, and 41%, respectively (49). The two most important improvements associated with US guided technique versus landmark technique are lower risks of inadvertent arterial puncture and of local hematoma (37). It is important to recognise however that adverse events may occur also under RTUS-guidance. In particular, improper catheter placement, arterial puncture, hematoma at the puncture place, air embolism, or nerve lesions have been reported (53,54). Pneumo- and/or hemothorax are very rare events if central venous puncture is performed under RTUSguidance (50,51). Furthermore, catheter misplacement or pneumo-/hemothorax in most cases are recognized by US at the time of intervention (54-63). Thrombosis, arteriovenous fistula and pseudoaneurysms represent possible mid-/longterm complications of central venous catheter placement and all can be easily detected by means of US (64-70). In the study of Kaye *et al.* (n=325 patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery), complication rates after central vein catheterization (including carotid artery puncture and pneumothorax) were significantly higher for the group who received catheter placement without US-guidance, as compared to the group having catheter placement with US (71). Using US-guidance for central venous catheter placement, Cavanna *et al.* reported symptomatic deep-vein thrombosis of the upper limbs in 2.4% of the cases and catheter related infections in 10% of the catheters inserted. Removal of the catheter due to complications was necessary only in 2.9% of cases. No major bleeding, nerve puncture or pneumothorax was reported (34).

Despite US-guidance, posterior vessel wall puncture may occur as a complication of venous catheterisation (72,73). Factors influencing the risk of posterior wall penetration are the particular access technique (transverse *vs.* longitudinal approach), the speed of needle insertion, the distance between needle entry and transducer, and the angle of insertion (74).

Tips and tricks (how to avoid risks and complications)

Here are some important points to avoid unsuccesful punctures:

- Check the equipment and its function during preparation;
- Optimise the B-mode picture of the target vessel;
- Optimise positioning of the patient (e.g., Trendelenburg position), of the examiner and of the US device relative to the puncture site (aim for a comfortable working environment for the interventionalist);
- Choose the most appropriate head position in order to locate the target vein laterally rather than anterior to the artery;
- Skills training on appropriate phantoms and in normal patient conditions prior to emergency situations;
- In hypovolemic patients: give intravenous fluid before puncture;
- The indication for central lines must be well considered—sometimes peripheral vascular access meets the needs of the condition.

Patient informed consent

Each procedure intended for diagnosis or treatment must be undertaken only after informed consent has been obtained from the conscious patient (75) or legal representative, after receiving comprehensible and understandable information about the procedure's goal and benefits, potential risks, alternatives and complications (76). There is no legal requirement for consent to be written, or be in a particular setting, however, a signed written consent form provides documentary evidence. Consent may be withdrawn at any time, even after the form has been signed, and should lead to immediate discontinuation of a procedure. It is the responsibility of the doctor to be aware of the valid legislation and ethical guidelines in their region. The European Society for Cardiovascular and Interventional Radiology and the Society of Interventional Radiology provide information on many interventional radiology procedures on their website (www.cirse. org). The Royal College of Radiologists (UK) and the British Society of Interventional Radiology has similar information at www.rcr.org.

Interventionalist

Adequate teaching, education and training are necessary for a successful procedure. The degree of US experience significantly influences complication rates (71,77). Several studies have shown that simulation-based learning of USguided central venous access increases skills in simulated central venous catheter insertion and is more effective than traditional bedside teaching (78-81). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis of 20 comparative studies gave proof of significant improvement in performance not only at simulators but also in some clinical outcome parameters, in particular number of needle passes to achieve central venous access and frequency of pneumothorax (82). Comparable results were reported in a meta-analysis of prospective comparative cohort-studies (83). Therefore, simulation training should be included in training programs for RTUS-guided central venous access to improve the real clinical performance of trainees.

Which US equipment?

The US equipment should allow good to excellent near field resolution. Particular presets for e.g., cervical, brachial and femoral vessels are helpful.

Which transducer?

High frequency (5–17 MHz, in practice 7–12 MHz) linear transducers with a relatively small aperture of less than 4–6 cm are recommended for superficial locations. In
Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions



Figure 1 Sterile covering of the transducer before US-guided vascular access. US, ultrasound.

deeper locations (e.g., femoral vessels), particularly in obese or oedematous patients, the use of a curved array abdominal probe may be necessary.

Transducer guides

Transducers may offer vendor-dependent needle guides but only a limited number of transducers are useful and most punctures will be done free hand.

Hygiene

Sterile covers

For vascular access under US-guidance, after probe decontamination, a sterile barrier is needed, which must cover both the transducer and the cable (43). Sterile covers are mandatory according to hygiene recommendations and to avoid contact of the transducer membrane with alcohol or other disinfection fluids. It is generally required to use sterile, disposable probe covers made of latex-free material and applied under aseptic conditions, following manufacturers' instructions (84) (Figure 1). Random testing of the batch may be done in order to assess package integrity (85). If no sterile transducer covers are available, a sterile glove may be used. In a similar fashion contact gel will be placed inside, and the flat palm surface of the glove will be used to cover the scanning surface of the transducer. Attention must be paid to eliminate any air bubbles possibly interposed between the scanning surface of the transducer and the cover or glove (43).

Sterile US gel

Only sterile US gel should be used in interventional procedures, packed in small packages matching the gel requirement for one examination and a new sachet should be used for each patient (86-94). Residual product should not be used on further patients since it may be a potential vehicle for nosocomial infections. Disposable probe covers filled with sterile gel are also available (84,86-89,91,93-95). Alternatively, disinfectant solutions may be used to ensure acoustical coupling between the skin surface and the covered transducer.

Transducer decontamination

Sterile transducer covers do not eliminate the need for transducer decontamination (96-98). Sterilization of the transducer after use is necessary in procedures with a high risk of contamination. The cleaning technique of transducers using disinfection varies between manufacturers. For more details see the EFSUMB guidelines on interventional procedures (13-18,24,99).

US guiding techniques

Definition

US-guidance for venous cannulation can be performed using different approaches. Therefore, some definitions will be discussed in the following paragraphs including "landmark technique", "direct" and "indirect" methods, US-assistance and US-guidance, free hand technique, puncture transducers and transducer mounted devices. The "direct" technique implies needle placement under permanent realtime RTUS control (US-guidance). The needle is visualized on the US monitor as an echogenic line with ring-down artefact and the cannulation process can be monitored completely by US (43). "Indirect" (or static) techniques (US-assistance) imply that US is used to locate the appropriate target vessel, to examine its topographical relations to surrounding structures and to assess its dimensions and depth from the skin. This is therefore a simplified technique, with the advantage that sterile covers are not necessary for the transducer and there is less equipment to manipulate during the sterile line insertion. Optionally, marking might be drawn or placed on the skin corresponding to the vessel's position just at the point where the center of the transducer overlies the center of the vessel (43). Another method which has proved to be beneficial, especially for inexperienced operators, is the mechanical US-guided approach. This implies the use of an attachment to the transducer which provides a fixed needle trajectory. The method has better success rate, improved venous access time, improved average number of attempts to success and was associated with fewer complications when compared to the traditional landmark approach (43,100). Doppler US can also be used to facilitate vessel visualization.

Comparison of access techniques

Review of the literature

US-assistance vs. landmark approach

Two randomized control trials (RCTs) have demonstrated that with US-assistance ("static ultrasound" for preprocedural evaluation) IJV catheterisation can be performed quicker in comparison to the traditional landmark technique (101,102). Furthermore first attempt success rate was higher with US assistance (101). In one RCT comparing landmark and US-assisted techniques in ventilated patients with respiratory jugular venodilation, results of cannulation did not differ with respect to first attempt cannulation, overall success rate or the incidence of arterial puncture. However, in the patients without respiratory jugular venodilation, those outcome parameters were significantly improved in the US-assisted group (33).

A further RCT comparing complications and failures of SV catheterization using the standard landmark technique and US-assisted technique found no significant differences between the two methods (45). There are no data comparing US-assistance and landmark technique for femoral venous (FV) access (13).

US-guidance versus landmark approach

US-guidance versus landmark approach has been discussed in detail in the EFSUMB guidelines (13). There is convincing evidence from meta-analyses of RCTs that RTUS-guided access to the IJV and SV in adult patients is associated with a significantly lower failure rate both overall and on the first attempt, a shorter access time, and decreased rates of arterial puncture and hematoma formation compared to the traditional anatomical landmark approach (30,38,39,49-51,103,104). These advantages were shown for particular patient groups and clinical situations, e.g., for adults requiring emergent central venous catheter placement (51,52), ventilated patients (33), critical care patients (31,32), in oncological and haematological patients (34-36), in elective situations for parenteral nutrition (37), and for placement of hemodialysis catheters (13,38,39).

US-assistance versus US-guidance

The results of RCTs comparing US-assistance and RTUS-guidance for central venous access are conflicting (13,102,104,105). A prospective randomized study was conducted by Nadig, in order to assess if the rate of unsuccessful attempts in puncturing the IJV for the placement of dialysis catheters can be reduced with the use

of RTUS-guidance. In 36 punctures with RTUS-guidance only 10 unsuccessful attempts occurred, as compared to 87 unsuccessful attempts in 37 punctures using only a skin mark determined by US. Also, a reduced time to successful puncture in favour of RTUS guidance (3.4±0.9 versus 4.8±2.2 min) has been registered (106).

Conclusions

Based on this evidence, RTUS-guidance for central venous catheter placement has been endorsed as a key safety measure by both the Agency for Healthcare Quality and Research in the United States and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in the UK (8,13,107-114).

Real time US guidance, examination technique

The fundamental technique of InVUS (the puncture principle) is an alignment of two planes, namely the "scan plane" that shows the target vessel on the US screen and the "needle plane" containing the needle (or other InVUS device) approaching the target. Real-time visualization of the needle tip is possible using US due to the reflection from the metal in the needle (115). The intensity of the display of echoes from the "needle plane" will depend on the needle size, the scanning depth, angulation and the US system (116). The RTUS-guidance technique can be divided into three different approaches, the longitudinal, transverse and oblique techniques.

Using the longitudinal technique, the target vessel is delineated in a long-axis view (referring to the needle: in-plane approach). With the transverse technique the target vessel is approached in a short-axis (transverse) view (referring to the needle: out-of-plane approach). Both techniques may be combined (oblique technique) (43). There is conflicting evidence with regard to the particular US-guidance technique (short-axis view/out-of-plane approach *vs.* long-axis view/in-plane approach), which precludes recommendation in favour of either of the two approaches (14,15,74,117-122).

Longitudinal technique

In the longitudinal technique the transducer is placed parallel to the vessel and the needle at the greatest anterioposterior diameter of the targeted vessel. The puncture of the skin has to be close to one end of the transducer under an angle of approximately 30° from the skin surface depending from the skin-vessel distance (43). The course of the target vessel and the complete process of insertion and



Figure 2 Longitudinal approach. (A) Insertion of the needle along the long axis of the US transducer; (B) RTUS visualization of the needle course. US, ultrasound; RTUS, real time US.



Figure 3 Transversal approach: the US transducer is placed transversally to the target vessel. (A) Needle insertion in the middle of the transducer; (B) RTUS-guidance of the course of the needle tip. US, ultrasound; RTUS, real time US.

advancement of the needle are visualized in real-time in the long axis of the transducer (*Figure 2*).

The advantage of this technique is the view of the whole needle which allows the operator to define the optimal insertion angle. By doing this the posterior wall of the vein will not be penetrated (123). However, in particular anatomical situations it may be difficult to show the course of the target vessel.

Transverse technique

In the transverse technique, also called the short-axis view, the position of the transducer is transversally placed to the vessel and the needle. The puncture of the skin should be performed exactly in the middle of the probe with an angle of approximately 45° to the skin. By tilting the probe during insertion, the tip of the needle is followed (*Figure 3*). The advantage of this technique is the reliable positioning of the needle tip according to the course of the vessel, preventing a deviation from the vessel's axis to the right or left. The transverse technique is useful in anatomical areas with limited access space and for cannulation of smaller vessels. It offers more confidence for inexperienced users. In the case of unsuccessful puncture, visualisation of needle tip deviation is easy. Disadvantages are possible loss of control over the needle tip with the risk of posterior wall penetration. Posterior vessel wall penetration is a frequent event in short-axis approach to IJV cannulation (72). Moreover, it is difficult to determine the most appropriate angle for insertion.

Oblique technique

In particular anatomical conditions, like puncture of the SV, the oblique technique may be helpful. It combines advantages of the short and long-axis approaches, respectively better visualisation of the anatomical structures provided by the short-axis view and better needle tip visualization provided by the long-axis view (124).

In this approach, the position of the probe is parallel to the needle and oblique to the vessel. The view of the whole needle is maintained, while the vessel is only partially visible.

Comparison of long-axis versus short-axis vascular access The prospective trial of Stone et al. (74) proved that the long-axis access allows improved visualization of the needle tip at the time of puncture, a result which is consistent with standard approaches of other procedures done under US-guidance (e.g., regional nerve anesthesia under US-guidance) (125,126). In this study no statistically significant differences of the time to vessel access were observed between inexperienced and experienced interventionalists (74). A recent RCT demonstrated that the long-axis access approach to the IJV and SV was more time efficient than the short-axis access. The long-axis approach to SV catheterization was also associated with fewer posterior wall penetrations (118). Disconcordantly, Blaivas et al. reported that emergency medicine residents without previous experience in US-guidance in an inanimate model were able to complete the procedure faster using the shortaxis approach as compared to the long-axis approach (123).

US imaging techniques

B-mode

In preparation of an US-guided procedure, it is important to choose the appropriate transducer, imaging program (presetting/application) and the correct interventional apparatus (14,15). Before puncture, it is mandatory to clearly identify the vein and to rule out thrombosis, which is often done by the compressibility test using B-mode. However, in patients with very low blood pressure the artery may also be compressible. The threshold for arterial compressibility is assumed to be <60 mmHg. In patients with a very low blood flow, blood stasis may look like thrombosis using B-mode. The compressibility test may be helpful but sometimes colour Doppler imaging (CDI) and rarely CEUS are necessary to prove or rule out thrombosis (*Figures 4-6*). Surgical emphysema, for example in thoracic trauma, reduces the visibility of vessels. Other artifacts



Figure 4 Difficult venous access due to a hypoechoic tumor (Schwannoma). (A) B-mode US; (B) delineation of the tumor and the target vessel using CEUS. US, ultrasound; CEUS, contrast-enhanced US.



Figure 5 Proof of intravasal position of a venous catheter using contrast-enhanced ultrasound. (A) Site of catheter insertion; (B) delineation of the vessel lumen by the injected contrast agent.



Figure 6 Ultrasound image of thrombosis of the right internal jugular vein.

may be caused by circumscribed sclerosis of the arterial walls.

CDI

CDI may be helpful to differentiate arteries and veins and might help to identify anatomical variants and pathological findings. Compared with the landmark technique, Dopplerguidance increases the first-attempt success rate of central venous catheter placement by 58% (103). The meta-analysis of Rabindranath *et al.* (39) included RCTs in patients requiring hemodialysis catheter insertion. Compared to the landmark approach, RTUS Doppler-guidance significantly decreased catheter placement failure, first-attempt failure rate, time to canulation, and number of attempts per catheter insertion. Associated complications such as arterial puncture or hematoma formation were also significantly decreased. They concluded that RTUS-guidance using Doppler US should be strongly recommended for hemodialysis catheter placement.

CEUS

With the use of RTUS-guidance for catheter placement, the canulation of a thrombosed or of a small vein can be prevented (49).

- CEUS is helpful:
- To diagnose thrombosis;
- To exclude thrombosis;
- For catheter tip position control;
- For detection of catheter obstruction;
- To detect pericatheter leakage.

Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions

Additional imaging

All available imaging results should be used to reduce the associated risk of vascular access. Mainly in oncological patients computed tomography and easily available US findings (21,127-129) but also the endoscopic US reports should be known (130-135).

Central venous access

General remarks

The most common used central veins for vascular access are the IJV, the femoral vein (FV) and the SV. The most appropriate central venous access site depends on the particular circumstances of the patient. As a first step, thrombosis should be ruled out. Especially for access through the IJV, it is mandatory to examine the contralateral veins since thrombosis is a contraindication to catheterisation. The IJV is the easiest central vein to puncture. On the other hand, SV access is associated with the lowest infection rate. For intravascular temperature management the FV is also a good choice. A traditional 'blind' approach reported failure rates of 30% or higher in emergent or cardiopulmonary arrest cases (44,136-138). In 2001, RTUS-guidance for central venous access was listed in guidelines published by the American College of Emergency Physicians as one of the primary applications for emergency US (139). Skin disinfection should be performed according to local hospital guidelines for surgical disinfection. For normal central lines, chlorhexidine is often recommended. We refer to the EFSUMB guidelines (14,15).

Anatomy

RTUS allows determination of anatomical variants, such as small diameter, medial or lateral displacement. Valsalva maneuver response, or lack thereof, needs to be correctly assessed and evaluated in order to avoid further complications.

Ultrasonographic vessel screening and imaging before vascular access

US vessel screening and imaging of the target vessels should be performed to determine the most appropriate anatomical site and the optimal patient position for central vascular access (13). In order to successfully cannulate a vessel, understanding of the technical issues is necessary. A decision upon the best approach for US-guidance (direct, indirect, free-hand, mechanical guide, Doppler) should be made by



Figure 7 Sonographic visualization of the subclavian vein: transducer position (A), corresponding US image (B). US, ultrasound.

the operator, according to patients' characteristics, equipment used and operator expertise (43). Changes in head position may influence the vein diameter and the relative position of surrounding vessels (3,140), so care must be taken (141).

Procedure

As central line insertion is painful, local anesthesia is recommended. The Seldinger procedure is normally performed. In brief, for the initial puncture a needle with attached syringe, half filled with sterile fluid, is used. After blood aspiration a guide wire is advanced under RTUS control. For the beginner, we recommend learning this procedure with another interventionalist present to aid. The second step is to perform it alone, as good coordination is required to perform the puncture with just one hand whilst manipulating the US probe with the other.

Jugular vein

Central venous access through the IJV is preferred in many cases. Due to its larger diameter it is easily accessed with wider catheters, as for hemodialysis or plasmapheresis. The rate of delayed complications, such as stenosis, is lower than for other central veins (11).

Anatomy

The IJV usually lies anterior and slightly lateral to the carotid artery, being usually larger (3), however variants are common.

© AME Publishing Company. All rights reserved.

Review of the literature

Denys et al. found IJV anatomical variants in 8% of the 200 patients assessed (2). Of 1,009 patients assessed by Troianos et al., in 54% of cases the IJV overlaid the carotid artery, predisposing to arterial puncture (5). Docktor et al. found the same anatomical variant in 25% of 150 patients (141). Benter et al. investigated 113 patients with haematological or oncological diseases, examining sonographically potential target regions for placement of a central catheter via the IJV and found anatomical variations of the IJV location and surrounding tissues in 36% of the patients (Figure 7). They concluded that the use of US-guided techniques for central venous catheters placement, particularly in haematological and oncological patients, is of particular importance in order to avoid arterial puncture (11). Particular attention must be payed to this group of patients because they may present a partially or completely thrombosed IJV, in up to 6% of cases according to the study of Benter et al. (11), whilst 4.4% of those investigated by Denvs et al. had either thrombosed or absent IJV (2). A small IJV diameters ≤7 mm has been reported in 12–15% of the cases (142,143) and is associated with a catheterization failure rate of 14.9% (as compared to 3.9%, if IIV diameter is >7-10 mm) and a complication rate of 8.5% (as compared to 3.8%, if the IJV diameter is >7-10 mm) (143). The right IJV is as big, or bigger than the left IJV in about 74% of the patients, and offers a straighter and more direct path to the superior vena cava and the right atrium. Its cannulation is associated with a lower risk of pneumothorax, since the right lung apex is lower than the left one (142). It is worth noting that the diameter of the IJV expands during the Valsalva maneuver (144).

There might be differences in neonates and infants (105). Using variable degrees of head rotation, Lorchirachoonkul et al. proved that at 30° head rotation there is a potential for difficult catheterisation in 15%, with more difficulty on the left as compared to the right IJV (20% versus 10%). Head rotation did not significantly influence neither the risk of difficult catheterization, neither the size of the IJV nor the average distance between mid IJV and the skin. However, the degree of head rotation influences the position of the IJV relative to the carotid artery on both sides, with an increased overlap as the head is rotated further from the midline (142). These results have been recently confirmed by Maecken et al. only for the left IJV. These authors did not observe a significant impact of head position on the position of the right IJV (3). Therefore because anatomical variations

Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions



Figure 8 Equipment preparation for sterile vessel puncture.



Figure 9 Position of the interventionalist for RTUS-guided IJV access. RTUS, real time ultrasound; IJV, internal jugular vein.



Figure 10 RTUS-guided central venous access technique. (A) Puncture; (B) aspiration of blood; (C) sonographic visualization of the needle tip with the vessel lumen (V: internal jugular vein; A: common carotid artery). RTUS, real time ultrasound.

impact on the success of IJV catheterization, as well as the incidence of associated complications, the use of RTUS-guidance is also recommended in patients with seemingly normal neck anatomy (142).

Technique and results

IJV catheterisation with RTUS-guidance can be performed faster, with a higher success rate (101,102) and fewer complications (33) than the traditional landmark technique (*Figures 8-10*).

Risks and complications

Adverse events can occur even under RTUS-guidance in about 20% of the cases of IJV central line attempts (53). Complications can be classified in three categories: mechanical (with anatomical variations an important risk factor), infectious and thromboembolic (142). The most frequently encountered complication is placement of the catheter tip within the right atrium, which occurs in about 6–14% of the cases. Cardiac malposition is associated with a mortality risk due to possible cardiac perforation and

© AME Publishing Company. All rights reserved.

subsequent tamponade (54). Pneumothorax and hemothorax are very rare if RTUS-guidance is used for central venous access (50,51). Puncture of the carotid artery is a common complication as well (*Figure 11*).

Tips and tricks (how to avoid risks and complications)

Where the IJV overlays the carotid artery, arterial puncture may occur due to the so-called "double wall puncture" phenomenon. This occurs in cases of low IJV pressure, allowing the anterior wall to be pushed against the posterior wall and the IJV to be completely compressed before the needle punctures it (100,141). A common solution is to advance the needle a little deeper and then slightly retract, until the tip lies within the IJV lumen. Exclusion of an underlying carotid artery however, is of utmost importance with this technique (100).

SV

The size of the SV allows placement of central access catheters.



Figure 11 Small hematoma of the vessel wall following inadvertent puncture of the common carotid artery. (A) B-mode; (B) CEUS: the vessel lumen is not occluded. CEUS, contrast-enhanced ultrasound.

Anatomy

The SV is deeply located and partially hidden under the clavicle bone. This hinders access to some of its portions. Its mid-portion can be cannulated using US guidance; however, it is difficult to obtain short-axis images at this level. Additionally, the lung apex is closely located, less than 1 cm (145), as is the subclavian artery and brachial plexus (43) with the risk of associated complications and morbidity.

Technique and results

RTUS-guidance is challenging due to the limited space available for both placement of the transducer and needle insertion. Two alternatives can be used with RTUSguidance. One is the "low-IJV approach", with a safer and direct route to the superior vena cava and right atrium (146). The other alternative is to access the SV further laterally on the shoulder by cannulating the axillary vein, offering a better approach under RTUS-guidance and a lower complication rate (147,148). This "axillary approach" is possible also in patients with a cervical collar or neck trauma (43). The axillary landmark approach has been proven to be safe and efficient in adults (149) and in critically ill pediatric patients (150). Using the axillary vein approach under RTUS-guidance, Gualtieri et al. obtained a higher success rate and less complications as compared to the landmark technique (92% versus 44% and 4% versus 41%, respectively), with lower mean numbers of attempts and insertion kits used (1.4 versus 2.5 and 1.0 versus 1.4, respectively) (151). In patients with relative contraindications to SV catheter placement using the landmark approach, Fry et al. (152) reported 100% success rate with RTUS-guidance.

Risks and complications

No complications were been reported by Silberzweig *et al.* (146) using the low-IJV approach in 116 patients. The average number of attempts needed for success was 1.2. These results have been confirmed also by the study of Milone *et al.*, who reported no complications for the RTUS-guided cannulation of the SV, while 13% of the patients cannulated using the landmark approach developed mechanical complications (e.g., pneumothorax or arterial puncture) (153). The knowledge of surrounding structures is of main importance (154).

Detection of complications of venous access

As the EFSUMB INVUS guidelines (13) state, central venous catheter misplacement into the right heart may be detected by transabdominal US using a subxiphoidal approach or by echocardiography (55-61). Moreover, transthoracic US may be used to detect or to rule out pneumothorax related to central venous access in the critically ill patient. Therefore, routine chest radiography is dispensable after central venous line placement (54-57,62,63). Moreover, US has a very high accuracy for the detection of vascular complications of venous and arterial access, in particular of thrombosis of the target vessel (64,65), arterial pseudoaneurysm and arteriovenous fistula (66-70). Therefore, US should not only used to guide central venous access, but also to check correct placement of the line and to rule out the most common complications in the intensive care unit (13,155-157). The role of endoscopic US for catheter placement has not been examined so far (130,131,158).

Conclusions

According to the available evidence in literature it is strongly recommended to use real-time US guidance for central venous access.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Alderson PJ, Burrows FA, Stemp LI, et al. Use of ultrasound to evaluate internal jugular vein anatomy and to facilitate central venous cannulation in paediatric patients. Br J Anaesth 1993;70:145-8.
- 2. Denys BG, Uretsky BF. Anatomical variations of internal jugular vein location: impact on central venous access. Crit Care Med 1991;19:1516-9.
- Maecken T, Marcon C, Bomas S, et al. Relationship of the internal jugular vein to the common carotid artery: implications for ultrasound-guided vascular access. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2011;28:351-5.
- Turba UC, Uflacker R, Hannegan C, et al. Anatomic relationship of the internal jugular vein and the common carotid artery applied to percutaneous transjugular procedures. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2005;28:303-6.
- Troianos CA, Kuwik RJ, Pasqual JR, et al. Internal jugular vein and carotid artery anatomic relation as determined by ultrasonography. Anesthesiology 1996;85:43-8.
- Mozersky DJ, Olson RM, Coons HG, et al. Dopplercontrolled needle director: a useful adjunct to angiography. Radiology 1973;109:221-2.
- Petzoldt RK. Punktion von Venen und Arterien mittels Ultraschall. Biomedizinische Technik 1975;20:345-6.
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). Guidance on the Use of Ultrasound Locating Devices for Placing Central Venous Catheters. London UK: NICE; 2002. Technology appraisal guidance no. 49.
- Gottschalk UD, Dietrich CF. Interventional Materials and Equipment. In: Dietrich CF, Nürnberg D. editors. Interventional Ultrasound A Practical Guide and Atlas. 1st ed. Georg Thieme Verlag: Thieme Publishers, 2014:15-33.

Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions

- Metz S, Horrow JC, Balcar I. A controlled comparison of techniques for locating the internal jugular vein using ultrasonography. Anesth Analg 1984;63:673-9.
- 11. Benter T, Teichgraber UK, Kluhs L, et al. Anatomical variations in the internal jugular veins of cancer patients affecting central venous access. Anatomical variation of the internal jugular vein. Ultraschall Med 2001;22:23-6.
- Beaudoin FL, Merchant RC, Lincoln J, et al. Bedside ultrasonography detects significant femoral vessel overlap: implications for central venous cannulation. CJEM 2011;13:245-50.
- Jenssen C, Brkljacic B, Hocke M, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part VI - Ultrasound-Guided Vascular Interventions. Ultraschall Med 2015. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lorentzen T, Nolsoe CP, Ewertsen C, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part I. General Aspects (long Version). Ultraschall Med 2015;36:E1-14.
- Lorentzen T, Nolsoe CP, Ewertsen C, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part I. General Aspects (Short Version). Ultraschall Med 2015;36:464-72.
- Sidhu PS, Brabrand K, Cantisani V, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part II. Ultraschall Med 2015;36:E15-35.
- Dietrich CF, Lorentzen T, Appelbaum L, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part III - Abdominal Treatment Procedures (Short Version). Ultraschall Med 2016;37:27-45.
- Fusaroli P, Jenssen C, Hocke M, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part V - EUS-Guided Therapeutic Interventions (short version). Ultraschall Med 2016;37:412-20.
- Claudon M, Dietrich CF, Choi BI, et al. Guidelines and good clinical practice recommendations for contrast enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) in the liver--update 2012: a WFUMB-EFSUMB initiative in cooperation with representatives of AFSUMB, AIUM, ASUM, FLAUS and ICUS. Ultraschall Med 2013;34:11-29.
- Claudon M, Dietrich CF, Choi BI, et al. Guidelines and good clinical practice recommendations for Contrast Enhanced Ultrasound (CEUS) in the liver - update 2012: A WFUMB-EFSUMB initiative in cooperation with representatives of AFSUMB, AIUM, ASUM, FLAUS and ICUS. Ultrasound Med Biol 2013;39:187-210.
- 21. Piscaglia F, Nolsoe C, Dietrich CF, et al. The EFSUMB Guidelines and Recommendations on the Clinical Practice

Interventional Pulmonology

of Contrast Enhanced Ultrasound (CEUS): update 2011 on non-hepatic applications. Ultraschall Med 2012;33:33-59.

- 22. Bamber J, Cosgrove D, Dietrich CF, et al. EFSUMB guidelines and recommendations on the clinical use of ultrasound elastography. Part 1: Basic principles and technology. Ultraschall Med 2013;34:169-84.
- Cosgrove D, Piscaglia F, Bamber J, et al. EFSUMB guidelines and recommendations on the clinical use of ultrasound elastography. Part 2: Clinical applications. Ultraschall Med 2013;34:238-53.
- 24. Dietrich CF, Lorentzen T, Sidhu PS, et al. An Introduction to the EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS. Ultraschall Med 2015;36:460-3.
- 25. Dietrich CF. EFSUMB guidelines 2015 on interventional ultrasound. Med Ultrason 2015;17:521-7.
- 26. Dietrich CF. Comments and illustrations regarding the guidelines and good clinical practice recommendations for contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEUS)--update 2008. Ultraschall Med 2008;29 Suppl 4:S188-202.
- 27. Dietrich CF, Chiorean L, Potthoff A, et al. Percutaneous sclerotherapy of liver and renal cysts, comments on the EFSUMB guidelines. Z Gastroenterol 2016;54:155-66.
- Dietrich CF, Cui XW, Barreiros AP, et al. EFSUMB guidelines 2011: comment on emergent indications and visions. Ultraschall Med 2012;33 Suppl 1:S39-47.
- Dietrich CF, Cui XW, Schreiber-Dietrich DG, et al. EFSUMB guidelines 2011: comments and illustrations. Ultraschall Med 2012;33 Suppl 1:S11-21.
- Randolph AG, Cook DJ, Gonzales CA, et al. Ultrasound guidance for placement of central venous catheters: a metaanalysis of the literature. Crit Care Med 1996;24:2053-8.
- Karakitsos D, Labropoulos N, De Groot E, et al. Realtime ultrasound-guided catheterisation of the internal jugular vein: a prospective comparison with the landmark technique in critical care patients. Crit Care 2006;10:R162.
- 32. Fragou M, Gravvanis A, Dimitriou V, et al. Real-time ultrasound-guided subclavian vein cannulation versus the landmark method in critical care patients: a prospective randomized study. Crit Care Med 2011;39:1607-12.
- 33. Hayashi H, Amano M. Does ultrasound imaging before puncture facilitate internal jugular vein cannulation? Prospective randomized comparison with landmarkguided puncture in ventilated patients. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2002;16:572-5.
- 34. Cavanna L, Civardi G, Vallisa D, et al. Ultrasound-guided central venous catheterization in cancer patients improves the success rate of cannulation and reduces mechanical complications: a prospective observational study of

1,978 consecutive catheterizations. World J Surg Oncol 2010;8:91.

- 35. Napolitano M, Malato A, Raffaele F, et al. Ultrasonography-guided central venous catheterisation in haematological patients with severe thrombocytopenia. Blood Transfus 2013;11:506-9.
- 36. Serafimidis K, Sakorafas GH, Konstantoudakis G, et al. Ultrasound-guided catheterization of the internal jugular vein in oncologic patients; comparison with the classical anatomic landmark technique: a prospective study. Int J Surg 2009;7:526-8.
- Turker G, Kaya FN, Gurbet A, et al. Internal jugular vein cannulation: an ultrasound-guided technique versus a landmark-guided technique. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2009;64:989-92.
- Rabindranath KS, Kumar E, Shail R, et al. Ultrasound use for the placement of haemodialysis catheters. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011;(11):CD005279.
- Rabindranath KS, Kumar E, Shail R, et al. Use of real-time ultrasound guidance for the placement of hemodialysis catheters: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Kidney Dis 2011;58:964-70.
- 40. Rando K, Castelli J, Pratt JP, et al. Ultrasound-guided internal jugular vein catheterization: a randomized controlled trial. Heart Lung Vessel 2014;6:13-23.
- 41. Barrera R, Mina B, Huang Y, et al. Acute complications of central line placement in profoundly thrombocytopenic cancer patients. Cancer 1996;78:2025-30.
- 42. Andel H, Rab M, Felfernig M, et al. The axillary vein central venous catheter in severely burned patients. Burns 1999;25:753-6.
- 43. Abboud PA, Kendall JL. Ultrasound guidance for vascular access. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2004;22:749-73.
- Sznajder JI, Zveibil FR, Bitterman H, et al. Central vein catheterization. Failure and complication rates by three percutaneous approaches. Arch Intern Med 1986;146:259-61.
- Mansfield PF, Hohn DC, Fornage BD, et al. Complications and failures of subclavian-vein catheterization. N Engl J Med 1994;331:1735-8.
- Goldfarb G, Lebrec D. Percutaneous cannulation of the internal jugular vein in patients with coagulopathies: an experience based on 1,000 attempts. Anesthesiology 1982;56:321-3.
- 47. Merrer J, De Jonghe B, Golliot F, et al. Complications of femoral and subclavian venous catheterization in critically ill patients: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2001;286:700-7.

Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions

- 48. Johnson FE. Internal jugular vein catheterization. N Y State J Med 1978;78:2168-71.
- Hind D, Calvert N, McWilliams R, et al. Ultrasonic locating devices for central venous cannulation: metaanalysis. BMJ 2003;327:361.
- Wu SY, Ling Q, Cao LH, et al. Real-time two-dimensional ultrasound guidance for central venous cannulation: a meta-analysis. Anesthesiology 2013;118:361-75.
- 51. Mehta N, Valesky WW, Guy A, et al. Systematic review: is real-time ultrasonic-guided central line placement by ED physicians more successful than the traditional landmark approach? Emerg Med J 2013;30:355-9.
- 52. Leung J, Duffy M, Finckh A. Real-time ultrasonographically-guided internal jugular vein catheterization in the emergency department increases success rates and reduces complications: a randomized, prospective study. Ann Emerg Med 2006;48:540-7.
- 53. Theodoro D, Krauss M, Kollef M, et al. Risk factors for acute adverse events during ultrasound-guided central venous cannulation in the emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 2010;17:1055-61.
- Vezzani A, Manca T, Vercelli A, et al. Ultrasonography as a guide during vascular access procedures and in the diagnosis of complications. J Ultrasound 2013;16:161-70.
- 55. Maury E, Guglielminotti J, Alzieu M, et al. Ultrasonic examination: an alternative to chest radiography after central venous catheter insertion? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001;164:403-5.
- Vezzani A, Brusasco C, Palermo S, et al. Ultrasound localization of central vein catheter and detection of postprocedural pneumothorax: an alternative to chest radiography. Crit Care Med 2010;38:533-8.
- Lanza C, Russo M, Fabrizzi G. Central venous cannulation: are routine chest radiographs necessary after B-mode and colour Doppler sonography check? Pediatr Radiol 2006;36:1252-6.
- Matsushima K, Frankel HL. Bedside ultrasound can safely eliminate the need for chest radiographs after central venous catheter placement: CVC sono in the surgical ICU (SICU. J Surg Res 2010;163:155-61.
- Weekes AJ, Johnson DA, Keller SM, et al. Central vascular catheter placement evaluation using saline flush and bedside echocardiography. Acad Emerg Med 2014;21:65-72.
- 60. Bedel J, Vallee F, Mari A, et al. Guidewire localization by transthoracic echocardiography during central venous catheter insertion: a periprocedural method to evaluate catheter placement. Intensive Care Med 2013;39:1932-7.
- 61. Park YH, Lee JH, Byon HJ, et al. Transthoracic

echocardiographic guidance for obtaining an optimal insertion length of internal jugular venous catheters in infants. Paediatr Anaesth 2014;24:927-32.

- Lichtenstein DA, Menu Y. A bedside ultrasound sign ruling out pneumothorax in the critically ill. Lung sliding. Chest 1995;108:1345-8.
- Lichtenstein DA, Meziere G, Lascols N, et al. Ultrasound diagnosis of occult pneumothorax. Crit Care Med 2005;33:1231-8.
- 64. Lordick F, Hentrich M, Decker T, et al. Ultrasound screening for internal jugular vein thrombosis aids the detection of central venous catheter-related infections in patients with haemato-oncological diseases: a prospective observational study. Br J Haematol 2003;120:1073-8.
- 65. Yilmaz KB, Akinci M, Dogan L, et al. Central venous catheter-associated thrombosis in the perioperative period: a frequent complication in cancer patients that can be detected early with doppler examination. Tumori 2010;96:690-4.
- 66. Ahmad F, Turner SA, Torrie P, et al. Iatrogenic femoral artery pseudoaneurysms--a review of current methods of diagnosis and treatment. Clin Radiol 2008;63:1310-6.
- Hanson JM, Atri M, Power N. Ultrasound-guided thrombin injection of iatrogenic groin pseudoaneurysm: Doppler features and technical tips. Br J Radiol 2008;81:154-63.
- Webber GW, Jang J, Gustavson S, et al. Contemporary management of postcatheterization pseudoaneurysms. Circulation 2007;115:2666-74.
- Paulson EK, Kliewer MA, Hertzberg BS, et al. Color Doppler sonography of groin complications following femoral artery catheterization. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1995;165:439-44.
- 70. Coughlin BF, Paushter DM. Peripheral pseudoaneurysms: evaluation with duplex US. Radiology 1988;168:339-42.
- 71. Kaye AD, Fox CJ, Hymel BJ, et al. The importance of training for ultrasound guidance in central vein catheterization. Middle East J Anaesthesiol 2011;21:61-6.
- 72. Blaivas M, Adhikari S. An unseen danger: frequency of posterior vessel wall penetration by needles during attempts to place internal jugular vein central catheters using ultrasound guidance. Crit Care Med 2009;37:2345-9; quiz 2359.
- 73. Moon CH, Blehar D, Shear MA, et al. Incidence of posterior vessel wall puncture during ultrasound-guided vessel cannulation in a simulated model. Acad Emerg Med 2010;17:1138-41.
- 74. Stone MB, Moon C, Sutijono D, et al. Needle tip

Interventional Pulmonology

visualization during ultrasound-guided vascular access: short-axis vs long-axis approach. Am J Emerg Med 2010;28:343-7.

- Lutz H. Patient Information and Informed Consent. Interventional Ultrasound Conference. Berlin, 2010.
- Nuernberg DJ. Informed Consent. In: Dietrich CF. editor. Interventional Ultrasound. A Practical Guide and Atlas. New York: Georg Thieme Verlag, 2014:34-6.
- Sekhar A, Sun MR, Siewert B. A tissue phantom model for training residents in ultrasound-guided liver biopsy. Acad Radiol 2014;21:902-8.
- Barsuk JH, McGaghie WC, Cohen ER, et al. Use of simulation-based mastery learning to improve the quality of central venous catheter placement in a medical intensive care unit. J Hosp Med 2009;4:397-403.
- Barsuk JH, McGaghie WC, Cohen ER, et al. Simulationbased mastery learning reduces complications during central venous catheter insertion in a medical intensive care unit. Crit Care Med 2009;37:2697-701.
- Evans LV, Morse JL, Hamann CJ, et al. The development of an independent rater system to assess residents' competence in invasive procedures. Acad Med 2009;84:1135-43.
- Latif RK, Bautista AF, Memon SB, et al. Teaching aseptic technique for central venous access under ultrasound guidance: a randomized trial comparing didactic training alone to didactic plus simulation-based training. Anesth Analg 2012;114:626-33.
- Ma IW, Brindle ME, Ronksley PE, et al. Use of simulation-based education to improve outcomes of central venous catheterization: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acad Med 2011;86:1137-47.
- 83. Madenci AL, Solis CV, de Moya MA. Central venous access by trainees: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the use of simulation to improve success rate on patients. Simul Healthc 2014;9:7-14.
- Martiny HN. Hygiene Management. In: Dietrich CF. editor. Interventional Ultrasound: Practical Guide and Atlas. 1st ed. New York: Georg Thieme Verlag, 2014:84-7.
- Schrader G. Vaginalsonden Einsatz und Aufbereitung. HygMed 2005;30:437-9.
- Gaillot O, Maruejouls C, Abachin E, et al. Nosocomial outbreak of Klebsiella pneumoniae producing SHV-5 extended-spectrum beta-lactamase, originating from a contaminated ultrasonography coupling gel. J Clin Microbiol 1998;36:1357-60.
- 87. Hutchinson J, Runge W, Mulvey M, et al. Burkholderia cepacia infections associated with intrinsically

contaminated ultrasound gel: the role of microbial degradation of parabens. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:291-6.

- Jacobson M, Wray R, Kovach D, et al. Sustained endemicity of Burkholderia cepacia complex in a pediatric institution, associated with contaminated ultrasound gel. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2006;27:362-6.
- Marigliano A, D'Errico MM, Pellegrini I, et al. Ultrasound echocardiographic gel contamination by Burkholderia cepacia in an Italian hospital. J Hosp Infect 2010;76:360-1.
- 90. Muradali D, Gold WL, Phillips A, et al. Can ultrasound probes and coupling gel be a source of nosocomial infection in patients undergoing sonography? An in vivo and in vitro study. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1995;164:1521-4.
- Olshtain-Pops K, Block C, Temper V, et al. An outbreak of achromobacter xylosoxidans associated with ultrasound gel used during transrectal ultrasound guided prostate biopsy. J Urol 2011;185:144-7.
- 92. Provenzano DA, Liebert MA, Steen B, et al. Investigation of current infection-control practices for ultrasound coupling gel: a survey, microbiological analysis, and examination of practice patterns. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2013;38:415-24.
- 93. Schabrun S, Chipchase L, Rickard H. Are therapeutic ultrasound units a potential vector for nosocomial infection? Physiother Res Int 2006;11:61-71.
- 94. Weist K, Wendt C, Petersen LR, et al. An outbreak of pyodermas among neonates caused by ultrasound gel contaminated with methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:761-4.
- 95. Merz E. Transducer hygiene -- an underrated topic? Ultraschall Med 2005;26:7-8.
- Amis S, Ruddy M, Kibbler CC, et al. Assessment of condoms as probe covers for transvaginal sonography. J Clin Ultrasound 2000;28:295-8.
- Kac G, Podglajen I, Si-Mohamed A, et al. Evaluation of ultraviolet C for disinfection of endocavitary ultrasound transducers persistently contaminated despite probe covers. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2010;31:165-70.
- German Institute for medicine and medical products (BfArM). Washing of ultrasound probes with mucosa contact. Ultraschall in Med 2005:05.
- 99. Jenssen C, Hocke M, Fusaroli P, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines on Interventional Ultrasound (INVUS), Part IV - EUS-guided Interventions: General aspects and EUS-guided sampling (Long Version). Ultraschall Med 2016;37:E33-76.
- 100. Denys BG, Uretsky BF, Reddy PS. Ultrasound-assisted

Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions

cannulation of the internal jugular vein. A prospective comparison to the external landmark-guided technique. Circulation 1993;87:1557-62.

- 101. Milling TJ Jr, Rose J, Briggs WM, et al. Randomized, controlled clinical trial of point-of-care limited ultrasonography assistance of central venous cannulation: the Third Sonography Outcomes Assessment Program (SOAP-3) Trial. Crit Care Med 2005;33:1764-9.
- 102. Ray BR, Mohan VK, Kashyap L, et al. Internal jugular vein cannulation: A comparison of three techniques. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol 2013;29:367-71.
- 103.Brass P, Hellmich M, Kolodziej L, et al. Ultrasound guidance versus anatomical landmarks for subclavian or femoral vein catheterization. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;(1):CD011447.
- 104. Brass P, Hellmich M, Kolodziej L, et al. Ultrasound guidance versus anatomical landmarks for internal jugular vein catheterization. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;(1):CD006962.
- 105. Hosokawa K, Shime N, Kato Y, et al. A randomized trial of ultrasound image-based skin surface marking versus real-time ultrasound-guided internal jugular vein catheterization in infants. Anesthesiology 2007;107:720-4.
- 106. Nadig C, Leidig M, Schmiedeke T, et al. The use of ultrasound for the placement of dialysis catheters. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998;13:978-81.
- 107. Shojania KG, Duncan BW, McDonald KM, et al. Making health care safer: a critical analysis of patient safety practices. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Summ) 2001;(43):i-x, 1-668.
- 108. Shekelle PG, Wachter RM, Pronovost PJ, et al. Making health care safer II: an updated critical analysis of the evidence for patient safety practices. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2013;(211):1-945.
- 109. Lamperti M, Bodenham AR, Pittiruti M, et al. International evidence-based recommendations on ultrasound-guided vascular access. Intensive Care Med 2012;38:1105-17.
- 110. Troianos CA, Hartman GS, Glas KE, et al. Guidelines for performing ultrasound guided vascular cannulation: recommendations of the American Society of Echocardiography and the Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2011;24:1291-318.
- 111.Jauch KW, Schregel W, Stanga Z, et al. Access technique and its problems in parenteral nutrition - Guidelines on Parenteral Nutrition, Chapter 9. Ger Med Sci 2009;7:Doc19.
- 112. Pittiruti M, Hamilton H, Biffi R, et al. ESPEN Guidelines

on Parenteral Nutrition: central venous catheters (access, care, diagnosis and therapy of complications. Clin Nutr 2009;28:365-77.

- 113.Bishop L, Dougherty L, Bodenham A, et al. Guidelines on the insertion and management of central venous access devices in adults. Int J Lab Hematol 2007;29:261-78.
- 114. AIUM practice guideline for the use of ultrasound to guide vascular access procedures. J Ultrasound Med 2013;32:191-215.
- 115. Matalon TA, Silver B. US guidance of interventional procedures. Radiology 1990;174:43-7.
- 116.Nolsøe CP, Lorentzen T, Skjoldbye BO, et al. The basics of interventional ultrasound. Ultraschall Med 2007;28:248-63; quiz 264, 267.
- 117. Erickson CS, Liao MM, Haukoos JS, et al. Ultrasoundguided small vessel cannulation: long-axis approach is equivalent to short-axis in novice sonographers experienced with landmark-based cannulation. West J Emerg Med 2014;15:824-30.
- 118. Vogel JA, Haukoos JS, Erickson CL, et al. Is long-axis view superior to short-axis view in ultrasound-guided central venous catheterization? Crit Care Med 2015;43:832-9.
- 119. Clemmesen L, Knudsen L, Sloth E, et al. Dynamic needle tip positioning - ultrasound guidance for peripheral vascular access. A randomized, controlled and blinded study in phantoms performed by ultrasound novices. Ultraschall Med 2012;33:E321-5.
- 120. Mahler SA, Wang H, Lester C, et al. Short- vs long-axis approach to ultrasound-guided peripheral intravenous access: a prospective randomized study. Am J Emerg Med 2011;29:1194-7.
- 121.Sommerkamp SK, Romaniuk VM, Witting MD, et al. A comparison of longitudinal and transverse approaches to ultrasound-guided axillary vein cannulation. Am J Emerg Med 2013;31:478-81.
- 122. Tammam TF, El-Shafey EM, Tammam HF. Ultrasoundguided internal jugular vein access: comparison between short axis and long axis techniques. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl 2013;24:707-13.
- 123.Blaivas M, Brannam L, Fernandez E. Short-axis versus long-axis approaches for teaching ultrasound-guided vascular access on a new inanimate model. Acad Emerg Med 2003;10:1307-11.
- 124.Phelan M, Hagerty D. The oblique view: an alternative approach for ultrasound-guided central line placement. J Emerg Med 2009;37:403-8.
- 125.Stone MB, Price DD, Wang R. Ultrasound-guided supraclavicular block for the treatment of upper extremity

Interventional Pulmonology

fractures, dislocations, and abscesses in the ED. Am J Emerg Med 2007;25:472-5.

- 126. Blaivas M, Lyon M. Ultrasound-guided interscalene block for shoulder dislocation reduction in the ED. Am J Emerg Med 2006;24:293-6.
- 127. Dietrich CF, Annema JT, Clementsen P, et al. Ultrasound techniques in the evaluation of the mediastinum, part I: endoscopic ultrasound (EUS), endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) and transcutaneous mediastinal ultrasound (TMUS), introduction into ultrasound techniques. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:E311-25.
- 128.Jenssen C, Annema JT, Clementsen P, et al. Ultrasound techniques in the evaluation of the mediastinum, part 2: mediastinal lymph node anatomy and diagnostic reach of ultrasound techniques, clinical work up of neoplastic and inflammatory mediastinal lymphadenopathy using ultrasound techniques and how to learn mediastinal endosonography. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:E439-58.
- 129. Dietrich CF, Mathis G, Cui XW, et al. Ultrasound of the pleurae and lungs. Ultrasound Med Biol 2015;41:351-65.
- 130. Dincer HE, Gliksberg EP, Andrade RS. Endoscopic ultrasound and/or endobronchial ultrasound-guided needle biopsy of central intraparenchymal lung lesions not adjacent to airways or esophagus. Endosc Ultrasound 2015;4:40-3.
- 131.Harris K, Modi K, Kumar A, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration of pulmonary artery tumors: A systematic review (with video. Endosc Ultrasound 2015;4:191-7.
- 132. Costache MI, Iordache S, Karstensen JG, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration: from the past to the future. Endosc Ultrasound 2013;2:77-85.
- 133. Dietrich CF, Jenssen C. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling in gastroenterology: European society of gastrointestinal endoscopy technical guidelines. Endosc Ultrasound 2013;2:117-22.
- 134. Dietrich CF, Jenssen C, Arcidiacono PG, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound: Elastographic lymph node evaluation. Endosc Ultrasound 2015;4:176-90.
- 135. Dietrich CF, Sharma M, Hocke M. Contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound. Endosc Ultrasound 2012;1:130-6.
- 136. Tripathi M. Subclavian vein cannulation: an approach with definite landmarks. Ann Thorac Surg 1996;61:238-40.
- 137.Bo-Linn GW, Anderson DJ, Anderson KC, et al. Percutaneous central venous catheterization performed by medical house officers: a prospective study. Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn 1982;8:23-9.
- 138. Jastremski MS, Matthias HD, Randell PA. Femoral venous

catheterization during cardiopulmonary resuscitation: a critical appraisal. J Emerg Med 1984;1:387-91.

- 139. American College of Emergency Physicians. Use of ultrasound imaging by emergency physicians. Ann Emerg Med 2001;38:469-70.
- 140. Randall C, Schmeiser E, Fiers E, et al. Ultrasound investigation of leg position to enhance femoral vein exposure for cannulation. J Emerg Med 2014;47:176-81.
- 141.Docktor B, So CB, Saliken JC, et al. Ultrasound monitoring in cannulation of the internal jugular vein: anatomic and technical considerations. Can Assoc Radiol J 1996;47:195-201.
- 142. Lorchirachoonkul T, Ti LK, Manohara S, et al. Anatomical variations of the internal jugular vein: implications for successful cannulation and risk of carotid artery puncture. Singapore Med J 2012;53:325-8.
- 143. Mey U, Glasmacher A, Hahn C, et al. Evaluation of an ultrasound-guided technique for central venous access via the internal jugular vein in 493 patients. Support Care Cancer 2003;11:148-55.
- 144. Weissleder R, Elizondo G, Stark DD. Sonographic diagnosis of subclavian and internal jugular vein thrombosis. J Ultrasound Med 1987;6:577-87.
- 145. Skolnick ML. The role of sonography in the placement and management of jugular and subclavian central venous catheters. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1994;163:291-5.
- 146. Silberzweig JE, Mitty HA. Central venous access: low internal jugular vein approach using imaging guidance. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1998;170:1617-20.
- 147. Galloway S, Bodenham A. Ultrasound imaging of the axillary vein--anatomical basis for central venous access. Br J Anaesth 2003;90:589-95.
- 148. Nickalls RW. A new percutaneous infraclavicular approach to the axillary vein. Anaesthesia 1987;42:151-4.
- 149. Taylor BL, Yellowlees I. Central venous cannulation using the infraclavicular axillary vein. Anesthesiology 1990;72:55-8.
- 150.Metz RI, Lucking SE, Chaten FC, et al. Percutaneous catheterization of the axillary vein in infants and children. Pediatrics 1990;85:531-3.
- 151.Gualtieri E, Deppe SA, Sipperly ME, et al. Subclavian venous catheterization: greater success rate for less experienced operators using ultrasound guidance. Crit Care Med 1995;23:692-7.
- 152. Fry WR, Clagett GC, O'Rourke PT. Ultrasound-guided central venous access. Arch Surg 1999;134:738-40; discussion 741.
- 153. Milone M, Di Minno G, Di Minno MN, et al. The real

Dietrich et al. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions

effectiveness of ultrasound guidance in subclavian venous access. Ann Ital Chir 2010;81:331-4.

- 154.Zhan B, Zhang S, Shao Y. Operation for huge subclavian artery aneurysm: a case report. J Thorac Dis 2010;2:117-20.
- 155.Refai M, Salati M, Tiberi M, et al. Clinical pathway for thoracic surgery in an Italian centre. J Thorac Dis 2016;8:S23-8.
- 156. Xing X, Gao Y, Wang H, et al. Correlation of fluid balance and postoperative pulmonary complications in patients after

Cite this article as: Dietrich CF, Horn R, Morf S, Chiorean L, Dong Y, Cui XW, Atkinson NS, Jenssen C. Ultrasound-guided central vascular interventions, comments on the European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology guidelines on interventional ultrasound. J Thorac Dis 2016;8(9):E851-E868. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.08.49 esophagectomy for cancer. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:1986-93.

- 157. Mayr NP, Michel J, Bleiziffer S, et al. Sedation or general anesthesia for transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI). J Thorac Dis 2015;7:1518-26.
- 158.Konge L, Colella S, Vilmann P, et al. How to learn and to perform endoscopic ultrasound and endobronchial ultrasound for lung cancer staging: A structured guide and review. Endosc Ultrasound 2015;4:4-9.

Navigation bronchoscopy for diagnosis and small nodule location

Juan A. Muñoz-Largacha¹, Virginia R. Litle¹, Hiran C. Fernando²

¹Department of Surgery, Division of Thoracic Surgery, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA; ²Inova Schar Cancer Institute, Inova Fairfax Medical Campus, Falls Church, VA, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: JA Muñoz-Largacha, HC Fernando; (II) Administrative support: JA Muñoz-Largacha, HC Fernando; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: JA Muñoz-Largacha; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: JA Muñoz-Largacha, HC Fernando; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Dr. Hiran C. Fernando, MBBS, FRCS. Department of Surgery, Section of Thoracic Surgery, 3300 Gallows Road, Falls Church, Va. 22042, USA. Email: hiran.fernando@inova.org.

Abstract: Lung cancer continues to be the most common cause of cancer death. Screening programs for high-risk patients with the use of low-dose computed tomography (CT) has led to the identification of small lung lesions that were difficult to identify using previous imaging modalities. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy (ENB) is a novel technique that has shown to be of great utility during the evaluation of small, peripheral lesions, that would otherwise be challenging to evaluate with conventional bronchoscopy. The diagnostic yield of navigational bronchoscopy, however, is highly variable, with reports ranging from 59% to 94%. This variability suggests that well-defined selection criteria and standardized protocols for the use of ENB are lacking. Despite this variability, we believe that this technique is a useful tool evaluating small peripheral lung lesions when patients are properly selected.

Keywords: Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy (ENB); diagnosis; lung nodule

Submitted Aug 13, 2016. Accepted for publication Nov 10, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.01.57 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.01.57

Introduction

Lung cancer is the most common cause of cancer death among men and women in the United States (1). Unfortunately, the diagnosis is usually made at advanced stages with reported 5-year survival rates of approximately 15% (2). An early diagnosis and timely surgical resection is essential to improve outcomes and decrease mortality (3,4). Survival rates as high as 70% can be achieved in patients who undergo surgical resection at the earliest stage of disease (5,6).

Lung cancer screening programs with low-dose CTscan have allowed detection of small lung nodules (7). Nevertheless, an accurate diagnosis from these small, peripheral lung lesions can still be challenging with the use of conventional procedures. Options available to diagnose newly identified lung lesions include: flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopy (FFB), CT-guided transthoracic biopsy, bronchoscopy with endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) and thoracoscopic or open thoracic surgery.

FFB is useful for visible endobronchial and central lesions, with an overall sensitivity of roughly 88% (8,9). However, its performance as a diagnostic tool for small peripheral lesions is limited and has been reported to be between 19% and 62% (10,11). In nodules measuring less than 20 mm the diagnostic yield can be as low as 14% (12).

On the other hand, CT-guided transthoracic procedures display a higher diagnostic yield. CT-guided fine-needle aspiration has an overall sensitivity of 82% and an accuracy of 88%, but its performance might vary depending on lesion size and location (13). A sensitivity of over 90% has been reported for CT-guided transthoracic core needle biopsies, but the rate of complications is not negligible, with hemorrhage and pneumothorax occurring in as many as 30% of the cases (14-16).

The rate of accurate diagnosis for solitary pulmonary nodules using bronchoscopy with radial ultrasound probe is around 70–77% (17). This technique is operator dependent

Table 1 Diagnostic yield of ENB across studies

6 7		
Study	Diagnostic yield (%)	
Gildea, 2006	74	
Makris, 2007	62.5	
Eberhardt, 2007 (trial)	59 (ENB alone)	
	88 (ENB + EBUS)	
Eberhardt, 2007	67	
Lamprecht, 2009	76.9 (ENB + ROSE)	
Eberhardt, 2010	55	
	90	
Seijo, 2010	67	
Mahajan, 2011	77	
Lamprecht, 2012	83.9 (ENB + ROSE)	
Brownback, 2012	74.5	
Odronic, 2014	63	
Loo, 2014	94	
Al-Jaghbeer, 2016	60	
Average	72.7	

ENB, electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy; EBUS, endobronchial ultrasound; ROSE, rapid on site cytopathologic examination.

and involves blind navigation through the bronchial tree. Consequently, difficulty localizing the lesion is present in about 20% of cases (18,19). Although Kurimoto *et al.* (20) found no difference in the diagnostic rates amongst different lesion sizes, Eberhardt *et al.* reported a decrease in diagnostic yield, in lesions smaller than 20 mm (21).

The highest diagnostic yield (close to 100%) is achieved with thoracoscopic and open surgery (22). However, these approaches are more invasive and may be limited by poor pulmonary reserve in some patients (23). Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy (ENB) is a novel technique that offers a less invasive procedure for the diagnosis of small, peripheral lung nodules. It may also be a better option in certain circumstances (severe emphysema) where CT guided biopsy would be associated with a greater risk for complications.

ENB combines virtual and conventional bronchoscopy for the localization of lung nodules and allows the guidance of diagnostic and/or dye marking instruments (10,24). The most widely used and reported system is the SuperDimension system (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) The planning phase is performed using the patient's CT scan that is loaded onto a computer prior to the procedure. The target lesion is identified and the most appropriate bronchial pathway is carefully chosen for guidance during navigation. The system has an extended working channel (EWC), that is passed through the working channel of the bronchoscope and a locatable guide (LG) that is placed within the EWC. The LG is trackable on the navigation system providing the link between the real-time and virtual bronchoscopy. At the start of the procedure a standard bronchoscopy is performed and landmarks from this bronchoscopy registered on the software of the system. The standard bronchoscopy and virtual bronchoscopy created from the initial CT will then be linked. The surgeon or pulmonologist will then navigate towards the target lesion using both the standard and virtual images. At some point the bronchoscope will wedge within a segmental bronchus. The surgeon or pulmonologist will then advance the EWC and LG towards the target lesion using the virtual image only. Once the target lesion is reached, the LG is removed allowing placement of biopsy forceps, cytology brushes and aspiration needles through the EWC. It is also possible to obtain washings, place fiducials to guide stereotactic body radiation therapy and inject dye to mark small lesions for minimally invasive resections.

Two other navigation systems are commercially available, namely The LungPoint Virtual Bronchoscopic Navigation System (Bronchus Technologies, Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA) and the SPIN Drive System (Veran Medical Technologies, St. Louis, MO, USA). A potential advantage of the Veran system is that this uses "trackable" instruments that may improve accuracy as biopsies are performed. Currently, data with these other systems are limited and no comparative information is available (25,26).

ENB for the diagnosis of small lung nodules

ENB has been shown to aid in the diagnosis of lung lesions with a lower rate of complications compared with more invasive techniques. However, the diagnostic yield for small, peripheral lung nodules is variable and clear selection criteria for patients that may benefit from this intervention have not been well defined.

The diagnostic yield of ENB has been reported between 59% and 94% (24,27-37) (*Table 1*). This large variability across several studies highlights the need to define systematic selection criteria and standardized protocols for

the use of ENB.

Several variables that affect the performance of ENB have been evaluated. The presence of a bronchus sign on CT-scan (38), the use of rapid on-site cytopathologic examination (ROSE) (30,34), combining ENB with endobronchial radial ultrasound (28,31), PET scan (30), and the use of general anesthesia and fluoroscopy could improve the diagnostic yield of ENB. Moreover, the experience of the operator given by the number of procedures performed is a good predictor of success. The diagnostic yield of ENB has been shown to increase from 63% during the first year of work to 90% after two years of experience (33,34).

One of the first studies conducted to assess the utility of ENB was performed by Gildea *et al.* (27). The overall diagnostic yield was 74%. However, when analyzed by lesion size, the diagnostic yields ranged between 66.6% and 72%. Although all the nodules were considered peripheral, the distance from the pleural surface to each nodule was not reported, probably confounding the results since higher diagnostic yields could be expected for centrally located lesions.

On the other hand, Eberhardt et al. carried out a randomized controlled trial, finding a diagnostic yield of 59% that did not change with nodule size or location (28). This trial compared the use of EBUS with that of ENB alone or EBUS plus ENB for the diagnosis of peripheral lung lesions. The diagnostic yield with the combination of both tests was higher (88%) than either one alone, proving the adjunctive effect of endobronchial ultrasound. A more recent study by the same group showed different diagnostic rates depending on the biopsy technique. The overall diagnostic yield was 75.5%. Samples acquired using suction catheter had higher yields compared to forceps, where the diagnostic rates dropped to 55% (31). Again, this study found that the combination of ENB and EBUS achieved a higher diagnostic yield (93%) compared to 48% when the lesion was not visible under ultrasound (31).

In another study conducted by Eberhardt *et al.* there was a nonsignificant trend towards an increase in the diagnosis of lesions located within the right middle lobe compared with other locations (24). Similarly, Chen *et al.* showed that lesions located within the lower lobes may be more challenging to reach via ENB due to greater movement during respiration compared with upper lobe nodules (39).

Other diagnostic tools used in combination with ENB have shown favorable results. ROSE has been used immediately after ENB tissue sampling, although this technique is not readily available at all centers. Loo *et al.* showed an overall diagnostic yield of 94% with the use of ENB and fine needle aspiration, and a diagnostic yield of 87% for lung lesions <2 cm, which was attributed to the use of ROSE (36). Similarly, Lamprecht *et al.* (34) showed diagnostic rates of over 80% with the combination of ENB, PET-scan and ROSE. The diagnostic yields varied depending on size. A correct diagnosis was achieved in 76% of lesions smaller than 20 mm and 90% of those larger than 20 mm. However, these differences were not statistically significant and both studies showed falsenegative and false-positive results, affecting the sensitivity and specificity of ROSE.

As mentioned above, the biopsy technique could also affect the probability of obtaining a definitive diagnosis after ENB. Diagnostic yields of 55% to 77% have been reported with the use of biopsy forceps and 54% for bronchial brushing (29,31-33,35,38). Combining ENB with fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNA) has allowed surgeons to achieve diagnostic yields as high as 87% for lesions <20 mm and 100% for those >20 mm (36). The concurrent use of bronchial brushing and transbronchial biopsies did not improve these outcomes (36). Furthermore, Odronic et al. also found that the sensitivity of ENB-FNA was higher when compared to the use of biopsy forceps and bronchial brushings (35). However, they suggest that the combination of these techniques could improve sensitivity. Our own preference is to use a number of techniques including biopsy forceps, bronchial brushing and washings, and needle aspiration.

CT-scan findings have also been shown to influence the diagnostic performance of ENB. Seijo *et al.* (38) found that the diagnostic yield of ENB improved significantly from 31% when a bronchus sign on CT scan was absent to 79% when such sign was present. Size of lesion was also a variable that significantly affected the rates of definitive diagnosis in that study (38). In contrast, Brownback *et al.* found a 13.9% absolute increase in the diagnostic yield when a bronchus sign was identified on CT scan, but this finding was not statistically significant. Lesion size did not affect the diagnostic rates significantly either in this study (33).

In our own analysis of 100 ENB's performed in 95 patients (data not published), the diagnostic yield of this technique was associated with lesion size, location and the presence of a bronchus sign on CT-scan. Lesion size ≥ 2 cm, location within the central and intermediate regions, location within the upper and middle lobes and the presence of a bronchus sign were all factors associated with an increased probability of obtaining a definitive diagnosis.

The large range in diagnostic yield reported among studies could be explained by differences in study design, lesion size, location, biopsy techniques employed, the inclusion of adjunctive resources such as radial EBUS and ROSE, and differences in learning curve/operator experience. This variability has led to the conflicting findings reported. As further studies and experiences are reported, it is hoped that factors that impact the performance of ENB will be better defined, improving selection criteria for ENB rather than an alternative diagnostic modality. It is also important to note that all studies consistently demonstrate lower complication rates with ENB compared to that reported by CT guided techniques.

Additional uses of ENB

Fiducial placement for SBRT

Besides the diagnostic potential of ENB for small peripheral lung nodules, this technique is also useful for the placement of fiducials and dye marking for subsequent stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) and minimally invasive surgical resection.

It has been shown that the use of ENB for the placement of fiducial markers is a safe and feasible procedure for subsequent SBRT (40). The deployment of these fiducials showed lower rates of complications compared to transthoracic placement, and higher retention rates in close proximity within the tumor or the location of initial placement, allowing successful completion of radio surgical treatments (40,41).

ENB-guided dye marking for minimally invasive resection

The increased number of small lung lesions detected by CT scan has also increased the number of cases referred for surgical resection. The surgical approach of these lesions may be challenging since visualization and palpation of small nodules is limited during minimally invasive resection.

ENB-guided dye marking has shown to be a safe and feasible procedure for the identification of lung nodules during video-assisted thoracoscopic (VATS) and robotic-assisted thoracoscopic resection (RATS) (42,43). This potentially has great utility for thoracic surgeons performing these procedures.

Krimsky *et al.* used ENB-guided dye marking for the localization of 21 lung nodules with a median size of 13.4 mm (range, 7–29 mm) (43). Indigo carmine and methylene blue

were used. In 81% of the cases the dye was identified close to the lesions, in one case the dye marking extravasated into the pleural space, and in 3 cases the dye was not identified. No complications related with ENB were reported.

Recent studies have also shown a good performance of ENB-guided dye marking with significantly less rates of complications when compared to other percutaneous marking procedures (44-46). Marino et al. reported a success rate of 97% for the localization of 70 lung lesions with a median lesion size of 8 mm (range, 4-17 mm) and a median distance from the pleural surface of 6 mm (range, 1-19 mm). The failure rate was 2.9%, which is significantly lower than that of transthoracic methylene blue marking and hook-wire localization (46). Similarly, Awais et al. (45) found a success rate of 100% for the localization of 33 lung nodules with a median size of 10 mm (range, 4-27 mm) and a median distance from the pleural surface to the center of the lesion of 13 mm (range, 3-44 mm). Complications were reported in two patients, which seemed to be independent of the ENB procedure.

Conclusions

Electromagnetic Navigational Bronchoscopy is a novel technique that has proven to be useful for the diagnosis of small lung nodules. This technique increases the likelihood of obtaining tissue samples from lesions that were unreachable with the use of standard bronchoscopy. It is also of great utility for the localization of small, non-palpable lung nodules for subsequent minimally invasive resection, as well as for the placement of fiducial markers for therapeutic purposes in patients with advanced stage disease.

There is variability in diagnostic yields from ENB with an average of 72% (*Table 1*) reported. Although not statistically significant, the majority of the studies have shown differences in the diagnostic rates related to lesion size (24,28,29,32,34-36) suggesting that bigger lesions are more likely to be diagnosed with ENB. Other variables that have been suggested to improve the performance of ENB include presence of bronchus sign on CT scan and location in the middle and upper lobes.

Future studies should focus on establishing well-defined selection criteria for ENB that will help guide the selection of optimal diagnostic approach when evaluating a new lung nodule. Additionally, methods to improve the performance of ENB, such as the biopsy technique (e.g., brush, fineneedle, core or cup biopsy) and adjunctive approaches (such as the use of radial EBUS) will need to be established.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2016. Atlanta: American Cancer Society; 2016.
- 2. Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc 2008;83:584-94.
- International Early Lung Cancer Action Program Investigators, Henschke CI, Yankelevitz DF, et al. Survival of patients with stage I lung cancer detected on CT screening. N Engl J Med 2006;355:1763-71.
- 4. Kanarek NF, Hooker CM, Mathieu L, et al. Survival after community diagnosis of early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Am J Med 2014;127:443-9.
- Flehinger BJ, Kimmel M, Melamed MR. The effect of surgical treatment on survival from early lung cancer. Implications for screening. Chest 1992;101:1013-8.
- Goldstraw P, Crowley J, Chansky K, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for the revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM Classification of malignant tumours. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2:706-14.
- National Lung Screening Trial Research Team, Church TR, Black WC, et al. Results of initial low-dose computed tomographic screening for lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2013;368:1980-91.
- Schreiber G, McCrory DC. Performance characteristics of different modalities for diagnosis of suspected lung cancer: summary of published evidence. Chest 2003;123:115S-28S.
- Rivera MP, Mehta AC, Wahidi MM. Establishing the diagnosis of lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013;143:e142S-65S.
- Weiser TS, Hyman K, Yun J, et al. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy: a surgeon's perspective. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;85:S797-801.
- 11. Wallace JM, Deutsch AL. Flexible fiberoptic bronchoscopy and percutaneous needle lung aspiration for evaluating the

solitary pulmonary nodule. Chest 1982;81:665-71.

- Baaklini WA, Reinoso MA, Gorin AB, et al. Diagnostic yield of fiberoptic bronchoscopy in evaluating solitary pulmonary nodules. Chest 2000;117:1049-54.
- Wallace MJ, Krishnamurthy S, Broemeling LD, et al. CT-guided percutaneous fine-needle aspiration biopsy of small (< or =1-cm) pulmonary lesions. Radiology 2002;225:823-8.
- Sachdeva M, Ronaghi R, Mills PK, et al. Complications and Yield of Computed Tomography-Guided Transthoracic Core Needle Biopsy of Lung Nodules at a High-Volume Academic Center in an Endemic Coccidioidomycosis Area. Lung 2016;194:379-85.
- Heerink WJ, de Bock GH, de Jonge GJ, et al. Complication rates of CT-guided transthoracic lung biopsy: meta-analysis. Eur Radiol 2017;27:138-48.
- 16. Hiraki T, Mimura H, Gobara H, et al. Incidence of and risk factors for pneumothorax and chest tube placement after CT fluoroscopy-guided percutaneous lung biopsy: retrospective analysis of the procedures conducted over a 9-year period. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010;194:809-14.
- Herth FJ, Eberhardt R, Becker HD, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial lung biopsy in fluoroscopically invisible solitary pulmonary nodules: a prospective trial. Chest 2006;129:147-50.
- Kikuchi E, Yamazaki K, Sukoh N, et al. Endobronchial ultrasonography with guide-sheath for peripheral pulmonary lesions. Eur Respir J 2004;24:533-7.
- Asahina H, Yamazaki K, Onodera Y, et al. Transbronchial biopsy using endobronchial ultrasonography with a guide sheath and virtual bronchoscopic navigation. Chest 2005;128:1761-5.
- Kurimoto N, Miyazawa T, Okimasa S, et al. Endobronchial ultrasonography using a guide sheath increases the ability to diagnose peripheral pulmonary lesions endoscopically. Chest 2004;126:959-65.
- 21. Eberhardt R, Ernst A, Herth FJ. Ultrasound-guided transbronchial biopsy of solitary pulmonary nodules less than 20 mm. Eur Respir J 2009;34:1284-7.
- 22. DeCamp MM Jr, Jaklitsch MT, Mentzer SJ, et al. The safety and versatility of video-thoracoscopy: a prospective analysis of 895 consecutive cases. J Am Coll Surg 1995;181:113-20.
- Shafiek H, Valera JL, Togores B, et al. Risk of postoperative complications in chronic obstructive lung diseases patients considered fit for lung cancer surgery: beyond oxygen consumption. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;50:772-9.

Muñoz-Largacha et al. Navigation bronchoscopy

- 24. Eberhardt R, Anantham D, Herth F, et al. Electromagnetic navigation diagnostic bronchoscopy in peripheral lung lesions. Chest 2007;131:1800-5.
- Eberhardt R, Kahn N, Gompelmann D, et al. LungPoint--a new approach to peripheral lesions. J Thorac Oncol 2010;5:1559-63.
- 26. Santos RS, Gupta A, Ebright MI, et al. Electromagnetic navigation to aid radiofrequency ablation and biopsy of lung tumors. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;89:265-8.
- Gildea TR, Mazzone PJ, Karnak D, et al. Electromagnetic navigation diagnostic bronchoscopy: a prospective study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006;174:982-9.
- Eberhardt R, Anantham D, Ernst A, et al. Multimodality bronchoscopic diagnosis of peripheral lung lesions: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;176;36-41.
- 29. Makris D, Scherpereel A, Leroy S, et al. Electromagnetic navigation diagnostic bronchoscopy for small peripheral lung lesions. Eur Respir J 2007;29:1187-92.
- Lamprecht B, Porsch P, Pirich C, et al. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy in combination with PET-CT and rapid on-site cytopathologic examination for diagnosis of peripheral lung lesions. Lung 2009;187:55-9.
- Eberhardt R, Morgan RK, Ernst A, et al. Comparison of suction catheter versus forceps biopsy for sampling of solitary pulmonary nodules guided by electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy. Respiration 2010;79:54-60.
- 32. Mahajan AK, Patel S, Hogarth DK, et al. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy: an effective and safe approach to diagnose peripheral lung lesions unreachable by conventional bronchoscopy in high-risk patients. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2011;18:133-7.
- Brownback KR, Quijano F, Latham HE, et al. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy in the diagnosis of lung lesions. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2012;19:91-7.
- Lamprecht B, Porsch P, Wegleitner B, et al. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy (ENB): Increasing diagnostic yield. Respir Med 2012;106:710-5.
- Odronic SI, Gildea TR, Chute DJ. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy-guided fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of lung lesions. Diagn Cytopathol 2014;42:1045-50.
- Loo FL, Halligan AM, Port JL, et al. The emerging technique of electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopyguided fine-needle aspiration of peripheral lung lesions: promising results in 50 lesions. Cancer Cytopathol 2014;122:191-9.

- Al-Jaghbeer M, Marcus M, Durkin M, et al. Diagnostic yield of electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy. Ther Adv Respir Dis 2016;10:295-9.
- 38. Seijo LM, de Torres JP, Lozano MD, et al. Diagnostic yield of electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy is highly dependent on the presence of a Bronchus sign on CT imaging: results from a prospective study. Chest 2010;138:1316-21.
- Chen A, Pastis N, Furukawa B, et al. The effect of respiratory motion on pulmonary nodule location during electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy. Chest 2015;147:1275-81.
- 40. Nabavizadeh N, Zhang J, Elliott DA, et al. Electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy-guided fiducial markers for lung stereotactic body radiation therapy: analysis of safety, feasibility, and interfraction stability. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2014;21:123-30.
- Anantham D, Feller-Kopman D, Shanmugham LN, et al. Electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy-guided fiducial placement for robotic stereotactic radiosurgery of lung tumors: a feasibility study. Chest 2007;132:930-5.
- Bolton WD, Howe H 3rd, Stephenson JE. The utility of electromagnetic navigational bronchoscopy as a localization tool for robotic resection of small pulmonary nodules. Ann Thorac Surg 2014;98:471-5; discussion 475-6.
- 43. Krimsky WS, Minnich DJ, Cattaneo SM, et al. Thoracoscopic detection of occult indeterminate pulmonary nodules using bronchoscopic pleural dye marking. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect 2014;4.
- 44. Tay JH, Wallbridge PD, Larobina M, et al. Electromagnetic Navigation Bronchoscopy-directed Pleural Tattoo to Aid Surgical Resection of Peripheral Pulmonary Lesions. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 2016;23:245-50.
- 45. Awais O, Reidy MR, Mehta K, et al. Electromagnetic Navigation Bronchoscopy-Guided Dye Marking for Thoracoscopic Resection of Pulmonary Nodules. Ann Thorac Surg 2016;102:223-9.
- Marino KA, Sullivan JL, Weksler B. Electromagnetic Navigation Bronchoscopy for Identifying Lung Nodules for Thoracoscopic Resection. Ann Thorac Surg 2016;102:454-7.

Cite this article as: Muñoz-Largacha JA, Litle VR, Fernando HC. Navigation bronchoscopy for diagnosis and small nodule location. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 2):S98-S103. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.01.57

148

Indications and interventional options for non-resectable tracheal stenosis

Jenny Louise Bacon, Caroline Marie Patterson, Brendan Patrick Madden

Cardiothoracic Medicine, St George's Hospital, London, UK

Correspondence to: Brendan Patrick Madden, Professor. Cardiothoracic Medicine, St George's Hospital, London, UK. Email: Brendan.madden@stgeorges.nhs.uk.

Abstract: Non-specific presentation and normal examination findings in early disease often result in tracheal obstruction being overlooked as a diagnosis until patients present acutely. Once diagnosed, surgical options should be considered, but often patient co-morbidity necessitates other interventional options. Non-resectable tracheal stenosis can be successfully managed by interventional bronchoscopy, with therapeutic options including airway dilatation, local tissue destruction and airway stenting. There are common aspects to the management of tracheal obstruction, tracheomalacia and tracheal fistulae. This paper reviews the pathogenesis, presentation, investigation and management of tracheal disease, with a focus on tracheal obstruction and the role of endotracheal intervention in management.

Keywords: Airway stent; laser therapy; rigid bronchoscopy; tracheal stenosis; large airway obstruction

Submitted May 30, 2013. Accepted for publication Nov 20, 2013. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.11.08 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.11.08

Introduction

Large airway obstruction, particularly tracheal disease, is widely believed to be under-diagnosed and under-reported. Recognition of the precipitants to tracheal obstruction and of the common clinical manifestations and investigation findings will facilitate prompt and appropriate management. Rigid bronchoscopy is increasingly popular for the diagnosis and management of tracheal obstruction, and has a role in the delivery of interventional bronchoscopy. Surgical management is often definitive, but patient selection and preparation is essential for surgical success.

This paper reviews the pathogenesis, presentation, investigation and management of tracheal disease, with a focus on tracheal obstruction and the role of endotracheal intervention in the management of non-resectable disease. It is intended that this paper will provide guidance for those involved in the care of patients with tracheal disease.

Tracheal anatomy and physiology

The trachea extends from the lower body of the cricoid cartilage to the carina and is normally between 110 and

130 mm in length. The tracheal diameter is typically up to 22 mm in males and up to 18 mm in females. Air is a fluid which flows down a pressure gradient, from higher to lower pressure. Airflow can be laminar or turbulent, with the flow rate defined as the amount of fluid moving per second. When flow is laminar, the airflow rate is directly proportional to the pressure gradient but when flow is turbulent, the airflow rate is proportional to the square root of the pressure gradient. Turbulence thus increases airflow resistance, necessitating a higher pressure difference to maintain a given flow rate. Reynolds number is a non-dimensional parameter that governs the change from laminar to turbulent air flow. It is calculated by multiplying mean fluid velocity, density and airway diameter then dividing by fluid viscosity. The diameter of the trachea affects airflow by this equation and any abrupt variation in tracheal diameter produces a transition point which also predisposes to turbulence.

Tracheal obstruction

Congenital or acquired tracheal narrowing may result from intrinsic tracheal stenosis and/or external compression, at

150

Bacon et al. Interventional options for tracheal stenosis

any anatomical level. Variation in the tracheal diameter alters the airflow dynamics in the direction of increased airflow resistance. Tracheal stenosis often results in varying degrees of distortion along the vertical plane in addition to airway narrowing. When the trachea becomes pulled away from or twisted within its normal anatomical path, this further predisposes to airway turbulence and increased resistance.

Congenital

Tracheal stenosis is rarely congenital but may result from posterior fusion of the tracheal rings. By contrast, congenital tracheal webs are well recognised, with 75% occurring at the level of the glottis. Tracheal webs differ from tracheal stenosis due to the absence of a cartilaginous framework. Both may present in adult life.

Congenital cardiovascular anomalies can result in extrinsic compression of the trachea. Most commonly, early bifurcation of the innominate artery compresses the anterior tracheal wall, appearing pulsatile at bronchoscopy. Other causes include anomalies of the subclavian artery and vascular rings, such as congenital double aortic arch, which encircle the trachea causing circumferential compression.

Acquired

Trauma

The cartilaginous trachea has a natural tendency to narrow and fibrose in the face of injury. Tracheal trauma is the most common cause of benign tracheal stenosis and is a feared complication of prolonged endotracheal intubation or tracheostomy tube placement. The presence of tracheal stenosis can necessitate re-intubation and delay respiratory weaning in intensive care unit patients or can present many years later.

The reported incidence of tracheal stenosis following endotracheal intubation ranges from 6-21% and following tracheostomy ranges from 0.6-21% (1-3). With the trend towards early tracheostomy as an aid to respiratory weaning, and increasing numbers of successful discharges from intensive care units, the incidence of tracheal complications is rising.

Stenosis occurs when pressure and friction on the mucosal surface stimulates inflammation and pressure necrosis. Granulation tissue formation is followed by fibroblast proliferation, scarring and contracture. Stenoses can develop after as little as 36 hours of endotracheal intubation but the risk of stenosis rises with duration of intubation. Most strictures occur at the site of the tube cuff, with reduced incidence following the introduction of compliant, large volume, low-pressure cuffs (4).

After tracheostomy, stenosis most commonly occurs at the stomal site (3,5). Wound sepsis is a predisposing factor (6). Pre-existing chronic lung disease and airway infection are also associated with tracheal stenosis post endotracheal intubation or tracheostomy (7).

Trauma may also arise from thermal or chemical burns (including chemical warfare agents), resulting in localised stenosis.

Infection

Airway infection alone can result in the development of tracheal stenosis. Tuberculosis is the most common cause of post-infective stenosis but diphtheria, syphilis and fungal infection (e.g., histoplasmosis, blastomycosis) are also recognised causes.

Non-infectious inflammation

Non-infectious inflammatory conditions causing tracheal stenosis include collagen vascular disorders (e.g., Wegener's granulomatosis), sarcoidosis, amyloidosis and chronic atrophic polychondritis. Diffuse inflammatory and infective processes often result in multi-level tracheobronchial stenoses.

Neoplastic

Airway obstruction develops in 20-30% of lung cancer patients (8); however, tracheal compromise occurs in less than 1% of all malignancies (9). Direct tumour invasion of the trachea by a bronchogenic malignancy is more common than metastatic involvement of the trachea. Primary benign tumours of the trachea such as chondromas, fibromas, hemangiomas, and squamous papillomas are rare causes of tracheal stenosis. Extrinsic compression of the trachea can occur from malignant lymphadenopathy, thyroid and mediastinal tumours.

Iatrogenic

The insertion of a tracheal stent (e.g., for tracheobronchomalacia) can, paradoxically, lead to stenosis due to tracheal irritation and the formation of granulation tissue at either end of the stent. Cervico-mediastinal radiotherapy is another recognised cause of stenosis.

Other

Tracheopathia osteochondroplastica is a rare, but increasingly recognised condition in which there is the idiopathic development of focal or diffuse, osseous and/or cartilaginous nodules in the submucosa of the trachea and bronchial walls. The posterior membranous portions of the trachea are characteristically spared. Significant tracheal stenosis and/tracheomalacia can result.

Superior mediastinal pathology can cause extrinsic tracheal compression. Most frequently this arises from lymphadenopathy secondary to infection, inflammation or neoplasia, but abnormalities of the aortic arch such as dissection or aneurysm can also compress the trachea (10). Thyroid goitre may also cause extrinsic compression, particularly if there is retrosternal extension.

Idiopathic

Idiopathic tracheal stenosis is rare, representing 3-5% of cases. Most commonly these stenoses develop at the level of the cricoid cartilage and are restricted to young women (11). Pathologically there is extensive keloidal fibrosis and mucus glands dilation which may represent a form of fibromatosis (12).

Tracheal fistulae

Any aggressive tracheal pathology can disturb the integrity of the tracheal wall resulting in communication with the mediastinum. Iatrogenic, traumatic and malignant cases are the most prevalent. Infection as an aetiological factor (tuberculosis, HIV infection, mediastinitis) has reduced in recent years. Communication may also be established between the tracheobronchial tree and the oesophagus, resulting in tracheo-oesophageal (or bronchial-oesophageal) fistulae. Acquired tracheo-oesophageal fistulae are frequently the result of mediastinal malignancy. Tumours arising from the oesophagus, trachea, lungs, larynx, thyroid and lymph glands have all been reported to cause fistula formation. Tracheo-oesophageal fistulae can also be congenital. These typically present in the neonatal period but may rarely present in adulthood.

Tracheomalacia

Tracheomalacia is characterised by flaccidity of the tracheal cartilage, leading to airway collapse during expiration. The condition may extend to involve the bronchi (tracheobronchomalacia). Significant airway malacia is defined as a greater than 60% reduction in luminal

diameter.

Congenital tracheomalacia results from a developmental defect in the cartilage of the tracheal wall. Tracheomalacia may also develop in the context of congenital conditions such as cystic fibrosis, Mounier-Kuhn syndrome, Marfan syndrome, Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, and congenital trachea-oesophageal fistulae.

Acquired tracheomalacia is associated with prolonged endotracheal intubation and tracheostomy, trauma, head and neck surgery, radiotherapy, and inflammatory conditions such as polychondritis. Intrinsic tracheal disease such as tracheal stenosis and previous tracheal stenting may also contribute to weakening of the airway support and malacia. When tracheomalacia occurs in the absence of a clear pathophysiology, these patients are often obese, with smoking-related lung disease or recurrent/chronic airways infection.

Diagnosis of tracheal disease

The diagnosis of tracheal disease is a recognised challenge because of the broad range of aetiologies and the nonspecific nature of presentation, which often has an insidious onset at first. Thus, a detailed patient history and examination is imperative to guide further investigation and management. Sometimes when the patient presents in extremis, this is not possible or appropriate, and rapid intervention in a controlled environment with appropriately skilled personnel is central to a successful outcome.

History and examination

Symptoms depend on the location and degree of airway narrowing, additional airway distortion and concurrent thoracic pathology. Most commonly, patients report shortness of breath on exertion, which may progress to dyspnoea at rest. Symptoms occur on exertion when the tracheal diameter is significantly reduced to 8 mm (13). Cough and wheeze are common. Airway obstruction may lead to difficulty with sputum clearance and recurrent infection. The combination of exertional dyspnoea and wheeze is frequently mistaken for chronic bronchitis or asthma. Failure to respond to bronchodilators should not be overlooked.

It is not uncommon for patients with tracheal disease to present with acute respiratory distress, even in benign disease. These presentations are usually triggered by the partial or complete occlusion of the abnormal airway by



Figure 1 Flow volume curves showing upper airway obstruction.

sputum or haemorrhage.

History taking should focus on potential tracheal insults such as intensive care admission, hoarseness after general anaesthesia (suggestive of traumatic injury), or respiratory tract infections. A full systems enquiry may also reveal information relevant to the underlying diagnosis.

Respiratory examination is often normal until there is severe tracheal stenosis or secondary airway occlusion due to sputum or haemorrhage. Stridor occurs when the tracheal diameter is less than 5 mm (13). Examination should explore the underlying diagnosis, looking carefully for signs such as a tracheostomy scar, goitre, lymphadenopathy or the classical nasal changes of Wegener's granulomatosis.

Investigation

When tracheal disease is suspected, first line investigations should include targeted blood tests to look for the underlying diagnosis (e.g., inflammatory markers, autoimmune screen), pulse oximetry and/or arterial blood gas analysis and standard chest radiography. These investigations are often normal.

Lung function testing

When spirometry results are interpreted correctly, ensuring technical requirements are met, they can be the first investigation to suggest the diagnosis of tracheal obstruction. Flow volume diagrams provide an indication of the severity of airflow obstruction and the location of airway obstruction, i.e., intrathoracic or extrathoracic (14).

The pressure surrounding the intrathoracic airway approximates to pleural pressure, which changes during the

respiratory cycle. During inspiration, negative intrapleural pressure causes the intrathoracic airway to be splinted open. During expiration, positive intrapleural pressure compresses the intrathoracic airway. Therefore, in intrathoracic airway obstruction (for example in lower tracheal stenosis) typically there is upper airway collapse during expiration and flattened expiratory flow volume curves, but the inspiratory flow-volume curve remains normal.

The reverse is true in the fairly compliant extrathoracic airway that is not exposed to intrapleural pressure. Inspiration results in collapse of the extrathoracic upper airway, as the airflow acceleration into the lungs reduces intraluminal pressure. Extrathoracic airways obstruction (upper or mid tracheal obstruction) therefore typically causes airway collapse during inspiration, with flattening of the inspiratory flow-volume curve. The force of expiration opens the extrathoracic airway usually resulting in a normal expiratory curve. The expiratory curve may become flattened when there is significant extrathoracic obstruction, resulting in reduced peak airflow rates. Schematics of the classical flow-volume diagrams are displayed in *Figure 1*.

Radiological imaging

Computed tomography (CT) is the radiological modality most often used to image the trachea. Dedicated tracheal protocols allow the acquisition of thin slices through the upper airways. With standard chest protocols, tracheal disease is easily underestimated. "Virtual endoscopy" procedures can be performed using CT images constructed during post-processing, with no additional radiation burden (*Figure 2*). The advantages of virtual endoscopy include the capability to view non-traditional perspectives, to

Interventional Pulmonology



Figure 2 Virtual bronchoscopy images of the normal proximal (A) and distal (B) trachea and tracheal stenosis (C).

provide volumetric analyses and to apply automatic feature recognition software (15).

CT is useful for diagnosing tracheal disease, identifying the precise anatomical location, the characteristics of the lesion and the extent of disease, including distal airway patency and local vascular anatomy. When tracheal lesions are visualised in cross section, it is possible to assess whether they are circumferential or incomplete, in a single plane (web like) or in three dimensions, like a cork-screw. CT windows also include the wider chest and may provide supportive evidence of an underlying diagnosis.

The combination of axial imaging, multiplanar reformating, and 3-dimensional rendering is useful prior to tracheal intervention, especially when there is significant anatomical distortion or airway narrowing (16).

Bronchoscopy

Flexible bronchoscopy is often performed in the diagnostic work up for symptoms that are subsequently identified as tracheal in origin. Flexible bronchoscopy is, however, best avoided due to the risk of precipitating acute, complete airway obstruction or proximal haemorrhage. Rigid bronchoscopy is preferred for evaluating stenotic lesions in the trachea and the advantages over flexible bronchoscopy for diagnosis and therapy which will be discussed further below.

Management

Non-acute airway obstruction

In the non-acute setting, initial management should target ongoing tracheal insults such as inflammation or infection, to retard disease progression. Inflammatory conditions such as collagen vascular disease may respond to steroid or immunomodulatory therapies. Airway infection can be difficult to control and identification of the pathogenic organism is key. Recurrent pathogen isolation may prompt long term antibiotic prophylaxis as oral or nebulised therapy. Airway clearance is crucial and can be enhanced by the use of mucolytic agents such as carbocysteine, nebulised therapy with saline and/or N Acetyl Cysteine and chest physiotherapy.

Acute airway obstruction

When patients present acutely with significant upper airways obstruction, supportive measures may be necessary and include the commencement of an inspired Heliumoxygen (Heliox) mixture. Heliox is less dense than oxygen and nitrogen. In accordance with Reynold's equation, reducing the density of the inspired gas has the effect of predisposing to laminar flow and this can be used to improve airway dynamics in the short term.

Definitive management

Most significant tracheal stenoses necessitate interventional bronchoscopy or surgical resection. Definitive management should be planned with the input of the multi-disciplinary team. It is the nature of patients with tracheal pathology that their underlying disease or history of intensive care admission may make them high risk surgical candidates; thus, endotracheal intervention is often preferable (17). All patients should, however, be considered for tracheal surgery.

Interventional bronchoscopy does not preclude future surgery in most cases and may optimise potential surgical candidates. Lower surgical success rates are evident if the patient has had previous tracheal surgery, but previous laser therapy does not affect surgical outcome (3).

The most frequent complication of tracheal resection and reconstruction is granulation tissue formation at the anastomotic site. Since the introduction of novel suture materials in 1978, the complication rate has fallen to 1.6% (18). It is possible to treat granulation tissue at the anastomotic site with endotracheal therapy.

Interventional bronchoscopy

Background

Interventional bronchoscopy should ideally be performed in specialist centres, with the support of experienced, consistent multi-disciplinary teams. Globally, interventional bronchoscopy is most commonly performed using intravenous awake sedation, local anaesthesia and the flexible bronchoscope. Rigid bronchoscopy under general anaesthesia has increased in popularity over the last two decades (19,20) but widespread adoption of the technique is limited by relative operator inexperience and a lack of available training. Rarely, if a tracheal stenosis is high, in close proximity to the vocal cords, a laryngeal mask and flexible bronchoscopy is indicated to visualise and treat the trachea.

Strengths and potential limitations of rigid bronchoscopy

Unlike flexible bronchoscopy, which relies upon the patient's own, potentially unstable airway and ventilation, rigid bronchoscopy offers a controlled, ventilated airway under general anaesthetic, with the support of a cardiothoracic anaesthetist (21). Rigid bronchoscopy is therefore preferable for patients with severe respiratory disease who can be poorly tolerant of flexible bronchoscopy. The use of general anaesthesia also has the benefit of creating an immobile field, free from cough, allowing intervention to be performed more safely (22).

Biopsy or airway intervention during flexible bronchoscopy risks airway haemorrhage with potential compromise of both lungs, rendering the patient hypoxic. Rigid bronchoscopy offers a potentially safer means of obtaining a tissue diagnosis (23). Using the rigid bronchoscope it is possible to apply direct pressure to bleeding lesions, and to apply adrenaline soaked gauze using rigid forceps to tamponade the bleeding source, if direct application of adrenaline solution is not sufficient. Single lung isolation with the rigid bronchoscope can also be used to protect the non-bleeding lung if significant haemorrhage occurs.

The bronchoscope barrel can be used to dissect tissue or dilate tracheal stenoses directly, with excellent access for instrumentation with dilators or stents under direct vision. Rigid bronchoscopy minimises procedure times for endotracheal intervention. The median time to stent deployment is 12 minutes at our institution using rigid bronchoscopy (24).

In a specialist centre with a highly trained and experienced team, low complication rates are seen with rigid bronchoscopy. Potential complications include dental trauma, vocal cord trauma/inflammation and airway haemorrhage. Pneumothorax is a risk due to tracheal instrumentation and positive pressure ventilation but our local experience suggests rates of pneumothorax are less than 1% (based on review of >500 rigid bronchoscopy procedures) (24).

Performing rigid bronchoscopy

The rigid bronchoscope is a hollow, tapered metal tube, with distal side-holes along the body for optimal ventilation. The patient is positioned supine with their neck extended. The pharynx, larynx and trachea are aligned in order to insert the rigid tube, taking care to protect the teeth and vocal cords from trauma.

The lumen of the rigid bronchoscope is used for direct vision. Intervention is performed using rigid instruments passed through the rigid bronchoscope. A flexible bronchoscope is passed through the lumen of the rigid bronchoscope to better visualise segmental airways or to see beyond a narrowed trachea. Some centres use special thin flexible bronchoscopes for this purpose (25). The flexible bronchoscope is also utilised for laser therapy.

Endotracheal intervention

There is an overlap between the techniques used to treat tracheal and bronchial obstruction (26). Options include airway dilatation, tissue destruction and stent insertion, each of which is detailed below.

Airway dilatation

Dilatation is achieved with lubricated bougies of increasing diameter applying radial pressure circumferentially to the narrowed airway. Balloon dilatation is an alternative method. The flexible then rigid bronchoscope can also be used to perform blunt dissection and dilatation of stenosed areas under direct vision.

With all dilating techniques, it is imperative to identify the path of the true airway lumen. It is easy, especially when



Figure 3 The endoscopic images of tracheal stenosis before (A) and after (B) Nd Yag laser therapy.



Figure 4 The technique of Nd Yag laser therapy. The laser fibre is moved in a circumferential fashion, starting from the centre of the airway.

the trachea is distorted, to lose sight of the true lumen, risking airway perforation. Pre-operative imaging is useful to define patient anatomy.

Dilatation alone is very rarely a definitive therapy and re-stenosis usually occurs. Dilatation may be used in combination with other therapeutic techniques such as laser ablation and stent insertion, and can be repeated as necessary (NICE guideline IP938).

Tissue destruction

Once the true airway lumen has been identified, it is usually preferable to destroy and physically remove diseased tissue (*Figure 3*). The most rudimentary method of tissue destruction uses forceps to mechanically remove tissue from the trachea. Techniques used to effect tissue destruction include laser therapy, argon plasma, brachytherapy, electrocautery and cryotherapy. Most centres prefer laser therapy, of which the neodymium: yttrium-aluminumgarnet (Nd Yag; Nd: Y3Al5O12) laser is the most commonly used (19,27-29).

Nd-Yag laser energy is delivered via fibres inserted into the working channel of the flexible bronchoscope, using the rigid bronchoscope as a stable airway. The fibres can either be contact or non-contact and are used to devitalise or resect diseased tissue whilst assisting with haemostasis. Nd-Yag laser has a wavelength of 1,064 nm, which is in the invisible photo spectrum. A red light is therefore used to direct application. The bronchoscopist should always apply laser energy parallel to the central airway to avoid unintended trauma to local structures. Energy should be applied in a circumferential motion (Figure 4), using 1-5 seconds laser pulses. A circumferential as opposed to radial approach is preferred to open the airway in malignant and benign disease, to ensure good visualisation of the distal airway whilst improving airflow. The lowest possible power is recommended. Our recommended practice is to use a power of 15-20 watts in the trachea, and lower power distally.

156

Bacon et al. Interventional options for tracheal stenosis



Figure 5 Nd Yag laser therapy. Laser fibre (A) to be inserted through the working channel of the flexible bronchoscope (B), passed through the lumen of the rigid bronchoscope (C). Laser fume extraction device (D), protective curtain (E) and eye wear (F) can be seen.

Table 1 Potential	complications	of endotracheal	stent insertion
(27,31-39).			

Potential complications of endotracheal stent insertion
Mucous plugging
Stent migration
Halitosis
Cough
Obstructing granulation tissue formation
Stent fracture (Figure 6)
Bacterial colonisation/recurrent infection
Fistula formation
Airway malacia (after removal)

Following laser treatment, the airway lumen may still appear narrowed. The effects of the treatment continue for days to weeks after the initial application. The bronchoscopist must, therefore, refrain from being too aggressive with laser therapy. During and after laser treatment, it is important to clear devitalised tissue from the trachea and distal airways. Aspiration is usually sufficient, but manual forceps can also be used. The patient will cough up any remaining or further tissue that sloughs away over the coming days.

Personnel should be trained in the use of laser and a

committee responsible for laser usage, maintenance and safety should be established and meet regularly. All staff within the potential laser field should wear protective eyewear. The operating room should be adapted for laser therapy with protective curtains, barriers and warning signs at all entry points, and a laser fume extraction device used (*Figure 5*). Inspired oxygen concentration should be less than 40 percent and ventilation should be ceased during laser pulses to reduce the risk of airway fire. If a laryngeal mask is used during laser therapy this should be inflated with saline rather than air, to reduce fire risk.

Reported complications of laser treatment include haemorrhage, airway perforation and airway fire. However, published case series report overall complication rates below 1% in approximately 7,000 treatments (27). With safety measures in place, laser therapy is an excellent and reliable way of treating tracheal stenosis.

There is no limitation to the amount of times laser therapy can be performed. Nearly all patients require more than one endotracheal treatment to achieve long-term airway patency. Tissue regrowth can be significantly slowed or halted by serial treatments, with the chance of success increasing after each treatment (30).

Endotracheal stenting

Endotracheal stents are used to provide structural support to the airway and to maintain airway patency. They are, however, foreign bodies in the airway and disrupt mucociliary clearance. The complications of stent placement are listed in *Table 1* and stent fracture is displayed in *Figure 6*.

Metal and silicone stents are available. Metal stents come with or without a silastic or polyurethane covering which is used to minimise tissue growth when intrinsic tracheal disease is present. The covering is purposefully absent at either end of the stent to allow the stent to anchor to the mucosa and reduce stent migration but re-growth or new tissue growth may occur in these areas.

Historically, metal stents expanded in an unpredictable and uneven manner, resulting in local airway ischaemia, granulation tissue formation, airway perforation and stent migration. The titanium stents in current use are lighter, easier to insert and demonstrate more uniform selfexpansion. The application of a more consistent radial force to the airway means perforation, ischaemia and migration are less common and stronger forces can be withstood. There is also a greater availability of stent sizes.

Silicone stents result in a lesser local inflammatory response



Figure 6 Tracheal metal stent fracture. Endotracheal view of a fractured covered metal tracheal stent and inset picture demonstrating an expanded metal airway stent.

than metal stents, reducing granulation tissue formation. Silicone stents are therefore easier to remove but have a high risk of stent migration which limits their use (40,41).

When selecting a tracheal stent, it is desirable to use the greatest diameter stent possible. Selection will depend on patient size and disease extent after optimal airway remodelling. In general, airway stents deployed in tracheal disease are between 40-120 mm in length and 14-24 mm wide.

A stent should not be placed when there is active infection as this will promote granulation tissue formation. Treatment of bacterial colonisation in long-term airway stents appears useful (42). Our centre routinely offers five days prophylactic oral antibiotics post stent placement.

Stent migration, especially in proximal lesions approaching the vocal cords, can acutely threaten the airway. External fixation of silicone stents has been trialled but with limited success and use, mainly due to cumbersome techniques (43,44). With careful prospective surveillance of metal tracheal stents there is usually minimal risk of migration and no requirement for stent fixation.

Concurrent tracheal and bronchial disease can be managed using Y-shaped silicone stents. The use of Y-shaped stents is limited by recurrent stent obstruction and infection. It is believed the stent structure results in excessive airway friction and mucociliary clearance disruption, with granulation tissue overgrowth and mucus impaction (45). Simultaneous stenting of the trachea and bronchi can be performed with metal stents, when necessary. Following stent insertion, surveillance bronchoscopy is indicated in both malignant and benign disease (46). This facilitates early identification and management of complications. Relying on history and examination alone for surveillance is potentially hazardous due to the paucity of symptoms and signs before severe tracheal disease development. Treatment of peri-stent granulation tissue is most commonly addressed by laser therapy (20,31). Timely identification and treatment of airway infection is also crucial. **Indications for stent insertion**

In malignant tracheal disease, stenting (with a covered stent) is used to reduce the occurrence of rapid, lifethreatening disease progression (47). Stenting is also indicated in malignant tracheal fistulae, even if there is no luminal compromise due to tumour bulk. Stents are used to physically obstruct the fistulae, palliating symptoms and protecting the large airway. Stenting for benign tracheal fistulae may be performed in non-operable disease.

Indications for tracheal stent placement in benign disease are less clear than for malignant disease, with varying practices seen worldwide. This is due to the better longterm prognosis of individuals with benign pathology, the difficulty removing airway stents, and the reported complications of their use. Endotracheal stent insertion for benign disease should only be considered after airway remodelling by tracheal dilatation and/or tissue destruction has failed to effectively sustain airway patency.

The US Food and Drug Administration recommended in 2005 that metal stents should not be used for benign disease unless absolutely necessary (48). A major concern raised was turning operable cases into inoperable cases (36). Nevertheless, stenting does have a role as a bridge to surgery, enabling optimisation of a patient's functional and physical state prior to surgical intervention.

Tracheal stents for airway malacia should only be considered when patients are symptomatic and airway collapse is greater than 60%. The dynamic radial forces in malacia lead to higher stent complication rates, including metal fracture (49). A further problem with stenting these patients is recognising where to stent, as often long segments are involved. Extensive airway stenting risks higher occlusion rates due to widespread disruption in mucociliary clearance. When a stent is too short for the involved segment this risks displacing airway collapse to the distal unsupported airway, failing to improve or worsening airway dynamics and symptoms.

Stent removal

Metal stents should be considered permanent as they

Bacon et al. Interventional options for tracheal stenosis

remodel into the airway by granulation tissue growth and epithelialisation (9,32,50). The longer a stent remains *in situ*, the lower the chance of successful removal. Nevertheless, stent removal has been performed successfully in tracheobronchial disease using both rigid bronchoscopy (51-53) and flexible bronchoscopy (54).

Silicone stents are more easily removed than metal stents and so may lend themselves to short-term placement if planned, despite their high migration rates. Research is ongoing to produce a fully degradable tracheal stent which can remain *in situ* (55).

Airway management with a tracheal stent in situ

Great care should be taken to avoid damaging any tracheal stent if intubation is necessary. It is recommended to use a flexible bronchoscope to ensure that the endotracheal tube is sited above or within the stent lumen (56).

Strong consideration should be given to using rigid bronchoscopy to guide placement of percutaneous tracheostomy in complex tracheal disease (including tracheal stenosis or when a tracheal stent is *in situ*). Percutaneous tracheostomy using rigid bronchoscopy has been previously described (57,58) including where the endotracheal tube is removed and replaced by the rigid bronchoscope (59). The benefits to this approach include better visibility of the complex airway and/or stent, guide wire location, reduced risk of cuff rupture during cannulation and ease of haemostatic control.

Long-term tracheostomy

Long-term tracheostomy may become necessary for patients with complex tracheal disease. Commonly a Montgomery T tube is placed through a tracheostomy which serves as both a tracheal stent and tracheostomy tube. Tracheostomy is usually reserved for non-surgical candidates, after endotracheal therapy has become complicated and/or requires too frequent procedures, produces suboptimal clinical response or is anatomically too complex to perform safely. Tracheostomy can also be used as a bridge to tracheal surgery or as an adjunct to surgery. Our practice suggests patients are disinclined to tracheostomy, mainly due to negative cosmetic effects, and consider this a last resort.

Interventional outcomes in tracheal obstruction

Malignant disease

There is no randomised controlled trial evidence regarding

the use of tracheal intervention in malignant disease due to the ethical challenges in patients requiring lifesaving intervention or palliation. The impact of tracheal intervention on survival cannot, therefore, be quoted accurately. Studies have, however, consistently demonstrated that stenting can improve symptoms of breathlessness, quality of life and lung function in malignant disease. Data supports the use of metal covered stents to achieve success rates from 82-97% in these parameters (9,34,40,46,50, 60-64). Importantly, improvements in performance status following stenting can open avenues to other therapies for malignancy, potentially improving outcomes further.

Benign disease

Successful short and long-term outcomes using a combination of controlled dilatation and/or Nd-Yag laser therapy to destroy endotracheal tissue in tracheal stenosis have been published (28,30,65-68). Despite concerns regarding the use of tracheal stents in benign disease, there are a number of supportive case series and reports in the literature (31,32,35,68,69).

Early studies suggested that endotracheal treatment was less effective for circumferential disease and for stenoses greater than 1 cm in length (70). Recent studies have demonstrated that involvement of the cricoid cartilage and stenoses over 3 cm are associated with a reduced chance of success (71). Time from tracheal stenosis development to first intervention is also important. One study in post intubation tracheal stenosis established that 90% of patients who had intervention within six months of extubation had a positive outcome compared to 61% of those with a longer delay before intervention (72).

Galluccio *et al.* proposed the classification of tracheal stenosis into simple and complex, with simple stenoses defined as those less than 1 cm in length with no associated tracheomalacia or loss of cartilaginous support. Using this classification, silicone stent insertion as part of an endoscopic approach achieved airway patency in 96% of simple lesions at two years follow up but only 69% of complex lesions (30). When considering the removal of short-term silicone stents, higher success rates have been seen when sizeable air pockets (longer than 1 cm) between the stent and tracheal wall are visualised at CT (in post tuberculosis tracheobronchial stenosis) (73).

Although our centre strongly advocates the use of rigid bronchoscopy for endotracheal intervention, other centres have described using flexible bronchoscopy to intubate,

Interventional Pulmonology

dilate and stent patients with tracheal stenosis without complication, in limited patient series (74).

Patient selection for airway stenting in tracheobronchomalacia is crucial as there must be limited disease and a strong enough, supported airway distal to the stent to avoid collapse. As discussed the complication rates of stent insertion in tracheomalacia are higher and when there is malacia from loss of cartilaginous support in tracheal stenosis this reduces the chance of a successful outcome (30,70). However, when patients are carefully selected, studies have demonstrated that patients can achieve relief from breathlessness and an improved quality of life (75,76).

Benign tracheal stenosis has been successfully treated with tracheostomy at long-term follow up, including tracheostomy tube placement through tracheal stents remodelled into the airway (36,77).

Summary

Tracheal disease resulting in upper airways obstruction can be life threatening and is an important diagnosis to consider early. A thorough history to identify predisposition to tracheal disease is necessary, with a high clinical index of suspicion directing comprehensive investigation. Prompt treatment of concurrent airway infection is crucial.

Due to the aetiology of tracheal obstruction, the patients are often poor surgical candidates and patients seldom wish to pursue long-term tracheostomy. Fortunately, nonresectable tracheal disease can be successfully treated with interventional rigid bronchoscopy to restore airway patency using debulking and/or dilatation techniques. Tracheal stenting is often performed in malignant disease to protect the airway but should be carefully considered in benign disease as stent removal can be difficult. We advocate the use of covered metal stents when stenting is required for tracheal stenosis, due to their infrequent migration ahead of silicone stents. With regular follow up, including surveillance repeat bronchoscopy, endotracheal intervention can achieve long-term success for patients with tracheal disease.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest

to declare.

References

- Whited RE. A prospective study of laryngotracheal sequelae in long-term intubation. Laryngoscope 1984;94:367-77.
- Andrews MJ, Pearson FG. Incidence and pathogenesis of tracheal injury following cuffed tube tracheostomy with assisted ventilation: analysis of a two-year prospective study. Ann Surg 1971;173:249-63.
- 3. Anand VK, Alemar G, Warren ET. Surgical considerations in tracheal stenosis. Laryngoscope 1992;102:237-43.
- Grillo HC, Cooper JD, Geffin B, et al. A low-pressure cuff for tracheostomy tubes to minimize tracheal injury. A comparative clinical trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1971;62:898-907.
- Pearson FG, Andrews MJ. Detection and management of tracheal stenosis following cuffed tube tracheostomy. Ann Thorac Surg 1971;12:359-74.
- Sarper A, Ayten A, Eser I, et al. Tracheal stenosis aftertracheostomy or intubation: review with special regard to cause and management. Tex Heart Inst J 2005;32:154-8.
- Pearson FG, Fairley HB. Tracheal stenosis complicating tracheostomy with cuffed tubes. Int Anesthesiol Clin 1970;8:889-905.
- Ginsberg RJ, Vokes EE, Ruben A. Non-small cell lung cancer. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, et al. eds. Can-cer principles and practice of oncology, 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997:858-911.
- Gaafar AH, Shaaban AY, Elhadidi MS. The use of metallic expandable tracheal stents in the management of inoperable malignant tracheal obstruction. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2012;269:247-53.
- Rowlands RG, Adam EJ, Madden BP. Tracheal stenosis due to brachiocephalic artery aneurysm successfully treated with stenting. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2001;56:318-9.
- 11. Perotin JM, Jeanfaivre T, Thibout Y, et al. Endoscopic management of idiopathic tracheal stenosis. Ann Thorac Surg 2011;92:297-301.
- Mark EJ, Meng F, Kradin RL, et al. Idiopathic tracheal stenosis: a clinicopathologic study of 63 cases and comparison of the pathology with chondromalacia. Am J Surg Pathol 2008;32:1138-43.
- Geffin B, Grillo HC, Cooper JD, et al. Stenosis following tracheostomy for respiratory care. JAMA 1971;216:1984-8.
- 14. Wilde M, Nair S, Madden B. Pulmonary function tests: a review. Care Crit Ill 2007;23:173-7.

Bacon et al. Interventional options for tracheal stenosis

- 15. Kligerman S, Sharma A. Radiologic evaluation of the trachea. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009;21:246-54.
- 16. Morshed K, Trojanowska A, Szymański M, et al. Evaluation of tracheal stenosis: comparison between computed to-mography virtual tracheobronchoscopy with multiplanar reformatting, flexible tracheofiberoscopy and intra-operative findings. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2011;268:591-7.
- 17. Madden B. Management of large airway problems. Medicine 2008;36:168-71.
- Grillo HC, Donahue DM, Mathisen DJ, et al. Postintubation tracheal stenosis. Treatment and results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1995;109:486-92; discussion 492-3.
- 19. Wahidi MM, Herth FJ, Ernst A. State of the art: interventional pulmonology. Chest 2007;131:261-74.
- Madden BP, Datta S, Charokopos N. Experience with Ultraflex expandable metallic stents in the management of en-dobronchial pathology. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;73:938-44.
- 21. Crerar-Gilbert A, Madden BP. The use of rigid bronchoscopy for bronchial stenting in patients with tracheal stenosis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2007;21:320.
- Jones C, Crerar-Gilbert AJ, Madden BP. Anaesthesia for endobronchial intervention and tracheobronchial stents. Curr Anaesth Crit Care 2009;20:160-3.
- 23. Nimako K, Smith K, Ranu H, et al. Performing biopsies of proximal airway lesions: Flexible versus rigid bronchoscopy. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2010 Thoracic Society International Conference, ATS;Conference: Ameran.
- 24. Bacon JL, Leaver SK, Madden BP. Six year experience with rigid bronchoscopy: complications, indications and changing referral patterns. Thorax 2012;67:Suppl 3 A151-A152.
- Oki M, Saka H. Thin bronchoscope for evaluating stenotic airways during stenting procedures. Respiration 2011;82:509-14.
- Bacon JL, Wilde MP, Walker ME, et al. The Diagnosis of Large Airway Pathology and the Role of Rigid Bronchoscopy. Curr Respir Med Rev 2013;9:11-25.
- Ernst A, Feller-Kopman D, Becker HD, et al. Central airway obstruction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004;169:1278-97.
- Madden BP, Datta S, McAnulty G. Tracheal granulation tissue after percutaneous tracheostomy treated with Nd:Yag laser: three cases. J Laryngol Otol 2001;115:743-4.
- 29. Madden BP, Kumar P, Sayer R, et al. Successful resection of obstructing airway granulation tissue following lung

transplantation using endobronchial laser (Nd:YAG) therapy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 1997;12:480-5.

- Galluccio G, Lucantoni G, Battistoni P, et al. Interventional endoscopy in the management of benign tracheal stenoses: definitive treatment at long-term followup. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2009;35:429-33; discussion 933-4.
- Madden BP, Stamenkovic SA, Mitchell P. Covered expandable tracheal stents in the management of benign tracheal granulation tissue formation. Ann Thorac Surg 2000;70:1191-3.
- 32. Madden BP, Loke TK, Sheth AC. Do expandable metallic airway stents have a role in the management of patients with benign tracheobronchial disease? Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:274-8.
- Hind CR, Donnelly RJ. Expandable metal stents for tracheal obstruction: permanent or temporary? A cautionary tale. Thorax 1992;47:757-8.
- Hosokawa Y, Tsujino I, Syoda T, et al. Examination of expandable metallic stent removed at autopsy. Respirology 2003;8:522-4.
- Thornton RH, Gordon RL, Kerlan RK, et al. Outcomes of tracheobronchial stent placement for benign disease. Radiology 2006;240:273-82.
- Gaissert HA, Grillo HC, Wright CD, et al. Complication of benign tracheobronchial strictures by self-expanding metal stents. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;126:744-7.
- Bolliger CT, Mathur PN, Beamis JF, et al. ERS/ATS statement on interventional pulmonology. European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society. Eur Respir J 2002;19:356-73.
- Noppen M, Piérard D, Meysman M, et al. Bacterial colonization of central airways after stenting. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999;160:672-7.
- Chen W, Ruan Y. Late complications of nickeltitanium alloy stent in tracheal stenosis. Laryngoscope 2012;122:817-20.
- Bolliger CT, Probst R, Tschopp K, et al. Silicone stents in the management of inoperable tracheobronchial stenoses. Indications and limitations. Chest 1993;104:1653-9.
- Wood DE, Liu YH, Vallières E, et al. Airway stenting for malignant and benign tracheobronchial stenosis. Ann Thorac Surg 2003;76:167-72; discussion 173-4.
- 42. Holden EL, Jaafar M, Madden BP. Bacterial colonisation of endobronchial stents: a precursor to granulation tissue formation? A retrospective review from one stenting centre.Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011;183.1:A1561
- 43. Miwa K, Takamori S, Hayashi A, et al. Fixation of

160

Interventional Pulmonology

silicone stents in the subglottic trachea: preventing stent migration using a fixation apparatus. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;78:2188-90.

- 44. Majid A, Fernandez-Bussy S, Kent M, et al. External fixation of proximal tracheal airway stents: a modified technique. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;93:e167-9.
- 45. Yarmus L, Gilbert C, Akulian J, et al. Novel use of the GlideScope for rigid bronchoscopic placement of a Dynamic (Y) Stent. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;94:308-10.
- Madden BP, Park JE, Sheth A. Medium-term follow-up after deployment of ultraflex expandable metallic stents to manage endobronchial pathology. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;78:1898-902.
- Ranu H, Madden BP. Endobronchial stenting in the management of large airway pathology. Postgrad Med J 2009;85:682-7.
- Shultz D. FDA public health notification: complications from metallic tracheal stents in patients with benign airway disorders. Open URL: Services DHH, 2005.
- 49. Filler RM, Forte V, Chait P. Tracheobronchial stenting for the treatment of airway obstruction. J Pediatr Surg 1998;33:304-11.
- Monnier P, Mudry A, Stanzel F, et al. The use of the covered Wallstent for the palliative treatment of inoperable tracheobronchial cancers. A prospective, multicenter study. Chest 1996;110:1161-8.
- Ranu H, Evans J, Sheth A, et al. Removal of long-term tracheal stents with excellent tracheal healing. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;89:598-9.
- 52. Ose N, Inoue M, Minami M, et al. Successful removal of expandable metallic stent in a patient with lung cancer. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2012;20:202-4.
- Noppen M, Stratakos G, D'Haese J, et al. Removal of covered self-expandable metallic airway stents in benign disorders: indications, technique, and outcomes. Chest 2005;127:482-7.
- Fruchter O, Raviv Y, Fox BD, et al. Removal of metallic tracheobronchial stents in lung transplantation with flexible bronchoscopy. J Cardiothorac Surg 2010;5:72.
- 55. Ng AH, Ng NS, Zhu GH, et al. A fully degradable tracheal stent: in vitro and in vivo characterization of material degradation. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2012;100:693-9.
- Davis N, Madden BP, Sheth A, et al. Airway management of patients with tracheobronchial stents. Br J Anaesth 2006;96:132-5.
- 57. Cavaliere S, Venuta F, Foccoli P, et al. Endoscopic treatment of malignant airway obstructions in 2,008

patients. Chest 1996;110:1536-42.

- Grigo AS, Hall ND, Crerar-Gilbert AJ, et al. Rigid bronchoscopy-guided percutaneous tracheostomy. Br J Anaesth 2005;95:417-9.
- Madden BP, Sheth A. An approach to tracheostomy in a patient with an expandable metallic tracheal stent. J Laryngol Otol 2005;119:731-2.
- 60. Saad CP, Murthy S, Krizmanich G, et al. Self-expandable metallic airway stents and flexible bronchoscopy: long-term outcomes analysis. Chest 2003;124:1993-9.
- Dasgupta A, Dolmatch BL, Abi-Saleh WJ, et al. Selfexpandable metallic airway stent insertion employing flexible bronchoscopy: preliminary results. Chest 1998;114:106-9.
- 62. Miyazawa T, Yamakido M, Ikeda S, et al. Implantation of ultraflex nitinol stents in malignant tracheobronchial stenoses. Chest 2000;118:959-65.
- Bolliger CT. Introduction to different approaches to intrabronchial treatment. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 1996;51:316-24.
- 64. Madden BP, Sheth A, Walters N. Does large airway intervention for patients with malignant disease result in early clinical benefit? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;175:A622.
- Dumon JF, Reboud E, Garbe L, et al. Treatment of tracheobronchial lesions by laser photoresection. Chest 1982;81:278-84.
- 66. Shapshay SM, Beamis JF Jr, Hybels RL, et al. Endoscopic treatment of subglottic and tracheal stenosis by radial laser incision and dilation. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1987;96:661-4.
- 67. Cavaliere S, Foccoli P, Toninelli C. Curative bronchoscopic laser therapy for surgically resectable tracheobronchial tumors: personal experience. J Bronchol 2002;9:90-5.
- Jeong BH, Um SW, Suh GY, et al. Results of interventional bronchoscopy in the management of postoperative tracheobronchial stenosis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;144:217-22.
- 69. Brichet A, Tavernier JY, Ramon P, et al. Post intubation tracheal stenosis. Med Hyg 2003;61:647-9.
- Simpson GT, Strong MS, Healy GB, et al. Predictive factors of success or failure in the endoscopic management of laryngeal and tracheal stenosis. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1982;91:384-8.
- Schweinfurth JM. Endoscopic treatment of tracheal stenosis. Oper Tech Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg2012;23:188-91.
- 72. Lim SY, Kim H, Jeon K, et al. Prognostic factors for

Bacon et al. Interventional options for tracheal stenosis

endotracheal silicone stenting in the management of inoperable post-intubation tracheal stenosis. Yonsei Med J 2012;53:565-70.

- 73. Verma A, Park HY, Lim SY, et al. Posttuberculosis tracheobronchial stenosis: use of CT to optimize the time of silicone stent removal. Radiology 2012;263:562-8.
- Li WT, Xiao YB, Liu GN, et al. Management of benign tracheal stenosis by intubation dilatation under flexible bronchoscopic guidance. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi 2011;91:2995-8.

Cite this article as: Bacon JL, Patterson CM, Madden BP. Indications and interventional options for non-resectable tracheal stenosis. J Thorac Dis 2014;6(3):258-270. doi: 10.3978/ j.issn.2072-1439.2013.11.08

- Hramiec JE, Haasler GB. Tracheal wire stent complications in malacia: implications of position and design. Ann Thorac Surg 1997;63:209-12; discussion 213.
- Hautmann H, Huber RM. Stent flexibility: an essential feature in the treatment of dynamic airway collapse. Eur Respir J 1996;9:609-11.
- Matsuoka K, Kuroda A, Kang A, et al. Tracheal stenosis after metal stent insertion treated successfully with a T-tube. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;93:1291-2.

162

Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stents in the management of central airway obstruction

Roy Semaan, Lonny Yarmus

Section of Interventional Pulmonology, Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: L Yarmus; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: L Yarmus; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: R Semaan; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Roy Semaan, MD. Section of Interventional Pulmonology, Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, 1800 Orleans Street, Zayed Tower Suite 7-125L, Baltimore, MD, 21287, USA. Email: rsemaan1@jhmi.edu.

Abstract: The field of interventional pulmonology has grown significantly over the past several decades now including the diagnosis and therapeutic treatment of complex airway disease. Rigid bronchoscopy is an invaluable tool in the diagnosis and management of several malignant and non-malignant causes of central airway obstruction (CAO) and has become integral after the inception of airway stenting. The management of CAO can be a complicated endeavor with significant risks making the understanding of basic rigid bronchoscopy techniques, ablative technologies, anesthetic care and stenting of utmost importance in the care of these complex patients. This review article will focus on the history of rigid bronchoscopy, the technical aspects of performing a rigid bronchoscopy as well as the use of silicone stents their indications, complications and placement techniques.

Keywords: Rigid bronchoscopy; silicone stenting; central airway obstruction (CAO); ablative technologies

Submitted Jul 07, 2015. Accepted for publication Oct 22, 2015. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.17 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.17

Introduction

Rigid bronchoscopy has been an invaluable tool for over a century in the diagnosis and management of innumerable pulmonary diseases. Since its inception by Dr. Gustav Killian in the late 1800's the use and popularity of this technique has waxed and waned. However, with advances in flexible bronchoscopy, ablative technologies and stenting over the past two decades rigid bronchoscopy has again become an integral tool in the management of malignant and non-malignant central airway disease by thoracic surgeons and interventional pulmonologists.

History of rigid bronchoscopy

Dr. Gustav Killian performed the first rigid bronchoscopy in the late 1800's. This innovative procedure provided physicians with a new glimpse into human anatomy and sparked the growth of pulmonary medicine. Using a metal tube, a light, and topical cocaine anesthesia, Killian removed a pork bone from a farmer's airway in 1897 (1). Prior to the invention of rigid bronchoscopy, over half of the patients who aspirated foreign bodies died, mostly of a post obstructive pneumonia. Rigid bronchoscopy with foreign body removal quickly evolved into the treatment of choice in these patients, with a clinical success rate above 98% (2). During the early 1900's, Killian published extensively and lectured throughout the world. He further went on to adapt his bronchoscopes, laryngoscopes and endoscopes, and first described techniques such as using fluoroscopy and X-ray to define endobronchial anatomy. The design and functionality of the rigid bronchoscope was improved further in 1904 when Chevalier Jackson, who is regarded as the father of American bronchoesophagology first equipped
Semaan and Yarmus. Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stenting

his bronchoscope with a suction channel and a small light bulb at the distal tip to provide illumination.

The rigid bronchoscope quickly became an indispensable piece of equipment for otolaryngologists across the world and remained the only medical instrument to access the airways until 1963 when Shigeto Ikeda from the National Cancer Center Hospital in Tokyo, Japan introduced the flexible fiberoptic bronchoscope (3,4). For the next 30 years the use of rigid bronchoscopy declined as flexible bronchoscopy quickly gained worldwide acceptance and almost completely replaced the rigid bronchoscope as the diagnostic instrument of choice for pulmonary disease. In a survey performed in 1989, 8% of responders were performing rigid bronchoscopy (5). In a repeat survey in 1999 this number had declined to only 4% (6).

It was not until the lung cancer epidemic of the late 1900's and the associated increase in central airway obstruction (CAO) that the utility of the rigid bronchoscope reemerged. In addition, recognition of certain advantages that rigid bronchoscopy has over flexible bronchoscopy such as airway control and ventilation during intervention as well as the ability to simultaneously use larger forceps, suction catheters and tumor excision techniques have led to the increase in rigid bronchoscopies being performed today.

Central airway obstruction (CAO)

The majority of rigid bronchoscopies done today are for the diagnosis and management of CAO. CAO is generally split into malignant and non-malignant disease. Malignant disease outnumbers non-malignant disease due to the rising incidence of primary lung cancer as well as countless types of malignancies that can metastasize to the lung (7). Non-malignant causes of CAO are often iatrogenic and secondary to endotracheal intubation or prior tracheostomy as well as inflammatory and connective tissue disorders (8). Although less prevalent, it is important to diagnose and treat these appropriately as patients with non-malignant CAO often have a longer life expectancy and can live with their disease for years to decades, as opposed to their malignant counterparts.

The incidence of CAO is difficult to estimate, but does appear to be on the rise in large proportion due to the increase in primary lung cancer. It is estimated that about 20-30% of patients with primary lung cancer will develop CAO, many of which may benefit from palliative measures to relive dyspnea caused by the obstruction (9). While less prevalent, non-malignant cases also appear to be on the rise. It is unclear whether this is due to increased availability of bronchoscopy leading to increased discovery versus the increase in ICU care, endotracheal intubation and tracheostomy (8).

The causes of malignant and non-malignant CAO are listed in *Table 1*. Primary tracheobronchial tumors are extremely rare consisting of adenoid cystic carcinomas [600-700 cases per year (10)], bronchial carcinoid tumors which are slightly more common with an incidence of 2 cases per 100,000 globally (11) and primary squamous cell and adenocarcinomas of the trachea. Much more common are metastasis of primary lung cancer, breast, renal cell, melanoma and thyroid cancers.

The anatomy of malignant CAO is generally classified into three groups. The first consisting of tumors that are purely intra-luminal and do not erode outside of the tracheal wall or cartilage. The second category of CAO is extrinsic compression from either parenchymal metastasis or mediastinal adenopathy. Finally, the most common category of CAO is a mixed extrinsic/intrinsic stenosis. These forms of stenosis generally originate outside of the airway and erode into the lumen. Differentiating between these three types of CAO is important as therapeutic options can differ for each category (*Figure 1*).

Non-malignant CAO is most frequently caused by iatrogenic injury post endotracheal intubation or tracheostomy placement. However, inflammatory and connective tissue disorders including Wegener's granulomatosis, sarcoidosis, amyloidosis, relapsing polychondritis and tracheobronchopathia osteochondroplastica can also be the etiology of CAO. Another large category of non-malignant CAO is lung transplantation and stenosis at the anastomotic site. As mentioned previously the treatment intent in malignant CAO is almost always palliative in nature. This is certainly not the intent in many cases of non-malignant CAO where the intent should be curative. Rigid bronchoscopy with dilation and stenting should be used as a trial for improvement in symptomatology and as a bridge to curative surgical repair. Long-term stenting of benign stenotic airways may cause extension of the stenotic area due to granulation tissue, which may actually hinder future surgical repair.

As mentioned above the primary goal for rigid bronchoscopy is to relieve dyspnea and improve quality of life (QOL) caused by CAO in malignant as well as nonmalignant disease. There have been a small number of papers published looking at the subjective improvement of dyspnea after bronchoscopy and relief of CAO, the

Table 1 Etiologies of central airway obstruction
Non-malignant
Lymphadenopathy
Sarcoidosis
Infectious (i.e., tuberculosis, histoplasmosis)
Cartilage
Relapsing polychondritis
Granulation tissue from
Endotracheal tubes
Tracheostomy tubes
Airway stents
Foreign bodies
Surgical anastomosis
Wegener's granulomatosis
Pseudotumor
Hamartomas
Amyloid
Papillomatosis
Hyperdynamic
Tracheomalacia
Bronchomalacia
Webs
Idiopathic
Tuberculosis
Sarcoidosis
Other
Foreign body goiter
Mucus plug
Blood clot
Malignant
Primary airway carcinoma
Bronchogenic
Carcinoid adenoid cystic
Mucoepidermoid
Metastatic carcinoma to the airway
Bronchogenic
Renal cell
Breast
Thyroid
Colon
Sarcoma
Melanoma
Laryngeal carcinoma
Esophageal carcinoma
Mediastinal tumors
Thymus
Thyroid
Germ cell
Lymphadenopathy
Associated with any of the above malignancies
Lymphoma

largest being a multicenter registry study of 947 patients at 23 centers undergoing therapeutic bronchoscopy for CAO (12). Technical success was achieved on average in 93% of cases which was defined as opening of >50% of the airway. Dyspnea and QOL were measured using the Borg score and SF-6D in a portion of the study patients (187 and 183 respectively) with dyspnea subjectively improved in 48% of cases and QOL improved in 42%. Greater dyspnea at baseline as well as endobronchial obstruction was associated with greater improvement in dyspnea and QOL. American Society of Anesthesia (ASA) scores >3, renal failure, lobar obstruction, and tracheoesophageal fistulas were associated with less improvement.

The above trial like many of the other papers published on this topic, generally use a validated dyspnea or QOL score as the primary outcome. A recent prospective case series examined 53 patients undergoing therapeutic rigid bronchoscopy over a 3-year period and measured QOL and dyspnea scores as well as changes in pulmonary function testing (13). The population examined was predominantly malignant (45%) and post-transplant stenosis (43%) related CAO. Patients were found to have a subjective improvement of dyspnea and QOL measured by the University of San Diego Shortness of Breath Questionnaire and the SF-36 respectively, both validated tools to assess dyspnea and QOL in lung disease patients. Besides subjective improvements this study also showed a statistically significant improvement in FEV_1 as well as FVC. There has yet to be any data showing improvement in survival after relief of malignant CAO.

Rigid bronchoscopy

Equipment

The rigid bronchoscope is a simple piece of equipment that has not significantly changed since its invention. Rigid bronchoscopes generally come in two forms; rigid tracheal scopes and rigid bronchoscopes. Both are hollow metal tubes with beveled distal edges available in several different diameters. The rigid bronchoscope is longer allowing access into the right and left bronchial trees as well as having distal fenestrations to allow ventilation of the contralateral bronchial tree. All scopes come with a built-in or attachable port for jet or conventional ventilation. The light source can either be attached to the barrel, or more commonly directly to the camera. Scopes come in various sizes and length depending on the manufacturer, but all have an inner

165



Figure 1 Three categories of central airway obstruction (CAO). (A) Intrinsic CAO: patient with mucoepidermoid carcinoma; (B) extrinsic CAO: patient with metastatic osteosarcoma with compression of RMSB; (C) combined intrinsic and extrinsic CAO. Patient with compression of the bronchus intermedius by a right sided primary lung malignancy as well as endobronchial tumor. RMSB, right main stem bronchus.

and outer diameter varying from 7-13 mm and 8-14 mm respectively.

Although there have not been significant advances in the rigid bronchoscope itself, countless types of instruments have been developed to use through the working channel. The first and most commonly used being the flexible bronchoscope. Once the airway has been secured with the rigid scope a flexible scope is often passed through the working channel and into segmental airways to lavage, suction secretions or blood as well as cannulate past smaller obstructions prior to coring, excising or stenting. A multitude of other instruments are now also available to pass down the working channel of rigid scopes including rigid and flexible suction catheters, different types and sizes of forceps, scissors, rigid and balloon dilators, multiple types of lasers, electrocautery, argon plasma coagulation and cryotherapy catheters, snares, loops, baskets, microdebriders, and stent deployment devices (14). Finally, a manual or automated jet ventilator is needed for oxygenation and ventilation during cases. If preferred or necessary the patient can also be ventilated by packing the mouth, placing silicone caps on the end of the rigid bronchoscope and using conventional positive pressure ventilation through a ventilator circuit adaptor placed on the proximal end of the rigid scope.

Rigid intubation and anesthetic considerations

Prior to rigid intubation the operator must discuss induction with the anesthesiologist, including medication choice and paralysis as well as a backup plan in case difficulty is encountered with rigid intubation. They must also ensure all equipment is ready and functional as well as properly position the patient to optimize first attempt success. Rigid bronchoscopy requires careful planning, cooperation and communication between the operator and the anesthesiologist to ensure patient safety.

Choice of induction agent is generally left to the anesthetist, depending on the patient's medical history and clinical stability. Rigid intubation, similar to endotracheal intubation is extremely stimulating and generally deep sedation is required to blunt the gag reflex. Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) is almost exclusively used for rigid bronchoscopy, as a fully closed system required for inhaled anesthetics is rare. Generally a combination of a hypnotic administered simultaneously with a narcotic is used with the most common drugs being propofol (40-200 µg/kg/min) and remifentanil (0.05-0.5 µg/kg/min) (15). Similar to endotracheal intubation paralysis is not required during rigid intubation but can be helpful especially in patients with anterior or difficult airways. If paralysis is going to be administered the choice of agent should be discussed with the operator. When a short case is expected a shorter acting agent such as succinylcholine should be considered as a onetime dose or as an infusion. Otherwise, longer acting agents such as cisatracurium, vecuronium or rocuronium can be administered (15).

Once a plan for induction has been established and all equipment is ready the patient should be positioned with a shoulder roll or the head of the bed dropped to allow maximal extension of the neck without allowing the head to float. A tooth guard should be placed to protect the

upper teeth, however, if proper technique is used minimal to no pressure should be placed on the patient's teeth. The operator should then scissor the patient's mouth open in standard technique and carefully insert the rigid scope initially visualizing the tongue and hard palate. The operator's thumb should be used to support the bottom of the rigid scope just outside of the oral cavity with the index and possibly the middle finger placed in the patient's mouth resting on the hard palate. The scope is carefully inserted into the mouth with the bevel up or towards the tongue. The scope should then be carefully advanced further into the oral cavity until the uvula is visualized. Once the uvula is visualized the dominant hand holding the rigid scope and camera should be lowered using the thumb as a fulcrum and advanced further until the epiglottis is seen. The bevel of the rigid scope should then be used in a similar fashion as a Miller laryngoscope to lift the epiglottis anteriorly exposing the arytenoids, vocal cords and the glottis. If the patient's glottis is anterior the thumb should be used to apply anterior and upward force on the rigid scope to expose the glottis. Care should be taken not to use the patient's teeth as a fulcrum as this can cause significant damage. Once a good view of the glottis is achieved the scope is then rotated 90 degrees to allow the bevel to pass a traumatically through the vocal cords. The scope is then rotated another 90 degrees with the bevel rested on the posterior membrane of the trachea (16).

Once intubation is complete the jet ventilator is attached or the mouth is packed and ventilation is initiated and ensured by watching for chest rise prior to the initiation of any diagnostic or therapeutic interventions. The patient is monitored using continuous pulse oximetry, EKG tracing and blood pressure monitoring. Placement of an arterial line for blood pressure and blood gas analysis is generally not required unless the patient is unstable or a longer case is expected.

Ventilation techniques

Once rigid intubation is complete and the patient's airway has been secured the operator must turn their attention to ensuring adequate oxygenation and ventilation. These are achieved with either jet ventilation or less commonly through conventional positive pressure ventilation. Sanders originally described open system manual jet ventilation in 1967, a technique still currently in use (17). The jet ventilator is connected to a 100% oxygen source and has a pressure-limiting device peaking at 50 PSI or less. The jet is connected through a catheter to the ventilation port of the rigid scope being used. Breaths are delivered to the patient at a rate of 12-18 per minute with the breath length and expiratory time being controlled by the anesthesiologist who is monitoring chest rise and vital signs to ensure adequate ventilation. The tidal volume of delivered air is dependent on the length of the breath given, the inspiratory pressure (PSI), the compliance of the patient's respiratory system and the resistance of the patient's airways (18). The advantage of jet ventilation is the ability to keep the working channel of the rigid bronchoscope completely open allowing easy passage of instruments. Disadvantages include the ability to only use 100% oxygen (unless an ambient air blender is available) as well as difficulty in oxygenating and ventilating sicker patients with severe parenchymal or obstructive lung disease.

A second type of jet ventilation commercially available is the automated jet ventilator. This is a computerized ventilator where the operator or anesthesiologist is able to set the applied pressure, respiratory rate, FiO_2 and inspiratory time. The advantages of an automated system is the ability to free the anesthesiologist from holding the manual jet throughout the case as well as the ability to vary the FiO_2 to enable the use of thermal ablative techniques without completely holding ventilation.

Closed system ventilation is achieved by attaching a ventilator circuit adaptor onto the distal end of the bronchoscope and using the rigid scope as an endotracheal tube. All of the proximal ports of the scope must be covered with silicone caps and the patient's mouth must be packed with gauze to ensure minimal air leak. The advantage of this system is the ability to give positive pressure breaths through an automated ventilator circuit as well as positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP). This may allow improved ventilation and oxygenation in sicker patients with less respiratory reserve. A closed system also allows the use of inhaled anesthetics without significant exposure to those in the operating room. The disadvantages are the laborintensive nature of packing the mouth as well as covering the proximal ports of the rigid scope with silicone caps, which can make the passage of multiple instruments difficult.

Tumor excision, coring and airway dilation techniques

After the patient has been successfully intubated with the rigid scope and ventilation has been initiated attention can be turned to relieving the CAO. Several different

Semaan and Yarmus. Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stenting

techniques can be utilized at this time and depends on the category of CAO encountered; extrinsic, intrinsic or mixed. For pure extrinsic compression without any mucosal or endobronchial involvement, therapeutic intervention relies on CRE balloon and rigid dilation followed by silicone or covered metal stent placement to maintain a patent airway.

In the setting of intrinsic or mixed obstructions, the initial goal is to establish patency of the airway. It is of critical importance that the operator maintains good visualization of the airway as well as appropriate spatial orientation to avoid perforation of the airway and invasion into the surrounding mediastinal structures. Once the operator has established good visualization, appropriate spatial orientation and a parallel axis to the central airway a decision can be made on how to remove the obstructing lesion. The first option is coring with the rigid scope, this allows one rotary forward motion to remove the lesion from the wall and simultaneously allows the scope to provide hemostasis at the site. Ensuring spatial and parallel axial orientation is of utmost importance during this method as one can easily core through an airway into the mediastinum (16). The next option includes mechanical excision with optical cup forceps, free forceps, loop cautery, microdebrider or a cryoprobe.

Microdebriders are powered instruments that consist of a hollow shaft with a rapidly rotating blade and suction. This device has been used for many years by the otolaryngology community for sinus and tracheal surgery (19). More recently, the procedure has been used as an alternative to or in conjunction with other modalities such as laser excision or electrocautery. Airway debulking with the microdebrider is accomplished by shaving and suctioning tissue under direct telescopic guidance through the rigid bronchoscope.

In a study by Lunn and colleagues, 16 subjects were treated with the microdebrider for the management of CAO. The majority of patients (87%) suffered from benign airway disease and remaining three patients (13%) had malignant airway obstruction. Using the microdebrider, the obstructing airway lesions were rapidly removed in all patients. There was only mild bleeding that occurred and was easily controlled by utilizing the rigid bronchoscope to tamponade the affected area or instillation of oxymetazoline hydrochloride. In this study, there were no procedurerelated or long-term complications of the microdebrider reported (20). A case report by Kennedy and colleagues reports the safe use of the microdebrider for more distal lesions due to the devices long length. The microdebrider was successfully used for relief of a distal left mainstem obstruction in a 59-year-old male with T3N2M1 non-small cell lung cancer followed by stent placement (21).

The oscillatory speed of the device and level of suctioning have varying adjustment levels and there have been reports in the literature of inadvertent resection of normal tissue with aggressive suctioning. There is one case report in the literature of pneumomediastinum and retroperitoneal air after the removal of tracheal papillomas with the microdebrider and jet ventilation. The author's hypothesize those micro-perforations occurred within the tracheal wall in conjunction with jet ventilation and allowed air entry into the mediastinum and retroperitoneum. In this case, spontaneous resolution ensued without the need for surgical or medical intervention (22).

The microdebrider requires a rigid bronchoscope or laryngoscope and due to its rigid structure is not amenable to the flexible bronchoscopic technique. The advantages of the microdebrider for management of CAO include the ability to rapidly destroy and excise tissue with minimal bleeding, the ability to maintain a clear working field due to the automatic suctioning of the debrided tissue and no risk of airway fire or perforation. Although the technology appears promising and a useful modality in the management of CAO, further studies are required to assess the longterm outcomes of the microdebrider compared with more conventional therapy (14).

Cryotherapy is another safe and effective tool for debridement, hemostasis and removal of clot in rigid bronchoscopy. The device releases nitrous oxide or carbon dioxide stored under pressure into the tip of the cryoprobe which rapidly cools to -89 °C. The effectiveness of cryotherapy depends on the rapidity of the freezing and thawing process, the lowest temperature achieved the number of freeze-thaw cycles, and the water content of the tissue (23). Compared to other techniques for tumor destruction, the effects of cryotherapy are delayed, and frequently a repeat bronchoscopy to remove the necrotic tissue is required (24).

Cryotherapy has been used to successfully treat both benign and malignant CAO. It is effective in reducing or eliminating hemoptysis due to malignant disease in up to 93% of patients (25), and Maiwand and Homasson recommend cryotherapy as a first-line treatment in patients with post-transplant anastomotic strictures (26). As cartilage and fibrous tissue are relatively cryo-resistant, cryotherapy remains a very safe procedure. Bleeding is also uncommon because of the hemostatic effects of cryotherapy. Because of the lack of electrical current needed, cryotherapy is not associated with the risk of airway fires, electrical accidents, or radiation exposure. Cryotherapy can be used via both the rigid and flexible bronchoscopes. When using the flexible bronchoscope, care must be taken to have the probe protrude outside the distal tip of the scope, so as not to freeze the video chip.

After relief of the CAO due to an intrinsic or mixed lesion the operator must decide whether to leave the airway as is or if a stent is needed to maintain patency and stabilization. The risk of stent migration, granulation tissue formation and mucostasis must be weighed with the benefit of continued patency provided by the stent. This will be discussed extensively in the following section.

Silicone stenting

Introduction

Dr. William Montgomery is credited with initiating the widespread use of airway stents after his development of a silicone T-tube in 1965, but it wasn't until 1990 that Dumon introduced that first completely endoluminal airway stent. The endobronchial stent remains the only tool available to alleviate extrinsic airway compression, but can be used in conjunction with other therapies to relieve CAO in those with intrinsic or mixed disease.

There are two main types of endobronchial stents available for use in the United States; silicone and metal. Silicone stents have been in use since the 1960's and have a long track record of safety. Metal stents continue to evolve from the original uncovered metal stents to a number of newly designed covered metal stents made of nitinol. Unfortunately, the "ideal stent" has not yet been developed. This stent would be easy to insert and remove, yet not migrate; of sufficient strength to support the airway, yet be flexible enough to mimic normal airway physiology and promote secretion clearance; biologically inert to minimize the formation of granulation tissue; and available in a variety of sizes.

Types of silicone stents

Most of the commercially available silicone stents are based on the original Dumon stent, which is a silicone tube with external studs to decrease migration. The Dumon silicone stent comes in two main types' straight and Y. Both types of these stents come in various lengths, diameters and shapes. The shape can be a uniform diameter throughout the length of the stent or have an hourglass shape with a narrow central portion allowing optimal positioning around a stenotic airway. Silicone stents can also have one end with a smaller diameter for optimal positioning. Y stents come with multiple various tracheal and bronchial limb diameters. These stents generally come in a uniform length, which can be adjusted at that time of insertion by shortening each of the three limbs to the desired length using a scalpel during the procedure. Other modifications can also be made at the time of insertion including the cutting of holes to allow ventilation of lobar bronchi covered by the stent during placement. Silicone stents can be made of transparent nonradio opaque material, or melted with barium sulfate, which are white in color, non-transparent but radio-opaque (27).

Another type of silicone stent commercially available currently is the Polyflex silicone stent (Boston Scientific, Natick, MA, USA). This stent is made of polyethylene threads embedded in a layer of silicone. These stents have a thin wall resulting in a better inner to outer diameter ratio compared to a Dumon stent. However, as they are not studded on the outside may have a higher rate of migration. They are embedded with tungsten making them radioopaque and are deployed out of a semi-rigid tube inserted down a rigid bronchoscope. There are a small number of other companies commercially producing other types of silicone stents such as those manufactured by Hood (Hood Laboratories, Pembroke, MA, USA) with similar properties as the Dumon stent.

Dynamic Y tracheobronchial airway stents are also commercially available. These were initially described by Freitag *et al.* in 1994 (28) and are composed of anteriorly placed U shaped metal rings in the tracheal limb, with a silicone posterior membrane that can be dynamically compressed during cough to physiologically mimic the human trachea and allow for better mucus clearance. Finally, there are also numerous types of T-tubes and T-tube Y stent combinations manufactured currently for different types of tracheal and carinal pathology. This review will primarily focus on endobronchial silicone stents (27).

Indications

There are several indications for the use of silicone stents in the management of CAO. In general silicone stenting is indicated for maintaining central airway patency due to malignant and non-malignant disease causing greater than 50% stenosis of the trachea or bronchi. The first major indication includes stabilization of airways from malignant

Semaan and Yarmus. Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stenting

CAO. This can be either due to extrinsic compression, endobronchial tumor or a combination as described above. Stents may be the only resource available to maintain airway patency in extrinsic compression, as simple dilation is extremely transient if successful at all. In terms of endobronchial disease and mixed obstruction, stents are generally placed after excision and destruction of tumor has occurred to maintain patency and attempt to avoid recurrent obstruction by tumor re-growth or until systemic chemotherapy or radiation treatment has time to take effect. Post obstructive pneumonia caused by malignant airway obstruction is another appropriate indication, which may be necessary to maintain patency and provide adequate source control of the infected lobe or segment (29).

The second major indication is treatment of benign CAO caused by intubation trauma, tracheostomy, connective tissue disease, cartilaginous disorders or benign adenopathy. Silicone stents play an even larger role in benign disease, as they are preferred over metal stents due to complications with granulation of metal stents into the airway, difficulty with removal and fistula formation. Another benign indication for silicone stenting is stabilization of collapsing airways secondary to tracheobronchial malacia or cartilaginous disorders such as relapsing polychondritis. Finally, the last category of disease necessitating silicone stenting is to cover airway-esophageal or airwaymediastinal fistulas caused by malignant disease, iatrogenic complications of esophageal stenting, radiation therapy, or dehiscence of transplanted airways (29).

Deployment

Once a lesion has been dilated, excised or destroyed and the decision has been made to place a silicone stent several steps must be taken to ensure the appropriate stent is placed in a safe, accurate and timely manner. Deployment is still based on the original technique describe by Jean Francois Dumon in a 1990 paper published in Chest of 118 stents placed in 66 patients in Marseille, France (30).

The initial step prior to deployment is choosing the appropriate size and length of the stent to be placed. This is extremely important as proper sizing decreases the chance of migration (under-sizing) and the formation of granulation tissue, airway fistulization or difficulty in deployment (oversizing). The length and diameter of a stent can be estimated using a chest CT prior to the procedure, but measurements during bronchoscopy are the only accurate way of sizing a stent. The diameter can usually be determined by choosing a size similar to the largest external diameter of the rigid bronchoscope used to maximally dilate the lesion in question. There are also commercially available stent sizers that can be placed down a rigid scope and used to measure the diameter of the stenotic airway. Once an appropriate size has been determined the length of the lesion should be measured using the rigid camera or flexible bronchoscope with the stent extending about 5-10 mm proximal and distal to the lesion. In sizing stents for fistulas, one should slightly oversize the stent as there is no endobronchial lesion to anchor the stent to, making migration more likely (27).

Once the appropriate stent has been selected it is loaded into a hollow metal stent deployment tube either manually or with a commercially available loading device. The rigid bronchoscope should then be placed slightly distal or within the stenosis. A prosthesis pusher is then placed through the hollow stent deployment tube and these are both placed down the rigid bronchoscope as ventilation is held. If the scope is positioned distal to the lesion, the rigid scope can be slightly withdrawn simultaneously as the stent is deployed to allow the stent to deploy within the stenosis. The deployment device is then removed and the camera alongside forceps should be placed back into the rigid scope. The stent may fully deploy, but generally requires being pulled back into optimal position, or slightly rotated to fully open. If manual rotation or adjustment does not fully open the stent the barrel of the rigid scope can be used to open the stent carefully without pushing it distally or a CRE balloon may be used to help expand the stent (30). If that is still unsuccessful, the stent is likely too large for the lesion and needs to be removed with a smaller diameter stent re-deployed.

Deployment of a Y silicone stent is slightly more difficult and can be accomplished through two general strategies. In both techniques the stent is loaded into the stent deployment device after lubrication with care taken to note the directionality in which the stent is folded in order to deploy the left and right limbs in the proper orientation. In the first technique the rigid bronchoscope is positioned above the carina based on the length of the tracheal limb. The stent is pushed out into the trachea in a similar fashion as described above and then using a camera, forceps and the rigid scope the stent is advanced and turned to position the left and right limbs appropriately in their respective mainstem bronchi flush with the carina.

In the second technique the stent is loaded in the same manner but deployed in the mainstem that will house the longer limb of the Y stent or alternatively the mainstem with the more stenotic airway. In this technique a rigid bronchoscope must be used and intubation of the right or left mainstem must be possible. Once the mainstem has been intubated the stent deployment device is inserted into the bronchoscope and the stent is pushed out of the device. As the stent is being deployed the rigid scope is slowly withdrawn back into the trachea until the stent is fully out of the deployer. The rigid telescopes as well as forceps are then used to pull the stent back gently from the mainstem it was deployed in, allowing the shorter limb to fall into place in the contralateral bronchus. Again rotation of the stent may be necessary to allow snug seating on the carina.

Deployment of a dynamic Y stent described in the previous section must be done in an altogether different manner than the two techniques described above. After inspection of the airway with a rigid or flexible bronchoscope and measurements made to determine the size of the dynamic Y stent to be placed the scope is removed and the patient ventilated with a bag valve mask or laryngeal mask airway until the stent is ready to be deployed. The dynamic Y airway stent is loaded onto a specific deployment device, which is a modification of rigid foreign body retrieval forceps, with longer jaws onto which the right and left mainstem limbs are inserted over. The operator then using direct laryngoscopy with either a Macintosh or Miller blade inserts the stent at a 90 degree angle carefully through the vocal cords on top of the deployment forceps using their right hand. Once the stent is fully inside the trachea, the stent is rotated 90 degrees clockwise and advanced until slight resistance is met. At this point the jaws of the forceps are opened and the stent is pushed further forward onto the carina (using a device connected to the deployment apparatus) until further resistance is met. At this point the jaws are closed and the deployment forceps withdrawn from the glottis. The patient is then rigidly intubated and the rigid camera and forceps are used to adjust the stent if necessary by further pushing it forward or rotating it to optimally seat it on the carina. The patient does need to tolerate a certain amount of apnea during deployment of a dynamic Y stent and the operator must be confident in their ability to obtain a good glottic view and rapidly re-intubate the patient with the rigid bronchoscope in the case of poor deployment and obstruction of the trachea by the stent. To aid in intubation or for training purposes, placement of dynamic Y stents with a video laryngoscope can be done to allow both the trainee and instructor to have a view of the glottis (31).

Complications

There are a wide range of complications related to rigid bronchoscopy and placement of silicone tracheal and bronchial stents ranging from as minor as mucostasis to death from hypoxic arrest during placement or migration of the stent. Complications from rigid bronchoscopy and stenting are in general very low, however when consenting a patient prior to a procedure a multitude of risks should generally be discussed including trauma to the oral cavity (lips, gums, teeth, tongue, pharynx), the vocal cords, the trachea and bronchi themselves, bleeding, infection, tracheal or bronchial rupture, hypoxia, respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation, tracheostomy, cardiac arrest and even death. If stenting is to be performed then the risks of stent placement are generally listed including mucus plugging, migration, formation of granulation tissue, bacterial overgrowth, halitosis and repeat procedures to inspect the stent, adjust if migrated and remove granulation tissue. Depending on the clinical stability of the patient different levels of emphasis can be placed on more serious complications such as respiratory failure and death. The overall risk and benefit of the procedure can then be discussed with the patient and family and an informed decision can be made to proceed, even in high-risk situations.

Most studies examining complications following bronchoscopic treatment of CAO have been retrospective in nature; however, a recent multicenter registry trial published by Ost et al. examines 1,115 procedures performed on 947 patients at 15 centers from 2009 to 2013 (32). These included flexible (34%) and rigid (66%) therapeutic bronchoscopy under both general anesthesia (86%) and moderate sedation (14%) with multiple interventions reported including dilation (40%), ablative technologies: cryotherapy (8%), APC (35%), laser (23%) or electrocautery (21%) and stenting (36%). Only 44 patients (3.9%) were reported to have complications, which were defined as: bleeding requiring intervention, pneumothorax, hypoxemia, clinically significant airway injury, hypotension, arrhythmia, cardiac arrest, respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation and death. Of those reported complications 61% of those patients required a higher level of care. There were six deaths reported within 24 hours, four of which were secondary to a complication of the procedure and two unrelated. Two more deaths >24 hours after the procedure, but thought to be secondary to a complication of the procedure, were also reported. This gives a total mortality rate of 0.5% due to

Semaan and Yarmus. Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stenting

complications from therapeutic bronchoscopy.

Risk factors for complications included emergent procedures, ASA >3, re-do therapeutic bronchoscopy and the use of moderate sedation. Of note the use of neuromuscular blockade was associated with decreased rate of complications. This is likely due to the ability to oxygenate/ventilate better during the procedure as well as improved visualization due to lack of cough and patient movement. The study also examined risk factors for death at 30 days (14.8%) which were found to be associated with ASA >3, intrinsic or mixed obstructions or placement of a stent. The association with stenting and higher 30-day mortality is not likely due to the stent itself or stent complications, but rather to confounding factors including the fact that patients requiring stents likely have a higher level of disease burden are generally sicker and may not have other systemic treatment options remaining. Overall, the mortality/morbidity from therapeutic bronchoscopy is low when used in the appropriate setting.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge Drs. David Feller-Kopman and Hans Lee for their assistance with writing and review of the manuscript.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Kollorath O. Entfernung eines Knochenstücks aus dem rechten Bronchus auf natürlichem Wege und unter Anwendung der directen Laryngoscopie. Münch Med Wochenschr 1897;38:1038-9.
- Becker HD, Marsh BR. History of the rigid bronchoscope. In: Bolliger CT, Mathur PN, editors. Interventional bronchoscopy, Progress in respiratory research. Karger: Basel, 2000;30:2-15.
- Alberti PW. The history of laryngology: a centennial celebration. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1996;114:345-54.
- Ikeda S, Yanai N, Ishikawa S. Flexible bronchofiberscope. Keio J Med 1968;17:1-16.
- Prakash UB, Offord KP, Stubbs SE. Bronchoscopy in North America: the ACCP survey. Chest 1991;100:1668-75.

- Colt HG, Prakash UB, Offord KP. Bronchoscopy in North America: survey by the American Association for Bronchology, 1999. J Bronchol 2000;7:8-25.
- Lortet-Tieulent J, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, et al. International trends in lung cancer incidence by histological subtype: adenocarcinoma stabilizing in men but still increasing in women. Lung Cancer 2014;84:13-22.
- 8. Grillo HC. The history of tracheal surgery. Chest Surg Clin N Am 2003;13:175-89.
- Ginsberg RJ, Vokes EE, Ruben A. Non-small cell lung cancer. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, ediors. Cancer: Principles and Practice of Oncology. 5th ed. Philidelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997:858-911.
- Gaissert HA, Grillo HC, Shadmehr MB, et al. Uncommon primary tracheal tumors. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:268-72; discussion 272-3.
- 11. Hemminki K, Li X. Incidence trends and risk factors of carcinoid tumors: a nationwide epidemiologic study from Sweden. Cancer 2001;92:2204-10.
- Ost DE, Ernst A, Grosu HB, et al. Therapeutic bronchoscopy for malignant central airway obstruction: success rates and impact on dyspnea and quality of life. Chest 2015;147:1282-98.
- Mahmood K, Wahidi MM, Thomas S, et al. Therapeutic bronchoscopy improves spirometry, quality of life, and survival in central airway obstruction. Respiration 2015;89:404-13.
- Yarmus L, Ernst A, Feller-Kopman D. Emerging technologies for the thorax: indications, management and complications. Respirology 2010;15:208-19.
- José RJ, Shaefi S, Navani N. Anesthesia for bronchoscopy. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2014;27:453-7.
- Gordon J. Rigid Bronchoscopy. In: Ernst A, Herth FJ, editors. Principles and Practice of Interventional Pulmonology. New York: Springer, 2013:285-96.
- 17. Sanders RD. Two ventilating attachments for bronchoscopes. Del Med J 1967;39:170-5.
- Pathak V, Welsby I, Mahmood K, et al. Ventilation and anesthetic approaches for rigid bronchoscopy. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2014;11:628-34.
- Kühnel T, Hosemann W, Rothammer R. Evaluation of powered instrumentation in out-patient revisional sinus surgery. Rhinology 2001;39:215-9.
- Lunn W, Garland R, Ashiku S, et al. Microdebrider bronchoscopy: a new tool for the interventional bronchoscopist. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;80:1485-8.
- 21. Kennedy MP, Morice RC, Jimenez CA, et al. Treatment of bronchial airway obstruction using a rotating tip

microdebrider: a case report. J Cardiothorac Surg 2007;2:16.

- 22. Sims HS, Lertsburapa K. Pneumomediastinum and retroperitoneal air after removal of papillomas with the microdebrider and jet ventilation. J Natl Med Assoc 2007;99:1068-70.
- 23. Asimakopoulos G, Beeson J, Evans J, et al. Cryosurgery for malignant endobronchial tumors: analysis of outcome. Chest 2005;127:2007-14.
- Mathur PN, Wolf KM, Busk MF, et al. Fiberoptic bronchoscopic cryotherapy in the management of tracheobronchial obstruction. Chest 1996;110:718-23.
- 25. Marasso A, Gallo E, Massaglia GM, et al. Cryosurgery in bronchoscopic treatment of tracheobronchial stenosis. Indications, limits, personal experience. Chest 1993;103:472-4.
- Maiwand MO, Zehr KJ, Dyke CM, et al. The role of cryotherapy for airway complications after lung and heart-lung transplantation. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg

Cite this article as: Semaan R, Yarmus L. Rigid bronchoscopy and silicone stents in the management of central airway obstruction. J Thorac Dis 2015;7(S4):S352-S362. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.17

1997;12:549-54.

- 27. Dutau H. Endobronchial SIlicone Stents for Airway Management. In: Ernst A, Herth FJ, editors. Principles and Practice of Interventional Pulmonology. New York: Springer, 2013:311-21.
- 28. Freitag L, Eicker R, Linz B, et al. Theoretical and experimental basis for the development of a dynamic airway stent. Eur Respir J 1994;7:2038-45.
- 29. Chin CS, Litle V, Yun J, et al. Airway stents. Ann Thorac Surg 2008;85:S792-6.
- Dumon JF. A dedicated tracheobronchial stent. Chest 1990;97:328-32.
- Yarmus L, Gilbert C, Akulian J, et al. Novel use of the GlideScope for rigid bronchoscopic placement of a Dynamic (Y) Stent. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;94:308-10.
- 32. Ost DE, Ernst A, Grosu HB, et al. Complications Following Therapeutic Bronchoscopy for Malignant Central Airway Obstruction: Results of the AQuIRE Registry. Chest 2015;148:450-71.

Stents for airway strictures: selection and results

Adil Ayub, Adnan M. Al-Ayoubi, Faiz Y. Bhora

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Icahn School of Medicine, Mount Sinai Health System, New York, NY, USA

Contributions: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: All authors; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Faiz Y. Bhora, MD, FACS. Department of Thoracic Surgery, Mount Sinai West, 1000 Tenth Avenue, New York, NY 10019, USA. Email: fybhora@chpnet.org.

Abstract: Airway stents can provide effective and timely relief in patients with central airway obstruction. Silicone-based stents are the most commonly used airway stents worldwide with a long track record of safety. Metallic stents continue to evolve from the earliest uncovered versions to a variety of newly designed covered stents. Despite the availability of a variety of stent materials and designs, minimal advances have been made towards innovation in stent technology and an ideal stent has unfortunately not yet been developed. Nevertheless, the first generation of biodegradable airway stents are available, work on drug-eluted stents is in the pipeline and three-dimensional printing of a customized airway stent may be the future. In this review, we discuss selection and results for most commonly utilized airway stents.

Keywords: Airway strictures; central airway obstruction; malignant strictures; benign airway stenosis; airway stenting; silicone stents; expandable metal stents

Submitted Aug 11, 2016. Accepted for publication Nov 10, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.01.56 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.01.56

Introduction

Airway stents have been used for management of tracheobronchial pathologies since the second half of 20th century. A silicone-based T-Tube developed by Montgomery in the 1960's is one of the earliest airway stents (1). Dumon followed with the introduction of a 'stand alone' stent (2). Several variations of these polymerbased stents evolved and remained widely utilized until self-expandable metal stents (SEMSs) were introduced in the late 20th century. All currently available airway stents have certain limitations, and stent selection should be catered for specific disease processes. Airway stents remain an important therapeutic option to restore airway patency in selected patients especially in conjunction with other endoscopic modalities. Proper stent selection is crucial and requires consideration of multiple factors including properties, indication, and duration of stent placement. In this review, we discuss selection and results for the most commonly used airway stents.

Indications for airway stents

Major potential indications for airway stenting include:

- Palliation of extrinsic compression and endoluminal intrinsic lesions in malignant airway disease;
- (II) Treatment of benign airway stenosis;
- (III) Treatment of airway fistulas and dehiscence;
- (IV) Management of post lung-transplant (LT) anastomotic complications;
- (V) Management of pediatric airway stenosis.

The two main types of airway stents are silicone stents and metallic stents. Results with their use are discussed below.

Silicone stents

Silicone stents have a long record of safety, are relatively inexpensive and easy to manipulate. They are available in nonexpandable (Dumon, Hood, Dynamic airway) and expandable versions (Polyflex). Dumon and Hood stents are the most commonly used airway stents worldwide and are

developed in two designs: straight and Y-shaped (for carinal stenosis).

Silicone stents for benign airway strictures

Silicone stents have established good efficacy in patients with tracheobronchial strictures, both benign and cancerrelated. Earlier reports for their use demonstrated successful airway palliation in 85% to 95% cases, with good tolerance and infrequent complications resulting in their continued use to date (3-7).

The effectiveness of silicone stents has been re-validated in recent works. Jeong *et al.* investigated the utility of silicone stents in 19 patients who developed tracheobronchial stenosis following major thoracic surgery (8). A total of 50 stents were placed (Natural, 33; Y-stent, 13; Dumon, 3; and T-tube, 1) and symptomatic improvement was achieved in all cases. In addition, successful stent removal was possible in 7 (36%) patients within a median duration of 7 months. There was no procedure-related mortality. Common complications included restenosis (33%) and stent migration (32%).

Terra *et al.* (9) reported their experience in 92 patients with benign airway strictures using 258 silicone stents (T-tubes, 72%; DUMON, 15%; Polyflex, 12%; and Y-tube, 1%). Interestingly, the authors showed that decannulation was possible in 21% of cases who were considered inoperable before stenting. Mean follow-up after decannulation was 37.4 months. Granulation tissue formation (22%) and stent migration (5%) were the most common complications. Presence of tracheostomy before stenting was the only significant predictor of poor decannulation outcome.

Silicone stents for post-lung transplantation strictures

Silicone stents have demonstrated good efficacy and safety in patients with post-LT anastomotic strictures. Dutau *et al.* examined their utility in 17 patients and observed symptomatic improvement following stent placement in all patients (10). The mean FEV1 increased by 672±496 mL and airway patency was maintained at a mean follow-up of 867 days. Complications occurred in 16 of 23 anastomoses including granulation tissue (n=10), mucus plugging (n=7), stent migration (n=7), and infection (n=4). Successful stent removal was achieved in 16 of 23 anastomoses (69.5%) at a mean of 362±126 days. Similar results were reported by Sundset and colleagues, who described their experience of silicone stent placement in 35 LT patients (11). Symptoms were relieved in all patients and 25 stents were successfully removed within 6 months (range, 1–22 months). Median FEV_1 was 2.3 liters after stent removal and remained 2.3 liters at 24 months.

Despite proven effectiveness for the treatment of tracheobronchial strictures, there are several limitations with silicone stents such as migration and the need of rigid bronchoscopy for stent placement etc. This has led to development of self-expanding stents most notably SEMS.

Metallic stents

Commonly used metallic stents include uncovered/partially covered (Ultraflex and Wallstent) and covered stents (AERO Stents). They are relatively easy to place using fiber-optic bronchoscopy under fluoroscopic guidance. Covered metallic stents are manufactured with or without a silastic or polyurethane covering to minimize intrinsic tissue growth. Metallic stents have been studied in the management of both benign and malignant airway stenosis.

Metallic stents for malignant strictures

In cancer-related strictures, airway stents can be used either for palliation to maintain airway patency following debulking or as a bridge to other procedures. In addition to providing excellent palliation, timely placement of an expandable metal stent improves survival in patients with malignant stenosis. This was reported by our group in a retrospective analysis of 50 patients with advanced metastatic airway obstruction (12). A total of 72 airway stents were placed. EMSs (Ultraflex and AERO) were inserted for tracheal and bronchial stenosis, while silicone stents (dynamic airway) were deployed for carinal stenosis. Symptomatic improvement was observed in 45 patients (90%). Overall complication rate was 20% (n=10) including mucus plugging (n=2), stent migration (n=2), and tumor ingrowth (n=1). The overall median survival was 117 days with 3-month and 6-month survival rates of 60% and 40%, respectively. Significant survival benefit was observed for patients who had intermediate performance (based on ECOG and MRC) compared with the poor performance group (233 versus 89 days, P<0.05).

Metallic stents for benign strictures

Use of metallic stents for benign airway diseases is controversial. Given their ease of insertion compared to silicone stents, metallic stents use gained initial enthusiasm, with encouraging short-term results. However, long-term results revealed significant complications associated with metallic stents for benign airway diseases that prompted the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to release a public health warning against the use of metallic stents in benign airway disease (13). Previous reports comparing the outcomes of metallic stents in benign and malignant strictures have reported a higher incidence of complications in the benign group (14). This has been validated in recent observations as well. Chung and colleagues reported their experience with 211 SEMSs insertion in 149 patients and observed a higher complication rate in the benign group (42.2% vs. 21.1%) including granulation tissue formation (19% vs. 10.5%) and stent fracture (16.4% vs. 1.1%) (15).

Besides a higher complication rate, metallic stents can be difficult to remove. Lunn *et al.* performed stent removal in 25 patients and reported significant complications including retained stent pieces (n=7), mucosal tear (n=4), re-obstruction requiring re-stenting (n=14), need for postoperative mechanical ventilation (n=6) and one tension pneumothorax (16). In the largest series of 55 SEMSs removals by Alazemi and coworkers, it was estimated that stent removal comes with an additional cost of approximately \$11,000 dollars per encounter (17). In addition, there is a concern that EMSs may also limit future therapeutic options in some cases. This was observed in a series of 15 patients, where primary repair was judged to be possible in 10 patients before an EMS placement, yet only 5 patients had a successful repair afterwards (18).

Metallic stents for post-LT strictures

Airway stents have been investigated in the setting of post-LT anastomotic strictures and while some initial reports observed high complication rates, significant benefits have been demonstrated in recent work. Gottlieb and coworkers inserted 111 SEMSs (91% uncovered) in post-LT recipients who developed anastomotic strictures (19). Clinical improvement was seen in 80% cases. Most frequent complications were restenosis (52%), bacterial colonization (40%), mucus plugging (11%) and migration (3%). In multivariate analysis, stent insertion within 3 months postoperative period was independently associated with an increased risk of re-stenosis (HR 3.29; 95% CI: 1.50–7.18; P=0.003). In patients who received stent placement, 5-yr survival rate was significantly lower than those who did not undergo stenting (60% versus 76%; P=0.02).

Recently, Abdel-Rahman et al. evaluated the short-

term and long-term outcomes in 47 post-LT patients (20). The median follow-up was 54 months (range, 1–132 months). Immediate relief was achieved in 95% of patients. Granulation tissue mandating treatment was observed in 65%. Five-year survival rate for patients who underwent stenting was lower compared to those who did not receive stents (55.5% vs. 61.1%, P>0.05). Overall, the stent group had a significantly increased number of bronchoscopies to manage stent-related problems. They concluded that metal stents can be an acceptable option in this group of patients, but the need for more procedures in the follow-up must be accepted.

Other applications of metal stents include their utility in managing life-threatening post-LT anastomotic wound dehiscences (21). Metal stents are frequently associated with granulation tissue formation which can provide a platform for healing of the dehiscence. Ideally, the stent should be removed at 6–8 weeks by the time wound repair is achieved.

Pediatric application of airway stents

Airway stenting may also represent an effective treatment in children with tracheobronchial strictures. Serio et al. described the largest cohort of 100 children with severe airway obstruction who underwent stent placement (22). A total of 235 stents were inserted (silicone 112, metallic 120 and biodegradable 3). Silicone stents were mainly placed in the trachea; stainless steel metallic stents were utilized for bronchial lesions. Clinical improvement was reported in eighty patients after stent insertion; furthermore, 17 patients were weaned off mechanical ventilation while 3 showed no significant clinical improvement. Silicone stents were more prone to granulation tissue formation (11.6% vs. 0.8%) and dislocation (39.2% vs. 4.1%) compared with metallic stents. At a median follow-up of 41.4 months (range, 1.1-145.4 months) complete resolution was registered for 60 (65.9%) patients (silicone 76.6% and metal 72.9%), 17 were still under treatment, 9 lost to follow-up, 8 underwent surgery and 6 died of non-stent related causes. Stent removal was performed in 26 (23%) patients with silicone stents and 6 (5%) patients with metallic stents.

Airway stenting is also potentially useful in the emergency management of pediatric airway pathologies such as congenital tracheal stenosis. Xu *et al.* reported using self-expanding metallic stents in 31 infants with congenital tracheal stenosis without observing any immediate stent-related complication (23). All patients had immediate improvement of respiratory obstruction and successful weaning from the breathing machine.

Granulation tissue was observed in three cases, managed successfully by cryotherapy. In a follow-up up to 24 months, stents remained functional in 29 patients. Only three patients required repeat stent replacement. Stent retrieval was performed in seven cases (range, 0 to 10 months) without any complications. Based on the literature and their own experience, the authors provided the following recommendations for stent removal:

- (I) The stent has been in place for 2–3 months under a good follow-up program;
- (II) The airway remains unobstructed as confirmed by fiber bronchoscopy and CT imaging;
- (III) Absence of dyspnea and ventilatory dysfunction;
- (IV) The stent could be removed by pulling gently using flexible bronchoscopy.

Future perspectives in airway stenting

Biodegradable stents

Biodegradable stents represent a novel alternative in stent technology. They are based on polydioxanone, a material used in sutures. Lischke *et al.* reported the first clinical application of custom-made biodegradable polydioxanone stents for the relief of anastomotic stenosis in 6 post-LT patients (24). Stents were inserted using a 13–15F introducer via endotracheal tubes over a guide wire. Airway relief was achieved in all patients. Restenosis occurred in four patients requiring biodegradable stent reinsertion (3–7 stents) with a median duration of 5 months (range, 2–15 months) between resenting. The stents dissolved at an average of 5 months. One patient died during the study period due to pulmonary embolism. All other cases remained clinically well throughout the follow-up period.

The research group of Fuehner recently reported a larger case series with biodegradable stents in post-LT patients (25). They inserted a total of 11 stents. All patients reported immediate relief of their clinical symptoms and patency was achieved in 9 stenoses (82%) at 1 year. Complete degradation was observed at a median of 141 days. Four patients developed in-stent stenosis which was successfully treated with a metallic stent (n=1), argon therapy, and/or balloon dilatation (n=3). Nine patients were treated with topical mitomycin as a result of granulation tissue during follow-up.

Three-dimensional (3D)-printing in airway stenting

Other areas of interest include the possibility of designing customized airway stents. Cheng and colleagues reported successful insertion of a personalized T-tube designed from a virtual 3D model of the upper airway in a patient with tracheal dehiscence (26). Improvement in symptoms was observed after placement of the T-tube and the patient was able to phonate within 4 days. Follow-up CT scan and bronchoscopy revealed no granulation tissue at 4 weeks. Similarly, Morrison and colleagues reported the clinical application of a custom-made 3D printed external airway splint in three infants with severe bronchomalacia (27). The implant was able to provide immediate relief and continues to allow growth of the primary airways.

Commentary

Management of central airway obstruction caused by malignant lesions and benign pathologies is an important clinical problem. Surgical reconstruction remains the preferred approach, but not all patients may be appropriate candidates for surgery. Thus, endoscopic management is important for palliative reasons and for patients deemed inoperable. Airway stents can provide timely and effective relief in these patients and remain an important modality especially in conjunction with other endoscopic therapies such as laser, debridement, photodynamic therapy, mechanical dilatation and cryotherapy.

There are important considerations that must be taken into account regarding the choice of a stent. Both silicone stents and metallic stents have advantages and disadvantages that should be considered before choosing the best stent option for an individual patient. Silicone stents are potentially retrievable and inexpensive. They can be repositioned as many times as needed. However, they are more likely to migrate and interfere with mucociliary clearance. In addition, placement of a silicone stent generally requires rigid bronchoscopy and general anesthesia. Conversely, metallic are technically easier to insert via flexible bronchoscopy under fluoroscopic guidance. They have a more favorable internal-to-external diameter and are less prone to stent migration (however migration does occur). Metallic stents often become embedded in the mucosa and thus are not easily removable. This is an important issue in patients with non-malignant airway strictures who live longer and may require several interventions during the course of their disease.

For malignant airway stenosis, both silicone and metallic stents appear to provide similar efficacy and safety profile (28,29). This is most likely due to the shorter life expectancy of these patients during which long-term complications of stenting are not observed. In addition, stent removal is generally not a concern in these patients especially when palliation is the ultimate goal. Therefore the choice of a stent is often based on physician's expertise, patient's anatomy and stent availability.

Stent selection in patients with benign strictures is controversial. Significant complications occur with the use of metal stents and their use is strongly discouraged in this group. Silicone stents have shown low complication rates and can ultimately be removed and hence serve as first choice in these patients. Similarly in patients with post-LT strictures, silicone stents should be the first line stent option. We recommend stent removal between 6-12 months after insertion. With regards to the use of SEMSs in these patients, current data is promising with good short-term outcomes. However, due a high longterm complication rate, the need of more follow-up bronchoscopic procedures to manage complications must be accepted (19,20). In addition, Data on removal of SEMS in post-LT patients is very limited. Fruchter et al. reported the largest series of six stent removals in 24 patients. The cause of stent removal was excessive granulation tissue formation and stent obstruction. Stents were removed at a median of 30 months (range, 16-48 months) from insertion. No major complications were encountered during stent removal. They concluded that SEMS can be used in selected post-LT patients since their removal could be safely and effectively accomplished if needed (30). A recent area of interest is the use of biodegradable stents in these patients with reasonable initial results (24,25). However, additional data is needed before they can be adopted in the armamentarium of thoracic surgeons and interventional pulmonologists.

In conclusion, airway stenting offers palliation in patients with cancer and a minimally invasive endoscopic option in patients with benign airway disease. Although there are limitations associated with the use of airway stents, they are generally safe and effective in selected patients. We strongly advocate that stent insertion should only be performed at specialized centers by experienced physicians.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Montgomery WW. T-Tube Tracheal Stent. Arch Otolaryngol 1965;82:320-1.
- 2. Dumon JF. A dedicated tracheobronchial stent. Chest 1990;97:328-32.
- Martinez-Ballarin JI, Diaz-Jimenez JP, Castro MJ, et al. Silicone stents in the management of benign tracheobronchial stenoses. Tolerance and early results in 63 patients. Chest 1996;109:626-9.
- Abdullah V, Yim AP, Wormald PJ, et al. Dumon silicone stents in obstructive tracheobronchial lesions: the Hong Kong experience. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1998;118:256-60.
- Bolliger CT, Probst R, Tschopp K, et al. Silicone stents in the management of inoperable tracheobronchial stenoses. Indications and limitations. Chest 1993;104:1653-9.
- Gildea TR, Murthy SC, Sahoo D, et al. Performance of a self-expanding silicone stent in palliation of benign airway conditions. Chest 2006;130:1419-23.
- Dumon JF, Cavaliere S, Diaz-Jimenez JP, et al. Seven-year experience with the Dumon prosthesis. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol 1996;3:6-10.
- Jeong BH, Um SW, Suh GY, et al. Results of interventional bronchoscopy in the management of postoperative tracheobronchial stenosis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;144:217-22.
- 9. Terra RM, Bibas BJ, Minamoto H, et al. Decannulation in tracheal stenosis deemed inoperable is possible after long-term airway stenting. Ann Thorac Surg 2013;95:440-4.
- Dutau H, Cavailles A, Sakr L, et al. A retrospective study of silicone stent placement for management of anastomotic airway complications in lung transplant recipients: shortand long-term outcomes. J Heart Lung Transplant 2010;29:658-64.
- Sundset A, Lund MB, Hansen G, et al. Airway complications after lung transplantation: long-term outcome of silicone stenting. Respiration 2012;83:245-52.
- Razi SS, Lebovics RS, Schwartz G, et al. Timely airway stenting improves survival in patients with malignant central airway obstruction. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;90:1088-93.
- 13. Available online: www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/Safety/ AlertsandNotices/PublicHealthNotifications/ucm062115. htm, accessed May 20th.
- Saad CP, Murthy S, Krizmanich G, et al. Self-expandable metallic airway stents and flexible bronchoscopy: longterm outcomes analysis. Chest 2003;124:1993-9.

- Chung FT, Chen HC, Chou CL, et al. An outcome analysis of self-expandable metallic stents in central airway obstruction: a cohort study. J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;6:46.
- 16. Lunn W, Feller-Kopman D, Wahidi M, et al. Endoscopic removal of metallic airway stents. Chest 2005;127:2106-12.
- 17. Alazemi S, Lunn W, Majid A, et al. Outcomes, health-care resources use, and costs of endoscopic removal of metallic airway stents. Chest 2010;138:350-6.
- Gaissert HA, Grillo HC, Wright CD, et al. Complication of benign tracheobronchial strictures by self-expanding metal stents. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;126:744-7.
- Gottlieb J, Fuehner T, Dierich M, et al. Are metallic stents really safe? A long-term analysis in lung transplant recipients. Eur Respir J 2009;34:1417-22.
- Abdel-Rahman N, Kramer MR, Saute M, et al. Metallic stents for airway complications after lung transplantation: long-term follow-up. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;45:854-8.
- 21. Mughal MM, Gildea TR, Murthy S, et al. Short-term deployment of self-expanding metallic stents facilitates healing of bronchial dehiscence. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005;172:768-71.
- 22. Serio P, Fainardi V, Leone R, et al. Tracheobronchial obstruction: follow-up study of 100 children treated with airway stenting. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;45:e100-9.
- 23. Xu X, Ding H, Liu X, et al. Emergency management for

Cite this article as: Ayub A, Al-Ayoubi AM, Bhora FY. Stents for airway strictures: selection and results. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 2):S116-S121. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.01.56 congenital tracheal stenosis with endoluminal stenting in pediatric intensive care units. Ther Adv Respir Dis 2016;10:310-7.

- Lischke R, Pozniak J, Vondrys D, et al. Novel biodegradable stents in the treatment of bronchial stenosis after lung transplantation. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;40:619-24.
- 25. Fuehner T, Suhling H, Greer M, et al. Biodegradable stents after lung transplantation. Transpl Int 2013;26:e58-60.
- 26. Cheng GZ, Folch E, Brik R, et al. Three-dimensional modeled T-tube design and insertion in a patient with tracheal dehiscence. Chest 2015;148:e106-8.
- Morrison RJ, Hollister SJ, Niedner MF, et al. Mitigation of tracheobronchomalacia with 3D-printed personalized medical devices in pediatric patients. Sci Transl Med 2015;7:285ra64.
- Dutau H, Musani AI, Plojoux J, et al. The use of selfexpandable metallic stents in the airways in the adult population. Expert Rev Respir Med 2014;8:179-90.
- 29. Saji H, Furukawa K, Tsutsui H, et al. Outcomes of airway stenting for advanced lung cancer with central airway obstruction. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2010;11:425-8.
- Fruchter O, Raviv Y, Fox BD, et al. Removal of metallic tracheobronchial stents in lung transplantation with flexible bronchoscopy. J Cardiothorac Surg 2010;5:72.

Current status of spray cryotherapy for airway disease

Ryan F. Moore¹, Deacon J. Lile¹, Abbas E. Abbas²

¹Department of Surgery, ²Department of Thoracic Medicine and Surgery, Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, USA *Contributions*: (I) Conception and design: All authors; (II) Administrative support: AE Abbas; (III) Provision of study materials or patients: AE Abbas; (IV) Collection and assembly of data: All authors; (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors; (VI) Manuscript writing: All authors; (VII) Final approval of manuscript: All authors.

Correspondence to: Abbas E. Abbas, MD, MS, FACS. Professor and Thoracic Surgeon in Chief, Department of Thoracic Medicine and Surgery, Temple University Health System, Lewis Katz School of Medicine, 3401 N. Broad St., Suite C-100, Philadelphia, PA 19035, USA. Email: abbas.abbas@temple.edu.

Abstract: The use of liquid nitrogen to treat skin and mucosal lesions is well understood in the dermatologic and gastrointestinal literature. Direct spray cryotherapy (SCT) in the airway has shown promising results in the treatment of esophageal premalignant and even invasive lesions. In the airway, several studies have shown it to be a safe, effective treatment for both benign and malignant disease. It is easily administered in the outpatient setting and can be repeated several times without undue side effects. In this article, we review the current literature on the use of SCT for the treatment of endobronchial lesions and also describe our own institutional experience of the use of SCT in the airway. The use of proper technique and airway venting is important in mitigating the complications of barotrauma from massive expansion of nitrogen upon conversion from the liquid to gaseous state. We also review some of the basic science principals behind the use of the cryotherapy to treat lesions in different tissues. We feel that SCT is a potential area for further research at both clinical and basic science level.

Keywords: Spray cryotherapy (SCT); liquid nitrogen; bronchial stenosis; airway disease

Submitted Aug 01, 2016. Accepted for publication Nov 28, 2016. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.01.55 View this article at: http://dx.doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.01.55

Introduction

Extreme cooling for a therapeutic effect or cryotherapy is employed for different indications including ablation of benign and malignant neoplasms, ablation of granulation tissue, treatment of infections, nerve ablation for chronic pain, bronchoscopic biopsies, and even cosmetic surgery (1-6). The cooling temperature can range significantly from 0 °C to almost –200 °C. The most common modes of application of cryotherapy are by direct contact with a probe [cryoprobe therapy (CPT)] or by catheter-based delivery or spraying of a liquid cryogen [cryospray therapy (CST)]. The effect on tissues can therefore also differ depending on the temperature and modality applied.

Direct contact cryoprobes are cooled using the Joule-Thompson effect. A compressed gas such as nitrous oxide is suddenly released into a closed tip causing a drop of temperature of this probe and can achieve cooling temperatures of down to -90 °C. Directly adjacent tissues will become cooler and eventually freeze over a period of time, usually minutes. This causes freezing of extracellular water and actual dehydration of cells.

CST, on the other hand, relies on rapidly releasing a liquid with a low boiling point (BP) through a catheter in order to induce a hypothermic effect on the tissues. The most commonly used cryogens for CST are nitrogen and oxygen. Liquid nitrogen spray creates a non-contact cryogenic effect on tissues. The large difference in temperature between the BP of this liquid (-196 °C) and normal body temperature (37 °C) leads to a rapid flash freezing of tissue. This leads to intracellular ice crystal formation and aggregation with eventual rupture of intracellular organelles and cell death. Immediately upon release from the catheter, the liquid boils and evaporates, rapidly increasing in volume. It is therefore also essential to evacuate or "vent" this gas in order to avoid complications of pressure buildup or barotrauma.

Brief history of cryotherapy

The origins of cryotherapy can first be found in the literature dating back to 1850 when Arnott *et al.* first published the benefits of local application of a cooling solution used to treat pain. This initial solution was cooled by a mixture of a salt and crushed ice (1). The first use of liquid nitrogen in medicine was described by Allington in 1950 for treatment of dermatologic lesions (2). The liquid was applied by direct swabbing on the skin. Cooper and Lee introduced a cryosurgical probe in 1961 which was cooled by liquid nitrogen traveling down a hollow probe (3,4). This was used to directly ablate areas in the cerebral cortex for treatment of neurologic diseases such as Parkinsonism. The probe was inserted through a small craniotomy and local anesthesia in order to allow examination of the patient during the procedure (5).

The first successful delivery system of a cryoprobe into the airway was by Grana *et al.* using a direct contact cryoprobe which was advanced through a rigid bronchoscope for ablation of "unwanted tissue". In 1969 they described their technique in an animal model (7). In 1981, Sanderson *et al.* also described their experience with cryoprobe ablation using bronchoscopy and a nitrogen cooled cryoprobe in a series of patients with lesions that were deemed non-surgical. The procedure had a 3% operative mortality rate (3,8).

The first description of spray cryotherapy (SCT) was initially described using liquid nitrogen spray in 1997 by Pasricha et al. in a canine esophageal model (9). Later in 1999 Johnston et al. also described the endoscopic SCT system in a porcine model to examine its effects on the esophagus. They used the term "cryoburn" for the treated lesion, which was defined as the visualization of the white frost on tissues after initiation of the spray (10). In 2005, Johnston et al. then described the use of SCT clinically in humans for ablation of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus. At the time of their 2005 pilot study, the only other endoscopic ablative method that was FDA approved for the treatment of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus was photodynamic therapy. The authors were able to show in a series of 11 patients that the use of SCT for the ablation of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus was efficacious, safe and easy to perform (11). This study paved the way for FDA approval for the firstgeneration device (TruFreeze system, CSA Medical Inc., USA) in 2007. Two subsequent studies by Greenwald *et al.* and Shaheen *et al.* using this same device showed that liquid nitrogen CST was able to eradicate 97% of cases of high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus and 72% of T1 esophageal cancers (12,13).

Au *et al.* showed in an animal study that SCT was feasible for intraluminal application to endobronchial tissue. They were able to reliably reproduce the effects of the SCT in order to cause superficial necrosis extending from the mucosa to the cartilage in the airway (14). Due to concerns about barotrauma, it was slower to adapt this technology in the airway. Krimsky *et al.* published a case series in 2010 where they used SCT for the treatment of three patients with glottic and subglottic stenosis which resulted in patency of the stenosed areas with some degree of normalization of the mucosa (15). In 2011 and 2012, Fernando and Finley described two multicenter studies using SCT with the first generation device in the treatment of benign and malignant airway disease.

The current commercially available device for liquid nitrogen delivery (G2 TruFreeze system, CSA Medical Inc., USA) shown in *Figure 1* has been modified from the first generation device by providing two adjustable flow rates at 25 watts (normal flow) and 12.5 watts (low flow). The current device received FDA approval for the destruction of unwanted tissue in 2012. The low flow rate may allow for slower delivery and slower buildup of pressure in case of inadequate venting. The first report of SCT for central airway disease using the new adjustable flow device was by Browning *et al.* in 2013 who reported a case series of four patients with malignant airway disease. It showed the feasibility of this treatment and some of its unique advantages such as in the presence of stents and its use to control bleeding (16).

Mechanism of action

The mechanism of tumor ablation by cryotherapy is based on the freezing of extra and intracellular tissue water causing formation of ice crystals. Slower cooling such as by direct contact tends to cause mainly extracellular ice which leads to cell death by dehydration and electrolyte imbalance. SCT of liquid nitrogen on the other hand leads to very rapid cooling with intracellular ice crystallization and subsequent cell death by direct destruction of intracellular organelles (3).

Benign strictures, however, are acellular and the

Α **MARTHER** NO DISC DAL В

Figure 1 The G2 TruFreeze system for spray cryotherapy (SCT) (CSA Medical Inc., USA). (A) The G2 SCT console (Courtesy, CSA Medical[®]); (B) the spray catheter (Courtesy, CSA Medical[®]).

Moore et al. Spray cryotherapy for airway disease

mechanism of action is therefore different. Dermatology literature has shown that cryotherapy can cause remodeling of the connective tissue matrix which subsequently may allow for a more easily dilated stricture (17,18). Kim *et al.* showed that the use of cryotherapy in benign bronchial lesions allowed for easier dilation of a softer scar which may help prevent the common complication of bronchial laceration during balloon dilation which may cause further scarring and stricture formation (19).

Studies have shown that with SCT, there is relative sparing of the extracellular matrix in tissues (3). This matrix can then form a scaffold for subsequent tissue healing without a severe fibrotic response (18,20) and thus less longterm scarring (3,19). It has also been shown that although the matrix remains intact, SCT has an immediate softening effect on the fibrotic stricture allowing easier and wider dilation with less chance of laceration. This may be due to a remodeling of the connective tissue (20,21).

Technique of SCT

The truFreeze System (CSA Medical, Inc., Baltimore, MD, USA) is used to spray liquid nitrogen through a 7F catheter that is passed into an endoscope. In the esophagus, a sump tube is advanced into the stomach and attached to suction to perform active venting of the gas. However, in the airway, this cannot be performed as there is not enough room to place both a bronchoscope and a suction catheter in the airway while still allowing for ventilation of the patient. In addition, any active suctioning would deplete the lungs of air and cause severe atelectasis. The concept of passive venting is therefore, employed in the airway. It relies on the fact that gas will egress through the path of least resistance. As long as there is a patent and unobstructed opening of sufficient diameter, gas under pressure will vent through it. Ensuring adequate venting of the excess nitrogen gas to prevent barotrauma is essential during the procedure.

Protocol for passive airway venting

- ✤ Deflate the endotracheal tube cuff;
- ✤ Disconnect the tube from the ventilator circuit;
- Visualize adequate passive egress (misting) of gas through the endotracheal tube or rigid bronchoscope;
- Confirm the absence of chest wall rise during the sprays;
- Remove bronchoscope between treatments;
- Closely monitor the heart rate, blood pressure,

oxygenation and EKG tracings;

- When treating multiple strictures, the more proximal lesion is treated first in order to allow adequate proximal venting when treating the distal lesion;
- If at any time there is concern that passive venting is compromised, SCT is immediately aborted and the bronchoscope is immediately removed.

The use of this protocol is essential to help prevent the potentially catastrophic complications of tension pneumothorax, pneumomediastinum and nitrogen gas embolism.

The procedure is done under general anesthesia with a large bore endotracheal tube (>8 mm) or rigid bronchoscope. Glottic or subglottic lesions can be treated through a laryngeal mask airway (LMA) or suspension laryngoscopy although this is not recommended in more distal lesions where venting may be compromised.

The spray is applied in intervals of 5 seconds, timed from when visible frost formation has covered at least 50% of the target area. Complete thawing for at least 30 seconds is allowed after each application.

As mentioned previously, the current device can generate two flow rates; normal flow and low flow. Whereas the low flow rate may allow for slower delivery and buildup of pressure in case of inadequate venting, it also requires longer periods of apnea while administering the treatments. In the authors experience it is preferable to use the normal flow rate once adequate venting is confirmed in order to avoid potential hypoxia from the longer treatment times.

The number of cycles of spray and thawing is based on disease burden and response. Usually, four cycles are administered followed by dilation and/or debridement then a final two cycles.

There is usually no immediately visible effect after CST. For this reason, all patients undergo an additional procedure to SCT including balloon dilation, stent placement, and/ or mechanical debridement depending on the nature of the lesion.

Adjunctive modalities

While CST does show promise in treating both malignant and benign pathology of the central airways, it is not a sole treatment modality. It appears to be most successful when used in conjunction with mechanical dilation methods such as balloon dilation, mechanical debridement of tissue and stent placement. Browning *et al.* utilized adjunct modalities in 39% of their procedures which included mechanical debulking, electrocautery or argon beam coagulation, laser, cryoprobe and stent placement (22). Fernando *et al.* used the balloon dilation universally in their treatment of non-malignant strictures of the airway (20).

The safe use of the CST in the vicinity of stent placement, covered or uncovered, is an important benefit of this modality. Many of the patients that are being treated have had prior intervention and attempts at maintaining their airway. In our experience, we had a number of prior lung transplant patients who were treated for anastomotic complications with stents. This is becoming a more common technique and is particularly important at transplant centers. Dutau *et al.* showed in a single institution, retrospective study that the use of stents to treat lung transplant associated airway complications was both feasible and provided significant improvement in patient symptoms and outcomes (23). In our experience, we utilize adjunct treatments universally and have found no ill effects of such practice.

Advantages of SCT

SCT is technically quite simple and can be performed as an outpatient procedure, similar to any other routine bronchoscopy. The therapy compared to thermal or mechanical modalities is painless and may actually have an analgesic effect on nerve fibers. In addition, due to its vasoconstrictive effect, it is beneficial in achieving hemostasis on bleeding granulation tissue or tumors.

Since there is no heat delivery, there is also no combustion risk. It is therefore possible to administer high concentration oxygen during treatments and it is therefore ideal when performing ablations on patients who require high oxygen delivery. For the same reason, it can be used in cases with indwelling tracheobronchial stents, as opposed to other thermal modalities which can cause damage or combustion of stent material

In CPT, the tissue is cooled in a radial fashion from the area of contact. In contrast, SCT allows a more even and linear distribution of the hypothermic effect over a larger area with a more uniform effect on the entire treated lesion

Risks of SCT

Despite these advantages and the relative simplicity of the procedure, there is also a risk for severe barotrauma if the gas is not vented. When liquid nitrogen is released into the warm airway, there is almost instantaneous conversion

Table 1	Complications	of SCT
---------	---------------	--------

r r r			
Author	Number	Morbidity	Mortality
Fernando <i>et al.</i> (study of benign strictures) (20)	35 patients; multicenter	5.7%: tracheostomy, pneumothorax	None reported
Finley <i>et al</i> . (study of malignant strictures) (24)	80 patients; multicenter	19.3%: hypotension, bradycardia, massive hemoptysis, desaturation, pneumothorax	2 intra-op deaths, 3 post-op deaths (comfort care)
Browning <i>et al</i> . (study of malignant strictures) (22)	27 patients; single center	5%: transient hypoxia	No intra-operative deaths
Janke <i>et al.</i> (study of benign and malignant strictures) (6)	22 patients; single center	1.5%: benign stricture; 0%: malignant stricture	No intra-operative deaths: 1 post-op death with benign stricture, 3 deaths within 30 days in patients with malignant stricture*

*, all malignancy related deaths were due to patients succumbing to their illness. SCT, spray cryotherapy.

to gas with resultant volume expansion on the order of 1:645. The main risks are therefore those of unrecognized barotrauma and although rare, can be serious and fatal. They include pneumothorax, pneumomediastinum, and nitrogen gas embolism. Other risks are those associated with the necessary apnea while holding ventilation during the treatments including hypoxia, hypercarbia, respiratory acidosis and bradycardia. *Table 1* compares the complications of different studies in using this modality.

Indications and contraindications of SCT

The indications for CST in the airway are mainly stenotic lesions, whether benign or malignant. There have also been reports of its benefit in treatment of cough associated with malignant disease and chronic bronchitis (22).

Contraindications for SCT, however, include all situations where venting may be inadequate or where there is a potential for escape of nitrogen gas outside the airway and into the body. Venting may be compromised when treating distal lesions due to the relatively large diameter of the bronchoscope in relation to the smaller airway. In general; it is not recommended to treat strictures distal to the bronchus intermedius or left main-stem bronchus

In addition, extremely tight strictures (>90%) may cause gas to become trapped distally. It is safer to dilate such strictures prior to SCT.

Transmural bronchial invasion by tumor is a situation which may subsequently lead to fistula formation after cryospray ablation of the tumor. If there is obvious destruction of the wall of the airway and invasion by an extrinsic tumor, it may be safer not to treat such lesions with this modality. Of course, a stricture in the presence of an established bronchial fistula or anastomotic dehiscence should not be treated with SCT which may cause pneumomediastinum or pneumothorax in these situations.

Outcomes of SCT

In contrast to its use in esophageal disease, the published literature on the use of SCT in the treatment of airway diseases is still quite limited. In order to grade the degree of stenosis, we used the system described by Finley and Fernando which grouped stenoses into four quartiles; <25%, 26–50%, 51–75% and >75% and each quartile was given a score of 1–4.

Fernando *et al.* first published a multi-institutional study of the feasibility of CST and balloon dilation for benign strictures of the airway in 2011. They showed a statistically significant improvement of stricture diameter from 3.5 pretreatment to 2.03 post-treatment (20). They also showed a complication rate of 5.7% with no reported mortalities in their series (18,20). Their complications included tracheostomy in a patient who developed glottis edema and pneumothorax which was thought to have developed due to treatment of a distal lesion prior to treating a more proximal one. Finley *et al.* followed with a similar study on a series of 80 patients treated with SCT for malignant airway disease in 2012. In this series, pretreatment airway occlusion was graded as more than 75% in 74% of patients, but only eight

Table 2 Comparison of results of SCT treatment of malignant and benign stenosis $(n=22)^{\dagger}$

Comparative parameter	Malignant (n=12)	Benign (n=10)	P value [‡]
Initial grade of stenosis ^{\dagger}	4 [1-4]	3.5 [1-4]	0.28
Final grade of stenosis [†]	2 [1-4]	1 [1-2]	0.28
Number of treatments [†]	2 [1-4]	4 [1-9]	0.04
Change in grade of stenosis $^{\!\dagger}$	-2 [-3-0]	-2 [-3-0]	0.79
Improved	10 (83%)	9 (90%)	1.00
Day 90 mortality	6 (50%)	1 (10%)	0.06

Table entry = n (%) for categorical variables and median [range] for continuous variables. [†], grade of stenosis defined as 1 (<25%), 2 (26–50%), 3 (51–75%) and 4 (>75%); [‡], by Chi-square/Fisher's exact test for categorical variables or Wilcoxon test for continuous variables; NS: P value \geq 0.10 between the two groups. SCT, spray cryotherapy.

patients had more than 75% narrowing after treatment (24). They reported a 19.3% complication rate which included two intraoperative deaths. There was one emergent chest tube placed for a pneumothorax, one airway tear during mechanical debridement treated without intervention, one episode of massive hemoptysis treated with SCT, and one cardiac arrest (24). The two intraoperative deaths both had similar events which consisted of bradycardia, ST segment changes, hypoxemia and PEA arrest. There were also three postoperative deaths which included patients who were transitioned to comfort care.

Browning *et al.* described an institutional experience treating malignant airway disease with SCT in a recent publication in 2015. They quoted a 5% complication rate which included only episodes of transient hypoxia that resolved and did not lead to any measurable morbidity or mortality (22).

We have recently completed a single institution study to review our own experience with SCT (6). Our study included 22 patients, who underwent 66 bronchoscopies with 87 lesion-treatments. The patients were predominantly male (64%), with a median age of 61.5 [28–75] years. The cause of airway stenosis was benign in 10 (45.5%) and malignant in 12 (54.5%) patients. The majority of the benign lesions were anastomotic strictures for lung transplant while most of the malignant lesions were secondary to primary lung cancer.

At initial bronchoscopic evaluation, the median grade

of stenosis was 4 for malignant disease and 3.5 for benign disease. The median final post-treatment grade of stenosis was 2 for malignant and 1 for benign disease. The median improvement in grade of stenosis after treatment was 2 for both malignant and benign causes (Wilcoxon test P=0.92). Final patency of Grade 1 was achieved in 42% of malignant stenosis and 80% of benign. Overall, 86.4% of patients had an improvement in grade of stenosis after treatment. Table 2 shows our results and compares our outcomes between patients with benign and malignant disease. Patients with benign disease generally required four treatments over 6-8 weeks, while those with malignant disease required 3-4 treatments over 2-3 weeks, in order to achieve adequate patency. Benign disease appears to require more treatments in order to achieve the same results as malignant tumors. This is likely based on the cellular and structural differences between the benign and malignant diseases.

In our study, there were no intraoperative deaths. In the benign group, there was one death (10%) within 90 days in a patient with preexisting ventilator dependent respiratory failure 3 months after double lung transplant. Ninety day mortality in the malignant group was 50%, with all deaths related to progression of disease. The rate of procedure-related morbidity was 1.5% (1 complication in 66 procedures performed). The single complication occurred in a lung transplant patient, who was 7 months post-transplant and had an anastomotic stenosis in addition to a pre-existing, small anastomotic dehiscence. This patient required re-intubation for pulmonary edema prior to eventual recovery and discharge.

We believe that these results support the use of SCT in both benign and malignant airway strictures. They also highlight the need for appropriate protocols as defined above in order to prevent, mitigate, and treat the potential complications as well as provide appropriate informed consent for the prospective patients who are to undergo this new treatment. We also believe that an established diagnosis of airway perforation or dehiscence is a contraindication to SCT.

Areas for research

SCT is a relatively new procedure in the field of endobronchial ablative therapies. Published studies have helped define feasibility and safety for the use of the SCT delivery system in the airway and have outlined potential protocols to be followed. However, all the studies on this topic have been retrospective case reports and case series. There is, therefore, a need for both clinical and basic science research. Since the major risk of this procedure is barotrauma, animal research is necessary in determining the correlation of treatment to airway pressures and gas content. Also, little is known about the cellular and subcellular effects of this modality on tissues. More research is therefore needed on the molecular level in order to fully understand the effects of extreme hypothermia have on malignant tumors, benign strictures and normal tissues. Additionally, it would be interesting to determine whether there are any systemic effects, e.g., immune, from the ablation of tumors in these patients.

More information is also necessary on determining the best protocol in different situations, e.g., optimum duration of treatment cycle and number of cycles. In addition, it is important to determine the need and timing of follow-up endoscopic evaluation and re-treatment.

Ultimately, a randomized controlled study comparing SCT to other endoscopic treatment such as cryoprobe, laser or argon plasma coagulation would help determine the best approach to bronchial lesions in an arena with numerous available modalities but no clear guidelines as to which is the best approach.

Summary

Patients with endobronchial or endotracheal strictures have been shown to benefit from CST. It can be safely performed as an outpatient procedure by flexible bronchoscopy to most targets in the central airway.

Surgeons with experience in the delivery system have developed their own protocols based on their individual experience. Our own experience has shown that the use of the SCT delivery system is effective and feasible for both benign and malignant strictures of the airway with an approximately 2 grade improvement in the degree of stenosis according to the previously described system.

As we continue to expand our knowledge, it is of utmost importance to contribute our experience with this technology to the literature. Despite its many potential advantages, it continues to be an area in need of scientific validation. Such validation may allow it to become more widely available, ultimately leading to improvement in patient quality of life, outcomes and life expectancy. What was once a limiting disease that greatly affected the way of life for those affected can now be treated on an outpatient basis many times over with minimal morbidity and mortality.

Acknowledgements

None.

Footnote

Conflicts of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Arnott J. Practical illustrations of the remedial efficacy of a very low or anæsthetic temperature.—I. In cancer. The Lancet 1850;56:257-59.
- 2. Allington HV. Liquid nitrogen in the treatment of skin diseases. Calif Med 1950;72:153-5.
- Yiu WK, Basco MT, Aruny JE, et al. Cryosurgery: A review. Int J Angiol 2007;16:1-6.
- Cooper IS, Lee AS. Cryostatic congelation: a system for producing a limited, controlled region of cooling or freezing of biologic tissues. J Nerv Ment Dis 1961;133:259-63.
- Copper IS. Cryogenic surgery: a new method of destruction or extirpation of benign or malignant tissues. N Engl J Med 1963;268:743-9.
- Janke KJ, Abbas AE, Ambur V, et al. The Application of Liquid Nitrogen Spray Cryotherapy in Treatment of Bronchial Stenosis. Innovations (Phila) 2016;11:349-54.
- Grana L, Kidd J, Swenson O. Cryogenic techniques within the tracheobronchial tree. Journal of Cryosurgery 1969;2:62-7.
- 8. Sanderson DR, Neel HB 3rd, Fontana RS. Bronchoscopic cryotherapy. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1981;90:354-8.
- Pasricha PJ, Hill S, Wadwa KS, et al. Endoscopic cryotherapy: experimental results and first clinical use. Gastrointest Endosc 1999;49:627-31.
- Johnston CM, Schoenfeld LP, Mysore JV, et al. Endoscopic spray cryotherapy: a new technique for mucosal ablation in the esophagus. Gastrointest Endosc 1999;50:86-92.
- Johnston MH, Eastone JA, Horwhat JD, et al. Cryoablation of Barrett's esophagus: a pilot study. Gastrointest Endosc 2005;62:842-8.
- Greenwald BD, Dumot JA, Abrams JA, et al. Endoscopic spray cryotherapy for esophageal cancer: safety and efficacy. Gastrointest Endosc 2010;71:686-93.
- Shaheen NJ, Greenwald BD, Peery AF, et al. Safety and efficacy of endoscopic spray cryotherapy for Barrett's esophagus with high-grade dysplasia. Gastrointest Endosc

2010;71:680-5.

- Au JT, Carson J, Monette S, et al. Spray cryotherapy is effective for bronchoscopic, endoscopic and open ablation of thoracic tissues. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2012;15:580-4.
- Krimsky WS, Rodrigues MP, Malayaman N, et al. Spray cryotherapy for the treatment of glottic and subglottic stenosis. Laryngoscope 2010;120:473-7.
- Browning R, Parrish S, Sarkar S, et al. First report of a novel liquid nitrogen adjustable flow spray cryotherapy (SCT) device in the bronchoscopic treatment of disease of the central tracheo-bronchial airways. J Thorac Dis 2013;5:E103-6.
- Li AK, Ehrlich HP, Trelstad RL, et al. Differences in healing of skin wounds caused by burn and freeze injuries. Ann Surg 1980;191:244-8.
- Fernando HC, Sherwood JT, Krimsky W. Endoscopic therapies and stents for benign airway disorders: where are we, and where are we heading? Ann Thorac Surg 2010;89:S2183-7.
- 19. Kim JH, Shin JH, Song HY, et al. Tracheobronchial

Cite this article as: Moore RF, Lile DJ, Abbas AE. Current status of spray cryotherapy for airway disease. J Thorac Dis 2017;9(Suppl 2):S122-S129. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.01.55

laceration after balloon dilation for benign strictures: incidence and clinical significance. Chest 2007;131:1114-7.

- Fernando HC, Dekeratry D, Downie G, et al. Feasibility of spray cryotherapy and balloon dilation for nonmalignant strictures of the airway. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;40:1177-80.
- Shepherd JP, Dawber RP. Wound healing and scarring after cryosurgery. Cryobiology 1984;21:157-69.
- 22. Browning R, Turner JF Jr, Parrish S. Spray cryotherapy (SCT): institutional evolution of techniques and clinical practice from early experience in the treatment of malignant airway disease. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:S405-14.
- 23. Dutau H, Cavailles A, Sakr L, et al. A retrospective study of silicone stent placement for management of anastomotic airway complications in lung transplant recipients: shortand long-term outcomes. J Heart Lung Transplant 2010;29:658-64.
- Finley DJ, Dycoco J, Sarkar S, et al. Airway spray cryotherapy: initial outcomes from a multiinstitutional registry. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;94:199-203; discussion 203-4.





AME JOURNALS

创立于2009年7月的AME Publishing Company(简称AME,代表Academic Made Easy, Excellent and Enthusiastic),是一家崇尚创新、具有国际化 视野和互联网思维的医学出版公司。AME拥有专业的期刊运营团队,提供以国际组稿为核心竞争力的全流程出版服务,专注于国际医学期刊、书籍的 出版和医疗科研资讯成果的推广,已在香港、合北、悉尼、广州、长沙、上海、北京、杭州、南京和成都等地设立办公室。目前出版了62本涵盖肿 瘤、心血管、胸部疾病、影像和外科等不同领域的学术期刊,已有18本被PubMed收录,11本被SCI收录,出版中英文医学专业图书近百本。



期刊名称:JTD 创刊时间:2009年12月 PubMed收录:2011年12月 SCI收录:2013年2月



期刊名称:HBSN 创刊时间:2012年12月 PubMed收录:2014年9月 SCI收录:2017年6月



.

ANSLATIO

期刊名称:QIMS 创刊时间:2011年12月 PubMed收录:2012年9月 SCI收录:2018年1月

期刊名称 TCR

创刊时间: 2012年6月

SCI收录: 2015年10月



期刊名称:ATM . 创刊时间:2013年4月 PubMed收录:2014年9月 SCI收录:2018年3月



期刊名称: ACS 创刊时间: 2012年 PubMed收录: 2013年6月 SCI收录: 2018年5月



期刊名称:TLCR 创刊时间:2012年3月 PubMed收录:2014年12月 SCI收录:2018年10月



期刊名称:GS 创刊时间:2012年5月 PubMed收录:2014年6月 SCI收录:2018年12月



期刊名称:APM 创刊时间:2012年4月 PubMed收录:2015年3月 SCI收录:2019年1月





期刊名称:TAU 创刊时间:2012年3月 PubMed收录:2015年12月 SCI收录:2018年12月



期刊名称:CDT 创刊时间:2011年12月 PubMed收录:+2013年11月 SCI收录:2019年1月